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The most important
thing we provide to our
customers doesn’t flow
through pipes or wires.

It’s the confidence that
their utility is a company
they can count on. And it
flows from our 20,000 men
and women, who share a
collective commitment to
reliability in all we do.
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A L E T T E R T O O U R S TA K E H O L D E R S

Great results never come easy. But
they come harder in some years
than others — and by any measure,
2008 was one of the hardest. Our
people answered the challenge
by pulling together, digging
deep, and delivering convincingly
on our commitments.
Last year’s adversities ran from horribly costly and disruptive

Our team would be proud to report these achievements

winter storms to radical swings in natural gas prices, aggressive

any year. Being able to do so after a year like 2008 is all the

new forays by public power activists, paralysis in the credit

more rewarding.

markets, and the astonishing reversal of fortune in the economy.
Confronting these and other pressures, our team never lost

Lifted by this performance, we turned the page on last year
confident in the company’s direction and its outlook — yet fully

sight of our priorities or the pledges we made to regain PG&E’s

aware that the deepening recession promises painful challenges

momentum on a number of fronts. This perseverance paid off :

for our customers.

• We generated annual earnings per share that beat the

consensus expectation of Wall Street analysts.
• We bettered key system reliability, safety, and customer

satisfaction scores.
• We carried out one of PG&E’s biggest and, arguably, best

storm recovery efforts in the past decade.
• We helped customers realize extraordinary energy savings.
• We brought large, complex infrastructure projects in on

time, on budget, and safely.
• We improved productivity, processing jobs more quickly

and reducing cycle times for new construction work.
• We won a key vote of confidence from customers in

San Francisco, who rejected an attempt to take over our business.
• We continued to attract investors in the capital markets,

In the face of the current uncertainty, we know many
customers are retrenching and attending to fundamentals as
they brace for difficulties ahead.
We believe they would expect their utility to run its business
with the same focus. Accordingly, our operating plans are geared
heavily toward bread-and-butter priorities, like watching costs,
firming up reliability, and making things simpler for customers.
At the same time, we believe equally that customers see
opportunities for new leadership on energy issues to help build
the basis for a strong economic recovery. Americans sense that
while this crisis is creating hardships, it is also summoning us
to push ahead with bold changes that will enable and encourage
us to use energy more intelligently.
Against this backdrop, PG&E’s strategy remains simple:

even when access to financing was scarce or nonexistent

continue to learn better than ever what our different customers

for most companies.

need and value — from basic reliability to smarter, cleaner

energy solutions — and then run our operations to consistently
deliver it with impeccable discipline, efficiency, and precision.
This letter covers 2008 financial results, examples of ways

confidence in the health and stability of the business.
Ultimately, we believe PG&E’s outlook represents exactly
the kind of potential for solid returns that will be rewarded

we are putting our strategy into action, and insights into our

and once again reflected in the value of our stock as markets

plans for the current year and beyond.

eventually recover.

Delivering for Investors

Investing in Our System

Returns on new capital investments in PG&E’s asset base were

Our most basic, yet most demanding, everyday responsibility

the predominant force behind last year’s core earnings growth.

will always be providing dependable service. Nothing is more

Additional contributions came from incentives we earned by

crucial to meeting this challenge than continuously making

helping customers achieve energy efficiency savings, as well as

smart, timely investments in the utility’s basic infrastructure.

from internal cost savings and operational efficiencies.

PG&E’s total capital spending last year was $3.7 billion,

In total, we grew net income by 33 percent compared
with 2007, to $1.34 billion or $3.63 per share, as reported
under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This
increase included the substantial one-time benefits of a
multiyear tax settlement.
Earnings per share from operations, a non-GAAP measure
adjusted to exclude the $257 million from the tax settlement
and reflect normal operations, were $2.95 per share, up
6 percent over 2007 levels. (The “Financial Highlights” table on
page 31 reconciles GAAP total net income with non-GAAP
earnings from operations.)
These results met our targets for the year and exceeded the
financial community’s consensus forecast.
Also important, in 2008 we raised PG&E Corporation’s

“PG&E’s strategy is
simple: continue to
learn better than ever
what customers need
and value, and run
our operations to
consistently deliver it.”

common stock dividend by 8 percent, following through
on a commitment to shadow earnings growth over time with
higher dividends.
Despite solid earnings and dividend growth, however,
total shareholder return — stock price appreciation plus

consistent with our plans to invest an average of $3.5 to
$4 billion per year over the 2008 through 2011 timeframe.
The majority of these investments continue to go toward

dividends — declined with the falling share price, as it did for

our electric and natural gas distribution networks. For example,

virtually every large company. Although it may be cold

last year we installed more than 5,000 pieces of new protective

comfort, we take some confidence from the fact that PG&E

equipment and control devices to strengthen our system and

Corporation’s shares held their value better than most others

enhance power restoration capabilities.

in the sector or the S&P 500.
Looking ahead, we continue to see attractive opportunities

Another major accomplishment was ramping up our
SmartMeter initiative. We put in 1.4 million high-tech gas
TM

to grow earnings. The earnings trajectory we recently

and electric meters in 2008, 1.3 million of which were being

shared with Wall Street analysts for the next three years projects

remotely read and billed by year’s end.

growth rates that put us in the top 25 percent among

We also presented regulators with designs for a large

comparable utilities. We also recently increased our common

set of strategic, integrated investments in new equipment and

stock dividend by almost another 8 percent, an expression of

technology to strengthen reliability over the next six years.
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Known as the Cornerstone Improvement Program, this

reflected a recognition that to realize our goals, we had to

initiative aims to significantly cut the number and duration of

accelerate progress in some key areas.

outages that customers experience.

Nowhere has this been more critical than on safety. In

Investments in electric transmission lines continued last

2008, we significantly improved benchmarks for lost workdays,

year, helping to increase reliability by relieving grid congestion,

OSHA recordables, and motor vehicle incidents. In fact, for the

interconnecting new supplies, and optimizing power flows.

latter two measures, the gains beat our goals for the year.

We also moved forward on longer-term transmission initiatives
designed to increase access to renewable power supplies.
On the power generation side, our state-of-the-art Gateway

Sadly, any glow associated with these results was dimmed
by the loss of two employees and a contractor on the job.
In the wake of these and other tragic accidents, we are now

Generating Station recently came on line a month ahead of

implementing safety policies and practices that we believe

schedule. Construction is under way today on two other impor-

are the most exacting ever at PG&E.

tant additions to our generating portfolio as well: Humboldt

Although we will not achieve it overnight, our sights are set
on a goal of zero injuries. This is, above all, the right thing for
our people. But it is also right for the business — excellent safety
results are a leading indicator of overall operational excellence.
In the area of reliability, increased rigor and smart changes
to outage prevention and power restoration practices last
year paid impressive dividends, reducing the system-average
frequency and duration of electric outages to among their
lowest levels in the past several years, a solid accomplishment
by any standard, but even more so considering that Mother
Nature worked unusually hard against us.
On the natural gas side of the business, we took significant
steps in 2008 to revamp and improve processes and training,
with a goal to dramatically improve the quality of field surveys
to verify the integrity of PG&E’s natural gas system.
Other key operational highlights included the world-class
power restoration following mammoth winter storms that

Bay on the North Coast and Colusa Generating Station north of

knocked out power to millions of our customers; the textbook

Sacramento. Within our existing fleet, the watershed steam

execution of the first phase of the complex steam generator

generator replacement project at the Diablo Canyon Power

replacement at Diablo Canyon; and the remarkably safe and

Plant is helping to solidify that facility’s place as a mainstay of

smooth construction of the Gateway plant.

California’s energy supply for years to come.

Our satisfaction with these results is balanced, however, by
an awareness that we still have far to go in order to lead the

Operating With Excellence

industry, even in areas where we have gained significant ground.

If reliability is anchored first in the integrity and capacity of our
system, it is also tightly moored to the quality and consistency

Taking Care of Our Customers

of our people and practices.

We achieved high scores for customer satisfaction again in

Last year, efforts to drive operational excellence — safety,

2008, building on the positive momentum of the past few years.

reliability, productivity, on-budget and on-time performance —

For the first time, PG&E ranked in the top 25 percent of

were infused with a new urgency. In part, this grew out of a

the industry in all four annual customer satisfaction surveys

standing commitment to continuous improvement. But it also

conducted by J.D. Power and Associates, covering gas and electric
3

service for business and residential customers. Just several years

meet almost half of customers’ new energy demand through

ago, we were in the third or fourth quartile.

energy efficiency.

This progress reflects a broad effort to better understand
and respond to the needs of individual customers.
Our Total Customer Engagement strategy is providing us

Most recently, we delivered outstanding results against
California’s three-year energy efficiency goals — the most
ambitious in the nation. From 2006 through 2008, savings far

with a highly sophisticated new level of insight into customers’

exceeded the state’s targets, which set a new standard for utility

individual preferences.

efficiency programs. In return, PG&E has earned $41.5 million

Last year we built the residential- and business-customer
database that is the engine behind this initiative. It is already
allowing us to become smarter and more cost effective at

in incentives so far, making this effort a tremendous win for
customers and shareholders.
Through our 2006-2008 programs, customers saved enough

matching the right customers with the right products and

energy to power almost 800,000 homes and enough natural gas

programs. For instance, by targeting our outreach better, we

to heat another 145,000 homes for an entire year. The greenhouse

have driven higher participation in various energy savings
initiatives. In turn, this is allowing us to get more mileage out
of our program-marketing dollars.
We also became more effective at soliciting customers’
feedback. Timely phone surveys after in-home field service
visits yielded an average overall satisfaction rate of 97.5 percent.
Another principal focus continues to be making it easier
to do business with PG&E, from resolving issues with one
contact to expanding service options to providing more timely
and accurate bills and other information.
Examples last year included putting automated self-service
bill payment kiosks in our local offices to reduce wait times and
enhancing Spanish-language customer assistance.
Early last year, a refreshed version of pge.com went live to

“We are convinced
that PG&E is suited
as well as or better
than any other utility
to continue performing well in a tough
economy.”

customers. Additions to the site included content targeted more
carefully to the individual customer, as well as better energy
analysis tools. Further upgrades extended additional energy

gases avoided were equal to taking 476,000 cars off the road for

analysis capabilities to the growing number of our customers

one year. Along the way, we won almost 50 energy efficiency

using SmartMeter technology.

awards, including two energy star® awards in 2008.

TM

In addition to energy efficiency, we are a leader in innovative

Creating a New Energy Future

programs to manage energy demand. Last year, we added

Developing cleaner, smarter energy solutions for customers is

two new demand response programs. PeakChoice is making it

one of the keys to our vision. Last year, we continued to meet

easier to engage large-business customers by allowing them

this challenge in different ways.

the flexibility to tailor a demand response option that suits their

TM

No example is more important than energy efficiency.

unique needs. SmartRate is offering incentive pricing for

We believe energy efficiency is the single greatest resource

residential and small-business customers. More than 10,000

available to enable the United States’ transition to a sustain-

customers signed up in the initial SmartRate offering.

able energy economy. It is cost effective; the technology

TM

TM

In the future, we see even greater opportunities for new

is immediately available; and the untapped potential is enor-

demand response capabilities and pricing incentives. Our

mous. In fact, over the next 10 years, PG&E plans to

SmartMeter infrastructure is the foundation for this evolution.
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TM

SmartMeter technology also will enable us to improve our
TM

We also can think of no place we would rather be in

outage response capabilities and facilitate the future prolifera-

business than California, with its current constructive

tion of electric vehicles. PG&E’s leadership in the transition

regulatory climate and unique energy policies that recognize

to a smart grid is one reason both CIO and InformationWeek

the value of maintaining a stable utility sector.

magazines named PG&E among their top 100 leaders in
information technology innovation last year.
We are also taking further steps to increase the future supply

We are convinced that PG&E is suited as well as or
better than any other utility to continue performing well in a
tough economy.

of renewable energy available to our customers. This adds to an

Our infrastructure investment plans — many of which

overall energy supply that is already one of the nation’s cleanest.

are already approved by regulators — remain among the most

In 2008, PG&E signed agreements adding another
1,800 megawatts of new renewable resources to our supply.
These included some of the largest agreements yet for utilityscale solar power. We also recently announced PG&E’s first
major plans to build and own new renewable resources —
an indication of exciting opportunities on the horizon for us
in this critical area.
On the policy front, as a member of the U.S. Climate Action

extensive in the industry.
Our financial condition remains healthy, including our
capacity to finance the growth that our strategy calls for.
Our experience and know-how on clean energy and efficiency
favor ongoing success in this increasingly important arena.
Our strategy and priorities continue to be in harmony with
those of California’s policymakers and consumers.
Our commitment to the community is — rightly so —

Partnership, we continue to join with other leading companies

firmer than ever, backed by our highest-ever charitable

and environmental groups to call for federal action this year

contributions goals.

to address global warming. We believe the right strategy for
the United States is an economy-wide cap-and-trade program,
which puts a price on carbon and sets limits on overall

Most essential, our people are as dedicated, innovative,
and resourceful as any in the industry.
These advantages instill in our team great confidence

emissions. Importantly, we support a design that would also

that our vision to be the leading utility remains well within our

return value to our customers in order to mitigate the costs of

grasp and that PG&E will emerge strong no matter the

tackling this pressing challenge.

challenges ahead.

Our work on climate change, energy efficiency, renewables,
and other areas puts PG&E in a strong position among its peers.
In 2008, PG&E was named to the prestigious Dow Jones

Even so, we will never allow confidence to become
complacency. We intend to continually benchmark our performance against industry standards. Our team will work tirelessly

Sustainability North America Index, which lists companies that

in the year ahead to ensure that we are executing as promised

lead their industries in managing economic, environmental, and

and, most importantly, to deliver again on our many

social issues. We also earned the highest possible rating from

commitments. We look forward to sharing the results with you.

Innovest Strategic Value Advisors, a top analyst of investor risk
and value related to sustainability issues, which looked at our

Sincerely,

performance on social, environmental, and strategic governance
matters relative to comparable companies.

Becoming The Leading Utility
As we study the industry and the economic landscape today,
the dimensions of the challenges ahead are evident. But — while
no company is immune to the current crisis — we can think
of no business we would rather be in than ours: providing
products and services that are needed in good times and bad.

Peter A. Darbee
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, and President, PG&E Corporation
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Pacific Gas and Electric Company
March 13, 2009
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P G & E E M P LOY E E S A N D R E L I A B I L I T Y

What is it that gets the men and women of
PG&E out of bed in the morning or in the
middle of a dark winter night to brave a storm
and get the lights back on? Simple. Knowing

Relia
that 15 million Californians are relying on us to

bring our A-game to deliver everything they need
and expect from their gas and electric company.
Customers are counting on the people of

PG&E to put all the right pieces in place to

ensure instant access to gas and electricity,

24 hours a day, every day of the year. This is
our core commitment as a reliable energy
provider. But we also recognize that truly coming
through for our customers is about much more.
It’s about working together seamlessly to
6

provide them with a simple, smooth customer
experience. It’s about knowing their needs and
helping them find the smartest solutions for
lowering their energy use and reducing costs.

bility
It’s about making clean energy choices

that not only are right in today’s environment
and economy, but also offer answers to the

challenges we know lie ahead. It’s about giving

back to our communities to keep them healthy
and strong, especially in times of need. Most
of all, it takes vision, discipline, tenacity,
skill, and teamwork to deliver on all of this
in order to meet our customers’ definition of
reliability and earn their trust and confidence.
That’s our collective commitment at PG&E.

7

Jeremy Woodruff, troubleman
for rural Lake County north of
San Francisco, assisted in one of the
largest power restoration efforts
in PG&E’s history last winter when
a powerful Pacific storm lashed
California, cutting off electricity to
millions of customers. Jeremy was
dispatched to hard-hit communities in
neighboring Mendocino and Humboldt
counties to assess storm damage and
notify crews where customers needed
repairs to get their lights back on.
In today’s world, at home and in
business, our customers have their hands
full with challenges. One uncertainty
they can’t afford is wondering about
stable, steady, safe supplies of natural gas
and electricity. PG&E’s number one job
is making sure they don’t have to.
Every day, thousands of our people
like Jeremy join forces to deliver
on this promise, applying expertise
and experience safely and carefully
to meet our collective commitment
to reliability. We are building state-ofthe-art power stations, laying down
new gas and electric lines, tapping
new supplies of clean renewable power,
securing the capital needed to support
these projects to strengthen our
energy systems, and making smart,
simple changes to deploy troublemen
and crews faster into the field to
restore power.
Across PG&E, it’s all in a day’s work.
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Walt Pitson, Gas PartsGerald
Replacement
Stinson,Program
Bay Area Power Restoration

Cynthia King-Felix, North Coast Power Restoration

Smart, simple changes to our
operating methods are speeding
up power restoration times. For
example, our repair crews no
longer wait for damage reports
to come back from a troubleman
before responding to major line
outages. Our “two and a crew”
approach sends the repair crew
with two troublemen, so work can
start immediately.

Luis Plancarte, San Francisco Pipeline Replacement Program

Mark Esguerra, Transmission Planning

PG&E is pursuing one
of the industry’s most
extensive infrastructure
investment plans. Last
year, despite tight credit
markets, we successfully
secured more than
$2.2 billion in financing
to support this effort —
a testament to the
expertise of our treasury

10

and legal teams.

Steve Royall, Gateway Generating Station

Our new, highly efficient Gateway
Generating Station in the San Francisco
Bay Area is contributing to California’s
grid reliability while producing electricity
for almost 400,000 homes and businesses.
Construction is also under way at our
Colusa Generating Station in the Central
Valley and the new Humboldt Bay
Generating Station on the North Coast,
completing a trio of state-of-the-art
power generators. These new facilities
will reduce California’s reliance
on an aging fleet of power plants and
Alice Harron, Gateway Generating Station

decrease fuel use and greenhouse
gas emissions.

Dan Kaufman, Senior Consulting Electrical Engineer

Walter Zenger, Transmission & Distribution

11
Sara Rathfon, Banking & Money Management
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Ben Almario, manager of
emergency preparedness and performance
improvement, knows that more and
more PG&E customers are relying on
pge.com for critical resources and information about their energy service.
Last year, he helped create an online
outage mapping tool, putting the power
of Google Maps to work so customers
TM

can view all electrical system outages.
Customers can easily zero in on their zip
code, city, or county and find details on
the outage cause and extent, estimated
restoration time, and other information.
This is one example of ways we are
making it easier for customers to do
business with PG&E. From the kitchen
table to the corporate office, customers
are facing intense pressures: less time,
tighter budgets, and diminishing
bandwidth. More than ever, they are
depending on their utility to know their
needs and work with them.
This starts with acknowledging that
one size does not fit all.
PG&E has launched a massive initiative to gain deeper insight into customers’
specific needs and preferences. We’re
building a powerful, flexible base of
knowledge to help us create and deliver
more responsive, tailored, and costeffective programs and services. Our
people are now putting this resource into
action to sharpen our customer focus
across the company, from call centers and
sales reps to service yards and field crews.

Andrew Scott, Customer Insight

Last year, PG&E launched a new
voluntary demand response program that
allows business customers to customize
their participation in ways that best
fit their operations. With PeakChoice ,
TM

large businesses can help conserve
energy and maintain reliability on summer
Akhil Katkol, Outage Information

days when demand is highest. The
Kristine Gorbet, Outage Information

program’s flexibility allows them to tailor
it so that any impact on their operations is
minimal. In return, they benefit from the
opportunity to lower their energy costs by
earning valuable incentives. It’s a win-win
and a great example of working with our
customers’ needs.

Hung Chen, Outage Information
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Brian Haupert, SimpleConnections

TM

TM

Kathleen Meeks, SimpleConnections

David Ellis, SimpleConnections

TM

Our new SimpleConnections program, provided
TM

easy for PG&E customers
relocating to sign up for
gas and electricity plus
phone, cable, and Internet

Mark Davidson, Outage Information

TM

from other suppliers with

Roger Farzaneh, SimpleConnections

by AllConnect®, makes it

only one phone call.

Eric Wirth, Gas Parts Replacement Program
Walt Pittson, Gas Parts Replacement Program

We are finding ways to offer timeand money-saving conveniences
to customers. For example, during
in-home service calls, we can
now offer to complete simple
repairs on natural gas appliances,
saving customers the headache of
having to call in a third party.
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Brenda Baldwin last year helped
the world’s largest grower and shipper
of carrots generate more than 765,000
kilowatt-hours of annual energy savings.
As Grimmway Farms’ PG&E account
manager, she helped coordinate PG&E’s
assistance with a massive reconfiguration
and automation of compressed-air systems
in their operations near Bakersfield.
The innovative effort earned Grimmway
a $65,000 incentive to boot.
Brenda’s work was one example of
the kind of savings initiatives PG&E’s
efficiency experts help drive with
customers large and small. We have
created rebates and financial incentives,
promoted the wider use of fluorescent
lighting technologies, and pioneered
efficiency advances in data centers,
among other efforts. We are also helping
to set building and appliance standards
and targeting new efficiencies for business
and consumer electronics.
Indeed, no utility has been more innovative or aggressive in this area. Since 1976,
we have helped our customers save more
than $22 billion and keep over 135 million tons of carbon dioxide out of the skies.
Today, energy efficiency is the first
option we use to meet customers’ energy
needs. It remains cheap, clean, and
abundant. It’s also one of the most costeffective ways to fight climate change —
a reason PG&E is one of the nation’s
most outspoken champions for energy
efficiency.
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Lynn Morrison, Winter Gas Savings Program

TM

Lisa Kwietniak, SmartMeter Program

Sue Fisher, CFL Promotions
Megan Lawson, Winter Gas Savings Program

PG&E is partnering with Dell,
Best Buy, Wal-Mart, and other
retailers in 2009 to drive sales
of the most energy-efficient
televisions, desktop computers,
monitors, and other devices.
In conjunction with energy
star®, the effort will offer
financial incentives and marketing support to manufacturers
and retailers.

TM

Jill Groom, SmartMeter Program
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U.S. EPA and DOE energy star®
awards in 2008 for accomplishments
in reducing greenhouse gas emissions
through energy efficiency. The first

Patsy Dugger, Ag Energy Efficiency

PG&E was the recipient of two

award recognized PG&E for its Changea-Light Campaign, which provided
more than one million compact
fluorescent light bulbs to customers,
representing a potential energy savings
equal to the energy required to power
Tim Cottengim, SmartMeter Program

60,000 homes for one year. The second
award recognized PG&E’s creation
of a highly successful automated way
for commercial building owners to get

TM

energy usage data into the energy
star® performance-rating system.
The new method has helped increase
participation by more than 1,000
buildings since it was implemented, and
the numbers continue to grow.

Ila Homsher, Business Energy Efficiency

Our PG&E Energy Centers in San Francisco and Stockton are
training and educating contractors, architects, and engineers on
new technologies and design standards and the latest energyefficiency options for homes and buildings. Our Food Service
Technology Center provides similarly invaluable information
to the energy-intensive commercial food service industry.
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Angel Espiritu helped bring on
line PG&E’s first new power plant in
20 years, featuring vital, state-of-the-art
water-saving technology. The highly
efficient Gateway Generating Station
uses 97 percent less water and produces
96 percent less wastewater than a
traditional facility, thanks to its “dry
cooling” system. A senior environmental
consultant, Angel led PG&E’s efforts to
ensure we kept all of our environmental
commitments during construction of
this landmark project.
Overall, PG&E’s energy supply
continues to be among the nation’s
cleanest. Our carbon dioxide emissions
rate is more than 50 percent lower than
the average utility’s.
Going forward, we plan to continue
adding new supplies of renewable
energy, including new PG&E-owned
solar facilities. We also continue to
explore opportunities to build a smarter,
more efficient energy infrastructure.
New technologies, like PG&E’s
SmartMeter devices, make it possible to
TM

harvest new efficiencies and optimize the
use of clean energy resources. Efforts
also include planning new transmission
lines to connect new renewable energy
supplies to areas where the power is
needed. For example, PG&E, together
with other companies in the Northwest,
is studying a proposal for a transmission
line connecting California to British
Columbia.

Tom Allen, Gateway Power Technology

PG&E and BioEnergy Solutions last
year began operating the first project in
California that is delivering pipelinequality renewable natural gas to a utility,
using methane from animal waste at
Vintage Dairy in Fresno County. This
highly innovative effort is reducing the
farm’s methane emissions by 70 percent
and providing a valuable resource for
our customers. PG&E is a leader in
researching ways to expand the use of
renewable biogas, a prospect that holds
significant potential in a state that is
home to two million dairy cows.

Kelvin Yip, Solar Energy Portfolio

Sandra Burns, Renewable Energy Portfolio

We continue to increase renewable energy supplies. In 2008,
we added contracts for almost 1,800 megawatts of renewable
power, including some of the largest solar energy commitments
ever signed. We also connected our 25,000th customer-owned
solar installation, making PG&E’s service area home to almost
half of the nation’s customer-owned solar capacity.
Aparna Kapur, Renewable Energy Portfolio

B. Vijayraghavan, Transmission Planning
Vinh Nguyen, Gateway Power Technology

Senior Environmental Consultant Kadi Whiteside earned
PG&E’s Richard A. Clarke
Environmental Leadership
Award in 2008 for her
innovative development of new
practices and techniques to
protect water quality, plants, and
animals at construction sites.

Ken Brennan, Biomethane Program

Kadi Whiteside, Clarke Award Winner
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Karalee Browne has seen the
power of PG&E as a positive force in
the community. As a program manager
of charitable contributions, last year she
helped lead PG&E’s partnership with
Habitat for Humanity International
to put solar electric systems on every
Habitat-built home in our service area.
Incorporating solar energy into the
design plans helps to lower the cost for
homeowners while creating a standard
of environmentally friendly building
practices. To date, PG&E’s support for
this groundbreaking effort has totaled
$2.5 million.
This and our other shareholderfunded charitable initiatives are driven
by the understanding that when the
communities where we live and work
thrive and grow, so do our people and
our business. We also appreciate that
with the privilege of being our customers’
sole provider of energy also comes a
unique responsibility to give back to
our communities, helping to keep them
healthy and vibrant — economically,
environmentally, and culturally.
Every year, in addition to shareholderfunded charitable giving, our employees
and retirees give their own time to
support education, the environment,
economic development, emergency
preparedness, the arts, and more. In 2008,
employees throughout the company
volunteered almost 22,000 hours for
525 PG&E-sponsored projects.

25

Keith Lovgren, PowerPathway Program

George Coaston, Jr., PowerPathway Program
TM

TM

Our PowerPathway program is reaching into our
TM

communities to develop qualified, diverse candidates
for employment at the utility and elsewhere in the
industry. The program is made possible through
extensive collaboration with community colleges;
labor, industry, and workforce development specialists;
and community-based organizations and foundations.
In 2008, PowerPathway screened a record 3,700
TM

applicants and graduated its first class. It’s another
way we are investing in strong communities.

Robert Cruz, Fresno Community Volunteer

26
Detrina Faletogo, Bay Area Community Volunteer

In 2008, PG&E’s award-winning Solar Schools Program
continued to teach young people about renewable energy
by turning school buildings into hands-on science
experiments through the installation of a free 1.3-kilowatt
Michael Clark, PowerPathway Program

solar energy system. The program provides schools and
teachers with a curriculum, instruction, training, and
“Bright Ideas” grants for solar science projects. Since 2004,
PG&E has contributed $6 million to this shareholderfunded program, training over 2,500 teachers and

TM

benefiting almost 125,000 students.

Gino Rinaldi, Mielke Award Winner
Veronica Sanchez, Fresno Community Volunteer

For 13 years, PG&E cable splicer
Gino Rinaldi has volunteered to
help burn victims and their
families through the Alisa Ann
Ruch Burn Foundation in San
Francisco. He also serves as vice
president of the foundation’s board
of directors. He is one of five
employees we honored last year
with PG&E’s annual Mielke
Awards for community service.

P G & E C O R P O R AT I O N A N D
PA C I F I C G A S A N D E L E C T R I C C O M PA N Y
F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
PG&E Corporation
(unaudited, in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Operating Revenues
Net Income
Earnings from operations(1)
Items impacting comparability(2)
Reported consolidated net income
Income Per Common Share, diluted
Earnings from operations(1)
Items impacting comparability(2)
Reported consolidated net earnings per common share, diluted
Dividends Declared Per Common Share
Total Assets at December 31,
Number of common shareholders at December 31,
Number of common shares outstanding at December 31,(3)

2008

$

14,628

2007

$

13,237

1,081
257

1,006
—

1,338

1,006

2.95
0.68

2.78
—

3.63

2.78

1.56

1.44

40,860

36,632

86,097
362,346,685

89,166
379,646,276

(1) “Earnings from operations” is not calculated in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP.
It should not be considered an alternative to net income calculated in accordance with GAAP. Earnings from operations reﬂects PG&E Corporation’s
consolidated net income, but excludes items that do not reﬂect the normal course of operations, in order to provide a measure that allows investors
to compare the core underlying ﬁnancial performance of the business from one period to another.
(2) “Items impacting comparability” represent items that do not reﬂect the normal course of operations. In the fourth quarter of 2008, PG&E Corporation
realized net income of approximately $257 million resulting from a settlement of federal tax audits for the years 2001 through 2004. This amount has
been treated as an item impacting comparability for 2008. There were no items impacting comparability for 2007.
(3) The common shares outstanding include 24,665,500 shares at December 31, 2007, held by a wholly owned subsidiary of PG&E Corporation and treated
as treasury stock in the Consolidated Financial Statements. These shares were cancelled during 2008.
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COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMUL ATIVE TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN ( 1)

This graph compares the cumulative total return on PG&E Corporation common stock (equal to dividends plus stock
price appreciation) during the past ﬁve ﬁscal years with that of the Standard & Poor’s Stock Index and the Dow Jones
Utilities Index.
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PG&E Corporation
Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index (S&P)
Dow Jones Utilities Index (DJUI)

(1) Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2003, in PG&E Corporation common stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, and the Dow Jones
Utilities Index, and assumes quarterly reinvestment of dividends. The total shareholder returns shown are not necessarily indicative of future returns.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in millions, except per share amounts)

PG&E Corporation(2)
For the Year
Operating revenues
Operating income
Income from continuing operations
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, basic
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, diluted
Dividends declared per common share(3)
At Year-End
Book value per common share(4)
Common stock price per share
Total assets
Long-term debt (excluding current portion)
Rate reduction bonds (excluding current portion)
Energy recovery bonds (excluding current portion)
Preferred stock of subsidiary with mandatory redemption provisions
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company
For the Year
Operating revenues
Operating income
Income available for common stock
At Year-End
Total assets
Long-term debt (excluding current portion)
Rate reduction bonds (excluding current portion)
Energy recovery bonds (excluding current portion)
Preferred stock with mandatory redemption provisions

2004(1)

2008

2007

2006

2005

$14,628
2,261
1,184
3.23
3.22
1.56

$13,237
2,114
1,006
2.79
2.78
1.44

$12,539
2,108
991
2.78
2.76
1.32

$11,703
1,970
904
2.37
2.34
1.23

$11,080
7,118
3,820
9.16
8.97
—

$ 24.64
38.71
40,860
9,321
—
1,213
—

$ 22.91
43.09
36,632
8,171
—
1,582
—

$ 21.24
47.33
34,803
6,697
—
1,936
—

$ 19.94
37.12
34,074
6,976
290
2,276
—

$ 20.90
33.28
34,540
7,323
580
—
122

$14,628
2,266
1,185

$13,238
2,125
1,010

$12,539
2,115
971

$11,704
1,970
918

$11,080
7,144
3,961

$40,537
9,041
—
1,213
—

$36,310
7,891
—
1,582
—

$34,371
6,697
—
1,936
—

$33,783
6,696
290
2,276
—

$34,302
7,043
580
—
122

(1) Financial data reﬂects the recognition of regulatory assets provided under the December 19, 2003 settlement agreement entered into among PG&E
Corporation, Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company, and the California Public Utilities Commission to resolve Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company’s
proceeding under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company’s reorganization under Chapter 11 became effective
on April 12, 2004.
(2) Matters relating to discontinued operations are discussed in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and in Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(3) The Board of Directors of PG&E Corporation declared a cash dividend of $0.30 per share for the ﬁrst three quarters of 2005. In the fourth quarter
of 2005, the Board of Directors increased the quarterly cash dividend to $0.33 per share. Beginning in the ﬁrst quarter of 2007, the Board of Directors
increased the quarterly cash dividend to $0.36 per share. Beginning in the ﬁrst quarter of 2008, the Board of Directors increased the quarterly cash
dividend to $0.39 per share. The Utility paid quarterly dividends on common stock held by PG&E Corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary
aggregating to $589 million in 2008 and $547 million in 2007. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(4) Book value per common share includes the effect of participating securities. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock is
further disclosed in Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

O V ERVI EW
PG&E Corporation, incorporated in California in 1995, is a
holding company whose primary purpose is to hold interests
in energy-based businesses. PG&E Corporation conducts
its business principally through Paciﬁc Gas and Electric
Company (the “Utility”), a public utility operating in northern
and central California. The Utility engages in the businesses of electricity and natural gas distribution; electricity
generation, procurement, and transmission; and natural gas
procurement, transportation, and storage. PG&E Corporation
became the holding company of the Utility and its subsidiaries on January 1, 1997. Both PG&E Corporation and the
Utility are headquartered in San Francisco, California.
The Utility served approximately 5.1 million electricity
distribution customers and approximately 4.3 million natural
gas distribution customers at December 31, 2008. The Utility
had approximately $40.5 billion in assets at December 31,
2008 and generated revenues of approximately $14.6 billion
in the 12 months ended December 31, 2008.
The Utility is regulated primarily by the California
Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) and the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”). The Utility
generates revenues mainly through the sale and delivery of
electricity and natural gas at rates set by the CPUC and
the FERC. Rates are set to permit the Utility to recover its
authorized “revenue requirements” from customers. Revenue
requirements are designed to allow the Utility an opportunity to recover its reasonable costs of providing utility
services, including a return of, and a fair rate of return
on, its investment in Utility facilities (“rate base”). Changes
in any individual revenue requirement affect customer
rates and could affect the Utility’s revenues.
This is a combined annual report of PG&E Corporation and the Utility, and includes separate Consolidated
Financial Statements for each of these two entities. PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements include
the accounts of PG&E Corporation, the Utility, and other
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wholly owned and controlled subsidiaries. The Utility’s
Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
the Utility and its wholly owned and controlled subsidiaries,
as well as the accounts of variable interest entities for which
the Utility absorbs a majority of the risk of loss or gain.
This combined Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)
of PG&E Corporation and the Utility should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
in this annual report.
SUMMARY OF CHANGES IN
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
AND NET INCOME FOR 2008
PG&E Corporation’s diluted earnings per common share
(“EPS”) for 2008 was $3.63 per share, compared to $2.78 per
share for 2007. PG&E Corporation’s 2008 net income increased
by approximately $332 million, or 33%, to $1,338 million,
compared to 2007 net income of $1,006 million. The increase
in diluted EPS and net income in 2008 is primarily due
to a settlement of federal tax audits of PG&E Corporation’s
consolidated tax returns for 2001 through 2004, which
increased net income by $257 million. (Approximately
$154 million of this amount has been reported as discontinued operations on PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated
Statements of Income because it relates to a former subsidiary of PG&E Corporation, National Energy & Gas
Transmission, Inc. (“NEGT”), which PG&E Corporation
disposed of in 2004.) The 2008 increase in diluted EPS
and net income also includes approximately $98 million
representing the Utility’s return on equity (“ROE”) on
higher authorized capital investments, and approximately
$25 million in incentive earnings awarded by the CPUC in
2008 for the Utility’s energy efﬁciency program performance
in 2006 and 2007.
These increases in net income were partially offset by
higher operating and maintenance expenses of approximately
$50 million, due to storm-related outages, natural gas system
maintenance activities, and the extended outage to replace
the steam generators in one of the nuclear generating units
at the Utility’s Diablo Canyon nuclear generating facilities
(“Diablo Canyon”).

KEY FACTORS AFFECTING RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s results of operations
and ﬁnancial condition depend primarily on whether the
Utility is able to operate its business within authorized
revenue requirements, timely recover its authorized costs,
and earn its authorized rate of return. A number of factors
have had, or are expected to have, a signiﬁcant impact on
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s results of operations
and ﬁnancial condition, including:
• The Outcome of Regulatory Proceedings and the Impact of
Ratemaking Mechanisms — Most of the Utility’s revenue

requirements are set based on its costs of service in proceedings such as the General Rate Case (“GRC”) ﬁled with
the CPUC and transmission owner (“TO”) rate cases ﬁled
with the FERC. Unlike the current GRC, which set revenue
requirements for a four-year period (2007 through 2010),
it is expected that the next GRC will set revenue requirements for the Utility’s electric and natural gas distribution
operations and electric generation operations for a threeyear period (2011 through 2013). From time to time, the
Utility also ﬁles separate applications requesting the CPUC
or the FERC to authorize additional revenue requirements
for speciﬁc capital expenditure projects, such as new power
plants, gas or electric transmission facilities, installation
of an advanced metering infrastructure, and reliability or
system infrastructure improvements. The Utility’s revenues
will also be affected by incentive ratemaking, including the
CPUC’s customer energy efﬁciency shareholder incentive
mechanism. (See “Regulatory Matters” below.) In addition,
the CPUC has authorized the Utility to recover 100%
of its reasonable electric fuel and energy procurement costs
and has established a timely rate adjustment mechanism
to recover such costs. As a result, the Utility’s revenues
and costs can be affected by volatility in the prices
of natural gas and electricity. (See “Risk Management
Activities” below.)

• Capital Structure and Return on Common Equity —

The Utility’s current CPUC-authorized capital structure
includes a 52% common equity component. The CPUC
has authorized the Utility to earn an ROE of 11.35%
on the equity component of its electric and natural gas
distribution and electric generation rate base. The Utility’s
capital structure is set until 2011, and its cost of capital
components, including an 11.35% ROE, will only be
changed before 2011 if the annual automatic adjustment
mechanism established by the CPUC is triggered. If the
12-month October through September average yield for
the Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) utility bond
index increases or decreases by more than 1% as compared to the applicable benchmark, the Utility can adjust
its authorized cost of capital effective on January 1 of
the following year. The 12-month October 2007 through
September 2008 average yield of the Moody’s utility bond
index did not trigger a change in the Utility’s authorized
cost of capital for 2009. The Utility can also apply for an
adjustment to either its capital structure or cost of capital
at any time in the event of extraordinary circumstances.
• The Ability of the Utility to Control Costs While Improving
Operational Efficiency and Reliability — The Utility’s

revenue requirements are generally set at a level to allow
the Utility the opportunity to recover its basic forecasted
operating expenses, as well as to earn an ROE and recover
depreciation, tax, and interest expense associated with
authorized capital expenditures. Differences in the amount
or timing of forecasted and actual operating expenses and
capital expenditures can affect the Utility’s ability to earn
its authorized rate of return and the amount of PG&E
Corporation’s net income available for shareholders. When
capital expenditures are higher than authorized levels, the
Utility incurs associated depreciation, property tax, and
interest expense, but does not recover revenues to offset
these expenses or earn an ROE until the capital expenditures are added to rate base in future rate cases. Items
that could cause higher expenses than provided for in
the last GRC primarily relate to the Utility’s efforts to
maintain the aging infrastructure of its electric and natural
gas systems and to improve the reliability and safety of its
electric and natural gas systems, as well as to higher debt
interest rates and to expenditures for technology infrastructure and support. In addition, the Utility intends to
accelerate the work associated with system-wide gas leak
surveys and targets completing this work in a little more
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than a year. This is expected to result in additional costs.
(See “Results of Operations” below.) The Utility continually
seeks to achieve operational efﬁciencies and improve reliability while creating future sustainable cost savings to offset these higher anticipated expenses. The Utility also seeks
to make the amount and timing of its capital expenditures
consistent with budgeted amounts and timing.
• The Availability and Terms of Debt and Equity Financing —

The amount and timing of the Utility’s future ﬁnancing
needs will depend on various factors, some of which
include the conditions in the capital markets, the amount
and timing of scheduled principal and interest payments on
long-term debt, the amount and timing of planned capital
expenditures, and the amount and timing of interest payments related to the remaining disputed claims that were
made by electricity suppliers in the Utility’s proceeding
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 11”). (See Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.) The amount of the Utility’s shortterm ﬁnancing will vary depending on the level of operating cash ﬂows, seasonal demand for electricity and natural
gas, volatility in electricity and natural gas prices, and
collateral requirements related to price risk management
activity, among other factors. The Utility has continued to
have access to the capital markets despite the recent ﬁnancial turmoil and economic downturn, although interest
rates on the Utility’s short-term and long-term debt have
increased. For example, the Utility’s $600 million principal
amount of 10-year senior notes, issued on October 21, 2008,
bears interest at 8.25% compared to the Utility’s $700 million principal amount of 10-year senior notes, issued in
December 2007 and March 3, 2008 that bear interest at
5.625%. In addition, the Utility’s commercial paper issuance rate reached a high of 7.3% on September 30, 2008
and a low of 1.2% as of December 26, 2008. In order to
maintain the Utility’s CPUC-authorized capital structure,
PG&E Corporation will be required to contribute equity
to the Utility. The timing and amount of these future
equity contributions will affect the timing and amount of
any future equity or debt issuances by PG&E Corporation.
(See “Liquidity and Financial Resources” below.)
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In addition to the key factors discussed above, PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s future results of operations
and ﬁnancial condition are subject to the risk factors.
(See “Risk Factors” below.)

FO RWARD - LO O KIN G S TAT EM EN TS
This combined annual report and the letter to shareholders
that accompanies it contain forward-looking statements
that are necessarily subject to various risks and uncertainties.
These statements are based on current estimates, expectations,
and projections about future events and assumptions regarding these events and management’s knowledge of facts as
of the date of this report. These forward-looking statements
relate to, among other matters, estimated capital expenditures, estimated environmental remediation liabilities,
estimated tax liabilities, the anticipated outcome of various
regulatory and legal proceedings, estimated future cash ﬂows,
and the level of future equity or debt issuances, and are
also identiﬁed by words such as “assume,” “expect,” “intend,”
“plan,” “project,” “believe,” “estimate,” “target,” “predict,”
“anticipate,” “aim,” “may,” “might,” “should,” “would,”
“could,” “goal,” “potential,” and similar expressions. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility are not able to predict all of the
factors that may affect future results. Some of the factors
that could cause future results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements,
or from historical results, include, but are not limited to:
• the Utility’s ability to manage capital expenditures

and its operating and maintenance expenses within
authorized levels;
• the outcome of pending and future regulatory proceedings

and whether the Utility is able to timely recover its costs
through rates;

• the adequacy and price of electricity and natural gas sup-

plies, and the ability of the Utility to manage and respond
to the volatility of the electricity and natural gas markets,
including the ability of the Utility and its counterparties
to post or return collateral;
• the effect of weather, storms, earthquakes, ﬁres, ﬂoods,

disease, other natural disasters, explosions, accidents,
mechanical breakdowns, acts of terrorism, and other events
or hazards on the Utility’s facilities and operations, its
customers, and third parties on which the Utility relies;
• the potential impacts of climate change on the Utility’s

electricity and natural gas businesses;
• changes in customer demand for electricity and natural gas

resulting from unanticipated population growth or decline;
general economic and ﬁnancial market conditions; changes
in technology, including the development of alternative
energy sources; or other reasons;
• operating performance of Diablo Canyon, the availability

of nuclear fuel, the occurrence of unplanned outages at
Diablo Canyon, or the temporary or permanent cessation
of operations at Diablo Canyon;
• whether the Utility can maintain the cost savings it has

recognized from operating efﬁciencies it has achieved, and
identify and successfully implement additional sustainable
cost-saving measures;
• whether the Utility incurs substantial expense to

• how the CPUC administers the conditions imposed

on PG&E Corporation when it became the Utility’s
holding company;
• the extent to which PG&E Corporation or the Utility

incurs costs and liabilities in connection with litigation
that are not recoverable through rates, from insurance,
or from other third parties;
• the ability of PG&E Corporation, the Utility, and counter-

parties to access capital markets and other sources of credit
in a timely manner on acceptable terms, especially given
the recent deteriorating conditions in the economy and
ﬁnancial markets;
• the impact of environmental laws and regulations and the

costs of compliance and remediation;
• the effect of municipalization, direct access, community

choice aggregation, or other forms of bypass; and
• the impact of changes in federal or state tax laws, policies,

or regulations.
For more information about the signiﬁcant risks that
could affect the outcome of these forward-looking statements
and PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s future ﬁnancial
condition and results of operations, see the discussion in
the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. PG&E Corporation
and the Utility do not undertake an obligation to update
forward-looking statements, whether in response to new
information, future events, or other factors.

improve the safety and reliability of its electric and
natural gas systems;
• whether the Utility achieves the CPUC’s energy efﬁciency

targets and recognizes any incentives the Utility may earn
in a timely manner;
• the impact of changes in federal or state laws, or their

interpretation, on energy policy and the regulation of
utilities and their holding companies;
• the impact of changing wholesale electric or gas market

rules, including new rules of the California Independent
System Operator (“CAISO”) to restructure the California
wholesale electricity market;
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R E S ULTS OF OPERAT IONS
The table below details certain items from the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income for 2008, 2007, and 2006:
Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

2006

Utility
Electric operating revenues
Natural gas operating revenues

$10,738
3,890

$ 9,481
3,757

$ 8,752
3,787

Total operating revenues

14,628

13,238

12,539

4,425
2,090
4,197
1,650

3,437
2,035
3,872
1,769

2,922
2,097
3,697
1,708

12,362

Cost of electricity
Cost of natural gas
Operating and maintenance
Depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning

11,113

10,424

Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net(1)

2,266
91
(698)
14

2,125
150
(732)
38

2,115
175
(710)
(7)

Income before income taxes
Income tax provision

1,673
488

1,581
571

1,573
602

Income available for common stock

$ 1,185

$ 1,010

$

971

PG&E Corporation, Eliminations, and Other(2)
Operating revenues
Operating expenses

$

$

$

—
7

Total operating expenses

—
5

(1)
10

Operating loss
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense, net

(5)
3
(30)
(32)

(11)
14
(30)
(9)

(7)
13
(28)
(6)

Loss before income taxes
Income tax beneﬁt

(64)
(63)

(36)
(32)

(28)
(48)

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations(3)

(1)
154

(4)
—

20
—

Net income (loss)

$

153

Consolidated Total
Operating revenues
Operating expenses

$14,628
12,367

$

(4)

$

20

$13,237
11,123

$12,539
10,431

Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net(1)

2,261
94
(728)
(18)

2,114
164
(762)
29

2,108
188
(738)
(13)

Income before income taxes
Income tax provision

1,609
425

1,545
539

1,545
554

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations(3)

1,184
154

1,006
—

991
—

$ 1,338

$ 1,006

Net income

$

991

(1) Includes preferred stock dividend requirement as other expense.
(2) PG&E Corporation eliminates all intercompany transactions in consolidation.
(3) Discontinued operations reﬂect items related to PG&E Corporation’s former subsidiary NEGT. See Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion.
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UTILITY
In the Utility’s last GRC, the CPUC authorized the Utility’s
revenue requirements for 2007 through 2010 for its basic
business and operational costs related to its electricity and
natural gas distribution and electricity generation operations. Effective January 1, 2007, the CPUC authorized the
Utility to collect annual revenue requirements of approximately $2.9 billion for electricity distribution, approximately
$1.0 billion for natural gas distribution, and approximately
$1.0 billion for electricity generation operations. The CPUC
also authorized annual increases (known as “attrition adjustments”) to authorized revenues of $125 million in 2008, 2009,
and 2010 to help avoid a reduction in earnings in years
between GRCs, due to inﬂation, increases in invested capital,
and other similar items. In addition, the CPUC authorized
a one-time additional adjustment of $35 million in 2009 for
the cost of a second refueling outage at the Utility’s Diablo
Canyon nuclear power plant. The Utility’s next GRC will
be held in 2010 to establish revenue requirements beginning
in 2011. The Utility expects to submit a draft of its GRC
application and revenue requirement request to the CPUC
staff in July or August of 2009.
Revenue requirements by the CPUC are independent,
or “decoupled,” from the volume of sales, which eliminates
volatility in the amount of revenues earned by the Utility
due to ﬂuctuations in customer demand. As a result, lower
customer demand caused by the economic downturn has
not and is not expected to have a material adverse impact
on the Utility’s results of operations or ﬁnancial condition.
The Utility uses revenue or sales regulatory balancing accounts
to accumulate differences between revenues and the Utility’s
revenue requirements authorized by the CPUC. Undercollections that are probable of recovery through regulated
rates are recorded as regulatory balancing account assets. Overcollections that are probable of being credited to customers
are recorded as regulatory balancing account liabilities.
The CPUC also conducts a proceeding to determine the
Utility’s authorized capital structure (i.e., the relative weightings of common equity, preferred equity, and debt) and the
authorized rate of return (including an ROE) that the Utility
may earn on the components of capital structure used to
ﬁnance its electricity and natural gas distribution and electricity generation assets. For 2008 through 2010, the CPUC
has authorized a capital structure that includes a 52% equity
component. For 2009, the CPUC has authorized an 11.35%
ROE for the Utility. The Utility’s rates of return will remain
at current levels through 2010, unless the CPUC’s annual
adjustment mechanism is triggered. The CPUC will review
the Utility’s capital structure and cost of capital again for
possible reset beginning in 2011.

The CPUC also authorizes the Utility’s revenue requirements and associated rates for the Utility’s natural gas
transmission and storage services. In September 2007,
the CPUC approved a multi-party settlement agreement,
known as the Gas Accord IV, to establish the Utility’s natural gas transmission and storage rates and associated revenue
requirements for 2008 through 2010. The Gas Accord IV
establishes a 2008 natural gas transmission and storage
revenue requirement of $446 million, with slight increases
in 2009 and 2010. Although most of the Utility’s natural
gas revenues are collected through balancing accounts, most
of the Utility’s transportation service-only revenue is based
on actual volumes of natural gas sold and therefore is
subject to volumetric risk.
The Utility is also authorized to collect revenue requirements from customers to fund public purpose, demand
response, and energy efﬁciency programs, including the
California Solar Initiative program and the Self-Generation
Incentive program. In addition, the Utility is authorized to
collect revenue requirements to recover its capital costs for
projects such as new Utility-owned generation resource facilities and the installation of advanced meters for its electric
and gas customers. Finally, incentive ratemaking mechanisms
allow rates to be adjusted to reﬂect incentive awards earned
by the Utility, or obligations incurred by the Utility, to the
extent certain benchmarks or goals are or are not met.
The FERC sets the Utility’s rates for electric transmission
services. The primary FERC ratemaking proceeding to determine the amount of revenue requirements that the Utility
can recover for its electric transmission costs is the TO rate
case. The Utility is typically able to set the schedule for its
TO rate cases and, if accepted by the FERC, to charge new
rates, subject to refund, before the outcome of the FERC
ratemaking review process. The Utility’s recovery of its
FERC-authorized electric transmission revenue requirements
can vary with the volume of electricity sales. As a result,
lower customer demand caused by the economic downturn
could affect the Utility’s results of operations or ﬁnancial
condition. (See “Regulatory Matters — Electric Transmission
Owner Rate Cases” below.)
The Utility’s rates reﬂect the revenue requirement
components authorized by the CPUC and the FERC.
In annual true-up proceedings, the Utility requests the
CPUC to authorize an adjustment to electric and gas rates
to (1) reﬂect over- and under-collections in the Utility’s
major electric and gas balancing accounts, and (2) implement various other electricity and gas revenue requirement
changes authorized by the CPUC and the FERC. Generally,
these rate changes become effective on the ﬁrst day of the
following year. Balances in all CPUC-authorized accounts
are subject to review, veriﬁcation audit, and adjustment,
if necessary, by the CPUC.
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The following presents the Utility’s operating results for
2008, 2007, and 2006.
Electric Operating Revenues
The Utility provides electricity to residential, industrial, agricultural, and small and large commercial customers through
its own generation facilities and through power purchase
agreements with third parties. In addition, the Utility relies
on electricity provided under long-term contracts entered into
by the California Department of Water Resources (“DWR”)
to meet a material portion of the Utility’s customers’
demand (“load”). The Utility’s electric operating revenues
consist of amounts charged to customers for electricity
generation and procurement and for electric transmission
and distribution services, as well as amounts charged to
customers to recover the costs of public purpose programs,
energy efﬁciency programs, and demand side management.

• Base revenue requirements increased by approximately

$103 million, as a result of attrition adjustments as
authorized in the 2007 GRC.
• Electric transmission revenues increased by approximately

$56 million, primarily due to an increase in rates as
authorized in the current TO rate case.
• Electric operating revenues increased by approximately

$35 million, the portion of the incentive award approved
by the CPUC in December 2008 that is attributable to the
Utility’s 2006 and 2007 electricity energy efﬁciency programs.
• Other electric operating revenues increased by approxi-

mately $119 million, primarily due to increases in revenue
requirements to recover costs related to the Diablo Canyon
steam generator replacement project and revenue requirements to fund the SmartMeter™ advanced metering project.
(See “Capital Expenditures” below.)

The following table provides a summary of the Utility’s
electric operating revenues:
(in millions)

Electric operating revenue
DWR pass-through revenue(1)
Utility electric operating
revenue
Utility electricity sales
(in millions of kWh) (2)

These increases were partially offset by a decrease
of approximately $276 million, representing the amount of
2008
2007
2006
revenue collected during the comparable periods in 2007
$12,063 $11,710 $10,871 for payment of principal and interest on the rate reduc(1,325)
(2,229)
(2,119)
tion bonds (“RRBs”) that matured in December 2007, and
approximately $22 million, representing a reduction in the
$10,738 $ 9,481 $ 8,752
amount of revenue collected for payment of the energy
recovery bonds (“ERBs”) due to their declining balance.
74,783

64,986

64,725

(1) These are revenues collected on behalf of the DWR for electricity allocated to the Utility’s customers under contracts between the DWR and
power suppliers, and are not included in the Utility’s Consolidated
Statements of Income.
(2) These volumes exclude electricity provided by DWR.

The Utility’s electric operating revenues increased by
approximately $1,257 million, or approximately 13%, in
2008 compared to 2007, mainly due to the following factors:
• Electricity procurement costs passed through to customers

increased by approximately $976 million, primarily due
to an increase in the volume of power purchased by the
Utility following the DWR’s termination of a power purchase contract in December 2007 and during the extended
scheduled outage at Diablo Canyon in 2008. (See “Cost
of Electricity” below.)
• Electric operating revenues to fund public purpose and

energy efﬁciency programs increased by approximately
$266 million, primarily due to an increase in expenses for
these programs. (See “Operating and Maintenance” below.)
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The Utility’s electric operating revenues increased by
approximately $729 million, or approximately 8%, in 2007
compared to 2006, mainly due to the following factors:
• Electricity procurement costs, which are passed through

to customers, increased by approximately $742 million.
(See “Cost of Electricity” below.)
• The 2007 GRC increased 2007 base revenue requirements

by approximately $231 million.
• Revenues from public purpose programs, including the

California Solar Initiative program, increased by approximately $141 million. (See Note 3 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)
• Electric transmission revenues increased by approximately

$74 million, including an increase in revenues as authorized
in the TO rate case.

These increases were partially offset by the following:
• Transmission revenues decreased by approximately $200 mil-

lion, primarily due to a decrease in revenues received under
the Utility’s reliability must run (“RMR”) agreements with
the CAISO. During 2006, the CPUC adopted rules to
implement state law requirements for California investorowned utilities to meet resource adequacy requirements,
including rules to address local transmission system reliability issues. As the utilities fulﬁll their responsibilities to
meet these requirements, the number of RMR agreements
with the CAISO and the associated revenues and costs will
decline. (See “Cost of Electricity” below.)
• Revenues in 2006 included approximately $136 million for

recovery of scheduling coordinator costs that the Utility
incurred from April 1998 through December 2005, as
ordered by the FERC. No similar amount was recognized
in 2007.
• Revenues in 2006 included approximately $65 million

for recovery of net interest related to disputed claims for
the period between the effective date of the Utility’s plan
of reorganization under Chapter 11 in April 2004 and the
ﬁrst issuance of the ERBs in February 2005, and for certain
energy supplier refund litigation costs upon completion
of the CPUC’s 2005 Annual Electric True-up veriﬁcation
audit. No similar amount was recognized in 2007.
• Other electric operating revenues decreased by approximately

$58 million, reﬂecting a pension revenue requirement that
was recovered in 2006 but not in 2007.
The Utility’s electric operating revenues for 2009 and
2010 are expected to increase as authorized by the CPUC
in the 2007 GRC. The Utility’s electric operating revenues
for future years are also expected to increase as authorized
by the FERC in the TO rate cases. In addition, the Utility
expects to continue to collect revenue requirements related
to CPUC-approved capital expenditures outside the GRC,
including capital expenditures for the new Utility-owned
generation projects and the SmartMeter™ advanced metering
project. Revenues would also increase to the extent the CPUC
approves the Utility’s proposal for other capital projects.
(See “Capital Expenditures” below.) Revenue requirements
associated with new or expanded public purpose, energy
efﬁciency, and demand response programs will also result
in increased electric operating revenues. Future electric
operating revenues are impacted by changes in the Utility’s
electricity procurement costs as discussed under “Cost
of Electricity” below. Finally, the Utility may recognize
additional incentive revenues to the extent it achieves the
CPUC’s energy efﬁciency goals.

Cost of Electricity
The Utility’s cost of electricity includes the cost of purchased
power and the cost of fuel used by its generation facilities
or supplied to other facilities under tolling agreements. The
Utility’s cost of electricity also includes realized gains and
losses on price risk management activities. (See Notes 11 and
12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information.) The cost of electricity excludes non-fuel
costs associated with the Utility’s own generation facilities,
which are included in Operating and maintenance expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Utility’s
cost of purchased power and the cost of fuel used in Utilityowned generation are passed through to customers.
The Utility is required to dispatch, or schedule, all of
the electricity resources within its portfolio in the most
cost-effective way. This requirement, in certain cases, requires
the Utility to schedule more electricity than is necessary
to meet its load and sell the excess electricity on the open
market. The Utility typically schedules excess electricity
when the expected sales proceeds exceed the variable costs
to operate a generation facility or buy electricity under
an optional contract. The Utility’s net proceeds from the
sale of surplus electricity are recorded as a reduction to
the cost of electricity.
The following table provides a summary of the Utility’s
cost of electricity and the total amount and average cost of
purchased power:
(in millions)

2008

2007

2006

Cost of purchased power
Proceeds from surplus sales
allocated to the Utility
Fuel used in own generation

$ 4,516

$ 3,443

$ 3,114

(155)
149

(343)
151

Total cost of electricity

$ 4,425

$ 3,437

$ 2,922

$ 0.088

$ 0.089

$ 0.084

51,100

38,828

36,913

Average cost of purchased power
per kWh
Total purchased power
(in millions of kWh)

(255)
164

The Utility’s total cost of electricity increased by approximately $988 million, or 29%, in 2008 compared to 2007.
This increase was primarily driven by increases in the total
volume of purchased power of 12,272 million kilowatt-hours
(“kWh”), or 32%. Following the DWR’s termination of its
power purchase agreement with Calpine Corporation in
December 2007, the volume of power provided by the DWR
to the Utility’s customers decreased by 8,784 million kWh.
As a result, the Utility was required to increase its purchases
of power from third parties to meet customer load. In addition, the Utility increased the volume of power it purchased
in 2008 from third parties during the scheduled extended
outage at Diablo Canyon Unit 2 to replace the four steam
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generators. The extended outage lasted from February
through mid-April 2008, in comparison to the planned
refueling outage of Diablo Canyon Unit 1 that occurred
entirely in May 2007. (See “Capital Expenditures” below.)
Increases in market prices during the ﬁrst half of 2008 were
entirely offset by a decrease in market prices during the
second half of 2008, and hedging activity.
The Utility’s total cost of electricity increased by
approximately $515 million, or 18%, in 2007 compared to
2006. This increase was primarily driven by a 6% increase
in the average cost of purchased power. The average cost
of purchased power increased $0.005 per kWh from 2006
to 2007, primarily due to higher energy payments made to
qualifying facilities after their ﬁve-year ﬁxed price contracts
expired during the summer of 2006. In addition, the Utility
increased the volume of its third-party power purchases,
primarily due to a reduction in the availability of lower-cost
hydroelectric power resulting from less than average precipitation during 2007 as compared to 2006. These increases
were partially offset by a decrease in charges imposed by
the CAISO.
Various factors will affect the Utility’s future cost of
electricity, including the market prices for electricity and
natural gas, the level of hydroelectric and nuclear power that
the Utility produces, the cost of procuring more renewable
energy, changes in customer demand, and the amount and
timing of power purchases needed to replace power previously
supplied under the DWR contracts as those contracts expire
or are terminated, novated, or renegotiated. (See Note 17 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) The
Utility will incur higher costs to purchase power during
the extended refueling outage that began at Diablo Canyon
Unit 1 in January 2009 to replace the steam generators.
(See “Capital Expenditures” below.) In addition, the output
from the Utility’s hydroelectric generation facilities is
dependent on levels of precipitation and could impact the
volume of purchased power. Volatility in natural gas prices
will also impact the Utility’s cost of electricity in 2009
and future years.
The Utility’s future cost of electricity also may be
affected by federal or state legislation or rules that may
be adopted to regulate the emissions of greenhouse gases
from the Utility’s electricity generating facilities or the generating facilities from which the Utility procures electricity.
In particular, costs are likely to increase in the future when
California’s statewide greenhouse gas emissions reduction
law is implemented. (See “Risk Factors” below.)
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Natural Gas Operating Revenues
The Utility sells natural gas and natural gas transportation
services. The Utility’s transportation services are provided
by a transmission system and a distribution system. The
transmission system transports gas throughout California for
delivery to the Utility’s distribution system, which, in turn,
delivers natural gas to end-use customers. The transmission
system also delivers natural gas to large end-use customers
who are connected directly to the transmission system.
In addition, the Utility delivers natural gas to off-system
markets, primarily in southern California.
The Utility’s natural gas customers consist of two
categories: residential and smaller commercial customers
known as “core” customers, and industrial and larger commercial customers known as “non-core” customers. The
Utility provides natural gas transportation services to all core
and non-core customers connected to the Utility’s system
in its service territory. Core customers can purchase natural
gas from either the Utility or alternate energy service providers. The Utility does not procure natural gas for non-core
customers. When the Utility provides both transportation
and natural gas supply, the Utility refers to the combined
service as bundled natural gas service. In 2008, core customers represented over 99% of the Utility’s total customers
and approximately 37% of its total natural gas deliveries,
while non-core customers comprised less than 1% of the
Utility’s total customers and approximately 63% of its
total natural gas deliveries.
The Utility’s natural gas operating revenues include
bundled natural gas revenues and transportation serviceonly revenues. Although the Utility’s bundled natural gas
revenues are collected through balancing accounts, most of
the Utility’s transportation service-only revenues are based on
actual volumes sold and therefore are subject to volumetric
risk. (Most of the Utility’s intrastate natural gas transmission
capacity has not been sold under long-term contracts that
provide for recovery of all ﬁxed costs through the collection
of ﬁxed reservation charges.) As a result, the Utility’s natural
gas operating revenues may ﬂuctuate based on the volume
of gas transported. (See the “Natural Gas Transportation and
Storage” section in “Risk Management Activities” below.)

The following table provides a summary of the Utility’s
natural gas operating revenues:
(in millions)

Bundled natural gas revenues
Transportation service-only revenues
Total natural gas operating
revenues
Average bundled revenue per Mcf
of natural gas sold
Total bundled natural gas sales
(in millions of Mcf)

2008

2007

2006

$3,557
333

$3,417
340

$3,472
315

$3,890

$3,757

$3,787

$13.52

$12.94

$12.91

263

264

269

(1)

(1) One thousand cubic feet

The Utility’s natural gas operating revenues increased
by approximately $133 million, or 4%, in 2008 compared
to 2007. The increase in natural gas operating revenues
primarily reﬂects an overall increase in the cost of natural
gas of approximately $55 million (see “Cost of Natural
Gas” below), an increase in base revenue requirements as a
result of attrition adjustments authorized in the 2007 GRC
of approximately $22 million, an increase in natural gas
revenue requirements to fund the SmartMeter™ advanced
metering project of approximately $25 million, and an
increase of $24 million in natural gas revenues to fund
energy efﬁciency public purpose programs. The increase
in natural gas operating revenues also includes $7 million,
the portion of the incentive award approved by the CPUC
in December 2008 that is attributable to the Utility’s 2006
and 2007 natural gas energy efﬁciency programs.
The Utility’s natural gas operating revenues decreased
by approximately $30 million, or less than one percent,
in 2007 compared to 2006. This was primarily due to a
decrease in the cost of natural gas, which is passed through
to customers. This decrease was partially offset by the
increased base revenue requirements authorized in the 2007
GRC and an increase in revenue requirements relating to
the SmartMeter™ project.
Future natural gas operating revenues will be impacted
by changes in the cost of natural gas, the Utility’s gas transportation rates, natural gas throughput volume, and other
factors. For 2008 through 2010, the Gas Accord IV settlement agreement provides for an overall modest increase
in the revenue requirements and rates for the Utility’s gas
transmission and storage services. In addition, the Utility’s
natural gas operating revenues for distribution are expected
to increase through 2010 as a result of revenue requirement
increases authorized by the CPUC in the 2007 GRC. Finally,
the Utility may recognize incentive revenues to the extent it
achieves the CPUC’s energy efﬁciency goals.

Cost of Natural Gas
The Utility’s cost of natural gas includes the purchase costs
of natural gas and transportation costs on interstate pipelines
and intrastate pipelines, but excludes the transportation costs
for non-core customers, which are included in Operating
and maintenance expense in the Consolidated Statements
of Income. The Utility’s cost of gas also includes realized
gains and losses on price risk management activities. (See
Notes 11 and 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.) The Utility’s cost of
gas is passed through to customers.
The following table provides a summary of the Utility’s
cost of natural gas:
(in millions)

Cost of natural gas sold
Cost of natural gas transportation
Total cost of natural gas
Average cost per Mcf of
natural gas sold
Total natural gas sold
(in millions of Mcf)

2008

2007

2006

$1,955
135

$1,859
176

$1,958
139

$2,090

$2,035

$2,097

$ 7.43

$ 7.04

$ 7.28

263

264

269

The Utility’s total cost of natural gas increased by approximately $55 million, or 3%, in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to increases in the average market price of natural
gas purchased. The increase was partially offset by an approximately $23 million refund the Utility received as part of a
settlement with TransCanada’s Gas Transmission Northwest
Corporation for 2007 gas transmission capacity rates.
The Utility’s total cost of natural gas decreased by
approximately $62 million, or 3%, in 2007 compared to
2006, primarily due to a decrease in the average market price
of natural gas purchased of approximately $0.24 per Mcf,
or 3%. Average market prices were signiﬁcantly higher in the
beginning of 2006 as damages to production facilities caused
by severe weather reduced natural gas supply. In addition,
the price of natural gas declined due to a relatively mild
hurricane season in 2007 as compared to industry forecasts,
resulting in no material supply disruptions, and a relatively
large amount of natural gas in storage across the nation.
The Utility’s future cost of natural gas will be impacted
by the market price of natural gas and changes in customer
demand. In addition, the Utility’s future cost of gas also
may be affected by federal or state legislation or rules to
regulate the emissions of greenhouse gases from the Utility’s
natural gas transportation and distribution facilities, and
from natural gas consumed by the Utility’s customers.
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Operating and Maintenance
Operating and maintenance expenses consist mainly of the
Utility’s costs to operate and maintain its electricity and
natural gas facilities, customer accounts and service expenses,
public purpose program expenses, and administrative and
general expenses.
The Utility’s operating and maintenance expenses
increased by approximately $325 million, or 8%, in 2008
compared to 2007. Expenses increased mainly due to the
following factors:
• Public purpose program and customer energy efﬁciency

incentive program expenses increased by approximately
$290 million, primarily due to increased customer participation and increased marketing of new and existing programs,
including the California Solar Initiative program and
the Self-Generation Incentive Program. Of these changes,
approximately $266 million was recovered in electric operating revenues and $24 million was recovered in natural
gas operating revenues. Expenses related to public purpose
programs and energy efﬁciency programs are generally fully
recoverable and differences between costs and revenues in
a particular period are due to timing differences.
• Employee beneﬁt costs increased by approximately $59 mil-

lion, primarily reﬂecting unrealized losses in the long-term
disability plan trust due to the decline in the market value
of trust investments as ﬁnancial markets deteriorated in the
second half of 2008.
• Costs increased by approximately $38 million for the

repair and restoration of electric distribution systems and
to respond to customer inquiries following the January 2008
winter storm. Of the approximately $38 million in costs,
the CPUC has authorized the Utility to recover approximately $8 million from customers. There was no similar
storm in the same period in 2007.
• Labor costs increased by approximately $39 million to

conduct expanded natural gas leak surveys in parts of the
Utility’s service territory and to make related repairs in
an effort to improve operating and maintenance processes
in the Utility’s natural gas system.
• Maintenance costs increased by approximately $10 million,

due to the longer duration of the planned outage of Diablo
Canyon Unit 2 in 2008 compared to the Diablo Canyon
Unit 1 outage in 2007.
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These increases were partially offset by the following
factors:
• Cost reductions of approximately $60 million, reﬂecting

reductions in labor, postage, consulting, advertising,
and other costs.
• Costs related to injuries and damages decreased by

approximately $16 million as compared to 2007, when
the Utility increased its reserves for such matters.
• Costs related to software maintenance contracts decreased

by $10 million.
• Costs decreased by approximately $12 million as compared

to 2007 when the CPUC ordered the Utility to make
customer refunds related to billing practices.
• Costs decreased by approximately $13 million as compared

to 2007 when the Utility increased the liability related to
compensation for employees’ missed meals.
During 2007, the Utility’s operating and maintenance
expenses increased by approximately $175 million, or 5%,
compared to 2006, mainly due to the following factors:
• Payments for customer assistance and public purpose

programs, such as the California Solar Initiative program,
increased by approximately $99 million, primarily due to
increased customer participation in these programs.
• The Utility’s distribution expenses increased by approxi-

mately $40 million, primarily due to service costs related
to the creation of new dispatch and scheduling stations
and vegetation management in the Utility’s service territory.
• Billing and collection costs increased by approximately

$33 million.
• Labor costs increased by approximately $33 million,

primarily due to higher employee headcount and increased
base salaries and incentive compensation.
• Costs of outside consulting services and contracts primarily

related to information systems increased by approximately
$22 million.
• Approximately $22 million was accrued for missed meal

payments to certain Utility employees covered under
collective bargaining agreements.
• Workers’ compensation expense increased by approximately

$20 million, due to an increase in the Utility’s accrual
for its workers’ compensation obligation (caused by a
decrease to the applicable discount rate used to calculate
the obligation) and higher than expected workers’ compensation claims.

• Property taxes increased by approximately $12 million, due

to electric plant growth, tax rate increases, and increases
in assessed values in 2007.
• In 2006, the Utility reduced its accrual for long-term

disability beneﬁts by approximately $11 million, reﬂecting
changes in sick leave eligibility rules, but there was no
similar adjustment in 2007.
These increases were offset by the following factors:
• Pension expense decreased by approximately $57 million,

consistent with the annual pension contribution as
approved by the CPUC in June 2006.
• Severance costs in 2007 were approximately $30 million

lower than in 2006.
• In 2006, the Utility increased its environmental remediation

accrual by approximately $30 million, due to changes
in the California Regional Water Quality Control Board’s
imposed remediation levels, but there was no similar
adjustment in 2007.
Operating and maintenance expenses are inﬂuenced
by wage inﬂation; beneﬁts; property taxes; the timing and
length of Diablo Canyon refueling outages; storms, wild
land ﬁres, and other events causing outages and damages
in the Utility’s service territory; environmental remediation
costs; legal costs; material costs; and various other administrative and general expenses. In addition, the Utility expects
to incur higher labor costs under its recently renegotiated
collective bargaining agreements. The Utility anticipates
that it will incur higher costs in the future to operate and
maintain its aging infrastructure and to improve operating
and maintenance processes used in its natural gas system.
(See “Risk Factors” below.) In particular, the Utility intends
to accelerate the work associated with system-wide gas leak
surveys and targets completing this work in little more than
a year. In general, the Utility completes a survey of its entire
gas distribution system every ﬁve years by surveying 20%
of its system each year. The Utility forecasts it will spend
up to $100 million more in 2009 to perform the gas leak
surveys and associated remedial work on an accelerated
schedule. The Utility also expects that it will incur higher
expenses in future periods to obtain or comply with permitting requirements, including costs associated with renewed
FERC licenses for the Utility’s hydroelectric generation
facilities. To help offset these increased costs, the Utility
intends to continue its efforts to identify and implement
initiatives to achieve operational efﬁciencies and to create
future sustainable cost savings.

Depreciation, Amortization, and Decommissioning
The Utility’s depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning expenses decreased by approximately $119 million, or
7%, in 2008 compared to 2007, mainly due to decreases in
amortization expense of approximately $261 million related
to the RRB regulatory asset. The RRB regulatory asset was
fully recovered through rates when the RRBs matured in
December 2007; therefore, no amortization has been recorded
in 2008. These decreases were partially offset by increases
to depreciation expense of approximately $142 million, primarily due to capital additions and depreciation rate changes
as authorized in the 2007 GRC and the current TO rate case.
The Utility’s depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning expenses increased by approximately $61 million, or
4%, in 2007 compared to 2006, mainly due to an approximately $121 million increase in depreciation expense as
a result of depreciation rate changes and capital additions
in 2007 authorized by the 2007 GRC decision. This was
partially offset by the following factors:
• The Utility recorded lower decommissioning expense of

approximately $53 million as a result of the 2007 GRC
decision to refund over-collections of decommissioning
expense to customers.
• Other depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning

expenses, including amortization of the ERB regulatory
asset, decreased by $7 million.
The Utility’s depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning expenses in subsequent years are expected to increase
as a result of an overall increase in capital expenditures and
implementation of depreciation rates authorized by the 2007
GRC decision and future TO rate cases.
Interest Income
The Utility’s interest income decreased by approximately
$59 million, or 39%, in 2008 as compared to 2007 when the
Utility received approximately $16 million in interest income
on a federal tax refund. In addition, there was a decrease of
$37 million in interest income, primarily due to lower interest
rates earned on funds held in escrow related to disputed
claims and a lower escrow balance reﬂecting settlements of
disputed claims. (See Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) There was an additional decrease
of approximately $6 million in other interest income.
The Utility’s interest income decreased by approximately
$25 million, or 14%, in 2007 compared to 2006. In 2006,
the FERC approved the Utility’s recovery of scheduling
coordinator costs it had previously incurred, including
interest of approximately $47 million. No similar amount
was recognized in 2007. This decrease was partially offset by
the receipt of approximately $16 million in 2007 related to
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the settlement of refund claims made against electricity
suppliers for overcharges incurred during the 2000-2001
California energy crisis. (See Note 15 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.) In addition, other interest income, including interest income associated with certain
balancing accounts, increased by approximately $6 million.

These increases were partially offset by a reduction of
approximately $34 million in the interest expense related
to the declining balance of the ERBs and RRBs. In addition,
other interest expense, including lower interest expense on
balances in certain regulatory balancing accounts, decreased
approximately $3 million.

The Utility’s interest income in 2009 and future periods
will be primarily affected by changes in the balance held
in escrow related to disputed claims and changes in interest
rate levels.

The Utility’s interest expense in 2009 and future periods
will be impacted by changes in interest rates, as well as by
changes in the amount of debt outstanding as long-term debt
matures and additional long-term debt is issued (see “Liquidity
and Financial Resources” below for further discussion).

Interest Expense
The Utility’s interest expense decreased by approximately
$34 million, or 5%, in 2008 as compared to 2007. Interest
expense decreased primarily due to the following factors:
• Interest expense decreased by approximately $29 million,

primarily due to lower FERC interest rates accrued on the
liability for disputed claims.

Other Income (Expense), Net
The Utility’s other income (expense), net, decreased by approximately $24 million, or 63%, in 2008 compared to 2007. This
decrease is primarily due to an increase in costs of approximately $24 million that was spent in 2008 to oppose the
statewide initiative related to renewable energy (Proposition 7)
and the City of San Francisco’s municipalization efforts.

• Interest expense decreased by approximately $26 million,

due to the reduction in the outstanding balance of ERBs
and the maturity of the RRBs in December 2007.
• Interest expense on pollution control bonds decreased by

approximately $20 million due to the repurchase of auctionrate pollution control bonds in March and April 2008.
The Utility partially refunded these bonds in September
and October 2008. Additionally, interest expense decreased
due to lower interest rates on outstanding variable rate
pollution control bonds.
• Interest expense decreased by approximately $24 million,

primarily due to lower interest rates affecting various
balancing accounts.
• Other interest expense decreased by approximately

$14 million, primarily due to a lower balance of borrowings outstanding under the Utility’s $2 billion revolving
credit facility and lower commercial paper interest rates.
These decreases were partially offset by additional interest expense of approximately $79 million in 2008, primarily
related to $1.8 billion in senior notes that were issued in
March, October, and November 2008.
In 2007, the Utility’s interest expense increased by
approximately $22 million, or 3%, compared to 2006,
including approximately $19 million of higher interest
expense related to disputed claims as a result of an increase
in the FERC-mandated interest rate (see Note 15 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). In addition, interest expense related to $1.2 billion in long-term
debt issued in 2007 and variable rate pollution control bond
loan agreements increased by approximately $40 million.
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Income Tax Expense
The Utility’s income tax expense decreased by approximately
$83 million, or 15%, in 2008 compared to 2007. The effective tax rates were 28.9% and 35.8% for 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2008
was primarily due to a settlement of federal tax audits for
the tax years 2001 through 2004 and approval by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) of the Utility’s change in accounting
method for the capitalization of indirect service costs for
tax years 2001 through 2004. (See “Tax Matters” below
and Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of “Income Taxes.”)
The Utility’s income tax expense decreased by approximately $31 million, or 5%, in 2007 compared to 2006,
primarily due to a decrease of approximately $29 million
as a result of ﬁxed asset related tax deductions, due to an
increase in tax-deductible decommissioning expense in 2007
compared to 2006. The effective tax rates were 35.8% and
38.0% for 2007 and 2006, respectively.
PG&E CORPORATION,
ELIMINATIONS, AND OTHER
Operating Revenues and Expenses
PG&E Corporation’s revenues consist mainly of billings to
its afﬁliates for services rendered, all of which are eliminated
in consolidation. PG&E Corporation’s operating expenses
consist mainly of employee compensation and payments
to third parties for goods and services. Generally, PG&E
Corporation’s operating expenses are allocated to afﬁliates.
These allocations are made without mark-up and are eliminated in consolidation. PG&E Corporation’s interest expense
relates to its 9.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes and is
not allocated to afﬁliates.

There were no material changes to PG&E Corporation’s
operating revenues and expenses in 2008 compared to 2007
and 2007 compared to 2006.
Other Expense, Net
PG&E Corporation’s other expense increased by approximately
$23 million, or 255%, in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily
due to an increase in investment losses in the rabbi trusts
related to the non-qualiﬁed deferred compensation plans.
Income Tax Benefit
PG&E Corporation’s income tax beneﬁt increased by
approximately $31 million, or 97%, in 2008 compared to
2007, primarily due to a settlement of federal tax audits
for the tax years 2001 through 2004.
Discontinued Operations
In the fourth quarter of 2008, PG&E Corporation reached
a settlement of federal tax audits of tax years 2001 through
2004 and recognized after-tax income of approximately
$257 million. Approximately $154 million of this amount
relates to losses incurred and synthetic fuel tax credits
claimed by PG&E Corporation’s former subsidiary NEGT.
As a result, PG&E Corporation recorded $154 million in
income from discontinued operations in 2008. (See Note 6
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion.)

LI Q UI DI TY AND
F INA NC I A L RE SOURCE S
OVERVIEW
The Utility’s ability to fund operations depends on the levels
of its operating cash ﬂow and access to the capital markets.
The levels of the Utility’s operating cash and short-term debt
ﬂuctuate as a result of seasonal demand for electricity and
natural gas, volatility in energy commodity costs, collateral
requirements related to price risk management activity, the
timing and amount of tax payments or refunds, and the
timing and effect of regulatory decisions and ﬁnancings,
among other factors. The Utility generally utilizes long-term
senior unsecured debt issuances and equity contributions
from PG&E Corporation to fund debt maturities and capital
expenditures, and relies on short-term debt to fund temporary ﬁnancing needs.
The CPUC has authorized the Utility to incur $2 billion
of short-term debt for working capital ﬂuctuations and energy
procurement-related purposes, and an additional $500 million for certain CPUC-deﬁned extraordinary events. The
recent disruption in the capital markets has made it challenging for companies to access the markets for commercial

paper and new credit facilities. Notwithstanding this
volatility, the Utility has continued to have access to the
commercial paper market, albeit at higher prices and with
shorter duration at times.
PG&E Corporation’s ability to fund operations and
capital expenditures, make scheduled principal and interest
payments, reﬁnance debt, fund Utility equity contributions,
and make dividend payments primarily depends on the level
of cash distributions received from the Utility and access to
the capital markets. PG&E Corporation contributes equity
to the Utility as needed for the Utility to maintain its
CPUC-authorized capital structure. These equity contributions have been funded primarily through the issuance of
common stock.
The following table summarizes PG&E Corporation’s and
the Utility’s cash positions:
December 31,
(in millions)

PG&E Corporation
Utility
Total consolidated cash and cash equivalents
Utility restricted cash
Total consolidated cash,
including restricted cash

2008

2007

$ 167
52

$ 204
141

219
1,290

345
1,297

$1,509

$1,642

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held in escrow
pending the resolution of the remaining disputed claims
ﬁled in the Utility’s reorganization proceeding under
Chapter 11. PG&E Corporation and the Utility maintain
separate bank accounts. PG&E Corporation and the Utility
primarily invest their cash in money market funds.
Credit Facilities and Short-Term Borrowings
The Utility has a $2 billion revolving credit facility and
PG&E Corporation has a $200 million revolving credit facility. Each of PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s revolving
credit facilities includes commitments from a well-diversiﬁed
syndicate of lenders. Neither credit facility permits the
lenders to refuse funding a draw solely due to the occurrence
of a “material adverse effect” as deﬁned in the facilities.
No single lender’s commitment represents more than 11%
of total borrowing capacity under either facility. As of
December 31, 2008, the commitment from Lehman Brothers
Bank, FSB (“Lehman Bank”) represented approximately
$13 million, or 7%, of the total borrowing capacity under
PG&E Corporation’s $200 million revolving credit facility
and approximately $60 million, or 3%, of the Utility’s
$2 billion revolving credit facility. Lehman Bank has
failed to fund its portion of borrowings under the Utility’s
revolving credit facility since September 2008 and neither
the Utility nor PG&E Corporation expects that Lehman Bank
will fund any future borrowings or letter of credit draws.
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The Utility has a $1.75 billion commercial paper program, the borrowings from which are used primarily to cover ﬂuctuations in cash ﬂow requirements. Liquidity support for these borrowings is provided by available capacity under the revolving
credit facility. At December 31, 2008, the average yield was approximately 2.48%.
The following table summarizes PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s short-term borrowings and outstanding credit
facilities at December 31, 2008:
(in millions)

Authorized Borrower

PG&E Corporation
Utility

At December 31, 2008

Facility

Revolving credit facility
Revolving credit facility

February 2012
February 2012

Total credit facilities

Letters
of Credit
Outstanding

Cash
Borrowings

Commercial
Paper
Backup

Availability

$ 200
2,000(2)

$ —
287

—
—

$ —
287

$ 200
1,426

$2,200

$287

—

$287

$1,626

Facility
Limit

Termination
Date

(1)

(1) Includes a $50 million sublimit for letters of credit and $100 million sublimit for “swingline” loans, deﬁned as loans that are made available on
a same-day basis and are repayable in full within 30 days.
(2) Includes a $950 million sublimit for letters of credit and $100 million sublimit for swingline loans.

PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s revolving credit
facilities include usual and customary covenants for credit
facilities of their type, including covenants limiting liens
to those permitted under the senior notes’ indenture,
mergers, sales of all or substantially all of the Utility’s assets,
and other fundamental changes. In addition, both PG&E
Corporation and the Utility are required to maintain a
ratio of total consolidated debt to total consolidated capitalization of at most 65%, and PG&E Corporation must own,
directly or indirectly, at least 80% of the common stock
and at least 70% of the voting securities of the Utility. At
December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility met
all of these requirements.
2008 Financings
Access to the capital markets is essential to the continuation
of the Utility’s capital expenditure program. Notwithstanding the recent disruption in the capital markets, the Utility
was able to issue $1.2 billion of senior unsecured notes in
October and November 2008. The proceeds were used primarily to ﬁnance capital expenditures and to partially repay
outstanding commercial paper balances in preparation for
reﬁnancing $600 million of long-term debt that will mature
in March 2009. In addition, the Utility used the proceeds
it received from the September and October 2008 refunding of certain pollution control bonds to repay outstanding
commercial paper.
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The following table summarizes the Utility’s long-term
debt issuances in 2008:
(in millions)

Issue Date

Senior notes
5.625%, due 2017
6.35%, due 2038
8.25%, due 2018
6.25%, due 2013
8.25%, due 2018

March 3
March 3
October 21
November 18
November 18

Total senior notes
Pollution control bonds
Series 2008 F, 3.75%, due 2026
Series 2008 G, 3.75%, due 2018
Series 2008 A and B, variable rates,
due 2026
Series 2008 C and D, variable rates,
due 2016
Total pollution control bonds
Total long-term debt issuances
in 2008

Amount

$ 200
400
600
400
200
1,800

September 22
September 22

50
45

October 29

149

October 29

160
404
$2,204

During 2008, PG&E Corporation issued 6,905,462 shares
of common stock upon exercise of employee stock options,
for the account of 401(k) participants, and under its Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, generating approximately $225 million of cash. In 2008, PG&E Corporation
contributed $270 million of cash to the Utility to ensure
that the Utility had adequate capital to fund its capital
expenditures and to maintain the 52% common equity
ratio authorized by the CPUC.
Future Financing Needs
The amount and timing of the Utility’s future ﬁnancing
needs will depend on various factors, including the conditions in the capital markets and the Utility’s ability to access
the capital markets, the timing and amount of forecasted
capital expenditures, and the amount of cash internally
generated through normal business operations, among other
factors. The Utility’s future ﬁnancing needs will also depend
on the timing of the resolution of the disputed claims
and the amount of interest on these claims that the Utility
will be required to pay. (See Note 15 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Assuming continued access to the capital markets, the
Utility currently plans to issue additional long-term debt of
$3.5 billion to $4.5 billion through 2011. PG&E Corporation
expects to issue additional common stock, debt, or other
securities, depending on market conditions, to fund a
portion of its equity contributions to the Utility and to
fund PG&E Corporation’s capital expenditures. PG&E
Corporation currently plans to contribute equity of $1.2 billion to $1.8 billion to the Utility through 2011. Assuming
that PG&E Corporation and the Utility can access the capital
markets on reasonable terms, PG&E Corporation and the
Utility believe that the Utility’s cash ﬂow from operations,
existing sources of liquidity, and future ﬁnancings will provide
adequate resources to fund operating activities, meet anticipated obligations, and ﬁnance future capital expenditures.

Credit Ratings
As of January 31, 2009, PG&E Corporation’s and the
Utility’s credit ratings from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s
(“S&P”) were as follows:
Utility
Corporate credit rating
Senior unsecured debt
Credit facility
Pollution control bonds
backed by letters of credit
Pollution control bonds
backed by bond insurance
Pollution control bonds —
nonbacked
Preferred stock
Commercial paper program
PG&E Energy Recovery
Funding LLC
Energy recovery bonds
PG&E Corporation
Corporate credit rating
Credit facility

Moody’s

S&P

A3
A3
A3

BBB+
BBB+
BBB+

Not rated to
Aa1/VMIG1

AA-/A-1+ to
AAA/A-1+

A3

A to AA

A3
Baa2
P-2

BBB+
BBBA-2

Aaa

AAA

Baa1
Baa1

Not rated
Not rated

Moody’s and S&P are nationally recognized credit rating
organizations. These ratings may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization
and each rating should be evaluated independently of any
other rating. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy,
sell, or hold securities.
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DIVIDENDS
The dividend policies of PG&E Corporation and the Utility
are designed to meet the following three objectives:
• Comparability: Pay a dividend competitive with the

securities of comparable companies based on payout ratio
(the proportion of earnings paid out as dividends) and,
with respect to PG&E Corporation, yield (i.e., dividend
divided by share price);
• Flexibility: Allow sufﬁcient cash to pay a dividend and

to fund investments while avoiding having to issue new
equity unless PG&E Corporation’s or the Utility’s capital
expenditure requirements are growing rapidly and PG&E
Corporation or the Utility can issue equity at reasonable
cost and terms; and
• Sustainability: Avoid reduction or suspension of the

dividend despite ﬂuctuations in ﬁnancial performance
except in extreme and unforeseen circumstances.
The Boards of Directors of PG&E Corporation and the
Utility have each adopted a target dividend payout ratio
range of 50% to 70% of earnings. Dividends paid by PG&E
Corporation and the Utility are expected to remain in the
lower end of the target payout ratio range to ensure that
equity funding is readily available to support each company’s
capital investment needs. Each Board of Directors retains
authority to change the respective common stock dividend
policy and dividend payout ratio at any time, especially if
unexpected events occur that would change their view as
to the prudent level of cash conservation. No dividend is
payable unless and until declared by the applicable Board
of Directors.
In addition, the declaration of the Utility’s dividends is
subject to the CPUC-imposed conditions that the Utility
maintain on average its CPUC-authorized capital structure
and that the Utility’s capital requirements, as determined to
be necessary and prudent to meet the Utility’s obligation
to serve or to operate the Utility in a prudent and efﬁcient
manner, be given ﬁrst priority.
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During 2008, the Utility paid common stock dividends
totaling $589 million, including $568 million of common
stock dividends paid to PG&E Corporation and $21 million
of common stock dividends paid to PG&E Holdings, LLC.
At December 31, 2007, PG&E Holdings, LLC, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Utility, held 19,481,213 shares
of the Utility common stock. Effective August 29, 2008,
PG&E Holdings, LLC, was dissolved, and the shares
subsequently cancelled.
During 2008, PG&E Corporation paid common stock
dividends of $1.53 per share totaling $573 million, including $28 million that was paid to Elm Power Corporation.
(At December 31, 2007, Elm Power Corporation, a wholly
owned subsidiary of PG&E Corporation, held 24,665,500
shares of PG&E Corporation common stock. Effective
August 29, 2008, Elm Power Corporation was dissolved, and
the shares subsequently cancelled.) On December 17, 2008,
the Board of Directors of PG&E Corporation declared
a dividend of $0.39 per share, totaling $141 million, which
was paid on January 15, 2009 to shareholders of record
on December 31, 2008. On February 18, 2009, the Board
of Directors of PG&E Corporation declared a dividend of
$0.42 per share, payable on April 15, 2009, to shareholders
of record on March 31, 2009.
During 2008, the Utility paid cash dividends to holders
of its outstanding series of preferred stock totaling $14 million. On December 17, 2008, the Board of Directors of the
Utility declared a cash dividend on its outstanding series
of preferred stock totaling approximately $3 million that
was paid on February 15, 2009, to preferred shareholders of
record on January 30, 2009. On February 18, 2009, the Board
of Directors of the Utility declared a cash dividend on its
outstanding series of preferred stock, payable on May 15,
2009, to shareholders of record on April 30, 2009.
UTILITY
Operating Activities
The Utility’s cash ﬂows from operating activities primarily
consist of receipts from customers less payments of operating
expenses, other than expenses such as depreciation that do
not require the use of cash.

The Utility’s cash ﬂows from operating activities for 2008,
2007, and 2006 were as follows:

The following changes in operating assets and liabilities
negatively impacted cash ﬂows during the period:

(in millions)

• Regulatory balancing accounts, net under-collection

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, amortization, and
decommissioning
Allowance for equity funds used
during construction
Gain on sale of assets
Deferred income taxes and
tax credits, net
Other changes in noncurrent assets
and liabilities
Effect of changes in operating assets
and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accounts payable
Income taxes receivable/payable
Regulatory balancing accounts, net
Other current assets
Other current liabilities
Other
Net cash provided by
operating activities

2008

2007

2006

$1,199

$1,024

$ 985

1,838

1,956

1,802

(70)
(1)

(64)
(1)

(47)
(11)

593

43

(287)

(25)

188

116

(83)
(59)
(137)
43
(394)
(223)
90
(5)

(6)
(41)
(196)
56
(567)
170
24
(45)

128
34
21
28
329
(273)
(235)
(13)

$2,541

$2,577

$2,766

increased by approximately $394 million in 2008, primarily
due to an increase of approximately $356 million in undercollected electricity procurement costs and a $108 million
decrease in over-collections due to refunds to customers
for the over-collected prior year balance. The 2007 overcollection was caused by lower than forecasted RMR costs
and the receipt of a settlement payment made in connection with an energy supplier refund claim. This increase
in the Regulatory balancing accounts, net under-collection
was partially offset by a refund of approximately $230 million that the Utility received from the California Energy
Commission (“CEC”). The funds from the CEC will be
refunded to customers in 2009.
• Net collateral paid, primarily related to price risk manage-

ment activities, increased by approximately $325 million
in 2008 as a result of changes in the Utility’s exposure to
counterparties’ credit risk, generally reﬂecting declining
natural gas prices. Collateral payables and receivables are
included in Other changes in noncurrent assets and liabilities, Other current assets, and Other current liabilities in
the table above.

During 2008, net cash provided by operating activities
was approximately $2,766 million, reﬂecting net income of
$1,199 million, adjusted for noncash depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning and allowance for equity funds
used during construction of $1,838 million and $70 million,
respectively (see “Results of Operations” above). Additionally,
the following change in operating assets and liabilities positively impacted cash ﬂows during the period:

During 2007, net cash provided by operating activities
was approximately $2,541 million, reﬂecting net income of
$1,024 million, adjusted for noncash depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning and allowance for equity funds
used during construction of $1,956 million and $64 million,
respectively (see “Results of Operations” above). The following changes in operating assets and liabilities positively
impacted cash ﬂows during the period:

• Liabilities for deferred income taxes and tax credits

• Other noncurrent assets and liabilities increased by

increased by approximately $593 million in 2008, primarily
due to an increase in balancing account revenues, which
are not taxable until billed, as well as an increase in deductible tax depreciation as authorized by the 2008 Economic
Stimulus Act.

approximately $188 million, primarily due to $159 million of under-spent funds related to the California Solar
Incentive program.
• Other current assets decreased by approximately $170 mil-

lion, primarily due to a decrease in the cash collateral
deposited by counterparties as a result of changes in the
Utility’s exposure to counterparties’ credit risk.
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The following changes in operating assets and liabilities
negatively impacted cash ﬂows during the period:
• Regulatory balancing accounts, net over-collection decreased

by approximately $567 million in 2007, primarily due to
CPUC-authorized rate reductions designed to reduce the
over-collection.
• Accounts payable decreased by approximately $196 million,

primarily due to differences in the timing of purchases and
payments of operating expenses.
During 2006, net cash provided by operating activities
was approximately $2,577 million, reﬂecting net income of
$985 million, adjusted for noncash depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning and allowance for equity funds
used during construction of $1,802 million and $47 million, respectively (see “Results of Operations” above). The
following change in operating assets and liabilities positively
impacted cash ﬂows during the period:
• Regulatory balancing accounts, net under-collection

decreased by approximately $329 million in 2006, primarily due to lower than forecasted costs associated with
certain power purchase agreements and a decrease related
to customer energy efﬁciency incentives due to a CPUC
decision in October 2005 to set rates to recover shareholder
incentive revenue. These decreases were offset by a decrease
in electricity procurement costs due to the receipt of cash
relating to the Mirant settlement.
The following changes in operating assets and liabilities
negatively impacted cash ﬂows during the period:
• Liabilities for deferred income taxes and tax credits

decreased by approximately $287 million in 2006, primarily
due to an increased California franchise tax deduction,
lower taxable supplier settlement income received, and a
deduction related to the payment of previously accrued
litigation costs.
• Other current assets increased by approximately $273 mil-

lion, primarily due to an increase in the cash collateral
deposited by counterparties as a result of changes in the
Utility’s exposure to counterparties’ credit risk, generally
reﬂecting increasing natural gas prices.
• Other current liabilities decreased by approximately

$235 million, primarily due to the settlement of claims
related to the alleged exposure to chromium at the Utility’s
natural gas compressor stations.

52

Future operating cash ﬂow will be impacted by the timing
of cash collateral payments and receipts related to price risk
management activity, among other factors. The Utility’s
cash collateral activity will ﬂuctuate based on changes in the
Utility’s net credit exposure, which is primarily dependent
on electricity and gas price movement.
In addition, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s future
operating cash ﬂow in 2009 is expected to be impacted by the
receipt of tax refunds. (See “Tax Matters” below and Note 10
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
The Utility’s operating cash ﬂows also will be impacted
by electricity procurement costs and the timing of rate
adjustments authorized to recover these costs. The CPUC
has established a balancing account mechanism to adjust the
Utility’s electric rates whenever the forecasted aggregate overcollections or under-collections of the Utility’s electric procurement costs for the current year exceed 5% of the Utility’s
prior year generation revenues, excluding generation revenues
for DWR contracts. In accordance with this mechanism, on
August 21, 2008, the CPUC approved the Utility’s request to
collect from customers the forecasted 2008 end-of-year undercollection of procurement costs, due mainly to rising natural
gas costs and lower than forecasted hydroelectric generation.
Effective October 1, 2008, customer rates were adjusted to
allow the Utility to collect $645 million in procurement
costs through December 2009. On December 30, 2008, the
Utility requested that its electric rates be adjusted, effective
January 1, 2009, to reﬂect the revised forecast of electricity
prices, which are expected to be lower than originally forecasted as a result of lower natural gas prices. The January 1,
2009 rate changes reﬂect a net decrease of $101 million in
electric revenues versus revenues based on rates effective
October 1, 2008. On January 23, 2009, the Utility ﬁled
a notice with the CPUC indicating that customer electric
rates are expected to increase effective on March 1, 2009
by approximately $640 million as a result of the CPUC’s
approval of a $528 million increase in the remittance rate
paid to the DWR and the FERC’s approval of a $112 million
increase in electric transmission rates.

In addition, the ongoing upheaval in the economy has
negatively impacted investment returns on assets held in
trust to satisfy the Utility’s obligations to decommission
its nuclear generation facilities and to secure payment of
employee beneﬁts under pension and other postretirement
beneﬁt plans. The Utility’s recorded liabilities and, in some
cases, its funding obligations, may increase as a result of
declining investment returns on trust assets and lower
assumed rates of return. However, the Utility believes that it
is probable that any increase in funding obligations would
be recoverable through rates, and as a result is not expected
to have a material impact on the Utility’s cash ﬂows or
results of operations.
Investing Activities
The Utility’s investing activities consist of construction of
new and replacement facilities necessary to deliver safe and
reliable electricity and natural gas services to its customers.
Cash used in investing activities depends primarily upon
the amount and type of construction activities, which can
be inﬂuenced by the need to make electricity and natural
gas reliability improvements, storms, and other factors.
The Utility’s cash ﬂows from investing activities for 2008,
2007, and 2006 were as follows:
(in millions)

Capital expenditures
Net proceeds from sale of assets
Decrease in restricted cash
Proceeds from nuclear
decommissioning trust sales
Purchases of nuclear
decommissioning trust
investments
Other

2008

2007

$(3,628) $(2,768)
26
21
185
36

2006

$(2,402)
17
115

Future cash ﬂows used in investing activities are largely
dependent on expected capital expenditures. (See “Capital
Expenditures” below for further discussion of expected
spending and signiﬁcant capital projects.)
Financing Activities
The Utility’s cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities for 2008,
2007, and 2006 were as follows:
(in millions)

Borrowings under accounts receivable
facility and revolving credit facility
Repayments under accounts receivable
facility and revolving credit facility
Net issuance (repayments) of
commercial paper, net of discount
of $11 million in 2008, $1 million
in 2007, and $2 million in 2006
Proceeds from issuance of long-term
debt, net of discount, premium,
and issuance costs of $19 million
in 2008 and $16 million in 2007
Long-term debt repurchased
Rate reduction bonds matured
Energy recovery bonds matured
Preferred stock dividends paid
Common stock dividends paid
Equity contribution
Other
Net cash provided by (used in)
ﬁnancing activities

2008

2007

2006

$ 533

$ 850

$ 350

(900)

(310)

(209)

458

1,184
—
(290)
(340)
(14)
(509)
400
23

—
—
(290)
(316)
(14)
(460)
—
38

$ 195

$(544)

(783)

6

2,185
(454)
—
(354)
(14)
(568)
270
(36)
$ 785

In 2008, net cash provided by ﬁnancing activities
increased
by approximately $590 million compared to 2007.
1,635
830
1,087
In 2007, net cash provided by ﬁnancing activities increased
by approximately $739 million compared to 2006. Cash
(1,684)
(933) (1,244) provided by or used in ﬁnancing activities is driven by the
(25)
—
1
Utility’s ﬁnancing needs, which depends on the level of cash
Net cash used in
provided by or used in operating activities and the level of
$(3,640) $(2,665) $(2,426)
investing activities
cash provided by or used in investing activities. The Utility
generally utilizes long-term senior unsecured debt issuances
Net cash used in investing activities increased by
and equity contributions from PG&E Corporation to fund
approximately $975 million in 2008 compared to 2007
debt maturities and capital expenditures, and relies on shortand by approximately $239 million in 2007 compared to
term debt to fund temporary ﬁnancing needs.
2006. These increases were primarily due to increases of
approximately $860 million and $366 million in 2008 and
PG&E CORPORATION
2007, respectively, of capital expenditures for installing the
With the exception of dividend payments, interest, and transSmartMeter™ advanced metering infrastructure, generation
actions between PG&E Corporation and the Utility, PG&E
facility spending, replacing and expanding gas and electric
Corporation had no material cash ﬂows on a stand-alone
distribution systems, and improving the electric transmission basis for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.
infrastructure. (See “Capital Expenditures” below.)
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C O NTRA C TUAL COM M IT M E NT S
The following table provides information about PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s contractual commitments at
December 31, 2008.
Payment due by period
(in millions)

Contractual Commitments:
Utility
Long-term debt(1):
Fixed rate obligations
Variable rate obligations
Energy recovery bonds(2)
Purchase obligations:
Power purchase agreements(3):
Qualifying facilities
Renewable contracts
Irrigation district and water agencies
Other power purchase agreements
Natural gas supply and transportation
Nuclear fuel
Pension and other beneﬁts(4)
Capital lease obligations(5)
Operating leases
Preferred dividends(6)
Other commitments
PG&E Corporation
Long-term debt(1):
Convertible subordinated notes

Total

Less than
1 year

1–3 years

3–5 years

More than
5 years

$17,125
954
1,742

$1,089
7
435

$1,540
332
871

$1,314
615
436

$13,182
—
—

12,979
9,779
372
1,945
1,444
950
580
454
123
70
24

1,361
439
64
275
898
95
300
50
21
14
24

2,649
1,076
135
458
298
200
280
100
35
28
—

2,221
1,278
89
171
91
160
—
100
33
28
—

6,748
6,986
84
1,041
157
495
—
204
34
—
—

318

27

291

—

—

(1) Includes interest payments over the terms of the debt. Interest is calculated using the applicable interest rate at December 31, 2008 and outstanding
principal for each instrument with the terms ending at each instrument’s maturity. Variable rate obligations consist of bonds, due in 2016-2026,
backed by letters of credit that expire in 2011 and 2012. These bonds are subject to mandatory redemption unless the letters of credit are extended or
replaced or if applicable to the series, the issuer consents to the continuation of these bonds without a credit facility. Accordingly, these bonds have
been classiﬁed for repayment purposes in 2011 and 2012. (See Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
(2) Includes interest payments over the terms of the bonds. (See Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
(3) This table does not include DWR-allocated contracts because the DWR is legally and ﬁnancially responsible for these contracts and payments.
(See Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
(4) PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s funding policy is to contribute tax-deductible amounts, consistent with applicable regulatory decisions, sufﬁcient
to meet minimum funding requirements. (See Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
(5) See Note 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(6) Based on historical performance, it is assumed for purposes of the table above that dividends are payable within a ﬁxed period of ﬁve years.

The contractual commitments table above excludes potential commitments associated with the conversion of existing
overhead electric facilities to underground electric facilities.
At December 31, 2008, the Utility was committed to spending
approximately $228 million for these conversions. These
funds are conditionally committed depending on the timing
of the work, including the schedules of the respective cities,
counties, and telephone utilities involved. The Utility expects
to spend approximately $40 million to $60 million each
year in connection with these projects. Consistent with past
practice, the Utility expects that these capital expenditures
will be included in rate base as each individual project is
completed and recoverable in rates charged to customers.
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The contractual commitments table above also excludes
potential payments associated with unrecognized tax beneﬁts
accounted for under Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes,” (“FIN 48”). Due to the uncertainty surrounding tax audits, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
cannot make reliable estimates of the amount and period of
future payments to major tax jurisdictions related to FIN 48
liabilities. Matters relating to tax years that remain subject
to examination are discussed below and in Note 10 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

C AP I TA L EXPE NDIT URES
The Utility’s investment in property, plant, and equipment
totaled $3.7 billion in 2008, $2.8 billion in 2007, and
$2.4 billion in 2006. The Utility expects that capital expenditures will total approximately $3.6 billion in 2009 and
forecasts that capital expenditures will average approximately
$3.5 to $4.0 billion per year over the next three years. The
Utility’s weighted average rate base in 2008 was $18.2 billion.
Based on the estimated capital expenditures for 2009, the
Utility projects a weighted average rate base of approximately
$20.1 billion for 2009. Depending on conditions in the
capital markets, the Utility forecasts that it will make various
capital investments in its electric and gas transmission and
distribution infrastructure to maintain and improve system
reliability, safety, and customer service; to extend the life
of or replace existing infrastructure; and to add new infrastructure to meet already authorized growth. Most of the
Utility’s revenue requirements to recover forecasted capital
expenditures are authorized in the GRC and TO rate cases.
In addition, from time to time, the Utility requests authorization to collect additional revenue requirements to recover
capital expenditures related to speciﬁc projects, such as new
power plants, gas or electric transmission projects, and the
SmartMeter™ advanced metering infrastructure.
PROPOSED ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION
RELIABILITY PROGRAM (CORNERSTONE
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM)
On December 19, 2008, the CPUC ruled that it will consider the Utility’s request for approval of a proposed six-year
electric distribution reliability improvement program. The
CPUC found that it is preferable to begin the scrutiny and
detailed analyses to determine whether major capital expenditures are necessary to maintain or improve distribution reliability and, if necessary, to determine the extent and timing
of such expenditures sooner rather than later. The proposed
program includes initiatives that are designed to decrease
the frequency and duration of electricity outages in order
to bring the Utility’s reliability performance closer to that
of other investor-owned electric utilities. The Utility expects
that the work performed in the six-year program also would
provide additional reliability beneﬁts. The Utility forecasts
that it would incur capital expenditures totaling approximately $2.3 billion and operating and maintenance expenses
totaling approximately $43 million over the six-year period.
In its December 19, 2008 decision, the CPUC ruled that
program costs incurred in 2009 and 2010, if any, would not
be recoverable from customers. The Utility does not expect
to incur signiﬁcant costs in 2009 or 2010 before the CPUC
issues a ﬁnal decision on the Utility’s request.

PROPOSED ELECTRIC
TRANSMISSION PROJECTS
The Utility has been exploring the feasibility of obtaining regulatory approval for a potential investment in an
electric transmission project that would traverse the Paciﬁc
Northwest. On April 17, 2008, the FERC granted part of the
Utility’s request for a declaratory order to collect transmission rates designed to provide an incentive to the Utility to
continue leading the development of the proposed 1,000mile, 500 kilovolt (“kV”) transmission line to run from
British Columbia, Canada to Northern California that
would provide access to potential new renewable generation
resources, improve regional transmission reliability, and
provide opportunities for other market participants to use
the new facilities. The FERC’s order allows the Utility to
recover all prudently incurred pre-commercial costs, such as
costs for feasibility studies and surveys, and all prudently
incurred development and construction costs if the proposed
project is abandoned or cancelled for reasons beyond the
Utility’s control. On December 1, 2008, the Western Electric
Coordinating Council (“WECC”) formally completed the
Regional Planning Project Review process for the project.
On December 19, 2008, the Utility submitted to WECC a
plan-service and technical studies showing that the desired
line rating of 3,000 megawatts north to south is achievable;
the south to north rating study is underway. The target
operating date for the project is December 2015. The development and construction of this proposed transmission
project remains subject to signiﬁcant business, ﬁnancial,
regulatory, environmental, and political risks and challenges.
The Utility also has been exploring the development
of a new 500-kV electric transmission project, the Central
California Clean Energy Transmission line, to increase transmission capacity between northern and southern California,
improve access to new renewable generation resources and
meet reliability requirements in the Fresno area. The CAISO
has been conducting stakeholder meetings to review the
Utility’s proposal and the Utility has been conducting
various studies to ensure that the project is designed and
located to avoid or minimize potential impacts. Depending
on the results of these stakeholder meetings and studies,
the Utility will decide whether to request CPUC approval
to construct the line.
The Utility cannot predict whether the many conditions
and challenges to the development of these proposed electric
transmission projects will be met.

PG&E Corporation and the Utility cannot predict
whether the CPUC will approve the Utility’s request.
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POTENTIAL NATURAL GAS
PIPELINE PROJECTS
PG&E Corporation, through its subsidiary, PG&E Strategic
Capital, Inc., along with Fort Chicago Energy Partners, L.P.
and Northwest Pipeline Corporation, have agreed to jointly
pursue the development of the proposed 230-mile Paciﬁc
Connector Gas Pipeline that would connect the proposed
Jordan Cove liqueﬁed natural gas (“LNG”) terminal in
Coos Bay, Oregon with the Utility’s transmission system near
Malin, Oregon. The development of the Paciﬁc Connector
Gas Pipeline is dependent upon the development of the
Jordan Cove LNG terminal by Fort Chicago Energy Partners,
L.P. In addition, the development and construction of the
proposed LNG terminal and the proposed Paciﬁc Connector
Gas Pipeline are subject to obtaining permits, regulatory
approvals, and commitments under long-term capacity contracts. It is expected that the FERC will issue a certiﬁcate
authorizing construction and operation of the pipeline
in 2009.

On December 12, 2007, and supplemented on May
14, 2008, the Utility ﬁled an application with the CPUC
requesting approval to upgrade elements of the SmartMeter™
program at an estimated cost of approximately $572 million, including approximately $463 million of capital expenditures to be recovered through electric rates beginning in
2009. The Utility has proposed to install upgraded electric
meters with associated devices that would offer an expanded
range of service features for electric customers that would
provide energy conservation and demand response options,
such as the enablement of “smart” appliances that could
use energy more wisely in response to near real-time energy
data. These upgraded meters would also increase operational
efﬁciencies for the Utility through, among other things,
the ability to remotely connect and disconnect service to
electric customers. In addition, the upgraded electric meters
are designed to facilitate the Utility’s ability to incorporate
future advanced metering technology innovations in a timely
and cost-effective manner.

SMARTMETER™ PROGRAM
Since late 2006, the Utility has been installing an advanced
metering infrastructure, known as the SmartMeter™ program,
for virtually all of the Utility’s electric and gas customers.
This infrastructure results in substantial cost savings associated with billing customers for energy usage, and enables the
Utility to measure usage of electricity on a time-of-use basis
and to charge time-differentiated rates. The main goal of
time-differentiated rates is to encourage customers to reduce
energy consumption during peak demand periods and to
reduce peak period procurement costs. Advanced meters can
record usage in time intervals and be read remotely. The
Utility expects to complete the installation throughout its
service territory by the end of 2011.

On December 23, 2008, a proposed decision was
issued by an administrative law judge, which if adopted
by the CPUC, would allow the Utility to proceed with the
SmartMeter™ Upgrade and authorize funding of $495.2 million, including $410 million in capital costs, to be recovered
through an increased revenue requirement. PG&E Corporation
and the Utility are unable to predict when the CPUC will
issue a ﬁnal decision.

The CPUC authorized the Utility to recover the
$1.74 billion estimated SmartMeter™ project cost, including
an estimated capital cost of $1.4 billion. The $1.74 billion
amount includes $1.68 billion for project costs and approximately $54.8 million for costs to market critical peak
pricing programs such as SmartRate that are made possible
by SmartMeter™ technology. In addition, the Utility can
recover in rates 90% of up to $100 million in costs that
exceed $1.68 billion without a reasonableness review by the
CPUC. The remaining 10% will not be recoverable in rates.
If additional costs exceed the $100 million threshold, the
Utility may request recovery of the additional costs, subject
to a reasonableness review. Through 2008, the Utility has
spent an aggregate of $730 million, including capital costs
of $589 million, to install the SmartMeter™ system.
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On July 31, 2008, the CPUC ordered the Utility to
implement “dynamic pricing” electric rates in 2010 and 2011
for certain customers who do not take afﬁrmative action
to opt out of the dynamic pricing rates. Dynamic pricing
rates use price signals (e.g., critical peak pricing and real-time
pricing) to encourage energy efﬁciency and reduce demand.
The Utility is required to implement critical peak pricing
rates for these customers starting in 2010 and early 2011.
The Utility is also required to offer real-time pricing to
all customers starting in May 2011, at the customer’s election. The Utility has been directed to ﬁle a request with the
CPUC by February 28, 2009 to approve the Utility’s rate
proposal for critical peak pricing and to authorize recovery
of the Utility’s estimated costs of approximately $155 million
(including estimated capital costs of approximately $107 million) to meet the required schedule for implementation. The
Utility expects to ﬁle a request for approval of real-time pricing
rates and the associated implementation costs by March 1,
2010 in connection with the Utility’s 2011 GRC proceeding.

DIABLO CANYON STEAM GENERATOR
REPL ACEMENT PROJECT
In November 2005, the CPUC authorized the Utility to
replace the steam generators at the two nuclear operating
units at Diablo Canyon (Units 1 and 2) and recover costs
up to $706 million from customers without further reasonableness review. If costs exceed this threshold, the CPUC
authorized the Utility to recover costs of up to $815 million,
subject to reasonableness review of the full amount. As of
December 31, 2008, the Utility has spent approximately
$554 million, including progress payments under contracts
for the eight steam generators that the Utility has ordered.
The Utility anticipates the future expenditures will be
approximately $146 million. The Utility installed four of the
new steam generators in Unit 2 during the refueling outage
that began in February 2008 and ended in April 2008. The
extended refueling outage to replace the steam generators
in Unit 1 began in January and is expected to end in early
April 2009.
NEW GENERATION FACILITIES
During 2008, the Utility was engaged in the development of
the following generation facilities to be owned and operated
by the Utility:
Gateway Generating Station
In November 2006, the Utility acquired the equipment,
permits, and contracts related to a partially completed
530 MW power plant in Antioch, California, referred to
as the Gateway Generating Station. The CPUC has authorized
the Utility to recover estimated capital costs of approximately
$385 million to complete the construction of the facility and
as of December 31, 2008, the Utility has incurred approximately $350 million. Of this amount, the Utility incurred
$221 million during 2008. The Gateway Generating Station
reached full load commercial production on January 4, 2009,
and is expected to reach ﬁnal project completion at the end
of the ﬁrst quarter of 2009.
Colusa Generating Station
On June 12, 2008, the CPUC gave its ﬁnal approval for
the Utility to construct the Colusa Generating Station, a
657 MW combined cycle generating facility to be located in
Colusa County, California. Final environmental permitting
was approved on September 29, 2008 and construction began
on October 1, 2008.
The CPUC authorized the Utility to recover an initial
capital cost for the Colusa Generating Station of approximately $673 million, which can be adjusted to reﬂect any
actual incentive payments made to, or liquidated damages
received from, the contractors through notiﬁcation to the
CPUC, but without a reasonableness review. The CPUC
authorized the Utility to seek recovery of additional capital
costs attributable to operational enhancements, but otherwise

limited cost recovery to the initial capital cost estimate. The
CPUC also ruled that in the event the ﬁnal capital costs are
lower than the initial estimate, half of the savings must be
returned to customers. If actual costs exceed the cost limits
(except for additional capital costs attributable to operational
enhancements), the Utility would be unable to recover such
excess costs. The forecasted initial capital cost will be trued up
in the Utility’s next GRC following the commencement of
operations to reﬂect actual initial capital costs. Permitting
or construction delays and project development or materials
cost overruns could cause the project costs to exceed the
CPUC-adopted cost limits. As of December 31, 2008,
the Utility had incurred $216 million for the development
and construction of the Colusa Generating Station. Of this
amount, the Utility has incurred $204 million during 2008.
Subject to meeting operational performance requirements
and other conditions, it is anticipated that the Colusa
Generating Station will commence operations in 2010.
Humboldt Bay Generating Station
On September 24, 2008, the CEC issued its ﬁnal decision
authorizing the construction of a 163 MW power plant to
re-power the Utility’s existing power plant at Humboldt Bay,
which is at the end of its useful life. Demolition of existing
structures on the site is complete and the contractor began
preparing the site for construction in December 2008.
The CPUC authorized the Utility to recover an initial
capital cost for the Humboldt Bay Generating Station of
approximately $239 million for the construction, which can
be adjusted to reﬂect any actual incentive payments made
to, or liquidated damages received from, the contractors
through notiﬁcation to the CPUC, but without a reasonableness review. The Utility is authorized to seek recovery of
additional capital costs that are attributable to operational
enhancements, but the request will be subject to the CPUC’s
review. The Utility also is permitted to seek recovery of
additional capital costs subject to a reasonableness review.
The forecasted initial capital cost will be trued up in the
Utility’s next GRC following the commencement of operations to reﬂect actual initial capital costs. Permitting or
construction delays and project development or materials
cost overruns could cause the project costs to exceed the
CPUC-adopted cost limits. As of December 31, 2008, the
Utility had incurred $61.5 million for the development and
construction of the Humboldt Bay Generating Station. Of
this amount, the Utility incurred $55 million during 2008.
Subject to obtaining required permits, meeting construction schedules, operational performance requirements, and
other conditions, it is anticipated that the Humboldt Bay
project will commence operations in 2010.
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PROPOSED NEW GENERATION FACILITIES
Request for Long-Term Generation Resources
The Utility’s CPUC-approved long-term electricity procurement plan, covering 2007-2016, forecasts that the Utility
will need to obtain an additional 800 to 1,200 MW of new
generation resources by 2015 above the Utility’s planned
additions of renewable resources, energy efﬁciency, demand
reduction programs, and previously approved contracts for
new generation resources. The CPUC allows the California
investor-owned utilities to acquire ownership of new conventional generation resources only through purchase and sale
agreements (“PSAs”) (i.e., a PSA is a “turnkey” arrangement
in which a new generating facility is constructed by a third
party and then sold to the Utility upon satisfaction of
certain contractual requirements) and engineering, procurement, and construction arrangements proposed by third
parties. The utilities are prohibited from submitting offers
for utility-built generation in their respective requests for
offers (“RFOs”) until questions can be resolved about how
to compare utility-owned generation offers with offers from
independent power producers. The utilities are permitted to
propose utility-owned generation projects through a separate
application outside of the RFO process in the following
circumstances: (1) to mitigate market power demonstrated
by the utility to be held by others, (2) to support a use
of preferred resources, such as renewable energy sources,
(3) to take advantage of a unique and ﬂeeting opportunity
(such as a bankruptcy settlement), and (4) to meet unique
reliability needs.
On July 21, 2008, the Utility received offers from third
parties in response to the Utility’s April 1, 2008 RFO for
800 MW to 1,200 MW of dispatchable and operationally
ﬂexible new generation resources to be on-line no later than
May 2015. The Utility’s RFO requested offers for both PSAs
and power purchase. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the
Utility developed its RFO shortlist of participants and is
currently involved in negotiations with potential counterparties. The Utility anticipates executing contracts and
requesting CPUC approval of the executed contracts in
the ﬁrst half of 2009.
Proposed Renewable Energy Development
California law establishes a renewable portfolio standard
(“RPS”) that requires that each California retail seller of
electricity, except for municipal utilities, increase its purchases of renewable energy (such as biomass, small hydroelectric, wind, solar, and geothermal energy) by at least 1%
of its retail sales per year, so that the amount of electricity
delivered from renewable resources equals at least 20%
of its total retail sales by the end of 2010. The California
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Legislature also is considering legislation to increase the
RPS to require 33% of a retail seller’s electric load to be
met with renewable resources by 2020.
Following several RFOs and bilateral negotiations, the
Utility entered into various agreements to purchase renewable
generation to be produced by facilities proposed to be developed by third parties. The development of these renewable
generation facilities is subject to many risks, including risks
related to permitting, ﬁnancing, technology, fuel supply, environmental, and the construction of sufﬁcient transmission
capacity. The Utility has been supporting the development
of these renewable resources by working with regulatory
and governmental agencies to ensure timely construction of
transmission lines and permitting of proposed project sites.
In addition, to help meet the challenging RPS goal by
2010, the Utility intends to explore developing and/or
owning renewable generation resources, subject to CPUC
approval. In particular, on February 24, 2009, the Utility
requested the CPUC to approve the Utility’s proposed
development of renewable generation resources based on
solar photovoltaic (“PV”) technology. The Utility’s proposal
includes the development and construction of up to 250 MW
of Utility-owned PV generating facilities, to be deployed
over a period of ﬁve years, at an estimated capital cost
of approximately $1.5 billion, and the execution of power
purchase agreements for up to 250 MW of PV projects to
be developed by independent power producers.

O FF- BAL AN C E S H EET
ARRAN GEM EN T S
PG&E Corporation and the Utility do not have any offbalance sheet arrangements that have had, or are reasonably
likely to have, a current or future material effect on their
ﬁnancial condition, changes in ﬁnancial condition, revenues
or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

C O N T IN GEN C IES
PG&E Corporation and the Utility have signiﬁcant
contingencies, including: tax matters, Chapter 11 disputed
claims, and environmental matters, which are discussed
in Notes 10, 15, and 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

R EG UL ATO RY M AT T ERS
The Utility is subject to substantial regulation. Set forth
below are matters pending before the CPUC, the FERC,
and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”), the
resolutions of which may affect the Utility’s and PG&E
Corporation’s results of operations or ﬁnancial condition.
SPENT NUCLEAR FUEL
STORAGE PROCEEDINGS
As part of the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, Congress
authorized the U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) and
electric utilities with commercial nuclear power plants to
enter into contracts under which the DOE would be required
to dispose of the utilities’ spent nuclear fuel and high-level
radioactive waste no later than January 31, 1998, in exchange
for fees paid by the utilities. In 1983, the DOE entered into
a contract with the Utility to dispose of nuclear waste from
the Utility’s two nuclear generating units at Diablo Canyon
and its retired nuclear facility at Humboldt Bay (“Humboldt
Bay Unit 3”). The DOE failed to develop a permanent storage site by January 31, 1998. The Utility believes that the
existing spent fuel pools at Diablo Canyon (which include
newly constructed temporary storage racks) have sufﬁcient
capacity to enable the Utility to operate Diablo Canyon
until approximately 2010 for Unit 1 and 2011 for Unit 2.
Because the DOE failed to develop a permanent storage
site, the Utility obtained a permit from the NRC to build
an on-site dry cask storage facility to store spent fuel through
at least 2024. After various parties appealed the NRC’s issuance of the permit, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth
Circuit (“Ninth Circuit”) issued a decision in 2006 requiring the NRC to issue a supplemental environmental assessment report on the potential environmental consequences
in the event of terrorist attack at Diablo Canyon, as well as
to review other contentions raised by the appealing parties
related to potential terrorism threats. In August 2007,
the NRC staff issued a ﬁnal supplemental environmental
assessment report concluding there would be no signiﬁcant
environmental impacts from potential terrorist acts directed
at the Diablo Canyon storage facility.
In October 2008, the NRC rejected the ﬁnal contention
that had been made during the appeal. The appellant
has ﬁled a petition for review of the NRC’s order in the
Ninth Circuit. Although the appellant did not seek to
obtain an order prohibiting the Utility from loading spent
fuel, the petition stated that they may seek a stay of fuel
loading at the facility. On December 31, 2008, the appellate
court granted the Utility’s request to intervene in the proceeding. All briefs by all parties are scheduled to be ﬁled
by April 8, 2009.

The construction of the dry cask storage facility is
complete and the initial movement of spent nuclear fuel
to dry cask storage is expected to begin in June 2009. If
the Utility is unable to begin loading spent nuclear fuel
by October 2010 for Unit 1 or May 2011 for Unit 2 and if
the Utility is otherwise unable to increase its on-site storage
capacity, the Utility would have to curtail or halt operations
until such time as additional safe storage for spent fuel is
made available.
On August 7, 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit issued an appellate order in the litigation
pending against the DOE in which the Utility and other
nuclear power plant owners seek to recover costs they
incurred to build on-site spent nuclear fuel storage facilities
due to the DOE’s delay in constructing a national repository
for nuclear waste. In October 2006, the U.S. Court of Federal
Claims found that the DOE had breached its contract with
the Utility but awarded the Utility approximately $43 million of the $92 million incurred by the Utility through 2004.
In ruling on the Utility’s appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit reversed the lower court on issues
relating to the calculation of damages and ordered the lower
court to re-calculate the award. Although various motions by
the DOE for reconsideration are still pending, the judge in
the lower court conducted a status conference on January 15,
2009 and has scheduled another conference for July 9, 2009.
The Utility expects the ﬁnal award will be approximately
$91 million for costs incurred through 2004 and that the
Utility will recover all of its costs incurred after 2004 to
build on-site storage facilities. Amounts recovered from the
DOE will be credited to customers through rates.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are unable to predict
the outcome of any rehearing petition.
ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS
AND INCENTIVE RATEMAKING
In 2007, the CPUC established an incentive ratemaking
mechanism applicable to the California investor-owned
utilities’ implementation of their energy efﬁciency programs
funded for the 2006-2008 and 2009-2011 program cycles.
To earn incentives the utilities must (1) achieve at least 85%
of the CPUC’s overall energy savings goal over the three-year
program cycle and (2) achieve at least 80% of the CPUC’s
individual kilowatt-hour (kWh), kilowatt (kW), and gas
therm savings goals over the three-year program cycle. If the
utilities achieve between 85% and 99% of the CPUC’s overall savings goal, 9% of the veriﬁed net beneﬁts (i.e., energy
resource savings minus total energy efﬁciency program
costs) will accrue to shareholders and 91% of the veriﬁed
net beneﬁts will accrue to customers. If the utilities achieve
100% or more of the CPUC’s overall savings goal, then 12%
of the total veriﬁed net beneﬁts will accrue to shareholders
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and 88% will accrue to customers. If the utilities achieve
less than 65% of any one of the individual metric savings
goals (i.e., kWh, kW, or gas therm), then the utilities must
reimburse customers based on the greater of (1) 5 cents per
kWh; 45 cents per therm; and $25 per kW for each kWh,
therm, or kW unit below the 65% threshold, or (2) a dollarfor-dollar payback of negative net beneﬁts, also known as
a cost-effectiveness guarantee. The maximum amount of
revenue that the Utility could earn, and the maximum amount
that the Utility could be required to reimburse customers,
over the 2006-2008 program cycle is $180 million.
Under the existing incentive ratemaking mechanism,
the utilities are required to submit two interim claims; the
ﬁrst claim is based on estimated performance achieved
during the ﬁrst and second years of the three-year period,
and the second claim is based on estimated performance
achieved over the entire three-year period. Estimated
performance will be calculated based on the number and
cost of energy efﬁciency measures installed by the utilities
and estimates and assumptions about the energy savings
per energy efﬁciency measure.
On December 18, 2008, based on the Utility’s ﬁrst
interim claim, the CPUC awarded the Utility $41.5 million
in shareholder incentive revenues for the Utility’s energy
efﬁciency program performance in 2006-2007. The awarded
amount represents 35% of $119 million in estimated shareholder incentive revenues for the 2006-2007 program years.
The CPUC ruled that 65% of the incentives calculated for
the utilities’ 2006-2007 interim claims will be “held back”
until completion of ﬁnal measurement studies and a ﬁnal
veriﬁcation report for the entire three-year program cycle.
As long as the ﬁnal measured energy savings are at least
65% of each of the CPUC’s individual savings goals over
the 2006-2008 program cycle, the utilities will not be
required to pay back any incentives received on an interim
basis. The CPUC also ruled that the utilities will not be
entitled to any additional incentives for the 2006-2008
program period beyond the incentives already received
if the utility’s performance falls within a “deadband”;
i.e., if a utility achieves (1) less than 80% of the CPUC’s
goal for any individual savings metric or (2) less than 85%
of the CPUC’s overall energy savings goal but greater than
65% of the CPUC’s goal for each individual savings metric.
On February 2, 2009, The Utility Reform Network and the
CPUC’s Division of Ratepayer Advocates ﬁled an application
for rehearing of the CPUC’s December 18, 2008 award.
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On January 29, 2009, the CPUC instituted a new proceeding to modify the existing incentive ratemaking mechanism,
to adopt a new framework to review the utilities’ 2008 energy
efﬁciency performance, and to conduct a ﬁnal review of the
utilities’ performance over the 2006-2008 program period.
The CPUC also plans to develop a long-term incentive mechanism for program periods beginning in 2009 and beyond.
The utilities are required to submit their 2008 performance
reports to the CPUC by February 28, 2009. The CPUC has
stated it intends to adopt a new framework to examine these
reports so as to allow any interim awards (or obligations)
attributable to 2008 performance to be made (or imposed)
no later than December 2009, and to allow any ﬁnal awards
(or obligations) attributable to performance over the 2006-2008
period to be made (or imposed) no later than December 2010.
Whether the Utility will receive all or a portion of the
remaining $77 million in incentives for the 2006-2007 program years, whether the Utility will receive any additional
incentives or incur a reimbursement obligation in 2009
based on the second interim claim, and whether the ﬁnal
true-up in 2010 will result in a positive or negative adjustment, depends on the new framework and rules to be
adopted by the CPUC.
The Utility intends to ﬁle an amended application
on March 2, 2009 to seek CPUC approval of the Utility’s
2009-2011 energy efﬁciency programs and funding authorization of approximately $1.8 billion over the three-year cycle,
an approximate increase of $860 million over the 20062008 budget. The CPUC has authorized bridge funding of
approximately $33 million per month to allow the Utility to
continue existing energy efﬁciency programs into 2009 until
the CPUC issues a ﬁnal order on the 2009-2011 application.
APPLICATION TO RECOVER HYDROELECTRIC
GENERATION FACILITY DIVESTITURE COSTS
On April 14, 2008, the Utility ﬁled an application with the
CPUC requesting authorization to recover approximately
$47 million, including $12.2 million of interest, of the
costs it incurred in connection with the Utility’s efforts to
determine the market value of its hydroelectric generation
facilities in 2000 and 2001. These efforts were undertaken at
the direction of the CPUC in preparation for the proposed
divestiture of the facilities to further the development of
a competitive generation market in California. The Utility
continues to own its hydroelectric generation assets. On
February 18, 2009, a proposed decision was issued by the
administrative law judge, which if adopted by the CPUC,
would allow the Utility to recover these costs. It is expected
that the CPUC will issue a ﬁnal decision in 2009.

ELECTRIC TRANSMISSION
OWNER RATE CASES
On October 22, 2008, the FERC approved an all-party
settlement in the Utility’s TO rate case that was ﬁled in
July 2007. The settlement sets an annual wholesale base
transmission revenue requirement of $706 million and
a retail base transmission revenue requirement of $718 million, effective March 1, 2008. The Utility has been reserving
the difference between expected revenues based on rates
requested by the Utility in its TO rate application and
expected revenues based on rates proposed in the settlement.
As a result, the settlement will not impact the Utility’s
results of operations or ﬁnancial condition. The Utility
will refund any over-collected amounts to customers, with
interest, through an adjustment to rates in 2010.
Also, on September 30, 2008, the FERC accepted
the Utility’s TO rate case that was ﬁled on July 30, 2008
requesting an increase in retail base revenue requirement to
$849 million and an increase in the Utility’s wholesale base
revenue requirement to $838 million. As it has in the past,
the FERC suspended the rate increase associated with the
requested increase in revenue requirements for ﬁve months,
until March 1, 2009. The increase in rates will be subject
to refund pending ﬁnal FERC approval of the requested
increase in revenue requirements. The Utility, members of
the FERC’s staff, and interveners have been engaged in settlement discussions. Any settlement that is reached would be
subject to the FERC’s approval. If the parties are not able
to reach a settlement, the FERC would hold hearings before
issuing a decision on the Utility’s request.

R I SK MA NAGEM E NT ACT IVIT IES
The Utility and PG&E Corporation, mainly through its
ownership of the Utility, are exposed to market risk, which
is the risk that changes in market conditions will adversely
affect net income or cash ﬂows. PG&E Corporation and
the Utility face market risk associated with their operations,
ﬁnancing arrangements, the marketplace for electricity,
natural gas, electricity transmission, natural gas transportation and storage, other goods and services, and other
aspects of their businesses. PG&E Corporation and the
Utility categorize market risks as price risk and interest rate
risk. The Utility is also exposed to credit risk, the risk that
counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligations.

As long as the Utility can conclude that it is probable
that its reasonably incurred wholesale electricity procurement
costs are recoverable through the ratemaking mechanism
described below, ﬂuctuations in electricity prices will not
affect earnings but may impact cash ﬂows. The Utility’s
natural gas procurement costs for its core customers are
recoverable through the Core Procurement Incentive
Mechanism (“CPIM”) and other ratemaking mechanisms,
as described below. The Utility’s natural gas transportation
and storage costs for core customers are also fully recoverable through a ratemaking mechanism. However, the Utility’s
natural gas transportation and storage costs for non-core
customers may not be fully recoverable. The Utility is subject
to price and volumetric risk for the portion of intrastate
natural gas transportation and storage capacity that has
not been sold under long-term contracts providing for the
recovery of all ﬁxed costs through the collection of ﬁxed
reservation charges. The Utility sells most of its capacity
based on the volume of gas that the Utility’s customers
actually ship, which exposes the Utility to volumetric risk.
Movement in interest rates can also cause earnings and
cash ﬂow to ﬂuctuate.
The Utility actively manages market risks through
risk management programs designed to support business
objectives, discourage unauthorized risk-taking, reduce commodity cost volatility, and manage cash ﬂows. The Utility
uses derivative instruments only for non-trading purposes
(i.e., risk mitigation) and not for speculative purposes. The
Utility’s risk management activities include the use of energy
and ﬁnancial instruments, such as forward contracts, futures,
swaps, options, and other instruments and agreements, most
of which are accounted for as derivative instruments. Some
contracts are accounted for as leases.
The Utility estimates the fair value of derivative
instruments using the midpoint of quoted bid and asked
forward prices, including quotes from brokers and electronic
exchanges, supplemented by online price information from
news services. When market data is not available, the Utility
uses models to estimate fair value.
The Utility conducts business with wholesale customers
and counterparties mainly in the energy industry, including
other California investor-owned electric utilities, municipal
utilities, energy trading companies, ﬁnancial institutions,
and oil and natural gas production companies located in
the United States and Canada. If a counterparty failed to
perform on its contractual obligation to deliver electricity
or gas, then the Utility may ﬁnd it necessary to procure
electricity or gas at current market prices, which may
be higher than the contract prices. Credit-related losses
attributable to receivables and electric and gas procurement
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activities from wholesale customers and counterparties are
expected to be recoverable from customers through rates and
are not expected to have a material impact on net income.
PRICE RISK
Electricity Procurement
The Utility relies on electricity from a diverse mix of
resources, including third-party contracts, amounts allocated
under DWR contracts, and its own electricity generation
facilities. When customer demand exceeds the amount of
electricity that can be economically produced from the
Utility’s own generation facilities plus net energy purchase
contracts (including DWR contracts allocated to the Utility’s
customers), the Utility will be in a “short” position. In
order to satisfy the short position, the Utility purchases
electricity from suppliers prior to the hour- and day-ahead
CAISO scheduling timeframes, or in the real-time market.
When the Utility’s supply of electricity from its own generation resources plus net energy purchase contracts exceeds
customer demand, the Utility is in a “long” position.
When the Utility is in a long position, the Utility sells the
excess supply in the real-time market. The CAISO currently
administers a real-time wholesale market for the sale of
electric energy. This market is used by the CAISO to ﬁnetune the balance of supply and demand in real time.
Price risk is associated with the uncertainty of prices
when buying or selling to reduce open positions (short or
long positions). This price risk is mitigated by electricity
price caps. The FERC has adopted a “soft” cap on energy
prices of $400 per MWh that applies to the spot market
(i.e., real-time, hour-ahead, and day-ahead markets) throughout the WECC area. (A “soft” cap allows market participants
to submit bids that exceed the bid cap if adequately justiﬁed,
but does not allow such bids to set the market clearing price.
A “hard” cap prohibits bids that exceed the cap, regardless
of the seller’s costs.)
As part of the CAISO’s Market Redesign and Technology
Upgrade (“MRTU”) initiative, the CAISO plans to implement a change to the day-ahead, hour-ahead, and real-time
markets, including new offer price “hard” caps of $500/MWh
when MRTU begins, rising to $750/MWh after the twelfth
month of MRTU, and ﬁnally to $1,000/MWh after the
twenty-fourth month. The CAISO has also ﬁled tariff amendments pending approval with the FERC stating that for
settlement purposes, all prices shall not exceed $2,500/MWh
and shall not be less than negative $2,500/MWh during the
ﬁrst twelve months of operation. After delaying the MRTU
start date several times, the CAISO has stated that the start
date will be April 1, 2009.
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The amount of electricity the Utility needs to meet the
demands of customers that is not satisﬁed from the Utility’s
own generation facilities, existing purchase contracts, or
DWR contracts allocated to the Utility’s customers is subject
to change for a number of reasons, including:
• periodic expirations or terminations of existing electricity

purchase contracts including the DWR’s contracts;
• the execution of new electricity purchase contracts;
• ﬂuctuation in the output of hydroelectric and other

renewable power facilities owned or under contract;
• changes in the Utility’s customers’ electricity demands

due to customer and economic growth or decline,
weather, implementation of new energy efﬁciency and
demand response programs, direct access, and community
choice aggregation;
• the acquisition, retirement, or closure of generation

facilities; and
• changes in market prices that make it more economical

to purchase power in the market rather than use the
Utility’s existing resources.
Lengthy, unexpected outages of the Utility’s generation
facilities or other facilities from which it purchases electricity
also could cause the Utility to be in a short position. It
is possible that the operation of Diablo Canyon may have
to be curtailed or halted as early as 2010 if suitable storage
facilities are not available for spent nuclear fuel, which would
cause a signiﬁcant increase in the Utility’s short position
(see “Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage Proceedings” above). If any
of the above events were to occur, the Utility may ﬁnd it
necessary to procure electricity from third parties at thencurrent market prices.
In December 2007, the DWR terminated a contract with
Calpine Corporation to purchase 1,000 MW of base load
power needed by the Utility’s customers and replaced it
with a 180 MW tolling arrangement. In addition, the DWR
may try to terminate or renegotiate other long-term power
purchase contracts it has entered into with other power
suppliers. To the extent DWR does terminate or renegotiate
other contracts, the Utility will be responsible for procuring
additional electricity to meet its customers’ demand, potentially at then-current market prices.
The Utility expects to satisfy at least some of the forecasted short position through the CPUC-approved contracts
it has entered into in accordance with its CPUC-approved
long-term procurement plan covering 2007 through 2016.
The Utility recovers the costs incurred under these contracts and other electricity procurement costs through retail
electricity rates that are adjusted whenever the forecasted
aggregate over-collections or under-collections of the Utility’s

procurement costs for the current year exceed 5% of the
Utility’s prior year electricity procurement revenues. The
Chapter 11 Settlement Agreement provides that the Utility
will recover its reasonable costs of providing utility service,
including power procurement costs. As long as these cost
recovery mechanisms remain in place, adverse market price
changes are not expected to impact the Utility’s net income.
The Utility is at risk to the extent that the CPUC may in
the future disallow portions or the full costs of procurement transactions. Additionally, market price changes could
impact the timing of the Utility’s cash ﬂows.
Electric Transmission Congestion Rights
Among other features, the CAISO’s MRTU initiative provides that electric transmission congestion costs and credits
will be determined between any two locations and charged
to the market participants, including load serving entities,
taking energy that passes between those locations. The CAISO
also will provide Congestion Revenue Rights (“CRRs”) to
allow market participants, including load serving entities,
to hedge the ﬁnancial risk of CAISO-imposed congestion
charges in the MRTU day-ahead market. The CAISO releases
CRRs through an annual and monthly process, each of which
includes both an allocation phase (in which load serving
entities receive CRRs at no cost) and an auction phase
(priced at market, and available to all market participants).
The Utility has been allocated and has acquired via
auction certain CRRs as of December 31, 2008, and anticipates acquiring additional CRRs through the allocation and
auction phases prior to the MRTU effective date, to be used
when MRTU becomes effective. During 2008, the Utility
participated in an auction to acquire additional ﬁrm transmission rights (“FTRs”) in order to hedge its physical and
ﬁnancial risk until the MRTU becomes effective. The CAISO
has delayed the start date of MRTU several times, but is now
targeting April 1, 2009.
Natural Gas Procurement (Electric Portfolio)
A portion of the Utility’s electric portfolio is exposed to
natural gas price risk. The Utility manages this risk in
accordance with its risk management strategies included
in electricity procurement plans approved by the CPUC.
The CPUC did not approve the Utility’s proposed electric
portfolio gas hedging plan that was included in the Utility’s
long-term procurement plan. Instead, the CPUC deferred
consideration of the proposal to another proceeding. The
CPUC ordered the Utility to continue operating under
the previously approved gas hedging plan. The expenses
associated with the hedging plan are expected to be
recovered through rates.

Natural Gas Procurement (Core Customers)
The Utility generally enters into physical and ﬁnancial
natural gas commodity contracts from one to twelve months
in length to fulﬁll the needs of its retail core customers.
Changes in temperature cause natural gas demand to vary
daily, monthly, and seasonally. Consequently, varying
volumes of gas may be purchased in the monthly and,
to a lesser extent, daily spot market to meet such seasonal
demand. The Utility’s cost of natural gas purchased for
its core customers includes costs for the commodity,
Canadian and interstate transportation, and intrastate
gas transmission and storage.
Under the CPIM, the Utility’s purchase costs for a
ﬁxed 12-month period are compared to an aggregate marketbased benchmark based on a weighted average of published
monthly and daily natural gas price indices at the points
where the Utility typically purchases natural gas. Costs that
fall within a tolerance band, which is 99% to 102% of the
benchmark, are considered reasonable and are fully recovered
in customers’ rates. One-half of the costs above 102% of
the benchmark are recoverable in customers’ rates, and the
Utility’s customers receive in their rates 80% of any savings
resulting from the Utility’s cost of natural gas that is less
than 99% of the benchmark. The shareholder award is
capped at the lower of 1.5% of total natural gas commodity
costs or $25 million. While this cost recovery mechanism
remains in place, changes in the price of natural gas are
not expected to materially impact net income.
For the CPIM period ending October 31, 2008, the
CPUC will audit the results of the Utility’s CPIM performance. Subject to the audit results, a shareholder award
may be recorded during 2009. For the CPIM period ending
October 31, 2007, the Utility earned a shareholder award
of $10.1 million, which was recorded in the second quarter of
2008. The CPUC will audit the results of the Utility’s CPIM
performance ending October 31, 2008. Subject to the audit
results, a shareholder award may be recorded during 2009.
Nuclear Fuel
The Utility purchases nuclear fuel for Diablo Canyon
through contracts with terms ranging from 1 to 16 years.
These long-term nuclear fuel agreements are with large,
well-established international producers in order to diversify
the Utility’s commitments and provide security of supply.
Nuclear fuel costs are recovered from customers through
rates and, therefore, changes in nuclear fuel prices are not
expected to materially impact net income.
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Natural Gas Transportation and Storage
The Utility uses value-at-risk to measure the shareholders’
exposure to price and volumetric risks resulting from
variability in the price of, and demand for, natural gas
transportation and storage services that could impact
revenues due to changes in market prices and customer
demand. Value-at-risk measures this exposure over a rolling
12-month forward period and assumes that the contract
positions are held through expiration. This calculation is
based on a 95% conﬁdence level, which means that there
is a 5% probability that the impact to revenues on a pre-tax
basis, over the rolling 12-month forward period, will be at
least as large as the reported value-at-risk. Value-at-risk uses
market data to quantify the Utility’s price exposure. When
market data is not available, the Utility uses historical data
or market proxies to extrapolate the required market data.
Value-at-risk as a measure of portfolio risk has several limitations, including, but not limited to, inadequate indication
of the exposure to extreme price movements and the use of
historical data or market proxies that may not adequately
capture portfolio risk.
The Utility’s value-at-risk calculated under the methodology described above was approximately $16 million at
December 31, 2008. The Utility’s high, low, and average valuesat-risk during the twelve months ended December 31, 2008
were approximately $34 million, $16 million, and $25 million, respectively.
Convertible Subordinated Notes
At December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation had outstanding approximately $280 million of 9.50% Convertible
Subordinated Notes that are scheduled to mature on June 30,
2010. These Convertible Subordinated Notes may be converted
(at the option of the holder) at any time prior to maturity
into 18,558,059 shares of PG&E Corporation common stock,
at a conversion price of $15.09 per share. The conversion
price is subject to adjustment for signiﬁcant changes in
the number of outstanding shares of PG&E Corporation’s
common stock. In addition, holders of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes are entitled to receive “pass-through
dividends” determined by multiplying the cash dividend
paid by PG&E Corporation per share of common stock by
a number equal to the principal amount of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes divided by the conversion price. During
2008, PG&E Corporation paid approximately $28 million
of pass-through dividends to the holders of Convertible
Subordinated Notes. On January 15, 2009, PG&E Corporation
paid approximately $7 million of pass-through dividends.
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On January 13, 2009, PG&E Corporation, upon request
by an investor, converted $28 million of Convertible
Subordinated Notes into 1,855,865 shares at the conversion
price of $15.09 per share. Total outstanding Convertible
Subordinated Notes after the conversion is approximately
$252 million.
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”),
the dividend participation rights of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes are considered to be embedded derivative instruments and, therefore, must be bifurcated from the
Convertible Subordinated Notes and recorded at fair value
in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
The payment of pass-through dividends is recognized as an
operating cash ﬂow in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. Changes in the fair value are
recognized in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Statements of Income as a non-operating expense or income
(in Other income (expense), net). At December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007, the total estimated fair value
of the dividend participation rights, on a pre-tax basis,
was approximately $42 million and $62 million, respectively,
of which $28 million and $25 million, respectively, was
classiﬁed as a current liability (in Current Liabilities —
Other) and $14 million and $37 million, respectively, was
classiﬁed as a noncurrent liability (in Noncurrent Liabilities
— Other) in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The discount factor used to value these rights was adjusted
on January 1, 2008 in order to comply with the provisions of
SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”),
resulting in a $6 million increase in the liability. (See Note
12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion of the implementation of SFAS No. 157.)
INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis is used to measure
interest rate risk by computing estimated changes in cash
ﬂows as a result of assumed changes in market interest rates.
At December 31, 2008, if interest rates changed by 1% for
all current variable rate debt issued by PG&E Corporation
and the Utility, the change would affect net income for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2008 by approximately
$0.1 million, based on net variable rate debt and other
interest rate-sensitive instruments outstanding.
CREDIT RISK
The Utility manages credit risk associated with its wholesale
customers and counterparties by assigning credit limits
based on evaluations of their ﬁnancial conditions, net worth,
credit ratings, and other credit criteria as deemed appropriate.
Credit limits and credit quality are monitored periodically
and a detailed credit analysis is performed at least annually.

The Utility ties many energy contracts to master agreements that require security (referred to as “credit collateral”) in the
form of cash, letters of credit, corporate guarantees of acceptable credit quality, or eligible securities if current net receivables
and replacement cost exposure exceed contractually speciﬁed limits.
The following table summarizes the Utility’s net credit risk exposure to its wholesale customers and counterparties, as well
as the Utility’s credit risk exposure to its wholesale customers or counterparties with a greater than 10% net credit exposure,
at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

(in millions)

December 31, 2008
December 31, 2007

Gross Credit
Exposure
Before Credit
Collateral(1)

Credit
Collateral

Net Credit
Exposure(2)

Number of
Wholesale
Customers or
Counterparties
>10%

$240
$311

$84
$91

$156
$220

2
2

Net
Exposure to
Wholesale
Customers or
Counterparties
>10%

$107
$111

(1) Gross credit exposure equals mark-to-market value on ﬁnancially settled contracts, notes receivable, and net receivables (payables) where netting is
contractually allowed. Gross and net credit exposure amounts reported above do not include adjustments for time value or liquidity.
(2) Net credit exposure is the gross credit exposure minus credit collateral (cash deposits and letters of credit). For purposes of this table, parental guarantees
are not included as part of the calculation.

C RI TI C A L ACCOUNT ING POLIC IES
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with GAAP involves the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the recorded amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the ﬁnancial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. The accounting policies described below
are considered to be critical accounting policies, due, in part,
to their complexity and because their application is relevant
and material to the ﬁnancial position and results of operations of PG&E Corporation and the Utility, and because
these policies require the use of material judgments and
estimates. Actual results may differ substantially from these
estimates. These policies and their key characteristics are
outlined below.
REGUL ATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The Utility accounts for the ﬁnancial effects of regulation
in accordance with SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects
of Certain Types of Regulation” (“SFAS No. 71”). SFAS
No. 71 applies to regulated entities whose rates are designed
to recover the cost of providing service. SFAS No. 71
applies to all of the Utility’s operations.
Under SFAS No. 71, incurred costs that would otherwise
be charged to expense may be capitalized and recorded
as regulatory assets if it is probable that the incurred costs
will be recovered in future rates. The regulatory assets are
amortized over future periods consistent with the inclusion
of costs in authorized customer rates. If costs that a regulated

enterprise expects to incur in the future are being recovered
through current rates, SFAS No. 71 requires that the regulated enterprise record those expected future costs as regulatory liabilities. In addition, amounts that are probable of
being credited or refunded to customers in the future must
be recorded as regulatory liabilities. Regulatory assets and
liabilities are recorded when it is probable, as deﬁned in
SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies” (“SFAS No. 5”),
that these items will be recovered or reﬂected in future rates.
Determining probability requires signiﬁcant judgment on
the part of management and includes, but is not limited to,
consideration of testimony presented in regulatory hearings,
proposed regulatory decisions, ﬁnal regulatory orders, and
the strength or status of applications for rehearing or
state court appeals. The Utility also maintains regulatory
balancing accounts, which comprise sales and cost balancing
accounts. These balancing accounts are used to record the
differences between revenues and costs that can be recovered
through rates.
If the Utility determined that it could not apply SFAS
No. 71 to its operations or, if under SFAS No. 71, it could
not conclude that it is probable that revenues or costs would
be recovered or reﬂected in future rates, the revenues or
costs would be charged to income in the period in which
they were incurred. If it is determined that a regulatory asset
is no longer probable of recovery in rates, then SFAS No. 71
requires that it be written off at that time. At December 31,
2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility reported regulatory
assets (including current regulatory balancing accounts
receivable) of approximately $7.2 billion and regulatory
liabilities (including current balancing accounts payable)
of approximately $4.4 billion.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION LIABILITIES
Given the complexities of the legal and regulatory environment in which the environmental laws operate, the process of
estimating environmental remediation liabilities is subjective.
The Utility records a liability associated with environmental
remediation activities when it is determined that remediation
is probable, as deﬁned in SFAS No. 5, and the cost can be
estimated in a reasonable manner. The liability can be based
on many factors, including site investigations, remediation,
operations, maintenance, monitoring, and closure. This
liability is recorded at the lower range of estimated costs,
unless a more objective estimate can be achieved. The
recorded liability is re-examined every quarter.
At December 31, 2008, the Utility’s accrual for undiscounted and gross environmental liabilities was approximately
$568 million. The accrual for undiscounted and gross environmental liabilities is representative of future events that
are probable. In determining maximum undiscounted future
costs, events that are reasonably possible but not probable are
included in the estimation. The Utility’s undiscounted future
costs could increase to as much as $944 million if other
potentially responsible parties are not able to contribute to
the settlement of these costs or the extent of contamination
or necessary remediation is greater than anticipated.
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
The Utility accounts for its long-lived assets under SFAS
No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”
(“SFAS No. 143”), and FASB Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations — An
Interpretation of SFAS No. 143” (“FIN 47”). SFAS No. 143
and FIN 47 require that an asset retirement obligation be
recorded at fair value in the period in which it is incurred if
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. In the same
period, the associated asset retirement costs are capitalized
as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived
asset. Rate-regulated entities may recognize regulatory assets
or liabilities as a result of timing differences between the
recognition of costs as recorded in accordance with SFAS
No. 143 and FIN 47 and costs recovered through the
ratemaking process.
The fair value of asset retirement obligations (“ARO”)
is dependent upon the following components:
• Decommissioning costs — The estimated costs for labor,

equipment, material, and other disposal costs;
• Inflation adjustment — The estimated cash ﬂows are

adjusted for inﬂation estimates;
• Discount rate — The fair value of the obligation is based

on a credit-adjusted risk-free rate that reﬂects the risk
associated with the obligation;
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• Third-party mark-up adjustments — Internal labor costs

included in the cash ﬂow calculation were adjusted
for costs that a third party would incur in performing
the tasks necessary to retire the asset in accordance with
SFAS No. 143; and
• Estimated date of decommissioning — The fair value of

the obligation will change based on the expected date
of decommissioning.
Changes in these factors could materially affect the
obligation recorded to reﬂect the ultimate cost associated
with retiring the assets under SFAS No. 143 and FIN 47.
For example, a premature shutdown of the nuclear facilities
at Diablo Canyon would increase the likelihood of an
earlier start to decommissioning and cause an increase in
the obligation. (See Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements and “Capital Expenditures” and “Results
of Operations” above.) Additionally, if the inﬂation adjustment increased 25 basis points, this would increase the
balance for ARO by approximately 0.81%. Similarly, an
increase in the discount rate by 25 basis points would decrease
ARO by 0.57%. At December 31, 2008, the Utility’s estimated
cost of retiring these assets is approximately $1.7 billion.
ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES
PG&E Corporation and the Utility account for income taxes
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” and FIN 48, which requires judgment regarding the
potential tax effects of various transactions and ongoing
operations to determine obligations owed to tax authorities.
(See Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.) Amounts of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities, as well as current and noncurrent accruals, involve
estimates of the timing and probability of recognition of
income and deductions. Actual income taxes could vary
from estimated amounts due to the future impacts of various
items, including changes in tax laws, PG&E Corporation’s
ﬁnancial condition in future periods, and the ﬁnal review
of ﬁled tax returns by taxing authorities.
PENSION AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT PL ANS
Certain employees and retirees of PG&E Corporation and
its subsidiaries participate in qualiﬁed and non-qualiﬁed
non-contributory deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans. Certain
retired employees and their eligible dependents of PG&E
Corporation and its subsidiaries also participate in contributory medical plans, and certain retired employees participate
in life insurance plans (referred to collectively as “other postretirement beneﬁts”). Amounts that PG&E Corporation and
the Utility recognize as costs and obligations to provide pension beneﬁts under SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting
for Deﬁned Beneﬁt Pension and Other Postretirement Plans”
(“SFAS No. 158”); SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for

Pensions” (“SFAS No. 87”); and other beneﬁts under SFAS
No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Beneﬁts
Other than Pensions” (“SFAS No. 106”) are based on a
variety of factors. These factors include the provisions of the
plans, employee demographics, and various actuarial calculations, assumptions, and accounting mechanisms. Because of
the complexity of these calculations, the long-term nature
of these obligations and the importance of the assumptions
utilized, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s estimate of
these costs and obligations is a critical accounting estimate.

Under SFAS No. 71, regulatory adjustments have been
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Utility to reﬂect the
difference between Utility pension expense or income for
accounting purposes and Utility pension expense or income
for ratemaking, which is based on a funding approach. Since
1993, the CPUC has authorized the Utility to recover the
costs associated with its other postretirement beneﬁts based
on the lesser of the SFAS No. 106 expense or the annual
tax-deductible contributions to the appropriate trusts.

Actuarial assumptions used in determining pension obligations include the discount rate, the average rate of future
compensation increases, and the expected return on plan
assets. Actuarial assumptions used in determining other postretirement beneﬁt obligations include the discount rate, the
expected return on plan assets, and the assumed health care
cost trend rate. PG&E Corporation and the Utility review
these assumptions on an annual basis and adjust them as
necessary. While PG&E Corporation and the Utility believe
the assumptions used are appropriate, signiﬁcant differences
in actual experience, plan changes, or signiﬁcant changes in
assumptions may materially affect the recorded pension
and other postretirement beneﬁt obligations and future
plan expenses.

PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s funding policy is
to contribute tax-deductible amounts, consistent with applicable regulatory decisions and federal minimum funding
requirements. Based upon current assumptions and available
information, the Utility has not identiﬁed any minimum
funding requirements related to its pension plans.

In accordance with accounting rules, changes in beneﬁt
obligations associated with these assumptions may not be
recognized as costs on the income statement. Differences
between actuarial assumptions and actual plan results are
deferred in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) and are amortized into cost only when the accumulated differences exceed 10% of the greater of the projected
beneﬁt obligation or the market value of the related plan
assets. If necessary, the excess is amortized over the average
remaining service period of active employees. As such, beneﬁt costs recorded in any period may not reﬂect the actual
level of cash beneﬁts provided to plan participants. PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s recorded pension expense
totaled $169 million in 2008, $117 million in 2007, and
$185 million in 2006 in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 87. PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s recorded
expense for other postretirement beneﬁts totaled $44 million
in 2008, $44 million in 2007, and $49 million in 2006 in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 106.
As of December 31, 2006, PG&E Corporation and the
Utility adopted SFAS No. 158, which requires the funded
status of an entity’s plans to be recognized on the balance
sheet with an offsetting entry to Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), resulting in no impact to the statement of income.

In July 2006, the CPUC approved the Utility’s request
to resume rate recovery for the Utility’s contributions to
the qualiﬁed deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan for the years
2006 through 2009, with the goal of fully-funded status
by 2010. In March 2007, the CPUC extended the terms of
the decision for one additional year, through 2010. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility made total pension contributions
of approximately $139 million in 2007 and $182 million in
2008, and expect to make total contributions of approximately $176 million annually for the years 2009 and 2010.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility made total contributions
of approximately $38 million in 2007 and $48 million in
2008 related to their other postretirement beneﬁt plans and
expect to make contributions of approximately $58 million
annually for the years 2009 and 2010.
Pension and other postretirement beneﬁt funds are
held in external trusts. Trust assets, including accumulated
earnings, must be used exclusively for pension and other
postretirement beneﬁt payments. Consistent with the trusts’
investment policies, assets are invested in U.S. equities,
non-U.S. equities, absolute return securities, and ﬁxed
income securities. Investment securities are exposed to
various risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, and
overall market volatility. As a result of these risks, it is
reasonably possible that the market values of investment
securities could increase or decrease in the near term. Increases
or decreases in market values could materially affect the
current value of the trusts and, as a result, the future level
of pension and other postretirement beneﬁt expense.
Expected rates of return on plan assets were developed
by determining projected stock and bond returns and then
applying these returns to the target asset allocations of the
employee beneﬁt trusts, resulting in a weighted average rate
of return on plan assets.
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Fixed income returns were projected based on real maturity and credit spreads added to a long-term inﬂation rate.
Equity returns were estimated based on estimates of dividend
yield and real earnings growth added to a long-term rate of
inﬂation. For the Utility’s deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan, the
assumed return of 7.3% compares to a ten-year actual return
of 4.6%.
The rate used to discount pension and other postretirement beneﬁt plan liabilities was based on a yield curve
developed from market data of approximately 300 Aa-grade
non-callable bonds at December 31, 2008. This yield curve
has discount rates that vary based on the duration of the
obligations. The estimated future cash ﬂows for the pension
and other postretirement obligations were matched to the
corresponding rates on the yield curve to derive a weighted
average discount rate.

Level 3 Instruments at Fair Value
As Level 3 measurements are based on unobservable inputs,
signiﬁcant judgment may be used in the valuation of these
instruments. Accordingly, the following table sets forth the
fair values of instruments classiﬁed as Level 3 within the fair
value hierarchy, along with a description of the valuation
technique for each type of instrument:

The following reﬂects the sensitivity of pension costs and
projected beneﬁt obligation to changes in certain actuarial
assumptions:

(in millions)

Increase
in 2008
Pension
Costs

Increase in
Projected
Beneﬁt
Obligation at
December 31,
2008

(0.5)%

$15

$667

(0.5)%

47

—

0.5%

17

162

Increase
(decrease) in
Assumption

Discount rate
Rate of return on
plan assets
Rate of increase in
compensation

Health care cost trend rate
Discount rate

Increase
(decrease) in
Assumption

0.5%
(0.5)%

Increase
in 2008
Other
Postretirement
Beneﬁt Costs

Increase in
Accumulated
Beneﬁt
Obligation at
December 31,
2008

$6
6

$33
75

NE W A C C O UNT ING POLICIE S
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157. SFAS No. 157
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of an
asset or liability. The objective of a fair value measurement
is to determine the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
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Value as of
(in millions)

Money market investments
(held by PG&E Corporation)
Nuclear decommissioning trusts
Price risk management instruments
Long-term disability trust
Dividend participation rights
Other
Total Level 3 Instruments

The following reﬂects the sensitivity of other postretirement beneﬁt costs and accumulated beneﬁt obligation
to changes in certain actuarial assumptions:

(in millions)

between market participants at the measurement date, or
the “exit price.” The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). Assets
and liabilities are classiﬁed based on the lowest level of
input that is signiﬁcant to the fair value measurement. (See
Notes 2 and 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion on SFAS No. 157.)

December 31,
2008

January 1,
2008

$ 12
5
(156)
78
(42)
(2)

$ —
8
115
87
(68)
(4)

$(105)

$138

Level 3 fair value measurements represent approximately
5% of the total net value of all fair value measurements
of PG&E Corporation. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2008, there were no material increases or
decreases in Level 3 assets or liabilities resulting from a
transfer of assets or liabilities from, or into, Level 1 or
Level 2. The majority of these instruments are accounted
for in accordance with SFAS No. 71, as amended, as they
are expected to be recovered or refunded through regulated
rates. Therefore, changes in the aggregate fair value of these
assets and liabilities (including realized and unrealized
gains and losses) are recorded within regulatory accounts
in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets with the
exception of the dividend participation rights associated
with PG&E Corporation’s Convertible Subordinated Notes.
The changes in the fair value of the dividend participation
rights are reﬂected in Other income (expense), net in PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Statements of Income. Changes
in the fair value of the Level 3 instruments did not have
a material effect on liquidity and capital resources as of
December 31, 2008.

Money Market Investments

Price Risk Management Instruments

PG&E Corporation invests in AAA-rated money market
funds that seek to maintain a stable net asset value. These
funds invest in high quality, short-term, diversiﬁed money
market instruments, such as Treasury bills, federal agency
securities, certiﬁcates of deposit, and commercial paper with
a maximum weighted average maturity of 60 days or less.
PG&E Corporation’s investments in these money market
funds are generally valued based on observable inputs such
as expected yield and credit quality and are thus classiﬁed
as Level 1 instruments. Approximately $164 million held in
money market funds are recorded as Cash and cash equivalents in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The price risk management instrument category comprises
physical and ﬁnancial derivative contracts including futures,
forwards, options, and swaps that are both exchange-traded
and over-the-counter (“OTC”) traded contracts. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility apply consistent valuation methodology to similar instruments. Since the Utility’s contracts
are used within the regulatory framework, regulatory accounts
are recorded to offset the associated gains and losses of these
derivatives, which will be reﬂected in future rates. The Level 3
price risk management instruments decreased from an asset
of approximately $115 million as of January 1, 2008 to a
liability of approximately $156 million as of December 31,
2008. This decrease of approximately $271 million was
primarily due to a reduction in commodity prices.

As of December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation classiﬁed
approximately $12 million invested in one money market
fund as a Level 3 instrument because the fund manager
imposed restrictions on fund participants’ redemption
requests. PG&E Corporation’s investment in this money
market fund, previously recorded as Cash and cash equivalents, is recorded as Prepaid expenses and other in PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Nuclear Decommissioning Trusts
and Long-Term Disability Trust

The nuclear decommissioning trusts and the long-term
disability trust primarily hold equities, debt securities,
mutual funds, and life insurance policies. These instruments
are generally valued based on unadjusted prices in active
markets for identical transactions or unadjusted prices in
active markets for similar transactions. The nuclear decommissioning trusts and the long-term disability trust also
invest in long-term commingled funds, which are funds that
consist of assets from several accounts that are intermingled.
These commingled funds have liquidity restrictions and lack
an active market for individual shares of the funds; therefore, the trusts’ investments in these funds are classiﬁed as
Level 3. The Level 3 nuclear decommissioning trust assets
decreased from approximately $8 million at January 1, 2008
to approximately $5 million at December 31, 2008. The
decrease of approximately $3 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2008 was primarily due to unrealized
losses of these commingled fund investments. The Level 3
long-term disability trust assets decreased from approximately
$87 million at January 1, 2008 to approximately $78 million at December 31, 2008. This decrease of approximately
$9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008
was primarily due to net purchases and unrealized losses
on these commingled fund investments.

Value as of
(in millions)

Type of Instrument
Options (exchange-traded and OTC)
Congestion revenue rights,
Firm transmission rights, and
Demand response contracts
Swaps and forwards
Netting and collateral
Total

December 31,
2008

January 1,
2008

$ 28

$ 50

99
(366)
83

61
(2)
6

$(156)

$115

All options (exchange-traded and OTC) are valued using
the Black’s Option Pricing Model and classiﬁed as Level 3
measurements primarily due to volatility inputs. The Utility
receives implied volatility for options traded on exchanges
that may be adjusted to incorporate the speciﬁc terms of the
Utility’s contracts, such as strike price or location.
CRRs allow market participants, including load serving
entities, to hedge ﬁnancial risk of CAISO-imposed congestion charges in the day-ahead market to be established when
MRTU becomes effective. FTRs allow market participants,
including load serving entities, to hedge both the physical
and ﬁnancial risk associated with CAISO-imposed congestion charges until the MRTU becomes effective. The Utility’s
demand response contracts with third-party aggregators of
retail electricity customers contain a call option entitling the
Utility to require that the aggregator reduce electric usage by
the aggregators’ customers at times of peak energy demand
or in response to a CAISO alert or other emergency. As the
markets for CRRs, FTRs, and demand response contracts
have minimal activity, observable inputs may not be available
in pricing these instruments. Therefore, the pricing models
used to value these instruments often incorporate signiﬁcant
estimates and assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing the instrument. Accordingly, they are classiﬁed
as Level 3 measurements. When available, observable market
data is used to calibrate pricing models.
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The remaining Level 3 price risk management instruments
are OTC derivative instruments that are valued using pricing
models based on the net present value of estimated future
cash ﬂows based on broker quotations. The Utility receives
multiple non-binding broker quotes for certain locations,
which are generally averaged for valuation purposes. In
certain circumstances, broker quotes may be interpolated
or extrapolated to ﬁt the terms of a contract, such as
frequency of settlement or tenor. These instruments are
classiﬁed within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Dividend Participation Rights

The dividend participation rights of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes are embedded derivative instruments in
accordance with SFAS No. 133 and, therefore, are bifurcated
from the Convertible Subordinated Notes and recorded
at fair value in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The dividend participation rights are valued based
on the net present value of estimated future cash ﬂows
using internal estimates of common stock dividends.
These rights are recorded as Current Liabilities — Other
and Noncurrent Liabilities — Other in PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. (See Note 4 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
of these instruments.)
NONPERFORMANCE RISK
In accordance with SFAS No. 157, PG&E Corporation and
the Utility incorporate the risk of nonperformance into the
valuation of their fair value measurements. Nonperformance
risk adjustments on the Utility’s price risk management
instruments are based on current market inputs when
available, such as credit default swaps spreads. When such
information is not available, internal models may be used.
The nonperformance risk adjustment for the net price risk
management instruments contributed less than 5% of the
value on December 31, 2008. As the Utility’s contracts are
used within the regulatory framework, the nonperformance
risk adjustments are recorded to regulatory accounts and
do not impact earnings.
See Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion on fair value measurements.
AMENDMENT OF FASB
INTERPRETATION NO. 39
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position on FASB
Interpretation 39, “Amendment of FASB Interpretation
No. 39” (“FIN 39-1”). Under FIN 39-1, a reporting entity is
required to offset the cash collateral paid or cash collateral
received against the fair value amounts recognized for
derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty
under a master netting arrangement when reporting those
amounts on a net basis. The provisions of FIN 39-1 are
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applied retrospectively. See Note 11 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
and ﬁnancial statement impact of the implementation
of FIN 39-1.
FAIR VALUE OPTION
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 establishes a fair value
option under which entities can elect to report certain
ﬁnancial assets and liabilities at fair value with changes in
fair value recognized in earnings. PG&E Corporation and
the Utility have not elected the fair value option for any
assets or liabilities as of and during the three and twelve
months ended December 31, 2008; therefore, the adoption of
SFAS No. 159 did not impact the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.
DISCLOSURES BY PUBLIC ENTITIES
(ENTERPRISES) ABOUT TRANSFERS
OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND INTERESTS
IN VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
On December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8, “Disclosures by Public Entities
(Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial Assets and
Interests in Variable Interest Entities” (“FSP FAS 140-4 and
FIN 46R-8”). This FSP amends FASB No. 140, “Accounting
for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities” to require public companies to
provide additional qualitative disclosures about transfers
of ﬁnancial assets. This guidance also amended FIN 46R
to require public enterprises to provide additional disclosures about their involvement with variable interest entities
(“VIEs”) when they are the primary beneﬁciary of the
VIE, hold a signiﬁcant variable interest in the VIE, or
are sponsors of and hold a variable interest in the VIE.
Although PG&E Corporation and the Utility were
not impacted by the amendment to FASB No. 140 as of
December 31, 2008, they were impacted by the amendment
to FIN 46R, primarily through the Utility’s power purchase
agreements, which may be considered signiﬁcant variable
interests. Accordingly, when the Utility has a signiﬁcant
variable interest in a VIE, FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8
require additional disclosures about the entity, the extent
of the Utility’s involvement with the entity, and the Utility’s
methodology for evaluating these entities under FIN 46R. See
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” within Note 2
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for expanded disclosures required by FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8.

A C C OUNTI NG PRONOUNCEMEN T S
I S SUED B U T NOT Y ET ADOPT ED
DISCLOSURES ABOUT DERIVATIVE
INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING
ACTIVITIES — AN AMENDMENT OF
FASB STATEMENT NO. 133
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“SFAS No. 161”).
SFAS No. 161 amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133. An entity is required to provide
qualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for
using derivatives, quantitative disclosures on fair value
amounts, and gains and losses on derivative instruments,
and disclosures relating to credit-risk-related contingent
features in derivative agreements. SFAS No. 161 is effective
prospectively for ﬁscal years beginning after November 15,
2008. PG&E Corporation and the Utility will include the
expanded disclosure required by SFAS No. 161 in their
combined quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2009.
DISCLOSURES ABOUT EMPLOYERS’
POSTRETIREM ENT BENEFIT PL AN
ASSETS — AN AMENDMENT TO
FASB STATEMENT NO. 132(R)
In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Beneﬁt Plan
Assets” (“FSP 132(R)-1”). FSP 132(R)-1 amends and expands
the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132. An entity is
required to provide qualitative disclosures about how investment allocation decisions are made, the inputs and valuation
techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets,
and the concentration of risk within plan assets. Additionally, quantitative disclosures are required showing the
fair value of each major category of plan assets, the levels
in which each asset is classiﬁed within the fair value
hierarchy, and a reconciliation for the period of plan assets
that are measured using signiﬁcant unobservable inputs.
FSP 132(R)-1 is effective prospectively for ﬁscal years ending
after December 15, 2009. PG&E Corporation and the Utility
are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 132(R)-1.
ISSUER’S ACCOUNTING FOR LIABILITIES
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE WITH A
THIRD -PARTY CREDIT ENHANCEMENT —
AN AMENDMENT TO FASB STATEMENT
NO. 107 AND FASB STATEMENT NO. 133
In September 2008, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) 08-5, “Issuer’s Accounting for Liabilities
Measured at Fair Value with a Third-Party Credit Enhancement” (“EITF 08-5”). EITF 08-5 clariﬁes the unit of account
in determining the fair value of a liability under SFAS

No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” or SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivatives and
Hedging Activities.” Speciﬁcally, it requires an entity to
incorporate any third-party credit enhancements that are
issued with and are inseparable from a debt instrument
into the fair value of that debt instrument. EITF 08-5 is
effective prospectively for ﬁscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those ﬁscal
years. PG&E Corporation and the Utility are currently
evaluating the impact of EITF 08-5.
EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENT ACCOUNTING
CONSIDERATION — AN AMENDMENT TO
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD NO. 18
In November 2008, the FASB issued EITF 08-6, “Equity
Method Accounting Considerations” (“EITF 08-6”).
EITF 08-6 clariﬁes the application of equity method accounting under Accounting Principles Board 18, “The Equity
Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.”
Speciﬁcally, it requires companies to initially record equity
method investments based on the cost accumulation model,
precludes separate other-than-temporary impairment tests on
an equity method investee’s indeﬁnite-lived assets from the
investee’s test, requires companies to account for an investee’s issuance of shares as if the equity method investor had
sold a proportionate share of its investment, and requires
that an equity method investor continue to apply the guidance in paragraph 19(l) of Opinion 18 upon a change in
the investor’s accounting from the equity method to the
cost method. EITF 08-6 is effective prospectively for ﬁscal
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and interim
periods within those ﬁscal years. PG&E Corporation and the
Utility are currently evaluating the impact of EITF 08-6.

TAX M AT T ERS
During the fourth quarter of 2008, PG&E Corporation
and the IRS ﬁnalized the settlement of the IRS’s audits of
PG&E Corporation’s consolidated tax returns for tax years
2001 through 2004. As a result of the settlement, PG&E
Corporation recognized after-tax income of approximately
$257 million, including interest, in the fourth quarter of
2008. Approximately $154 million of this amount related
to NEGT, PG&E Corporation’s former subsidiary, and
was recorded as income from discontinued operations.
Approximately $60 million of the $257 million in net
income relates to the Utility. PG&E Corporation expects
to receive a tax refund from the IRS of approximately
$310 million, plus interest, as a result of the settlement,
of which approximately $170 million will be allocated
to the Utility.
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Also, on January 30, 2009, PG&E Corporation reached
a tentative agreement with the IRS to resolve refund claims
related to the 1998 and 1999 tax years that, if approved by
the U.S. Congress’ Joint Committee on Taxation (“Joint
Committee”), would result in a cash refund of approximately
$200 million, plus interest, to be allocated completely to the
Utility. The Joint Committee’s decision is currently expected
in the second quarter of 2009, and if approved, PG&E
Corporation expects to receive the refund by 2009 year end.
See Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for discussion of tax matters.

L EGAL M AT T ERS
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are subject to various
laws and regulations and, in the normal course of business,
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are named as parties in
a number of claims and lawsuits. See Note 17 of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion
of the accrued liability for legal matters.

RIS K FAC T O RS
RISKS REL ATED TO PG&E CORPORATION

E N V I R O NMENTAL M AT T E RS
The Utility’s operations are subject to extensive federal,
state, and local environmental laws and permits. (See
“Risk Factors” below.) The Utility may be required to pay
for environmental remediation at sites where it has been, or
may be, a potentially responsible party under environmental
laws. Under federal and California laws, the Utility may
be responsible for remediation of hazardous substances at
former manufactured gas plant sites, power plant sites, and
sites used by the Utility for the storage, recycling, or disposal of potentially hazardous materials, even if the Utility
did not deposit those substances on the site. See “Critical
Accounting Policies” above and Note 17 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of
estimated environmental remediation liabilities.
In addition, there is continuing uncertainty about
the status of state and federal regulations issued under
Section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act, which require that
cooling water intake structures at electric power plants,
such as the nuclear generation facilities at Diablo Canyon,
reﬂect the best technology available to minimize adverse
environmental impacts. Depending on the form of the ﬁnal
federal or state regulations that may ultimately be adopted,
the Utility may incur signiﬁcant capital expense to comply
with the ﬁnal regulations, which the Utility would seek
to recover through rates. If either the ﬁnal federal or state
regulations require the installation of cooling towers at
Diablo Canyon, and if installation of such cooling towers
is not technically or economically feasible, the Utility may
be forced to cease operations at Diablo Canyon and may
incur a material charge. See Note 17 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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As a holding company, PG&E Corporation depends on cash
distributions and reimbursements from the Utility to meet
its debt service and other financial obligations and to pay
dividends on its common stock.

PG&E Corporation is a holding company with no revenue
generating operations of its own. PG&E Corporation’s
ability to pay interest on its $280 million of convertible
subordinated notes, and to pay dividends on its common
stock, as well as satisfy its other ﬁnancial obligations,
primarily depends on the earnings and cash ﬂows of the
Utility and the ability of the Utility to distribute cash to
PG&E Corporation (in the form of dividends and share
repurchases) and reimburse PG&E Corporation for the
Utility’s share of applicable expenses. Before it can distribute
cash to PG&E Corporation, the Utility must use its resources
to satisfy its own obligations, including its obligations to
serve customers, to pay principal and interest on outstanding
debt, to pay preferred stock dividends, and to meet its obligations to employees and creditors. If the Utility is not able
to make distributions to PG&E Corporation or to reimburse
PG&E Corporation, PG&E Corporation’s ability to meet
its own obligations could be impaired, and its ability to
pay dividends could be restricted.
PG&E Corporation could be required to contribute capital to
the Utility or be denied distributions from the Utility to the
extent required by the CPUC’s determination of the Utility’s
financial condition.

The CPUC imposed certain conditions when it approved
the original formation of a holding company for the Utility,
including an obligation by PG&E Corporation’s Board of
Directors to give “ﬁrst priority” to the capital requirements
of the Utility, as determined to be necessary and prudent
to meet the Utility’s obligation to serve or to operate the
Utility in a prudent and efﬁcient manner. The CPUC later
issued decisions adopting an expansive interpretation of
PG&E Corporation’s obligations under this condition,
including the requirement that PG&E Corporation “infuse
the Utility with all types of capital necessary for the Utility
to fulﬁll its obligation to serve.” The CPUC’s interpretation
of PG&E Corporation’s obligation under the ﬁrst priority

condition could require PG&E Corporation to infuse the
Utility with signiﬁcant capital in the future, or could prevent
distributions from the Utility to PG&E Corporation, either
of which could materially restrict PG&E Corporation’s ability to pay or increase its common stock dividend, meet other
obligations, or execute its business strategy.
Adverse resolution of pending litigation against PG&E
Corporation involving PG&E Corporation’s alleged violation
of the CPUC’s so-called “first priority condition” holding
company conditions could have a material adverse effect on
PG&E Corporation’s financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows.

In 2002, the California Attorney General and the City and
County of San Francisco ﬁled complaints against PG&E
Corporation alleging that PG&E Corporation failed to provide adequate ﬁnancial support to the Utility in 2000 and
2001 during the California energy crisis, and wrongfully
transferred funds from the Utility to PG&E Corporation
during the period 1997 through 2000 (primarily in the
form of dividends and stock repurchases), and from PG&E
Corporation to other afﬁliates of PG&E Corporation, in
violation of the ﬁrst priority and other holding company
conditions. The complaints claim these alleged violations
constituted unfair or fraudulent business acts or practices
in violation of Section 17200 of the California Business
and Professions Code. The plaintiffs seek restitution of
amounts alleged to have been wrongly transferred, estimated
by plaintiffs to be approximately $5 billion, civil penalties
of $2,500 against each defendant for each violation of
Section 17200, a total penalty of not less than $500 million,
and costs of suit, among other remedies. Adverse resolution
of this pending litigation could have a material adverse
effect on PG&E Corporation’s ﬁnancial condition, results
of operations, and cash ﬂows.
RISKS REL ATED TO PG&E
CORPORATION AND THE UTILITY
It is uncertain whether PG&E Corporation or the Utility will
be able to successfully access the capital markets or finance
planned capital expenditures on favorable terms or rates.

The Utility’s ability to fund its operations, pay principal
and interest on its debt, fund capital expenditures, and
provide collateral to support its natural gas and electricity
procurement hedging contracts depends on the levels of its
operating cash ﬂow and access to the capital markets, in
particular its ability to sell commercial paper and long-term
unsecured debt. In addition, PG&E Corporation’s ability to
make planned investments in natural gas pipeline projects
depends on the ability of the Utility to pay dividends to
PG&E Corporation and PG&E Corporation’s independent
access to the capital markets. PG&E Corporation may also
be required to access the capital markets when the Utility

is successful in selling long-term debt, so that it may make
the equity contributions required to maintain the Utility’s
applicable equity ratio.
If the Utility were unable to access the capital markets,
it could be required to decrease or suspend dividends to
PG&E Corporation. PG&E Corporation also would need
to consider its alternatives, such as contributing capital to
the Utility, to enable the Utility to fulﬁll its obligation to
serve. If PG&E Corporation is required to contribute equity
to the Utility, it would be required to secure these funds
from the capital markets.
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ability to access
the capital markets and the costs and terms of available
ﬁnancing depend on many factors, including changes in
their credit ratings, changes in the federal or state regulatory
environment affecting energy companies, the overall health
of the energy industry, volatility in electricity or natural gas
prices, and general economic and market conditions.
The capital and credit markets have been experiencing
extreme volatility and disruption for more than 12 months.
The recent ﬁnancial distress experienced at major ﬁnancial
institutions has caused signiﬁcant disruption in the capital
markets, particularly in the commercial paper markets where
short-term interest rates have increased signiﬁcantly, available
maturities have shortened, and access has generally contracted.
Although the U.S. government has enacted legislation and
created programs to help stabilize credit markets and ﬁnancial
institutions and restore liquidity, it is uncertain whether these
programs individually or collectively will have beneﬁcial
effects in the credit markets or will reduce volatility or
uncertainty in the ﬁnancial markets.
The volume of utility bond issuances has decreased
as a result of greater difﬁculty in issuing such bonds and
the increase in the interest rate spread over Treasury bills
for all such bonds. It may be more difﬁcult or undesirable
to issue new long-term debt. To the extent such conditions
persist, the more signiﬁcant the implications become for the
Utility, including the potential that adequate capital is not
available to fund the Utility’s operations and planned capital
expenditures. If the Utility is unable, in part or in whole, to
fund its operations and planned capital expenditures, there
could be a material adverse effect on PG&E Corporation’s
and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations,
and cash ﬂows.
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Market performance or changes in other assumptions
could require PG&E Corporation and the Utility to make
significant unplanned contributions to their pension and
other postretirement benefits plans, and could require
the Utility to make significant unplanned contributions
to its nuclear decommissioning trusts.

PG&E Corporation and the Utility provide deﬁned beneﬁt
pension plans and other postretirement beneﬁts for certain
employees and retirees. The Utility also maintains three
trusts for the purposes of providing funds to decommission
its nuclear facilities. Up to approximately 60% of the plan
assets and trust assets have generally been invested in equity
securities, which are subject to market ﬂuctuation. A decline
in the market value may increase the funding requirements
for these plans and trusts.
The costs of providing pension and other postretirement
beneﬁts are also affected by other factors, including the
assumed rate of return on plan assets, employee demographics, discount rates used in determining future beneﬁt
obligations, rates of increase in health care costs, levels of
assumed interest rates, future government regulation, and
prior contributions to the plans. Similarly, funding requirements for the nuclear decommissioning trusts are affected
by changes in the laws or regulations regarding nuclear
decommissioning or decommissioning funding requirements,
changes in assumptions as to decommissioning dates, technology and costs of labor, materials and equipment change,
and assumed rate of return on plan assets. For example,
changes in interest rates affect the liabilities under the plans;
as interest rates decrease, the liabilities increase, potentially
increasing the funding requirements.
Primarily as a result of the 2008 performance of the
equities market, at December 31, 2008, the funding status
of the plans and nuclear decommissioning trusts are in
an underfunded status. If the Utility is required to make
signiﬁcant unplanned contributions to fund the pension
and postretirement plans and nuclear decommissioning trusts and is unable to recover such contributions
in rates, the contributions would negatively affect PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results
of operations, and cash ﬂows.
Other Utility obligations, such as its workers’ compensation obligations, are not separately earmarked for recovery
through rates. Therefore, increases in the Utility’s workers’
compensation liabilities and other unfunded liabilities caused
by a decrease in the applicable discount rate negatively
impact net income.
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The Utility’s revenues, operating results, and financial
condition may fluctuate with the economy and the economy’s
corresponding impact on the Utility’s customers.

The Utility is impacted by the economic cycle of the
customers it serves. The declining economy in the Utility’s
service territory and the declines in the values of residential
real estate have resulted in lower customer demand and
lower customer growth at the Utility, and an increase in
unpaid customer accounts receivable. Increasing unemployment could further reduce demand as residential customers
voluntarily reduce their consumption of electricity in
response to decreases in their disposable income. A sustained
downturn or sluggishness in the economy is further reﬂected
in the Utility’s sales to industrial and commercial customers. Although the Utility generally recovers its costs through
rates, regardless of sales volume, rate pressures increase when
the costs are borne by a smaller customer base, increasing the
potential that costs would be disallowed by regulators.
The completion of capital investment projects is subject
to substantial risks, and the rate at which the Utility invests
and recovers capital will directly affect net income.

The Utility’s ability to develop new generation facilities
and to invest in its electric and gas systems is subject to
many risks, including risks related to securing adequate
and reasonably priced ﬁnancing, obtaining and complying
with the terms of permits, meeting construction budgets
and schedules, and satisfying operating and environmental
performance standards. Third-party contractors on which
the Utility depends to develop these projects also face many
of these risks, although their actions and responsiveness in
the event of negative developments may be less within, and
in fact beyond, the Utility’s control. Changes in tax laws or
policies, such as those relating to production and investment
tax credits for renewable energy projects, may also affect when
or whether the Utility develops a potential project. In addition, reduced forecasted demand for electricity and natural
gas as a result of the slowing economy may also increase
the risk that projects are deferred, abandoned, or cancelled.
In addition, the Utility may incur costs that it will not be
permitted to recover from customers. The Utility’s amount
and timing of capital expenditures can be affected by changes
in the economy that impact customer demand and the rate
of new customer connections. If capital spending in a particular time period is greater than assumed when rates were
set, earnings could be negatively affected by an increase in
depreciation, taxes, and ﬁnancing interest, and the absence
of authorized revenue requirements to recover a return on
equity on the amount of capital expenses that exceed assumed
amounts. If capital spending in a particular time period is
lower than assumed when rates were set, the Utility’s rate base
would be lower, depriving the Utility of the opportunity to
earn a return on equity on the delayed expenditures.

PG&E Corporation’s investment in new natural gas pipelines projects is subject to similar risks and, in the case of
the proposed Paciﬁc Connector, is subject to third parties
developing a proposed liqueﬁed natural gas storage terminal.
In addition, pipeline project development is conditioned on
obtaining certain levels of capacity commitments from
shippers. Many of these conditions must be satisﬁed by
PG&E Corporation’s investment partners.
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s financial statements
reflect various estimates, assumptions, and values, and
changes to these estimates, assumptions, and values, as
well as the application of and changes in accounting rules,
standards, policies, guidance, or interpretations, could
materially affect PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s
financial condition or results of operations.

The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingencies. (See the discussion
under Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the section entitled “Critical Accounting
Policies” in the MD&A.) If the information on which the
estimates and assumptions are based proves to be incorrect
or incomplete, if future events do not occur as anticipated,
or if applicable accounting guidance, policies, or interpretation change, management’s estimates and assumptions will
change as appropriate. A change in management’s estimates
or assumptions, or the recognition of actual losses that differ
from the amount of estimated losses, could have a material
impact on PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial
condition and results of operations. For example, if management can no longer assume that potentially responsible
parties will pay a material share of the costs of environmental remediation, or if PG&E Corporation or the Utility incur
losses in connection with environmental remediation; litigation; or other legal, administrative, or regulatory proceedings
that materially exceed the provision it estimated for these
liabilities, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations, and cash ﬂows would be
materially adversely affected.
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s financial condition
depends upon the Utility’s ability to recover its costs in
a timely manner from the Utility’s customers through
regulated rates and otherwise execute its business strategy.

The Utility is a regulated entity subject to CPUC and
FERC jurisdiction in almost all aspects of its business,
including the rates, terms, and conditions of its services,
procurement of electricity and natural gas for its customers,
issuance of securities, dispositions of utility assets and
facilities, and aspects of the siting and operation of its

electricity and natural gas operating assets. Executing the
Utility’s business strategy depends on periodic regulatory
approvals related to these and other matters.
The Utility’s ﬁnancial condition particularly depends
on its ability to recover in rates, in a timely manner, the
costs of electricity and natural gas purchased for its customers, its operating expenses, and an adequate return of
and on the capital invested in its utility assets, including
the costs of long-term debt and equity issued to ﬁnance their
acquisition. Unanticipated changes in operating expenses or
capital expenditures can cause material differences between
forecasted costs used to determine rates and actual costs
incurred, which, in turn, affect the Utility’s ability to earn its
authorized rate of return. The Utility’s revenue requirements
for its basic electric and natural gas distribution operations
and its electric generation operations have been set by the
CPUC through 2010. The Utility has been implementing
various measures to improve operating efﬁciency and achieve
sustainable cost savings to offset increases in labor costs, to
improve the safety and reliability of the electric and natural
gas systems, to expand and maintain the electric and natural gas systems, technology infrastructure and support, and
other increases in operating and maintenance costs. Since
the Utility’s next GRC will not be effective until January 1,
2011, the Utility plans to continue its cost-savings efforts.
If the Utility is unable to identify, implement, and sustain
new cost-saving initiatives, PG&E Corporation’s and the
Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and cash
ﬂows would be adversely affected.
The CPUC also has authorized the Utility to collect
rates to recover the costs of various public policy programs
that provide customer incentives and subsidies for energy
efﬁciency programs and for the development and use of
renewable and self-generation technologies. In addition, the
CPUC has authorized ratemaking mechanisms that permit
the utilities to earn incentives (or incur a reimbursement
obligation) depending on the extent to which the utilities
meet the CPUC’s energy savings and demand reduction
goals over three-year program cycles. There is considerable
uncertainty about how the costs and the savings attributable to these energy efﬁciency programs will be measured
and veriﬁed. As customer rates rise to reﬂect these subsidies,
customer incentives, or shareholder incentives, the risk may
increase that the CPUC or another state authority will disallow recovery of some of the Utility’s costs based on a determination that the costs were not reasonably incurred, or for
some other reason, resulting in stranded investment capital.
In addition, changes in laws and regulations or changes
in the political and regulatory environment may have an
adverse effect on the Utility’s ability to timely recover its
costs and earn its authorized rate of return. During the
2000-2001 energy crisis that followed the implementation
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of California’s electric industry restructuring, the Utility
could not recover in rates the high prices it had to pay
for wholesale electricity, which ultimately caused the Utility
to ﬁle a petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Even though the Chapter 11
Settlement Agreement and current regulatory mechanisms
contemplate that the CPUC will give the Utility the opportunity to recover its reasonable and prudent future costs of
electricity and natural gas in its rates, the CPUC may not
ﬁnd that all of the Utility’s costs are reasonable and prudent,
or the CPUC may take actions or fail to take actions that
would be to the Utility’s detriment. In addition, the bankruptcy court having jurisdiction of the Chapter 11 Settlement
Agreement or other courts may fail to implement or enforce
the terms of the Chapter 11 Settlement Agreement and the
Utility’s plan of reorganization in a manner that would
produce the economic results that PG&E Corporation and
the Utility intend or anticipate.
The Utility’s failure to recover any material amount of
its costs through its rates in a timely manner would have
a material adverse effect on PG&E Corporation’s and the
Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and
cash ﬂows.
The Utility faces uncertainties associated with the future
level of bundled electric load for which it must procure
electricity and secure generating capacity and, under certain
circumstances, may not be able to recover all of its costs.

The Utility must procure electricity to meet customer
demand, plus applicable reserve margins, not satisﬁed from
the Utility’s own generation facilities and existing electricity
contracts. When customer demand exceeds the amount
of electricity that can be economically produced from the
Utility’s own generation facilities plus net energy purchase
contracts (including DWR contracts allocated to the Utility’s
customers), the Utility will be in a “short” position. When
the Utility’s supply of electricity from its own generation
resources plus net energy purchase contracts exceeds customer demand, the Utility is in a “long” position.
The amount of electricity the Utility needs to meet the
demands of customers that is not satisﬁed from the Utility’s
own generation facilities, existing purchase contracts, or
DWR contracts allocated to the Utility’s customers could
increase or decrease due to a variety of factors, including,
without limitation, a change in the number of the Utility’s
customers; periodic expirations or terminations of existing
electricity purchase contracts, including DWR contracts;
execution of new energy and capacity purchase contracts;
ﬂuctuation in the output of hydroelectric and other renewable power facilities owned or under contract by the Utility;
implementation of new energy efﬁciency and demand
response programs; the reallocation of the DWR power
purchase contracts among California investor-owned electric
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utilities; and the acquisition, retirement, or closure of generation facilities. The amount of electricity the Utility would
need to purchase would immediately increase if there was
an unexpected outage at Diablo Canyon or any of its other
signiﬁcant generation facilities, if the Utility had to shut
down Diablo Canyon for any reason, or if any of the counterparties to the Utility’s electricity purchase contracts or the
DWR-allocated contracts did not perform due to bankruptcy
or for some other reason. In addition, as the electricity
supplier of last resort, the amount of electricity the Utility
would need to purchase also would immediately increase
if a material number of customers who purchase electricity
from alternate energy providers (referred to as “direct access”
customers) or customers of community choice aggregators
(see below) decided to return to receiving bundled services
from the Utility.
If the Utility’s short position unexpectedly increases, the
Utility would need to purchase electricity in the wholesale
market under contracts priced at the time of execution or, if
made in the spot market, at the then-current market price of
wholesale electricity. The inability of the Utility to purchase
electricity in the wholesale market at prices or on terms the
CPUC ﬁnds reasonable or in quantities sufﬁcient to satisfy
the Utility’s short position could have a material adverse
effect on the ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, or
cash ﬂows of the Utility and PG&E Corporation.
Alternatively, the Utility would be in a long position
if the number of Utility customers declined because of a
general economic downturn in the Utility service territory,
the restoration of customer direct access after the DWR’s
liability for its electricity purchase contracts has ended,
municipalization, or the formation and operation of community choice aggregators. California law permits California
cities and counties to purchase and sell electricity for all
their residents who do not afﬁrmatively elect to continue
to receive electricity from the Utility, once the city or county
has registered as a community choice aggregator while the
Utility continues to provide distribution, metering, and
billing services to the community choice aggregators’ customers and serves as the electricity provider of last resort
for all customers.
In addition, the Utility could lose customers, or experience lesser demand, because of increased self-generation.
The risk of loss of customers and decreased demand through
self-generation is increasing as the CPUC has approved
various programs to provide self-generation incentives and
subsidies to customers to encourage development and use
of renewable and distributed generating technologies, such
as solar technology. The number of the Utility’s customers
also could decline due to stricter greenhouse gas regulations
or other state regulations that cause customers to leave the
Utility’s service territory.

If the Utility were in a long position, the Utility would
be required to sell the excess electricity purchased from third
parties under electricity purchase contracts, possibly at a loss.
In addition, excess electricity generated by the Utility’s own
generation facilities may also have to be sold, possibly at
a loss, and costs the Utility may have incurred to develop
or acquire new generation resources may become stranded.
If the CPUC fails to adjust the Utility’s rates to reﬂect
the impact of changing loads, PG&E Corporation’s and the
Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and cash
ﬂows could be materially adversely affected.
The Utility faces significant uncertainty in connection with
the implementation of the CAISO’s Market Redesign and
Technology Upgrade program to restructure California’s
wholesale electricity market and the potential restructuring
of the CPUC’s resource adequacy program.

In response to the electricity market manipulation that
occurred during the 2000-2001 energy crisis and the underlying need for improved congestion management, the
CAISO has undertaken an initiative called Market Redesign
and Technology Upgrade, referred to as MRTU, to implement a new day-ahead wholesale electricity market and to
improve electricity grid management reliability, operational
efﬁciencies, and related technology infrastructure. MRTU
will add signiﬁcant market complexity and will require major
changes to the Utility’s systems and software interfacing with
the CAISO. MRTU is scheduled to become effective in 2009.
Although the CPUC has authorized the Utility to record
its related incremental capital costs and expenses, the Utility’s
ability to recover these recorded amounts from customers
will be subject to a future CPUC proceeding where the
reasonableness of amounts recorded will be reviewed.
Among other features, the MRTU initiative provides
that electric transmission congestion costs and credits will
be determined between any two locations and charged to the
market participants, including load serving entities (“LSEs”)
like the Utility, that take energy that passes between those
locations. The CAISO also will provide CRRs to allow
market participants, including LSEs, to hedge the ﬁnancial
risk of CAISO-imposed congestion charges in the MRTU
day-ahead market. The CAISO will release CRRs through an
annual and monthly process, each of which includes both
an allocation phase (in which LSEs receive CRRs at no cost)
and an auction phase (priced at market, and available to all
market participants). The Utility has been allocated and has
acquired via auction certain CRRs as of December 31, 2008,
and anticipates acquiring additional CRRs through the
allocation and auction phases prior to the MRTU effective
date to be used when MRTU commences.

If the Utility incurs signiﬁcant costs to implement MRTU,
including the costs associated with CRRs, that are not timely
recovered from customers; if the new market mechanisms
created by MRTU result in any price/market ﬂaws that
are not promptly and effectively corrected by the market
mechanisms, the CAISO, or the FERC; if the Utility’s CRRs
are not sufﬁcient to hedge the ﬁnancial risk associated with
its CAISO-imposed congestion costs under MRTU; if either
the CAISO’s or the Utility’s MRTU-related systems and
software do not perform as intended or if the CPUC adopts
comprehensive changes to its resource adequacy program that
materially affect the Utility’s obligations under that program,
the current cost of capacity, or the means by which the
Utility procures that capacity, PG&E Corporation’s and
the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations,
and cash ﬂows could be materially adversely affected.
The Utility may fail to realize the benefits of its advanced
metering system, the advanced metering system may fail to
perform as intended, or the Utility may incur unrecoverable
costs to deploy the advanced metering system and associated
dynamic pricing, resulting in higher costs and/or reduced
cost savings.

During 2006, the Utility began to implement the SmartMeter™
advanced metering infrastructure project for residential and
small commercial customers. This project, which is expected
to be completed by the end of 2011, involves the installation
of approximately 10 million advanced electricity and gas
meters throughout the Utility’s service territory. Advanced
meters will allow customer usage data to be transmitted
through a communication network to a central collection
point, where the data will be stored and used for billing
and other commercial purposes.
The CPUC authorized the Utility to recover $1.74 billion
in estimated project costs, including an estimated capital cost
of $1.4 billion and approximately $54.8 million for costs
related to marketing a new demand response rate based on
critical peak pricing. If additional costs exceed $100 million,
the additional costs will be subject to the CPUC’s reasonableness review. On December 12, 2007, and supplemented
on May 14, 2008, the Utility ﬁled an application with the
CPUC requesting approval to upgrade elements of the
SmartMeter™ program at an estimated cost of approximately
$572 million, including approximately $463 million of
capital expenditures to be recovered through electric rates
beginning in 2009.
The CPUC also has ordered the Utility to implement
“dynamic pricing” for its electricity customers to encourage efﬁcient energy consumption and cost-effective demand
response by more closely aligning retail rates with the wholesale market. The Utility is required to have advanced metering and billing systems in place for larger customers by May
2010 to support default rates that are based on critical peak
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prices and time of use. The Utility is also required to start
implementing default rates based on critical peak prices and
time of use for small and medium non-residential customers
by February 2011. The Utility estimates it will incur approximately $155 million (including estimated capital costs of
approximately $107 million) in incremental costs by the end
of 2010 to implement dynamic pricing to meet the CPUC’s
required schedule.
If the Utility fails to recognize the expected beneﬁts of
its advanced metering infrastructure, if the Utility incurs
additional advanced metering costs that the CPUC does not
ﬁnd reasonable or are unrecoverable, if the Utility incurs
costs to implement dynamic pricing that are not recoverable,
or if the Utility cannot integrate the new advanced metering
system with its billing and other computer information
systems, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations, and cash ﬂows could be
materially adversely affected.
If the Utility cannot timely meet the applicable resource
adequacy or renewable energy requirements, the Utility
may be subject to penalties.

The Utility must achieve electricity planning reserve margin
of 15% to 17% in excess of peak capacity electricity requirements. The CPUC can impose a penalty if the Utility fails
to acquire sufﬁcient capacity to meet these resource adequacy
requirements for a particular year. The penalty for failure
to procure sufﬁcient system resource adequacy capacity
(i.e., resources that are deliverable anywhere in the CAISOcontrolled electricity grid) is equal to three times the cost
of the new capacity the Utility should have secured. The
CPUC has set this penalty at $120 per kW-year. The CPUC
also adopted “local” resource adequacy requirements for
speciﬁc regions in which locally-situated electricity capacity
may be needed due to transmission constraints. The CPUC
set the penalty for failure to meet local resource adequacy
requirements at $40 per kW-year. In addition to penalties,
the CAISO can require LSEs that fail to meet their resource
adequacy requirements to pay the CAISO’s cost of buying
electricity capacity to fulﬁll the LSEs’ resource adequacy
target levels.
In addition, the RPS established under state law requires
the Utility to increase its purchases of renewable energy each
year, so that the amount of electricity delivered from eligible
renewable resources equals at least 20% of its total retail sales
by the end of 2010. The California Legislature is considering
proposals to increase the RPS mandate to at least 33% by
2020. The CPUC has established penalties of $50 per MWh,
up to $25 million per year, for an unexcused failure to
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comply with the current RPS requirements. The CPUC can
excuse noncompliance if a retail seller is able to demonstrate
good cause, such as insufﬁcient transmission capacity or the
failure of the renewable energy provider to timely develop
a renewable resource. Following several RFOs and bilateral
negotiations, the Utility entered into various agreements to
purchase renewable generation to be produced by facilities
proposed to be developed by third parties. The development
of these renewable generation facilities is subject to many
risks, including risks related to permitting, ﬁnancing, technology, fuel supply, environmental, and the construction
of sufﬁcient transmission capacity. The Utility has been
supporting the development of these renewable resources
by working with regulatory and governmental agencies
to ensure timely construction of transmission lines and
permitting of proposed project sites.
If the Utility fails to meet resource adequacy requirements, the Utility may be subject to penalties imposed by
the CPUC and the CAISO. In addition, if the Utility fails
to meet the RPS requirements, the Utility may be subject to
penalties imposed by the CPUC for an unexcused failure
to comply with the RPS requirements.
The Utility faces the risk of unrecoverable costs if its
customers obtain distribution and transportation services
from other providers as a result of municipalization,
technological change, or other forms of bypass.

The Utility’s customers could bypass its distribution and
transportation system by obtaining service from other sources.
This may result in stranded investment capital, loss of
customer growth, and additional barriers to cost recovery.
Forms of bypass of the Utility’s electricity distribution system
include construction of duplicate distribution facilities to
serve speciﬁc existing or new customers and condemnation
of the Utility’s distribution facilities by local governments or
municipal districts. Also, the Utility’s natural gas transportation facilities could risk being bypassed by interstate pipeline
companies that construct facilities in the Utility’s markets,
or by customers who build pipeline connections that bypass
the Utility’s natural gas transportation and distribution
system, or by customers who use and transport LNG.
As customers and local public ofﬁcials continue to
explore their energy options, these bypass risks may be
increasing and may increase further if the Utility’s rates
exceed the cost of other available alternatives.
If the number of the Utility’s customers declines due to
municipalization or other forms of bypass, and the Utility’s
rates are not adjusted in a timely manner to allow it to fully
recover its investment in electricity and natural gas facilities
and electricity procurement costs, PG&E Corporation’s and
the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and
cash ﬂows could be materially adversely affected.

Electricity and natural gas markets are highly volatile
and regulatory responsiveness to that volatility could be
insufficient. Changing commodity prices may increase
short-term cash requirements.

Commodity markets for electricity and natural gas are highly
volatile and subject to substantial price ﬂuctuations. A variety
of factors that are largely outside of the Utility’s control may
contribute to commodity price volatility, including:
• weather;

Economic downturn and the resulting drop in demand
for energy commodities has reduced the prices of electricity
and natural gas and required the Utility to deposit or return
collateral in connection with its commodity hedging contracts. To the extent such commodity prices remain volatile,
the Utility’s liquidity and ﬁnancing needs may ﬂuctuate due
to the collateral requirements associated with its commodity
hedging contracts. If the Utility is required to ﬁnance higher
liquidity levels, the increased interest costs may negatively
impact net income.

• supply and demand;
• the availability of competitively priced alternative energy

sources;
• the level of production of natural gas;
• the availability of nuclear fuel;
• the availability of LNG supplies;
• the price of fuels that are used to produce electricity,

including natural gas, crude oil, coal, and nuclear materials;
• the transparency, efﬁciency, integrity, and liquidity of

regional energy markets affecting California;
• electricity transmission or natural gas transportation

capacity constraints;
• federal, state, and local energy and environmental

regulation and legislation; and
• natural disasters, war, terrorism, and other catastrophic

events.
The Utility’s exposure to natural gas price volatility will
increase as the DWR electricity purchase contracts allocated
to the Utility begin to expire or as the DWR contracts are
terminated or assigned to the Utility. The ﬁnal DWR contract is scheduled to expire in 2015. Although the Utility
attempts to execute CPUC-approved hedging programs to
reduce the natural gas price risk, these hedging programs
may not be successful, or the costs of the Utility’s hedging
programs may not be fully recoverable.
Further, if wholesale electricity or natural gas prices
signiﬁcantly increase, public pressure, other regulatory
inﬂuences, governmental inﬂuences, or other factors could
constrain the CPUC from authorizing timely recovery of
the Utility’s costs from customers. If the Utility cannot
recover a material amount of its costs in its rates in a timely
manner, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations, and cash ﬂows would be
materially adversely affected.

The Utility’s financial condition and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected if it cannot successfully
manage the risks inherent in operating the Utility’s facilities.

The Utility owns and operates extensive electricity and natural gas facilities that are interconnected to the U.S. western
electricity grid and numerous interstate and continental
natural gas pipelines. The operation of the Utility’s facilities
and the facilities of third parties on which it relies involves
numerous risks, the realization of which can affect demand
for electricity or natural gas, result in unplanned outages,
reduce generating output, cause damage to the Utility’s assets
or operations or those of third parties on which it relies,
or subject the Utility to third-party claims or liability for
damage or injury. These risks include:
• operating limitations that may be imposed by environ-

mental laws or regulations, including those relating to
greenhouse gases, or other regulatory requirements;
• imposition of stricter operational performance standards by

agencies with regulatory oversight of the Utility’s facilities;
• environmental accidents, including the release of hazardous

or toxic substances into the air or water, urban wildﬁres,
and other events caused by operation of the Utility’s
facilities or equipment failure;
• fuel supply interruptions;
• equipment failure;
• failure of the Utility’s computer information systems,

including those relating to operations or ﬁnancial
information such as customer billing;
• labor disputes, workforce shortage, and availability of

qualiﬁed personnel;
• weather, storms, earthquakes, wild land and other ﬁres,

ﬂoods, or other natural disasters, war, pandemic, and other
catastrophic events;
• explosions, accidents, dam failure, mechanical breakdowns,

and terrorist activities; and
• other events or hazards.
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The Utility has undertaken a thorough review of its
operating practices and procedures used in its natural gas
system, including its gas leak survey practices. The Utility
has determined that improvements need to be made to
operating practices and procedures, including increasing
the accuracy of gas maintenance records and compliance
with operating procedures. In addition, the Utility intends
to accelerate the work associated with system-wide gas leak
surveys and targets completing this work in a little more
than a year. The Utility forecasts that it will spend up to
$100 million more in 2009 to perform the gas leak surveys
and associated remedial work on the accelerated schedule.
The CPUC’s Consumer Protection and Safety Division is
conducting an informal investigation of the Utility’s natural
gas distribution maintenance practices, and the Utility has
provided information about the Utility’s review and the
remedial steps the Utility has taken. PG&E Corporation’s
and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations,
and cash ﬂows would be materially adversely affected if the
Utility were to incur material costs or other material liabilities in connection with these operational issues that were not
recoverable through rates or otherwise offset by operating
efﬁciencies or other revenues.
In addition, the Utility’s insurance may not be sufﬁcient
or effective to provide recovery under all circumstances or
against all hazards or liabilities to which the Utility is or
may become subject. An uninsured loss could have a material adverse effect on PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s
ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and cash ﬂows.
Future insurance coverage may not be available at rates and
on terms as favorable as the rates and terms of the Utility’s
current insurance coverage.
The Utility may experience a labor shortage if it is unable to
attract and retain qualified personnel to replace employees
who retire or leave for other reasons or the Utility’s operations
may be affected by labor disruptions as a substantial number
of employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements
that are subject to renegotiation as their terms expire.

The Utility’s workforce is aging and many employees will
become eligible to retire within the next few years. Although
the Utility has undertaken efforts to recruit and train new
ﬁeld service personnel, the Utility may not be successful.
The Utility may be faced with a shortage of experienced
and qualiﬁed personnel that could negatively impact
the Utility’s operations as well as its ﬁnancial condition
and results of operations.
At December 31, 2008, there were 14,649 Utility employees
covered by collective bargaining agreements with three unions.
The terms of these agreements impact the Utility’s labor
costs. While these contracts are renegotiated, it is possible
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that labor disruptions could occur. In addition, it is possible
that some of the remaining non-represented Utility employees
will join one of these unions in the future.
The Utility’s future operations may be impacted by climate
change that may have a material impact on the Utility’s
financial condition and results of operations.

There is substantial uncertainty about the potential impacts
of climate change on the Utility’s electricity and natural
gas operations and whether climate change is responsible
for increased frequency and severity of hot weather, including potentially decreased hydroelectric generation resulting
from reduced runoff from snow pack and increased sea
level along the northern California coastal area. If climate
change reduces the Utility’s hydroelectric generation capacity,
there will be a need for additional generation capacity even
if there is no change in average load. The impact of events
caused by climate change could range widely, with highly
localized to worldwide effects, and under certain conditions
could result in a full or partial disruption of the ability
of the Utility or one or more entities on which it relies to
generate, transmit, transport, or distribute electricity or natural gas. Even the less extreme events could result in lower
revenues or increased expenses, or both; increased expenses
may not be fully recovered through rates or other means
in a timely manner or at all, and decreased revenues may
negatively impact otherwise anticipated rates of return.
The Utility’s operations are subject to extensive
environmental laws, and changes in, or liabilities under,
these laws could adversely affect its financial condition
and results of operations.

The Utility’s operations are subject to extensive federal, state,
and local environmental laws and permits. Complying with
these environmental laws has, in the past, required signiﬁcant
expenditures for environmental compliance, monitoring
and pollution control equipment, as well as for related fees
and permits. Compliance in the future may require signiﬁcant expenditures relating to reduction of greenhouse gases,
regulation of water intake or discharge at certain facilities,
and mitigation measures associated with electric and magnetic ﬁelds. Generally, the Utility has recovered the costs of
complying with environmental laws and regulation in the
Utility’s rates, subject to reasonableness review.
New California legislation imposes a state-wide limit on
the emission of greenhouse gases that must be achieved by
2020, and prohibits LSEs, including investor-owned utilities,
from entering into long-term ﬁnancial commitments for
generation resources unless the new generation resources
conform to a greenhouse gas emission performance standard.
The California Air Resources Board has proposed to implement a regional cap-and-trade program for greenhouse gas
emissions focusing on the electricity and large industrial

facility sectors beginning in 2012, and expanding to transportation and natural gas in 2015. Depending on how the
baseline for greenhouse gas emissions level is set and how
the cap-and-trade market system develops, the Utility could
incur signiﬁcant additional costs to ensure that it complies
with the new rules as a generation owner. In addition, the
price to procure electricity from other generation providers
will be affected by the costs of compliance with the new
rules. Although these costs are expected to be passed through
to customers, there can be no assurance that the CPUC will
permit full recovery of these costs, especially if costs increase
due to market manipulation.
In addition, the Utility already has signiﬁcant liabilities
(currently known, unknown, actual, and potential) related
to environmental contamination at current and former
Utility facilities, including natural gas compressor stations
and former manufactured gas plants, as well as at third-partyowned sites. The CPUC has established a special ratemaking
mechanism under which the Utility is authorized to recover
90% of environmental costs associated with the clean-up
of sites that contain hazardous substances (subject to some
exceptions) without a reasonableness review. There is no
guarantee that the CPUC will not discontinue or change
this ratemaking mechanism in the future.
The Utility’s environmental compliance and remediation
costs could increase, and the timing of its future capital
expenditures may accelerate, if standards become stricter, regulation increases, other potentially responsible parties cannot
or do not contribute to cleanup costs, conditions change, or
additional contamination is discovered. If the Utility must
pay materially more than the amount that it currently has
accrued on its Consolidated Balance Sheets to satisfy its environmental remediation obligations and cannot recover those
or other costs of complying with environmental laws in its
rates in a timely manner, or at all, PG&E Corporation’s and
the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and
cash ﬂows would be materially adversely affected.
The operation and decommissioning of the Utility’s nuclear
power plants expose it to potentially significant liabilities
and capital expenditures that it may not be able to recover
from its insurance or other source, adversely affecting its
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Operating and decommissioning the Utility’s nuclear power
plants expose it to potentially signiﬁcant liabilities and
capital expenditures, including not only the risk of death,
injury, and property damage from a nuclear accident, but
matters arising from the storage, handling, and disposal of
radioactive materials, including spent nuclear fuel; stringent
safety and security requirements; public and political opposition to nuclear power operations; and uncertainties related

to the regulatory, technological, and ﬁnancial aspects of
decommissioning nuclear plants when their licenses expire.
The Utility maintains insurance and decommissioning
trusts to reduce the Utility’s ﬁnancial exposure to these
risks. However, the costs or damages the Utility may incur
in connection with the operation and decommissioning
of nuclear power plants could exceed the amount of the
Utility’s insurance coverage and other amounts set aside for
these potential liabilities. In addition, as an operator of two
operating nuclear reactor units, the Utility may be required
under federal law to pay up to $235 million of liabilities
arising out of each nuclear incident occurring not only
at the Utility’s Diablo Canyon facility, but at any other
nuclear power plant in the United States.
The NRC has broad authority under federal law
to impose licensing and safety-related requirements upon
owners and operators of nuclear power plants. If they do
not comply, the NRC can impose ﬁnes or force a shutdown
of the nuclear plant, or both, depending upon the NRC’s
assessment of the severity of the situation. NRC safety and
security requirements have, in the past, necessitated substantial capital expenditures at Diablo Canyon and additional
signiﬁcant capital expenditures could be required in the
future. In addition, as required by NRC regulations, only
certain key management personnel and other designated
individuals may receive information from the NRC or
other government agency relating to Diablo Canyon that
is deemed to be classiﬁed by the governmental agency. In
connection with this requirement, the Board of Directors of
PG&E Corporation has adopted a resolution acknowledging
that neither PG&E Corporation nor any director or ofﬁcer
of PG&E Corporation will (1) have access to such classiﬁed
information or special nuclear material in the custody of
the Utility, or (2) participate in any decision or matter pertaining to the protection of classiﬁed information and/or
special nuclear material in the custody of the Utility. If one
or both units at Diablo Canyon were shut down pursuant to
an NRC order, or to comply with NRC licensing, safety, or
security requirements, or due to other safety, or operational
issues, the Utility’s operating and maintenance costs would
increase. Further, such events may cause the Utility to be
in a short position and the Utility would need to purchase
electricity from more expensive sources. In addition, the
Utility’s nuclear power operations are subject to the availability of adequate nuclear fuel supplies on terms that the
CPUC will ﬁnd reasonable.
The NRC operating licenses for Diablo Canyon require
sufﬁcient storage capacity for the radioactive spent fuel it
produces. Because the U.S. Department of Energy has failed
to develop a permanent national repository for the nation’s
spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste produced
by the nation’s nuclear electric generation facilities, the
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Utility has been storing spent nuclear fuel and high-level
radioactive waste resulting from its nuclear operations at
Diablo Canyon in on-site storage pools. The Utility also
obtained a permit to construct an on-site dry cask storage
facility to store spent fuel through at least 2024. An appeal
related to the NRC’s permit is pending. (See the discussion
above under “Regulatory Matters” and Note 13 of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) The construction
of the dry cask storage facility is complete and the initial
movement of spent nuclear fuel to dry cask storage will
begin in June 2009. If the Utility is unable to begin loading spent fuel by October 2010 for Unit 1 or May 2011 for
Unit 2 and the Utility is otherwise unable to increase its
on-site storage capacity, the Utility would have to curtail
or halt operations of the unit until such time as additional
safe storage for spent fuel is made available.
Furthermore, certain aspects of the Utility’s nuclear
operations are subject to other federal, state, and local
regulatory requirements that are overseen by other federal,
state, or local agencies. For example, as discussed above
under “Environmental Matters,” there is substantial
uncertainty concerning the ﬁnal form of federal and state
regulations to implement Section 316(b) of the Clean Water
Act. Depending on the nature of the ﬁnal regulations that
may ultimately be adopted by the EPA, the Water Board,
or the California Legislature, the Utility may incur signiﬁcant capital expense to comply with the ﬁnal regulations,
which the Utility would seek to recover through rates.
If either the federal or state ﬁnal regulations require the
installation of cooling towers at Diablo Canyon, and if
installation of such cooling towers is not technically or
economically feasible, the Utility may be forced to cease
operations at Diablo Canyon.
If the CPUC prohibits the Utility from recovering a
material amount of its capital expenditures, nuclear fuel
costs, operating and maintenance costs, or additional procurement costs due to a determination that the costs were
not reasonably or prudently incurred, PG&E Corporation’s
and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations,
and cash ﬂows would be materially adversely affected.
The Utility is subject to penalties for failure to comply with
federal, state, or local statutes and regulations. Changes in
the political and regulatory environment could cause federal
and state statutes, regulations, rules, and orders to become
more stringent and difficult to comply with, and required
permits, authorizations, and licenses may be more difficult
to obtain, increasing the Utility’s expenses or making it more
difficult for the Utility to execute its business strategy.

The Utility must comply in good faith with all applicable
statutes, regulations, rules, tariffs, and orders of the CPUC,
the FERC, the NRC, and other regulatory agencies relating

82

to the aspects of its electricity and natural gas utility
operations that fall within the jurisdictional authority of
such agencies. These include customer billing, customer
service, afﬁliate transactions, vegetation management, and
safety and inspection practices. The Utility is subject to ﬁnes
and penalties for failure to comply with applicable statutes,
regulations, rules, tariffs, and orders.
For example, under the Energy Policy Act of 2005,
the FERC can impose penalties (up to $1 million per
day per violation) for failure to comply with mandatory
electric reliability standards. In the fourth quarter of 2009,
the Utility will undergo its ﬁrst regularly-scheduled triennial
audit for compliance with these standards.
In addition, there is risk that these statutes, regulations,
rules, tariffs, and orders may become more stringent and
difﬁcult to comply with in the future, or that their interpretation and application may change over time and that
the Utility will be determined to have not complied with
such new interpretations. If this occurs, the Utility could be
exposed to increased costs to comply with the more stringent
requirements or new interpretations and to potential liability
for customer refunds, penalties, or other amounts. If it is
determined that the Utility did not comply with applicable
statutes, regulations, rules, tariffs, or orders, and the Utility
is ordered to pay a material amount in customer refunds,
penalties, or other amounts, PG&E Corporation’s and the
Utility’s ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, and cash
ﬂows would be materially adversely affected.
The Utility also must comply with the terms of
various permits, authorizations, and licenses. These permits,
authorizations, and licenses may be revoked or modiﬁed by
the agencies that granted them if facts develop that differ
signiﬁcantly from the facts assumed when they were issued.
In addition, discharge permits and other approvals and
licenses often have a term that is less than the expected life
of the associated facility. Licenses and permits may require
periodic renewal, which may result in additional requirements being imposed by the granting agency. In connection
with a license renewal, the FERC may impose new license
conditions that could, among other things, require increased
expenditures or result in reduced electricity output and/or
capacity at the facility.
If the Utility cannot obtain, renew, or comply with
necessary governmental permits, authorizations, or licenses,
or if the Utility cannot recover any increased costs of complying with additional license requirements or any other
associated costs in its rates in a timely manner, PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

CONSOLIDATE D STATEMENTS OF INCOME
PG&E Corporation
Year ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Operating Revenues
Electric
Natural gas
Total operating revenues
Operating Expenses
Cost of electricity
Cost of natural gas
Operating and maintenance
Depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning
Total operating expenses

2008

2007

2006

$10,738
3,890

$ 9,480
3,757

$ 8,752
3,787

14,628

13,237

12,539

4,425
2,090
4,201
1,651

3,437
2,035
3,881
1,770

2,922
2,097
3,703
1,709

12,367

11,123

10,431

Operating Income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net

2,261
94
(728)
(18)

2,114
164
(762)
29

2,108
188
(738)
(13)

Income Before Income Taxes
Income tax provision

1,609
425

1,545
539

1,545
554

Income From Continuing Operations
Discontinued Operations
NEGT income tax beneﬁt

1,184

1,006

991

154

—

—

$ 1,338

$ 1,006

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Basic

357

351

346

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted

358

353

349

Earnings Per Common Share from Continuing Operations, Basic

$ 3.23

$ 2.79

$ 2.78

Net Earnings Per Common Share, Basic

$ 3.64

$ 2.79

$ 2.78

Earnings Per Common Share from Continuing Operations, Diluted

$ 3.22

$ 2.78

$ 2.76

Net Earnings Per Common Share, Diluted

$ 3.63

$ 2.78

$ 2.76

Dividends Declared Per Common Share

$ 1.56

$ 1.44

$ 1.32

Net Income

$

991

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BAL ANCE SHEETS
PG&E Corporation
Balance at December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable:
Customers (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $76 million in 2008 and $58 million in 2007)
Accrued unbilled revenue
Regulatory balancing accounts
Inventories:
Gas stored underground and fuel oil
Materials and supplies
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

219
1,290

$

345
1,297

1,751
685
1,197

1,599
750
771

232
191
120
718

205
166
61
255

6,403

5,449

27,638
10,155
2,023
17

25,599
9,620
1,348
17

Total property, plant, and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

39,833
(13,572)

36,584
(12,928)

Net property, plant, and equipment

26,261

23,656

5,996
1,718
482

4,459
1,979
1,089

8,196

7,527

$ 40,860

$ 36,632

Total current assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Electric
Gas
Construction work in progress
Other

Other Noncurrent Assets
Regulatory assets
Nuclear decommissioning funds
Other
Total other noncurrent assets
TO TAL ASSETS

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATE D BAL ANCE SHEETS
PG&E Corporation
Balance at December 31,
(in millions, except share amounts)

2008

2007

L IABI LI TI ES A N D S HARE HOLD E RS ’ EQUI T Y

Current Liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Long-term debt, classiﬁed as current
Energy recovery bonds, classiﬁed as current
Accounts payable:
Trade creditors
Disputed claims and customer refunds
Regulatory balancing accounts
Other
Interest payable
Deferred income taxes
Other
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt
Energy recovery bonds
Regulatory liabilities
Pension and other postretirement beneﬁts
Asset retirement obligations
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes
Deferred tax credits
Other
Total noncurrent liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Preferred Stock of Subsidiaries
Preferred Stock
Preferred stock, no par value, authorized 80,000,000 shares, $100 par value,
authorized 5,000,000 shares, none issued
Common Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, no par value, authorized 800,000,000 shares, issued 361,059,116 common
and 1,287,569 restricted shares in 2008 and issued 378,385,151 common and
1,261,125 restricted shares in 2007
Common stock held by subsidiary, at cost, 24,665,500 shares in 2007
Reinvested earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total common shareholders’ equity
TO TAL LI ABI LI TI E S AND S HAREHOLD E RS ’ EQUI TY

$

287
600
370

$

519
—
354

1,096
1,580
730
343
802
251
1,567

1,067
1,629
673
394
697
—
1,374

7,626

6,707

9,321
1,213
3,657
2,088
1,684
35
3,397
94
2,116

8,171
1,582
4,448
—
1,579
234
3,053
99
1,954

23,605

21,120

252

252

—

—

5,984
—
3,614
(221)

6,110
(718)
3,151
10

9,377

8,553

$ 40,860

$ 36,632

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
PG&E Corporation
Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

2006

$ 1,338

$ 1,006

$ 991

1,863
(70)
(1)
590
(126)

1,959
(64)
(1)
55
192

1,803
(47)
(11)
(285)
151

(87)
(59)
(140)
(59)
(394)
(221)
120
(5)

(6)
(41)
(178)
56
(567)
172
8
(45)

130
32
17
124
329
(273)
(233)
(14)

2,749

2,546

2,714

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Net proceeds from sale of assets
Decrease in restricted cash
Proceeds from nuclear decommissioning trust sales
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust investments
Other

(3,628)
26
36
1,635
(1,684)
(37)

(2,769)
21
185
830
(933)
—

(2,402)
17
115
1,087
(1,244)
—

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,652)

(2,666)

(2,427)

533
(783)

850
(900)

350
(310)

(209)

458

1,184
—
(290)
(340)
175
—
(496)
35

—
—
(290)
(316)
131
(114)
(456)
3

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning
Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Gain on sale of assets
Deferred income taxes and tax credits, net
Other changes in noncurrent assets and liabilities
Effect of changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accounts payable
Income taxes receivable/payable
Regulatory balancing accounts, net
Other current assets
Other current liabilities
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Borrowings under accounts receivable facility and revolving credit facility
Repayments under accounts receivable facility and revolving credit facility
Net issuance (repayments) of commercial paper, net of discount of $11 million in 2008,
$1 million in 2007, and $2 million in 2006
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount, premium, and issuance costs
of $19 million in 2008 and $16 million in 2007
Long-term debt repurchased
Rate reduction bonds matured
Energy recovery bonds matured
Common stock issued
Common stock repurchased
Common stock dividends paid
Other

6
2,185
(454)
—
(354)
225
—
(546)
(35)

Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancing activities

777

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31
Supplemental disclosures of cash ﬂow information
Cash paid (received) for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized)
Income taxes, net
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and ﬁnancing activities
Common stock dividends declared but not yet paid
Capital expenditures ﬁnanced through accounts payable
Stock issued in lieu of dividend
Assumption of capital lease obligation
Transfer of Gateway Generating Station asset

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(126)
345

9

(544)

(111)
456

(257)
713

$

219

$ 345

$ 456

$

523
(112)

$ 514
537

$ 503
736

$

143
348
20
—
—

$ 129
279
5
—
—

$ 117
215
—
408
69

CONSOLIDATE D STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
PG&E Corporation

(in millions, except share amounts)
Balance at December 31, 2005
Net income

Accumulated
Total
Common
Other Common
Common Common
Stock
Comprehensive
Share- CompreStock
Stock
Held by
Unearned Reinvested
Income
holders’ hensive
Shares Amount Subsidiary Compensation Earnings
(Loss)
Equity Income
368,268,502
—

$5,827
—

$(718)
—

$(22)
—

$2,139
991

$ (8)
—

$7,218
991

5,399,707

110

—

—

—

—

110

—
51,890

(114)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(114)
—

—
566,255
(105,295)
—
—

(22)
21
(1)
20
—

—
—
—
—
—

22
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
(342)

—
—
—
—
—

—
21
(1)
20
(342)

—
—

—
35

—
—

—
—

(117)
—

—
—

(117)
35

—
—

—
1

—
—

—
—

—
—

(11)
—

(11)
1

374,181,059
—

5,877
—

—
—

2,671
1,006

(19)
—

7,811
1,006

$ 1,006

—

—

—

—

29

29

Comprehensive income
Common stock issued
Accelerated share repurchase settlement
of stock repurchased in 2005
Common stock warrants exercised
Common restricted stock, unearned
compensation reversed in accordance
with SFAS No. 123R
Common restricted stock issued
Common restricted stock cancelled
Common restricted stock amortization
Common stock dividends declared and paid
Common stock dividends declared but
not yet paid
Tax beneﬁt from employee stock plans
Adoption of SFAS No. 158 (net of
income tax beneﬁt of $8 million)
Other
Balance at December 31, 2006
Net income
Employee beneﬁt plan adjustment in
accordance with SFAS No. 158 (net of
income tax expense of $17 million)

$ 991

(718)
—

—

29

Comprehensive income
Common stock issued, net
Stock-based compensation amortization
Common stock dividends declared and paid
Common stock dividends declared but
not yet paid
Tax beneﬁt from employee stock plans
Adoption of FIN 48
Balance at December 31, 2007
Net income
Employee beneﬁt plan adjustment in
accordance with SFAS No. 158 (net of
income tax beneﬁt of $156 million)

$ 991

$1,035
5,465,217
—
—

175
31
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
(379)

—
—
—

175
31
(379)

—
—
—

—
27
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(129)
—
(18)

—
—
—

(129)
27
(18)

379,646,276
—

6,110
—

—
—

3,151
1,338

10
—

8,553
1,338

(231)

(231)

(718)
—

Comprehensive income

$ 1,338

(231)
$1,107

Common stock issued, net
Common stock cancelled
Stock-based compensation amortization
Common stock dividends declared and paid
Common stock dividends declared but
not yet paid
Tax beneﬁt from employee stock plans

7,365,909
(24,665,500)
—
—

247
(403)
24
—

—
718
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(315)
—
(417)

—
—
—
—

247
—
24
(417)

—
—

—
6

—
—

—
—

(143)
—

—
—

(143)
6

Balance at December 31, 2008

362,346,685

$5,984

—

$ —

$3,614

$

$(221)

$9,377

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company
Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

Operating Revenues
Electric
Natural gas
Total operating revenues
Operating Expenses
Cost of electricity
Cost of natural gas
Operating and maintenance
Depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning
Total operating expenses

2008

2007

2006

$10,738
3,890

$ 9,481
3,757

$ 8,752
3,787

14,628

13,238

12,539

4,425
2,090
4,197
1,650

3,437
2,035
3,872
1,769

2,922
2,097
3,697
1,708

12,362

11,113

10,424

Operating Income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net

2,266
91
(698)
28

2,125
150
(732)
52

2,115
175
(710)
7

Income Before Income Taxes
Income tax provision

1,687
488

1,595
571

1,587
602

Net Income
Preferred stock dividend requirement

1,199
14

1,024
14

985
14

Income Available for Common Stock

$ 1,185

$ 1,010

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

971

CONSOLIDATE D BAL ANCE SHEETS
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company
Balance at December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable:
Customers (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $76 million in 2008 and $58 million in 2007)
Accrued unbilled revenue
Related parties
Regulatory balancing accounts
Inventories:
Gas stored underground and fuel oil
Materials and supplies
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

$

52
1,290

$

141
1,297

1,751
685
2
1,197

1,599
750
6
771

232
191
25
705

205
166
15
252

6,130

5,202

27,638
10,155
2,023

25,599
9,620
1,348

Total property, plant, and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

39,816
(13,557)

36,567
(12,913)

Net property, plant, and equipment

26,259

23,654

5,996
1,718
27
407

4,459
1,979
23
993

8,148

7,454

$ 40,537

$ 36,310

Total current assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Electric
Gas
Construction work in progress

Other Noncurrent Assets
Regulatory assets
Nuclear decommissioning funds
Related parties receivable
Other
Total other noncurrent assets
TO TAL A SSETS

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BAL ANCE SHEETS
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company
Balance at December 31,
(in millions, except share amounts)

2008

2007

L IABILI TI ES AN D SHARE HOLD E RS ’ EQUI T Y

Current Liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Long-term debt, classiﬁed as current
Energy recovery bonds, classiﬁed as current
Accounts payable:
Trade creditors
Disputed claims and customer refunds
Related parties
Regulatory balancing accounts
Other
Interest payable
Income tax payable
Deferred income taxes
Other
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt
Energy recovery bonds
Regulatory liabilities
Pension and other postretirement beneﬁts
Asset retirement obligations
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes
Deferred tax credits
Other
Total noncurrent liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock without mandatory redemption provisions:
Nonredeemable, 5.00% to 6.00%, outstanding 5,784,825 shares
Redeemable, 4.36% to 5.00%, outstanding 4,534,958 shares
Common stock, $5 par value, authorized 800,000,000 shares, issued 264,374,809 shares in 2008
and issued 282,916,485 shares in 2007
Common stock held by subsidiary, at cost, 19,481,213 shares in 2007
Additional paid-in capital
Reinvested earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholders’ equity
TO TAL LI A BI LI TI ES AND S HAREHOLD E RS ’ EQUI T Y

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

287
600
370

$

519
—
354

1,096
1,580
25
730
325
802
53
257
1,371

1,067
1,629
28
673
370
697
—
4
1,200

7,496

6,541

9,041
1,213
3,657
2,040
1,684
12
3,449
94
2,064

7,891
1,582
4,448
—
1,579
103
3,104
99
1,838

23,254

20,644

145
113

145
113

1,322
—
2,331
6,092
(216)

1,415
(475)
2,220
5,694
13

9,787

9,125

$ 40,537

$ 36,310

CONSOLIDATE D STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company
Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

2006

$ 1,199

$ 1,024

$ 985

1,838
(70)
(1)
593
(25)

1,956
(64)
(1)
43
188

1,802
(47)
(11)
(287)
116

(83)
(59)
(137)
43
(394)
(223)
90
(5)

(6)
(41)
(196)
56
(567)
170
24
(45)

128
34
21
28
329
(273)
(235)
(13)

2,766

2,541

2,577

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Net proceeds from sale of assets
Decrease in restricted cash
Proceeds from nuclear decommissioning trust sales
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust investments
Other

(3,628)
26
36
1,635
(1,684)
(25)

(2,768)
21
185
830
(933)
—

(2,402)
17
115
1,087
(1,244)
1

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,640)

(2,665)

(2,426)

533
(783)

850
(900)

350
(310)

(209)

458

2,185
(454)
—
(354)
(14)
(568)
270
(36)

1,184
—
(290)
(340)
(14)
(509)
400
23

—
—
(290)
(316)
(14)
(460)
—
38

Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancing activities

785

195

(544)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1

(89)
141

71
70

(393)
463

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization, and decommissioning
Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Gain on sale of assets
Deferred income taxes and tax credits, net
Other changes in noncurrent assets and liabilities
Effect of changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accounts payable
Income taxes receivable/payable
Regulatory balancing accounts, net
Other current assets
Other current liabilities
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Borrowings under accounts receivable facility and revolving credit facility
Repayments under accounts receivable facility and revolving credit facility
Net issuance (repayments) of commercial paper, net of discount of $11 million in 2008,
$1 million in 2007, and $2 million in 2006
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount, premium, and issuance costs
of $19 million in 2008 and $16 million in 2007
Long-term debt repurchased
Rate reduction bonds matured
Energy recovery bonds matured
Preferred stock dividends paid
Common stock dividends paid
Equity contribution
Other

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31
Supplemental disclosures of cash ﬂow information
Cash paid (received) for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized)
Income taxes, net
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and ﬁnancing activities
Capital expenditures ﬁnanced through accounts payable
Assumption of capital lease obligation
Transfer of Gateway Generating Station asset

6

$

52

$ 141

$

70

$

496
(95)

$ 474
594

$ 476
897

$

348
—
—

$ 279
—
—

$ 215
408
69

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company

(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2005
Net income
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of income
tax expense of $2 million)

Preferred Stock
Without
Mandatory
Redemption
Provisions

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$258
—

$1,398
—

$1,776
—

—

—

—

Common
Stock
Held by
Subsidiary

$(475)
—

—

Reinvested
Earnings

$4,702
985

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

$ (9)
—

3

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

Comprehensive
Income

$7,650
985

$ 985

3

3

Comprehensive income
Tax beneﬁt from employee
stock plans
Common stock dividend
Preferred stock dividend
Adoption of SFAS No. 158
(net of income tax beneﬁt
of $7 million)
Balance at December 31, 2006
Net income
Employee beneﬁt plan adjustment
in accordance with SFAS
No. 158 (net of income tax
expense of $17 million)

$ 988

—
—
—

—
—
—

46
—
—

—
—
—

—
(460)
(14)

—
—
—

46
(460)
(14)

—

—

—

—

—

(10)

(10)

258
—

1,398
—

1,822
—

5,213
1,024

(16)
—

8,200
1,024

$ 1,024

—

—

—

29

29

(475)
—

—

—

29

Comprehensive income
Equity contribution
Tax beneﬁt from employee
stock plans
Common stock dividend
Preferred stock dividend
Adoption of FIN 48
Balance at December 31, 2007
Net income
Employee beneﬁt plan adjustment
in accordance with SFAS
No. 158 (net of income tax
expense of $159 million)

$1,053
—

17

383

—

—

—

400

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

15
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(509)
(14)
(20)

—
—
—
—

15
(509)
(14)
(20)

258
—

1,415
—

2,220
—

5,694
1,199

13
—

9,125
1,199

$ 1,199

—

—

—

—

(229)

(229)

(229)

(475)
—

—

Comprehensive income
Equity contribution
Tax beneﬁt from employee
stock plans
Common stock dividend
Common stock cancelled
Preferred stock dividend
Balance at December 31, 2008

$ 970
—

4

266

—

—

—

270

—
—
—
—

—
—
(97)
—

4
—
(159)
—

—
—
475
—

—
(568)
(219)
(14)

—
—
—
—

4
(568)
—
(14)

$258

$1,322

$2,331

—

$6,092

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$(216)

$9,787

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 : ORGANIZAT ION AND
B A SI S O F PRE SE NTAT ION
PG&E Corporation is a holding company whose primary
purpose is to hold interests in energy-based businesses.
PG&E Corporation conducts its business principally through
Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company (the “Utility”), a public
utility operating in northern and central California. The
Utility engages in the businesses of electricity and natural gas
distribution; electricity generation, procurement, and transmission; and natural gas procurement, transportation, and
storage. The Utility is primarily regulated by the California
Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) and the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”).
This is a combined annual report of PG&E Corporation
and the Utility. Therefore, the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements apply to both PG&E Corporation and
the Utility. PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of PG&E Corporation, the
Utility, and other wholly owned and controlled subsidiaries.
The Utility’s Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of the Utility and its wholly owned and controlled
subsidiaries as well as the accounts of variable interest
entities for which the Utility absorbs a majority of the risk
of loss or gain. All intercompany transactions have been
eliminated from the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates and assumptions based on a wide range of factors,
including future regulatory decisions and economic conditions that are difﬁcult to predict. Some of the more critical
estimates and assumptions, discussed further below in these
notes, relate to the Utility’s regulatory assets and liabilities,
environmental remediation liability, asset retirement obligations (“ARO”), income tax-related assets and liabilities,
pension plan and other postretirement plan obligations,
and accruals for legal matters. Management believes that
its estimates and assumptions reﬂected in the Consolidated
Financial Statements are appropriate and reasonable.
A change in management’s estimates or assumptions could
result in an adjustment that would have a material impact
on PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial condition
and results of operations during the period in which such
change occurred.

N O T E 2: S U M M ARY
O F S IGN IFIC AN T
AC C O U N T IN G PO L IC IES
The accounting policies used by PG&E Corporation
and the Utility include those necessary for rate-regulated
enterprises, which reﬂect the ratemaking policies of the
CPUC and the FERC.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Invested cash and other short-term investments with
original maturities of three months or less are considered
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which
approximates fair value. PG&E Corporation and the Utility
primarily invest their cash in money market funds.
RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists primarily of the Utility’s cash
held in escrow pending the resolution of the remaining
disputed claims made by electricity suppliers in the Utility’s
proceeding under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code
(“Chapter 11”). (See Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) Restricted cash also includes
the Utility deposits of cash and cash equivalents made under
certain third-party agreements.
ALLOWANCE FOR
DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
PG&E Corporation and the Utility recognize an allowance
for doubtful accounts to record accounts receivable at
estimated net realizable value. The allowance is determined
based upon a variety of factors, including historical write-off
experience, delinquency rates, current economic conditions,
and assessment of customer collectability. If circumstances
require changes in the assumption, allowance estimates
are adjusted accordingly.
INVENTORIES
Inventories are carried at average cost and are valued at the
lower of average cost or market. Inventories include materials,
supplies, and natural gas stored underground. Materials
and supplies are charged to inventory when purchased and
then expensed or capitalized to plant, as appropriate, when
consumed or installed. Natural gas stored underground
represents purchases that are injected into inventory and
then expensed at average cost when withdrawn and distributed
to customers or used in electric generation.
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PROPERTY, PL ANT, AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant, and equipment are reported at their original
cost. These original costs include labor and materials, construction overhead, and allowance for funds used during
construction (“AFUDC”).
The Utility’s balances as of December 31, 2008 are
as follows:

(in millions)

Electricity generating
facilities
Electricity distribution
facilities
Electricity transmission
Natural gas distribution
facilities
Natural gas
transportation
Natural gas storage
CWIP
Total

Gross Plant
as of
December 31,
2008

Accumulated
Depreciation
as of
December 31,
2008

Net Plant
as of
December 31,
2008

$ 3,711

$ (1,134)

$ 2,577

18,777
5,150

(6,722)
(1,675)

12,055
3,475

6,666

(2,544)

4,122

3,434
55
2,023

(1,482)
—
—

1,952
55
2,023

$39,816

$(13,557)

$26,259

The Utility’s balances as of December 31, 2007 are
as follows:

(in millions)

Electricity generating
facilities
Electricity distribution
facilities
Electricity transmission
Natural gas distribution
facilities
Natural gas
transportation
Natural gas storage
CWIP
Total

Gross Plant
as of
December 31,
2007

Accumulated
Depreciation
as of
December 31,
2007

Net Plant
as of
December 31,
2007

$ 3,004

$ (1,040)

$ 1,964

17,712
4,883

(6,377)
(1,633)

11,335
3,250

6,302

(2,429)

3,873

3,271
47
1,348

(1,434)
—
—

1,837
47
1,348

$36,567

$(12,913)

$23,654

AFUDC
AFUDC represents a method used to compensate the
Utility for the estimated cost of debt and equity used to
ﬁnance regulated plant additions and is recorded as part
of the cost of construction projects. AFUDC is recoverable
from customers through rates over the life of the related
property once the property is placed in service. The Utility
recorded AFUDC of approximately $70 million and
$44 million during 2008, $64 million and $32 million
during 2007, and $47 million and $20 million during
2006, related to equity and debt, respectively.
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Depreciation
The Utility’s composite depreciation rate was 3.38% in 2008,
3.28% in 2007, and 3.09% in 2006.
Estimated Useful Lives

Electricity generating facilities
Electricity distribution facilities
Electricity transmission
Natural gas distribution facilities
Natural gas transportation
Natural gas storage

4
16
40
24
25
25

to
to
to
to
to
to

37
58
70
52
45
48

years
years
years
years
years
years

The useful lives of the Utility’s property, plant, and
equipment are authorized by the CPUC and the FERC,
and depreciation expense is included in rates charged to
customers. Depreciation expense includes a component for
the original cost of assets and a component for estimated
future removal and remediation costs, net of any salvage
value at retirement.
The Utility charges the original cost of retired plant less
salvage value to accumulated depreciation upon retirement
of plant in service in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 71, “Accounting for the
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation” as amended (“SFAS
No. 71”). PG&E Corporation and the Utility expense repair
and maintenance costs as incurred.
Nuclear Fuel
Property, plant, and equipment also include nuclear fuel
inventories. Stored nuclear fuel inventory is stated at
weighted average cost. Nuclear fuel in the reactor is expensed
as used based on the amount of energy output.
Capitalized Software Costs
PG&E Corporation and the Utility account for internal software in accordance with the American Institute of Certiﬁed
Public Accountants Statement of Position, “Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use” (“SOP 98-1”).
Under SOP 98-1, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
capitalize costs incurred during the application development
stage of internal use software projects to property, plant,
and equipment. The Utility’s capitalized software costs
totaled $522 million at December 31, 2008 and $533 million
at December 31, 2007, net of accumulated amortization
of approximately $280 million at December 31, 2008 and
$207 million at December 31, 2007. PG&E Corporation’s
capitalized software costs were less than $1 million at
December 31, 2008. PG&E Corporation and the Utility
amortize capitalized software costs ratably over the expected
lives of the software ranging from 3 to 15 years, commencing
upon operational use.

REGUL ATION AND SFAS NO. 71
The Utility accounts for the ﬁnancial effects of regulation
in accordance with SFAS No. 71. SFAS No. 71 applies to
regulated entities whose rates are designed to recover the
costs of providing service. SFAS No. 71 applies to all of
the Utility’s operations.
Under SFAS No. 71, incurred costs that would otherwise
be charged to expense may be capitalized and recorded as
regulatory assets if it is probable that the incurred costs will
be recovered in rates in the future. The regulatory assets are
amortized over future periods consistent with the inclusion
of those costs in authorized customer rates. If costs that a
regulated enterprise expects to incur in the future are currently being recovered through rates, SFAS No. 71 requires
that the regulated enterprise record those expected future
costs as regulatory liabilities. In addition, amounts that are
probable of being credited or refunded to customers in the
future must be recorded as regulatory liabilities.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets primarily consist of hydroelectric facility
licenses and other agreements, with lives ranging from 19
to 40 years. The gross carrying amount of the hydroelectric
facility licenses and other agreements was approximately
$95 million at December 31, 2008 and $97 million at
December 31, 2007. The accumulated amortization was
approximately $35 million at December 31, 2008 and
$32 million at December 31, 2007. In December 2008, the
Utility obtained intangible assets related to the acquisition
of development rights of the Tesla Generating Station. The
value of these intangible assets, including permit and licenses,
was approximately $23 million at December 31, 2008. These
intangible assets have indeﬁnite lives and will not be amortized, but an impairment test will be performed annually.
The Utility’s amortization expense related to intangible
assets was approximately $4 million in 2008 and $3 million
in both 2007 and 2006. The estimated annual amortization
expense for 2009 through 2013 based on the December 31,
2008 intangible asset balance is approximately $4 million
each year. Intangible assets are recorded to Other Noncurrent
Assets — Other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
CONSOLIDATION OF
VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R”), provides that an
entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) if it does not have
sufﬁcient equity investment at risk, or if the holders of the

entity’s equity instruments lack the essential characteristics
of a controlling ﬁnancial interest. FIN 46R requires that
the holder subject to the majority of the risk of loss from
a VIE’s activities must consolidate the VIE. However, if no
holder has the majority of the risk of loss, then a holder
entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns
would consolidate the entity.
The majority of the Utility’s involvement with VIEs is
through power purchase agreements. The Utility could have
a signiﬁcant variable interest in a power purchase agreement
counterparty if that entity is a VIE owning one or more
plants that sell substantially all of their output to the Utility.
The Utility performs a quantitative assessment of power purchase agreements under FIN 46R, which includes performing
an analysis considering the term of the contract compared
to the remaining useful life of the plant, as well as performing an analysis of the absorption of the expected risks and
rewards of the project including production risk, commodity
price risk, credit risk, and tax attributes.
At December 31, 2008 there was one signiﬁcant VIE.
In 2007, the Utility entered into a 25-year agreement to
purchase as-available electric generation output from an
approximately 554-megawatt (“MW”) solar trough facility
in which the Utility has a signiﬁcant variable interest.
Activities of this facility consist of renewable energy production from a single facility for sale to third parties. The
VIE is a subsidiary of a privately held company, and its
activities are ﬁnanced primarily through equity from investors
and proceeds from non-recourse project-speciﬁc debt ﬁnancing.
The Utility is not considered the primary beneﬁciary for
this VIE, as it will not absorb the majority of the entity’s
expected losses or residual returns. Accordingly, the Utility
has not consolidated this VIE in its consolidated ﬁnancial
statements. This project is expected to become operational
in 2011 and no payments for energy have been made to this
facility as of December 31, 2008.
The Utility is generally not subject to risk of loss from
power purchase agreements as the primary obligation,
according to the terms of the agreements, is to purchase
as-available energy that is produced by the facility. Future
payments to this facility are made based on the energy produced and are expected to be recoverable through customer
rates. Additionally, no ﬁnancial or other support was provided by the Utility to this VIE as of December 31, 2008.
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ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
PG&E Corporation and the Utility account for ARO
in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”) and FASB
Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations — an Interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 143” (“FIN 47”). SFAS No. 143 requires that
an asset retirement obligation be recorded at fair value in
the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate
of fair value can be made. In the same period, the associated
asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying
amount of the related long-lived asset. In each subsequent
period, the liability is accreted to its present value, and the
capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the longlived asset. Rate-regulated entities may recognize regulatory
assets or liabilities as a result of timing differences between
the recognition of costs as recorded in accordance with
SFAS No. 143 and costs recovered through the ratemaking
process. FIN 47 clariﬁes that if a legal obligation to perform
an asset retirement obligation exists but performance is
conditional upon a future event, and the obligation can be
reasonably estimated, then a liability should be recognized
in accordance with SFAS No. 143.
The Utility has ARO for its nuclear generation and
certain fossil fuel generation facilities. The Utility has
also identiﬁed ARO related to asbestos contamination in
buildings, potential site restoration at certain hydroelectric
facilities, fuel storage tanks, and contractual obligations to
restore leased property to pre-lease condition. Additionally,
the Utility has recorded ARO related to the California Gas
Transmission pipeline, gas distribution, electric distribution,
and electric transmission system assets.
A reconciliation of the changes in the ARO liability is
as follows:

communications equipment from leased property, and
retirement activities associated with substation and certain
hydroelectric facilities. The Utility was not able to reasonably
estimate the ARO associated with these assets because the
settlement date of the obligation was indeterminate and
information sufﬁcient to reasonably estimate the settlement
date or range of settlement dates does not exist. Land rights,
communications equipment leases, and substation facilities
will be maintained for the foreseeable future, and the Utility
cannot reasonably estimate the settlement date or range of
settlement dates for the obligations associated with these
assets. The Utility does not have information available
that speciﬁes which facilities contain lead-based paint and,
therefore, cannot reasonably estimate the settlement date(s)
associated with the obligation. The Utility will maintain and
continue to operate its hydroelectric facilities until operation
of a facility becomes uneconomic. The operation of the
majority of the Utility’s hydroelectric facilities is currently,
and for the foreseeable future, economic and the settlement
date cannot be determined at this time.
IMPAIRMENT OF LONG -LIVED ASSETS
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS
No. 144”), PG&E Corporation and the Utility evaluate the
carrying amounts of long-lived assets for impairment, based
on projections of undiscounted future cash ﬂows, whenever
events occur or circumstances change that may affect the
recoverability or the estimated life of long-lived assets.
In the event this evaluation indicates that such cash ﬂows
are not expected to fully recover the assets, the assets are
written down to their estimated fair value. No signiﬁcant
impairments were recorded in 2008, 2007, and 2006.

GAINS AND LOSSES ON
DEBT EXTINGUISHMENTS
Gains and losses on debt extinguishments associated with
(in millions)
ARO liability at December 31, 2006
$1,466 regulated operations that are subject to the provisions of
Revision in estimated cash ﬂows
48 SFAS No. 71 are deferred and amortized over the remainAccretion
95 ing original amortization period of the debt reacquired,
Liabilities settled
(30)
consistent with recovery of costs through regulated rates.
ARO liability at December 31, 2007
1,579 Unamortized loss on debt extinguishments, net of gain,
Revision in estimated cash ﬂows
50
was approximately $251 million and $269 million at
Accretion
106
Liabilities settled
(51) December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Utility’s
ARO liability at December 31, 2008
$1,684 amortization expense related to this loss was approximately
$26 million in 2008 and 2007, and $27 million in 2006.
Deferred gains and losses on debt extinguishments are
The Utility has identiﬁed additional ARO for which
recorded to Other Noncurrent Assets — Regulatory assets
a reasonable estimate of fair value could not be made.
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Utility has not recognized a liability related to these
additional obligations, which include obligations to restore
Gains and losses on debt extinguishments associated
land to its pre-use condition under the terms of certain land
with unregulated operations are fully recognized at the time
rights agreements, removal and proper disposal of lead-based
such debt is reacquired and are reported as a component of
paint contained in some Utility facilities, removal of certain
interest expense.
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ACCUMUL ATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) reports a measure for accumulated changes in equity of an enterprise that
result from transactions and other economic events, other than transactions with shareholders. The following table sets forth
the after-tax changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2005

Minimum
Pension
Liability
Adjustment

Adoption of
SFAS No. 158

Employee Beneﬁt
Plan Adjustment in
Accordance with
SFAS No. 158

$

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$(8)

$ —

$

(8)

Period change in:
Adoption of SFAS No. 158 (net of income tax beneﬁt of $8 million)

8

(19)

—

(11)

Balance at December 31, 2006

—

(19)

—

(19)

—
—

—
—

26
289

26
289

Period change in pension beneﬁts and other beneﬁts:
Unrecognized prior service cost (net of income tax expense
of $18 million)
Unrecognized net gain (net of income tax expense of $195 million)
Unrecognized net transition obligation (net of income tax expense
of $11 million)
Transfer to regulatory account (net of income tax beneﬁt
of $207 million) (1)

—

—

16

16

—

—

(302)

(302)

Balance at December 31, 2007

—

(19)

29

10

—
—

—
—

37
(1,583)

37
(1,583)

—

—

15

15

Period change in pension beneﬁts and other beneﬁts:
Unrecognized prior service cost (net of income tax expense
of $27 million)
Unrecognized net loss (net of income tax beneﬁt of $1,088 million)
Unrecognized net transition obligation (net of income tax expense
of $11 million)
Transfer to regulatory account (net of income tax expense
of $894 million) (1)
Balance at December 31, 2008

—
$—

—
$(19)

1,300

1,300

$ (202)

$ (221)

(1) The Utility recorded approximately $2,259 million in 2008 and $109 million in 2007, pre-tax, as a reduction to the existing pension regulatory liability in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 71. The adjustment resulted in a regulatory asset balance at December 31, 2008. The Utility recorded approximately $44 million in 2007, pre-tax, as an addition to the existing pension regulatory liability in accordance with SFAS No. 71. See Note 14 of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on pre-tax transfer amounts to the regulatory account.

There was no material difference between PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented above.
REVENUE REC OGNITION
The Utility’s operating revenues are composed of revenue
from electric and natural gas distribution and transmission
services and electric generation services. Amounts recorded
for these services are billed to the Utility’s customers at the
CPUC-approved and FERC-approved rates, which provide
an authorized rate of return, and recovery of operation and
maintenance and capital-related carrying costs. The Utility’s
revenues are recognized as electricity and natural gas are
delivered, and include amounts for services rendered but
not yet billed at the end of each year.

As further discussed in Note 17 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, in January 2001,
the California Department of Water Resources (“DWR”)
began purchasing electricity to meet the portion of demand
of the California investor-owned electric utilities that was
not being satisﬁed from their own generation facilities
and existing electricity contracts. Under California law, the
DWR is deemed to sell the electricity directly to the Utility’s
retail customers, not to the Utility. The Utility acts as a
pass-through entity for electricity purchased by the DWR
on behalf of its customers. Although charges for electricity
provided by the DWR are included in the amounts the
Utility bills its customers, the Utility deducts the amounts
passed through to the DWR from its electricity revenues.
The pass-through amounts are based on the quantities of
electricity provided by the DWR that are consumed by
customers at the CPUC-approved remittance rate. These
pass-through amounts are excluded from the Utility’s
electricity revenues and from the cost of electricity in its
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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INCOME TAXES
PG&E Corporation and the Utility use the liability
method of accounting for income taxes in accordance
with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS
No. 109”). Income tax expense (beneﬁt) includes current
and deferred income taxes resulting from operations during
the year. Investment tax credits are amortized over the life
of the related property. See Note 10 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
of income taxes.
PG&E Corporation ﬁles a consolidated U.S. federal
income tax return that includes domestic subsidiaries in
which its ownership is 80% or more. In addition, PG&E
Corporation ﬁles a combined state income tax return in
California. PG&E Corporation and the Utility are parties to
a tax-sharing agreement under which the Utility determines
its income tax provision (beneﬁt) on a stand-alone basis.
NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING TRUSTS
The Utility accounts for its investments held in the Nuclear
Decommissioning Trusts in accordance with SFAS No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities” (“SFAS No. 115”), as well as FASB Staff Position
Nos. 115-1 and 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments”
(“SFAS Nos. 115-1 and 124-1”). Under SFAS No. 115, the
Utility records realized gains and losses as additions and
reductions to trust asset balances. In accordance with SFAS
Nos. 115-1 and 124-1, the Utility recognizes an impairment
of an investment if the fair value of that investment is
less than its cost and if the impairment is concluded to
be other-than-temporary. (See Note 13 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.)
ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES
AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
The Utility engages in price risk management activities to
manage its exposure to ﬂuctuations in commodity prices.
Price risk management activities involve entering into
contracts to procure electricity, natural gas, nuclear fuel,
and ﬁrm transmission rights for electricity.
The Utility uses a variety of energy and ﬁnancial instruments, such as forward contracts, futures, swaps, options,
and other instruments and agreements, most of which are
accounted for as derivative instruments. Some contracts are
accounted for as leases. Derivative instruments are recorded
in PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets at fair value, unless they qualify for the
normal purchase and sales exception. The normal purchase
and sales exception requires, among other things, physical
delivery of quantities expected to be used or sold over a
reasonable period in the normal course of business. Changes
in the fair value of derivative instruments are recorded in
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earnings, or to the extent they are recoverable through
regulated rates, are deferred and recorded in regulatory
accounts. Derivative instruments may be designated as cash
ﬂow hedges when they are entered into to hedge variable price
risk associated with the purchase of commodities. For cash
ﬂow hedges, fair value changes are deferred in accumulated
other comprehensive income and recognized in earnings as
the hedged transactions occur, unless they are recovered in
rates, in which case, they are recorded in regulatory accounts.
In order for a derivative instrument to be designated as
a cash ﬂow hedge, the relationship between the derivative
instrument and the hedged item or transaction must
be highly effective in hedging the exposure to variability
in expected future cash ﬂows. The effectiveness test is performed at the inception of the hedge and each reporting
period thereafter, throughout the period that the hedge
is designated as such. Unrealized gains and losses related
to the effective and ineffective portions of the change in the
fair value of the derivative instrument, to the extent they
are recoverable through rates, are deferred and recorded in
regulatory accounts.
Cash ﬂow hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively
if it is determined that the derivative instrument no longer
qualiﬁes as an effective hedge, or when the forecasted
transaction is no longer probable of occurring. If cash ﬂow
hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative instrument
continues to be reﬂected at fair value, with any subsequent
changes in fair value recognized immediately in earnings.
Gains and losses previously recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) will remain there until the
hedged item is recognized in earnings when it matures
or is exercised, unless the forecasted transaction is probable
of not occurring, in which case the gains and losses from the
derivative instrument will be immediately recognized in earnings. Any gains and losses that would have been recognized
in earnings or deferred in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss), to the extent they are recoverable through
rates, are deferred and recorded in regulatory accounts.
The fair value of derivative instruments is estimated
using various methods including the use of unadjusted
prices in active markets to determine the net present value
of estimated future cash ﬂows, the mid-point of quoted
bid and asked forward prices, including quotes from brokers,
and electronic exchanges, supplemented by online price information from news services, and the Black’s Option Pricing
Model. When market data is not available, proprietary
models are used to estimate fair value.

The Utility has derivative instruments for the physical
delivery of commodities transacted in the normal course of
business, as well as non-ﬁnancial assets that are not exchangetraded. These derivative instruments are eligible for the
normal purchase and sales and non-exchange traded contract
exceptions under SFAS No. 133, and are not reﬂected in
the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. They
are recorded and recognized in income under the accrual
method of accounting. Therefore, expenses are recognized
as incurred.
The Utility has certain commodity contracts for the purchase of nuclear fuel and core gas transportation and storage
contracts that are not derivative instruments and are not
reﬂected in the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair
value. Expenses are recognized as incurred.
See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS
Fair Value Measurements
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”), which establishes a fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value is deﬁned as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, or the “exit price.” The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). Assets and liabilities are
classiﬁed based on the lowest level of input that is signiﬁcant
to the fair value measurement. (See Note 12 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
on SFAS No. 157.)
Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position on FASB
Interpretation 39, “Amendment of FASB Interpretation
No. 39” (“FIN 39-1”). Under FIN 39-1, a reporting entity is
required to offset the cash collateral paid or cash collateral
received against the fair value amounts recognized for derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty under
a master netting arrangement when reporting those amounts
on a net basis. The provisions of FIN 39-1 are applied retrospectively. See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion and ﬁnancial
statement impact of the implementation of FIN 39-1.

Fair Value Option
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS
No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 establishes a fair value option under
which entities can elect to report certain ﬁnancial assets and
liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value recognized
in earnings. PG&E Corporation and the Utility have not
elected the fair value option for any assets or liabilities as of
and during the three and twelve months ended December 31,
2008; therefore, the adoption of SFAS No. 159 did not impact
the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Disclosures by Public Entities (Enterprises)
about Transfers of Financial Assets and
Interests in Variable Interest Entities
On December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8, “Disclosures by Public Entities
(Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial Assets and
Interests in Variable Interest Entities” (“FSP FAS 140-4 and
FIN 46R-8”). This FSP amends FASB No. 140, “Accounting
for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities” to require public companies
to provide additional qualitative disclosures about transfers
of ﬁnancial assets. This guidance also amended FIN 46R
to require public enterprises to provide additional disclosures about their involvement with VIEs when they are the
primary beneﬁciary of the VIE, hold a signiﬁcant variable
interest in the VIE, or are sponsors of and hold a variable
interest in the VIE.
Although PG&E Corporation and the Utility were
not impacted by the amendment to FASB No. 140 as of
December 31, 2008, they were impacted by the amendment
to FIN 46R, primarily through the Utility’s power purchase
agreements, which may be considered signiﬁcant variable
interests. Accordingly, when the Utility has a signiﬁcant
variable interest in a VIE, FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8
require additional disclosures about the entity, the extent of
the Utility’s involvement with the entity, and the Utility’s
methodology for evaluating these entities under FIN 46R.
See “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” within Note
2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for expanded
disclosures required by FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8.
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ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“SFAS No. 161”).
SFAS No. 161 amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133. An entity is required to provide
qualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for
using derivatives, quantitative disclosures on fair value
amounts of, and gains and losses on, derivative instruments,
and disclosures relating to credit-risk-related contingent
features in derivative agreements. SFAS No. 161 is effective
prospectively for ﬁscal years beginning after November 15,
2008. PG&E Corporation and the Utility will include the
expanded disclosure required by SFAS No. 161 in their
combined quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2009.
Disclosures about Employers’ Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets — an amendment
to FASB Statement No. 132(R)
In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Beneﬁt Plan
Assets” (“FSP 132(R)-1”). FSP 132(R)-1 amends and expands
the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132. An entity is
required to provide qualitative disclosures about how investment allocation decisions are made, the inputs and valuation
techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets, and
the concentration of risk within plan assets. Additionally,
quantitative disclosures are required showing the fair value
of each major category of plan assets, the levels in which
each asset is classiﬁed within the fair value hierarchy, and a
reconciliation for the period of plan assets that are measured
using signiﬁcant unobservable inputs. FSP 132(R)-1 is effective prospectively for ﬁscal years ending after December 15,
2009. PG&E Corporation and the Utility are currently
evaluating the impact of FSP 132(R)-1.
Issuer’s Accounting for Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value with a Third-Party Credit
Enhancement — an amendment to FASB
Statement No. 107 and FASB Statement No. 133
In September 2008, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) 08-5, “Issuer’s Accounting for Liabilities
Measured at Fair Value with a Third-Party Credit Enhancement” (“EITF 08-5”). EITF 08-5 clariﬁes the unit of account
in determining the fair value of a liability under SFAS
No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments” or SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivatives
and Hedging Activities.” Speciﬁcally, it requires an entity
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to incorporate any third-party credit enhancements that
are issued with and are inseparable from a debt instrument
into the fair value of that debt instrument. EITF 08-5 is
effective prospectively for ﬁscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those
ﬁscal years. PG&E Corporation and the Utility are currently
evaluating the impact of EITF 08-5.
Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations —
an amendment to Accounting Principles Board No. 18
In November 2008, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task
Force 08-6, “Equity Method Accounting Considerations”
(“EITF 08-6”). EITF 08-6 clariﬁes the application of equity
method accounting under Accounting Principles Board 18,
“The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock.” Speciﬁcally, it requires companies to
initially record equity method investments based on the cost
accumulation model, precludes separate other-than-temporary
impairment tests on an equity method investee’s indeﬁnitelived assets from the investee’s test, requires companies to
account for an investee’s issuance of shares as if the equity
method investor had sold a proportionate share of its investment, and requires that an equity method investor continue
to apply the guidance in paragraph 19(l) of Opinion 18
upon a change in the investor’s accounting from the equity
method to the cost method. EITF 08-6 is effective prospectively for ﬁscal years beginning on or after December 15,
2008, and interim periods within those ﬁscal years. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility are currently evaluating the
impact of EITF 08-6.

N O T E 3: REGU L AT O RY
AS S ET S , L IABIL IT IES , AN D
BAL AN C IN G AC C O U N T S
The Utility accounts for the ﬁnancial effects of regulation
in accordance with SFAS No. 71. SFAS No. 71 applies
to regulated entities whose rates are designed to recover
the cost of providing service. SFAS No. 71 applies to all
of the Utility’s operations.
Under SFAS No. 71, incurred costs that would otherwise
be charged to expense may be capitalized and recorded as
regulatory assets if it is probable that the incurred costs will
be recovered in future rates. The regulatory assets are amortized over future periods consistent with the inclusion of
costs in authorized customer rates. If costs that a regulated
enterprise expects to incur in the future are currently being
recovered through rates, SFAS No. 71 requires that the
regulated enterprise record those expected future costs as
regulatory liabilities. In addition, amounts that are probable
of being credited or refunded to customers in the future
must be recorded as regulatory liabilities.

To the extent portions of the Utility’s operations cease
to be subject to SFAS No. 71, or recovery is no longer probable as a result of changes in regulation or other reasons, the
related regulatory assets and liabilities are written off.
REGUL ATORY ASSETS
Long-Term Regulatory Assets
Long-term regulatory assets comprise the following:
Balance at December 31,
(in millions)

Regulatory asset for pension beneﬁts
Regulatory asset for energy recovery bonds
Regulatory asset for deferred income tax
Utility-retained generation regulatory assets
Environmental compliance costs
Price risk management
Unamortized loss, net of gain,
on reacquired debt
Regulatory assets associated with plan
of reorganization
Contract termination costs
Scheduling coordinator costs
Other
Total regulatory assets

2008

2007

$1,624
1,487
847
799
385
362

$ —
1,833
732
947
328
20

225

269

99
82
39
47

122
96
90
22

$5,996

$4,459

Regulatory asset for pension beneﬁts represents the
cumulative differences between amounts recognized in
accordance with GAAP and amounts recognized for ratemaking purposes, which also includes amounts that otherwise
would be fully recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive
income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance
with SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting Deﬁned Beneﬁt
Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans” (“SFAS No. 158”).
(See Notes 2 and 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.) These balances will be charged against
expense to the extent that future expenses exceed amounts
recoverable for regulatory purposes.
The regulatory asset for energy recovery bonds (“ERBs”),
issued by PG&E Energy Recovery Funding LLC (see Note
5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements),
represents the reﬁnancing of the settlement regulatory asset
established under the December 19, 2003 settlement agreement among PG&E Corporation, the Utility, and the CPUC
to resolve the Utility’s Chapter 11 proceeding (“Chapter 11
Settlement Agreement”). (See Note 15 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.) The Utility expects to
fully recover this asset by the end of 2012.

The regulatory assets for deferred income tax represent
deferred income tax beneﬁts previously passed through to
customers and are offset by deferred income tax liabilities.
Tax beneﬁts to customers have been passed through, as the
CPUC requires utilities under its jurisdiction to follow
the “ﬂow-through” method of passing certain tax beneﬁts
to customers. The “ﬂow-through” method ignores the effect
of deferred taxes on rates. Based on current regulatory
ratemaking and income tax laws, the Utility expects to
recover deferred income taxes related to regulatory assets
over periods ranging from 1 to 45 years.
In connection with the Chapter 11 Settlement Agreement
in 2004, the Utility recognized a one-time noncash gain
of $1.2 billion related to the recovery of the Utility’s retained
generation regulatory assets. The Utility expects to recover
the individual components of these regulatory assets over
their respective lives, with a weighted average life of approximately 17 years.
Environmental compliance costs represent the portion
of estimated environmental remediation liabilities that the
Utility expects to recover in future rates as actual remediation costs are incurred. The Utility expects to recover these
costs over the next 30 years.
Price risk management regulatory assets represent the
deferral of unrealized losses related to price risk management
derivative instruments with terms in excess of one year.
Unamortized loss, net of gain, on reacquired debt represents costs related to debt reacquired or redeemed prior to
maturity with associated discount and debt issuance costs.
These costs are expected to be recovered over the remaining
original amortization period of the reacquired debt over the
next 18 years, and these costs will be fully recovered by 2026.
Regulatory assets associated with the Utility’s plan
of reorganization include costs incurred in ﬁnancing the
Utility’s plan of reorganization under Chapter 11 and costs
to oversee the environmental enhancement projects of
the Paciﬁc Forest and Watershed Stewardship Council, an
entity that was established pursuant to the Utility’s plan
of reorganization. The Utility expects to recover these costs
over the remaining periods ranging from 5 to 30 years,
and these costs should be fully recovered by 2034.
Contract termination costs represent amounts that the
Utility incurred in terminating a 30-year power purchase
agreement. This regulatory asset will be amortized and
collected in rates on a straight-line basis through the end
of September 2014, the power purchase agreement’s original
termination date.
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The regulatory asset related to scheduling coordinator
costs represents costs that the Utility incurred beginning
in 1998 in its capacity as a scheduling coordinator for its
then existing wholesale transmission customers. The Utility
expects to fully recover the scheduling coordinator costs
by the end of the second quarter of 2010.
At December 31, 2008 and 2007 “Other” primarily
consisted of regulatory assets relating to asset retirement
obligation costs recorded in accordance with GAAP,
which are probable of future recovery through the ratemaking process.
In general, the Utility does not earn a return on regulatory assets where the related costs do not accrue interest.
Accordingly, the Utility earns a return only on the Utility’s
retained generation regulatory assets; unamortized loss, net
of gain, on reacquired debt; and regulatory assets associated
with the plan of reorganization.
Current Regulatory Assets
At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Utility
had current regulatory assets of approximately $355 million
and $131 million, respectively, consisting primarily of the
current component of price risk management regulatory
assets and the current portion of long-term regulatory
assets. Price risk management regulatory assets represent the
deferral of unrealized losses related to price risk management
derivative instruments with terms of less than one year.
Current regulatory assets are included in Prepaid expenses
and other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Long-Term Regulatory Liabilities
Long-term regulatory liabilities comprise the following:

Total regulatory liabilities
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Public purpose program liabilities represent revenues
designated for public purpose program costs that are
expected to be incurred in the future.
Regulatory liability for recoveries in excess of asset retirement obligation represents timing differences between the
recognition of an ARO in accordance with GAAP and the
amounts recognized for ratemaking purposes. (See Note 13
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
California Solar Initiative liabilities represent revenues
collected from customers to pay for costs the Utility expects
to incur in the future to promote the use of solar energy in
residential homes and commercial, industrial, and agricultural properties.

2008

2007

$2,735
—
259

$2,568
578
264

The Gateway Generating Station (“Gateway”) regulatory
liabilities represent future customer beneﬁts associated with
acquisition of Gateway as part of a settlement with Mirant
Corporation. The associated liability will be amortized over
30 years beginning in January 2009, when Gateway was
placed in service.

226
183
81
67
52
54

573
159
124
67
66
49

The insurance recoveries are refunded to customers
as a reduction to rates until customers are fully reimbursed
for the cost of hazardous substance remediation that has
been collected in rates. (See Note 17 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

$3,657

$4,448

Balance at December 31,

Cost of removal obligation
Employee beneﬁt plans
Public purpose programs
Recoveries in excess of asset retirement
obligation
California Solar Initiative
Price risk management
Gateway Generating Station
Environmental remediation
Other

Employee beneﬁt plan regulatory liability represents
the cumulative differences between amounts recognized
in accordance with GAAP and amounts recognized for
ratemaking purposes, which also includes amounts that
otherwise would be fully recorded to Accumulated other
comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
in accordance with SFAS No. 158. (See Notes 2 and 14
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
These balances will be charged against expense to the extent
that future expenses exceed amounts recoverable for regulatory purposes.

Price risk management regulatory liabilities represent the
deferral of unrealized gains related to price risk management
derivative instruments with terms in excess of one year.

REGUL ATORY LIABILITIES

(in millions)

Cost of removal liabilities represent revenues collected
for asset removal costs that the Utility expects to incur in
the future.

“Other” is an aggregate of regulatory liabilities representing
amounts collected for future costs.

Current Regulatory Liabilities
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Utility had current
regulatory liabilities of approximately $313 million and
$280 million, respectively, primarily consisting of the current
portion of electric transmission wheeling revenue refunds
and amounts that the Utility expects to refund to customers
for over-collected electric transmission rates. Current regulatory liabilities are included in Current Liabilities — Other
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
REGUL ATORY BAL ANCING ACCOUNTS
The Utility uses revenue regulatory balancing accounts
to accumulate differences between revenues and the Utility’s
authorized revenue requirements and cost regulatory
balancing accounts to accumulate differences between
incurred costs and revenues. Under-collections that are
probable of recovery through regulated rates are recorded
as regulatory balancing account assets. Over-collections
that are probable of being credited to customers are recorded
as regulatory balancing account liabilities.
The Utility’s current regulatory balancing accounts accumulate balances until they are refunded to or received from
the Utility’s customers through authorized rate adjustments
within the next 12 months. Regulatory balancing accounts
that the Utility does not expect to collect or refund in the
next 12 months are included in Other Noncurrent Assets —
Regulatory assets and Noncurrent Liabilities — Regulatory
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The CPUC
does not allow the Utility to offset regulatory balancing
account assets against regulatory balancing account liabilities.
Current Regulatory Balancing Accounts
Receivable (Payable)
Balance at December 31,
(in millions)

Energy resource recovery
Modiﬁed transition cost
Transmission revenue
Utility generation
Energy Recovery Bonds
Public purpose programs
Reliability services
Other
Total regulatory balancing accounts, net

2008

2007

$ 384
214
173
164
(231)
(264)
12
15

$ 149
93
203
90
(274)
(16)
(96)
(51)

$ 467

$ 98

The Utility is generally authorized to recover 100% of its
electric fuel and energy procurement costs. The Utility ﬁles
annual forecasts of purchased power costs that it expects to
incur during the following year and rates are set to recover
such expected costs. The energy resource recovery account
tracks actual electric costs and recoveries of fuel and energy
procurement costs, excluding the DWR’s contract costs. The
CPUC has established a mechanism to adjust the Utility’s
rates whenever the forecasted aggregate over-collections or
under-collections of the Utility’s electric procurement costs
for the current year exceed 5% of the Utility’s prior year
generation revenues, excluding generation revenues for DWR
contracts. In accordance with this mechanism, on August 21,
2008, the CPUC approved the Utility’s request to collect
from customers the forecasted 2008 end-of-year undercollection of procurement costs, due mainly to rising natural
gas costs and lower than forecasted hydroelectric generation.
Effective October 1, 2008, customer rates were adjusted to
allow the Utility to collect $645 million in procurement
costs through December 2009. On December 30, 2008, the
Utility requested that its electric rates be adjusted, effective
January 1, 2009, to reﬂect the revised forecast of electricity
prices, which are expected to be lower than originally forecasted as a result of lower natural gas prices. The January 1,
2009 rate changes reﬂect a net decrease of $101 million in
electric revenues versus revenues based on rates effective
October 1, 2008.
The modiﬁed transition cost balancing account is used to
track the recovery of ongoing competition transition costs
(“CTC”), primarily consisting of above-market costs associated with power purchase contracts that were being collected
in CPUC-approved rates on or before December 20, 1995
(including costs incurred by the Utility with CPUC approval
to restructure, renegotiate, or terminate the contracts). The
recovery of ongoing CTC can continue for the term of the
contract. The amount of above-market costs associated with
the eligible power purchase contracts is determined each
year in the ERRA forecast proceeding by comparing the
ongoing CTC-eligible contract costs to a CPUC-approved
market benchmark to determine whether there are stranded
costs associated with these contracts.
The transmission revenue balancing account tracks certain
electric transmission revenues for recovery from customers.
The balance in this account represents the difference between
transmission wheeling revenues received by the Utility from
the ISO (on behalf of electric transmission wholesale customers) and refunds to customers plus interest.
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The utility generation balancing account is used to record
and recover the authorized revenue requirements associated
with the Utility-owned electric generation, including capital
and related non-fuel operating and maintenance expenses.
The balancing account for energy recovery bonds records
certain beneﬁts and costs associated with ERBs that are
provided to, or received from, customers. In addition, this
account ensures that customers receive the beneﬁts of the net
amount of energy supplier refunds, claim offsets, and other
credits received by the Utility after the second series of ERBs
were issued.
The balancing account for public purpose program
revenues tracks the recovery of authorized public purpose
program revenue requirement and the actual cost of such
programs. The public purpose programs primarily consist
of the electric energy efﬁciency programs; low-income energy
efﬁciency programs; research, development, and demonstration programs; and renewable energy programs. The
increase in the current balancing account liability balance
at December 31, 2008 compared to the December 31, 2007
is due to a refund of approximately $230 million the Utility
received from the California Energy Commission (“CEC”).
The refund amount represents unspent renewables program
funding collected in previous periods. The program was cancelled in the beginning of 2008 and the CEC was instructed
to return any unspent program funds to utilities to allow for
customer refund. The refund will be returned to customers
in 2009 through lower rates.
The balancing account for reliability services is a FERCmandated balancing account to ensure that the Participating
Transmission Owner neither under-recovers nor over-recovers
from customers the Reliability Services costs it is assessed by
the California Independent System Operator (“CAISO”).
At December 31, 2008, “Other” included the customer
energy efﬁciency (“CEE”) incentive account, which records
any incentive awards earned by the Utility for implementing CEE programs, and to reﬂect these earnings in rates.
In December 2008, the Utility’s shareholders were awarded
$41.5 million for the ﬁrst interim award relating to 2006
and 2007 of the 2006-2008 energy efﬁciency programs,
which will be collected in 2009 rates. At December 31, 2007,
“Other” mainly consisted of the distribution revenue adjustment mechanism account, which records and recovers the
authorized distribution revenue requirements and certain
other distribution-related authorized costs.
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N O T E 4: DEBT
LONG -TERM DEBT
The following table summarizes PG&E Corporation’s and
the Utility’s long-term debt:
Balance at December 31,
(in millions)

PG&E Corporation
Convertible subordinated notes,
9.50%, due 2010
Utility
Senior notes:
3.60% due 2009
4.20% due 2011
6.25% due 2013
4.80% due 2014
5.625% due 2017
8.25% due 2018
6.05% due 2034
5.80% due 2037
6.35% due 2038
Less: current portion
Unamortized discount, net of premium
Total senior notes
Pollution control bonds:
Series 1996 C, E, F, 1997 B, variable rates(1),
due 2026(2)
Series 1996 A, 5.35%, due 2016
Series 2004 A-D, 4.75%, due 2023
Series 2005 A-G, variable rates,
due 2016 and 2026(3)
Series 2008 A-D, variable rates(4),
due 2016 and 2026(5)
Series 2008 F and G, 3.75%(6),
due 2018 and 2026

2008

2007

$ 280

$ 280

600
500
400
1,000
700
800
3,000
700
400
(600)
(22)

600
500
—
1,000
500
—
3,000
700
—
—
(22)

7,478

6,278

614
200
345

614
200
345

—

454

309

—

95

—

1,563

1,613

Total Utility long-term debt,
net of current portion

9,041

7,891

Total consolidated long-term debt,
net of current portion

$9,321

$8,171

Total pollution control bonds

(1) At December 31, 2008, interest rates on these bonds and the related
loans ranged from 0.75% to 1.20%.
(2) Each series of these bonds is supported by a separate letter of credit, which
expires on February 24, 2012. Although the stated maturity date is 2026,
each series will remain outstanding only if the Utility extends or replaces
the letter of credit related to the series or otherwise obtains a consent
from the issuer to the continuation of the series without a credit facility.
(3) During 2008, the credit rating of the insurer of these bonds was
downgraded or put on review for possible downgrade by several credit
agencies, resulting in increased interest rates. To reduce interest expense,
the Utility repurchased $300 million of the 2005 bonds in March
2008 and the remaining $154 million in April 2008. In September and
October 2008, all of these series, except for the Series 2005 E bonds,
were refunded through the issuance of the Series 2008 A-D and F and
G bonds. See footnotes 4 and 5.
(4) At December 31, 2008, interest rates on these bonds and the related
loans ranged from 0.57% to 0.85%.
(5) Each series of these bonds is supported by a separate direct-pay letter
of credit, which expires on October 29, 2011. The Utility may choose to
provide a substitute letter of credit for any series of these bonds, subject
to a rating requirement.
(6) These bonds bear interest at 3.75% per year through September 19, 2010,
are subject to mandatory tender on September 10, 2010, and may be
remarketed in a ﬁxed or variable rate mode.

PG&E CORPORATION
Convertible Subordinated Notes
At December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation had outstanding
approximately $280 million of 9.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes that are scheduled to mature on June 30,
2010. These Convertible Subordinated Notes may be converted (at the option of the holder) at any time prior to
maturity into 18,558,059 shares of PG&E Corporation
common stock, at a conversion price of $15.09 per share.
The conversion price is subject to adjustment for signiﬁcant
changes in the number of outstanding shares of PG&E
Corporation’s common stock. In addition, holders of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes are entitled to receive
“pass-through dividends” determined by multiplying the cash
dividend paid by PG&E Corporation per share of common
stock by a number equal to the principal amount of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes divided by the conversion
price. During 2008, PG&E Corporation paid approximately
$28 million of pass-through dividends to the holders of
Convertible Subordinated Notes. On January 15, 2009,
PG&E Corporation paid approximately $7 million of
pass-through dividends.
On January 13, 2009, PG&E Corporation, upon request
by an investor, converted $28 million of Convertible
Subordinated Notes into 1,855,865 shares at the conversion
price of $15.09 per share. Total outstanding Convertible
Subordinated Notes after the conversion is approximately
$252 million.
In accordance with SFAS No. 133, the dividend participation rights of the Convertible Subordinated Notes are
considered to be embedded derivative instruments and, therefore, must be bifurcated from the Convertible Subordinated
Notes and recorded at fair value in PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. The payment of passthrough dividends is recognized as an operating cash ﬂow
in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Changes in the fair value are recognized in PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Statements of Income as a nonoperating expense or income (in Other income (expense),
net). At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the
total estimated fair value of the dividend participation
rights, on a pre-tax basis, was approximately $42 million
and $62 million, respectively, of which $28 million and

$25 million, respectively, was classiﬁed as a current liability
(in Current Liabilities — Other) and $14 million and
$37 million, respectively, was classiﬁed as a noncurrent
liability (in Noncurrent Liabilities — Other) in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The discount factor
used to value these rights was adjusted on January 1, 2008
in order to comply with the provisions of SFAS No. 157,
resulting in a $6 million increase in the liability. (See Note 12
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion of the implementation of SFAS No. 157.)
UTILITY
Senior Notes
At December 31, 2008, the Utility had outstanding approximately $8.1 billion of senior notes with various interest
rates and maturity dates, including the following issuances
made during 2008. On March 3, 2008, the Utility issued
$200 million principal amount of 5.625% Senior Notes due
November 30, 2017 and $400 million principal amount of
6.35% Senior Notes due February 15, 2038.
On October 21, 2008 and November 18, 2008, the Utility
issued $600 million and $200 million principal amount,
respectively, of 8.25% Senior Notes due October 15, 2018.
On November 18, 2008, the Utility also issued
$400 million principal amount of 6.25% Senior Notes
due December 1, 2013.
The Utility’s senior notes are unsecured and rank equally
with the Utility’s other senior unsecured and unsubordinated
debt. Under the indenture for the senior notes, the Utility
has agreed that it will not incur secured debt or engage in
sales leaseback transactions (except for (1) debt secured by
speciﬁed liens, and (2) aggregate other secured debt and sales
and leaseback transactions not exceeding 10% of the Utility’s
net tangible assets, as deﬁned in the indenture) unless the
Utility provides that the senior notes will be equally and
ratably secured.
Pollution Control Bonds
The California Pollution Control Financing Authority and
the California Infrastructure and Economic Development
Bank (“CIEDB”) have issued various series of tax-exempt
pollution control bonds for the beneﬁt of the Utility.
Under the pollution control bond loan agreements related
to the Series 1996 A bonds, the Series 2004 A-D bonds
and the Series 2008 F and G bonds, the Utility is obligated
to pay on the due dates an amount equal to the principal,
premium, if any, and interest on these bonds to the trustees
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for these bonds. With respect to the Series 1996 C, E, and
F bonds, the Series 1997 B bonds, and the Series 2008 A-D
bonds, the Utility reimburses the letter of credit providers
for their payments to the trustee for these bonds, or if a
letter of credit provider fails to pay under its respective letter
of credit, the Utility is obligated to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on those bonds. All payments on
the Series 1996 C, E, and F bonds, the Series 1997 B bonds,
and the Series 2008 A-D bonds are made through draws on
separate direct-pay letters of credit for each series issued by
a ﬁnancial institution.
All of the pollution control bonds ﬁnanced or reﬁnanced
pollution control facilities at the Geysers geothermal power
plant (“Geysers Project”) or at the Utility’s Diablo Canyon
nuclear power plant (“Diablo Canyon”) were issued as
“exempt facility bonds” within the meaning of Section 142(a)
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended (“Code”).
The Utility agrees not to take any action or fail to take any
action if any such action or inaction would cause the interest on the bonds to be taxable or to be other than exempt
facility bonds.
In 1999, the Utility sold the Geysers Project to Geysers
Power Company, LLC, pursuant to purchase and sale agreements that state that Geysers Power Company, LLC, will use
the bond-ﬁnanced facilities solely as pollution control facilities within the meaning of Section 103(b)(4)(F) of the Code.
Although Geysers Power Company, LLC, subsequently ﬁled
a petition for reorganization under Chapter 11, it assumed
the purchase and sale agreements under its Chapter 11 plan
of reorganization that became effective on January 31, 2008.
The Utility has no knowledge that Geysers Power Company,
LLC, intends to cease using the bond-ﬁnanced facilities solely
as pollution control bonds facilities within the meaning of
Section 103(b)(4)(F) of the Code.
The Utility has obtained credit support from insurance
companies for the Series 1996 A bonds and the Series 2004
A-D bonds, such that, if the Utility does not pay the
principal and interest on any series of these insured bonds,
the bond insurer for that series will pay the principal and
interest. The Series 2005 E bonds, which are currently held
by the Utility, are also insured.
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In 2005, the Utility purchased ﬁnancial guaranty insurance policies to insure the regularly scheduled payments on
$454 million of pollution control bonds series 2005 A-G
issued by the CIEDB. Interest rates on these bonds were set
at auction every 7 or 35 days. In January 2008, the insurer’s
credit rating was downgraded or put on review for possible
downgrade by several credit agencies. This, in addition to
credit issues that impacted the auction-rate securities markets, resulted in increases in interest rates for these bonds.
To reduce the interest rate expense, the Utility repurchased
$300 million of the bonds in March 2008 and the remaining $154 million in April 2008. The Utility refunded
$404 million of the bonds, as described below, and anticipates refunding the remaining $50 million of the bonds in
2009, subject to conditions in the tax-exempt bond market
and the liquidity needs of the Utility.
On September 22, 2008, the CIEDB issued $50 million
principal amount of pollution control bonds series F due
on November 1, 2026 and $45 million principal amount of
pollution control bonds series G due on December 1, 2018
for the beneﬁt of the Utility. These series of bonds refunded
the corresponding related series of 2005 bonds. Both series
bear interest at 3.75% per year through September 19, 2010
and are subject to mandatory tender on September 20,
2010 at a price of 100% of the principal amount plus
accrued interest. Thereafter, these series of bonds may
be remarketed in a ﬁxed or variable rate mode.
On October 29, 2008, the CIEDB issued approximately
$149 million principal amount of pollution control bonds
series A and B due on November 1, 2026 and $160 million
principal amount of pollution control bonds series C and D
due on December 1, 2016 for the beneﬁt of the Utility. These
series of bonds refunded the corresponding related series
of 2005 bonds. The bonds bear interest at variable interest
rates not to exceed 12% per year. As of December 31, 2008,
the interest rate on the bonds ranged from 0.57% to 0.85%
and resets weekly.

Repayment Schedule
At December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s combined aggregate principal repayment amounts of long-term
debt are reﬂected in the table below:
(in millions, except interest rates)

Long-term debt:
PG&E Corporation
Average ﬁxed interest rate
Fixed rate obligations
Utility
Average ﬁxed interest rate
Fixed rate obligations
Variable interest rate as of December 31, 2008
Variable rate obligations
Total consolidated long-term debt

2009

—
—

2010

9.50%
$ 280

2011

2012

2013

Thereafter

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Total

9.50%
$ 280

3.60%
$ 600
—
—

3.75%
$ 95
—
—

4.20%
$ 500
0.75%
$ 309(1)

—
—
0.92%
$ 614(2)

6.25%
$ 400
—
—

5.99%
$7,145
—
—

5.71%
$8,740
0.87%
$ 923

$ 600

$ 375

$ 809

$ 614

$ 400

$7,145

$9,943

(1) These bonds, due 2016-2026, are backed by a direct-pay letter of credit, which expires on October 29, 2011. The bonds will be subject to a mandatory
redemption unless the letter of credit is extended or replaced or the issuer consents to the continuation of these series without a credit facility.
Accordingly, the bonds have been classiﬁed for repayment purposes in 2011.
(2) The $614 million pollution control bonds, due in 2026, are backed by letters of credit, which expire on February 24, 2012. The bonds will be subject to
a mandatory redemption unless the letters of credit are extended or replaced. Accordingly, the bonds have been classiﬁed for repayment purposes in 2012.

CREDIT FACILITIES AND SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
The following table summarizes PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s short-term borrowings and outstanding credit facilities
at December 31, 2008:
(in millions)

Authorized Borrower

PG&E Corporation
Utility

At December 31, 2008

Facility

Revolving credit facility
Revolving credit facility

Termination
Date

$ 200
2,000(2)
$2,200

Facility
Limit

February 2012
February 2012

Total credit facilities

Letters
of Credit
Outstanding

(1)

Cash
Borrowings

Commercial
Paper
Backup

Availability

$ —
287

$—
—

$ —
287

$ 200
1,426

$287

$—

$287

$1,626

(1) Includes a $50 million sublimit for letters of credit and $100 million sublimit for “swingline” loans, deﬁned as loans that are made available on a
same-day basis and are repayable in full within 30 days.
(2) Includes a $950 million sublimit for letters of credit and $100 million sublimit for swingline loans.

PG&E CORPORATION
Revolving Credit Facility
PG&E Corporation has a $200 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of lenders that expires on February 26,
2012. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility and
letters of credit may be used for working capital and other
corporate purposes. PG&E Corporation can, at any time,
repay amounts outstanding in whole or in part. At PG&E
Corporation’s request and at the sole discretion of each
lender, the revolving credit facility may be extended for
additional periods. PG&E Corporation has the right to
increase, in one or more requests given no more than once

a year, the aggregate facility by up to $100 million provided
certain conditions are met. The fees and interest rates PG&E
Corporation pays under the revolving credit facility vary
depending on the Utility’s unsecured debt ratings issued
by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service (“S&P”) and Moody’s
Investors Service (“Moody’s”). As of December 31, 2008, the
commitment from Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB (“Lehman
Bank”) represented approximately $13 million, or 7%, of
the total borrowing capacity under the revolving credit
facility. PG&E Corporation does not expect that Lehman
Bank will fund any borrowings or letter of credit draws
under the revolving credit facility.

107

The revolving credit facility includes usual and customary covenants for credit facilities of this type, including
covenants limiting liens, mergers, sales of all or substantially
all of PG&E Corporation’s assets, and other fundamental
changes. In general, the covenants, representations, and events
of default mirror those in the Utility’s revolving credit facility, discussed below. In addition, the revolving credit facility
also requires that PG&E Corporation maintain a ratio of
total consolidated debt to total consolidated capitalization
of at most 65% and that PG&E Corporation own, directly
or indirectly, at least 80% of the common stock and at least
70% of the voting securities of the Utility. At December 31,
2008, PG&E Corporation met both of these tests.
UTILITY
Revolving Credit Facility
The Utility has a $2 billion revolving credit facility with
a syndicate of lenders that expires on February 26, 2012.
Borrowings under the revolving credit facility and letters of
credit are used primarily for liquidity and to provide credit
enhancements to counterparties for natural gas and energy
procurement transactions. The Utility treats the amount
of its outstanding commercial paper as a reduction to the
amount available under its revolving credit facility so that
liquidity from the revolving credit facility is available to
repay outstanding commercial paper. As of December 31,
2008, the commitment from Lehman Bank represented
approximately $60 million, or 3%, of the revolving credit
facility. Lehman Bank has failed to fund its portion of borrowings under the revolving credit facility since September
2008 and the Utility does not expect that Lehman Bank will
fund any future borrowings or letter of credit draws.
The revolving credit facility includes usual and customary
covenants for credit facilities of this type, including covenants
limiting liens to those permitted under the senior notes’
indenture, mergers, sales of all or substantially all of the
Utility’s assets, and other fundamental changes. In addition,
the revolving credit facility also requires that the Utility
maintain a debt to capitalization ratio of at most 65% as
of the end of each ﬁscal quarter. At December 31, 2008, the
Utility met this ratio test.
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Commercial Paper Program
The Utility has a $1.75 billion commercial paper program,
the borrowings from which are used primarily to cover
ﬂuctuations in cash ﬂow requirements. Liquidity support
for these borrowings is provided by available capacity under
the Utility’s revolving credit facility, as described above.
The commercial paper may have maturities up to 365 days
and ranks equally with the Utility’s other unsubordinated
and unsecured indebtedness. Commercial paper notes are
sold at an interest rate dictated by the market at the time
of issuance. At December 31, 2008, the average yield was
approximately 2.48%.

N O T E 5: EN ERGY REC O V ERY
BO N DS AN D RAT E
REDU C T IO N BO N DS
ENERGY RECOVERY BONDS
In conjunction with the Chapter 11 Settlement Agreement,
the Utility was authorized to recover $2.2 billion, resulting in a regulatory asset. (See Note 3 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.) To lower the cost borne
by customers, ERBs were issued to ﬁnance the regulatory
asset at an interest rate lower than the rate of return allowed
on the regulatory asset. In 2005, PG&E Energy Recovery
Funding, LLC (“PERF”), a wholly owned consolidated subsidiary of the Utility, issued two separate series of ERBs in
the aggregate amount of $2.7 billion supported by a dedicated rate component (“DRC”). The proceeds of the ERBs
were used by PERF to purchase from the Utility the right,
known as “recovery property,” to be paid a speciﬁed amount
from a DRC. DRC charges are authorized by the CPUC
under state legislation and will be paid by the Utility’s
electricity customers until the ERBs are fully retired. Under
the terms of a recovery property servicing agreement, DRC
charges are collected by the Utility and remitted to PERF for
payment of the bond principal, interest, and miscellaneous
expenses associated with the bonds.

The ﬁrst series of ERBs issued on February 10, 2005 included ﬁve classes aggregating approximately $1.9 billion principal
amount with scheduled maturities ranging from September 25, 2006 to December 25, 2012. Interest rates on the remaining
four outstanding classes range from 3.87% for the earliest maturing class to 4.47% for the latest maturing class. The proceeds
of the ﬁrst series of ERBs were paid by PERF to the Utility and were used by the Utility to reﬁnance the remaining unamortized after-tax balance of the settlement regulatory asset. The second series of ERBs, issued on November 9, 2005, included
three classes aggregating approximately $844 million principal amount, with scheduled maturities ranging from June 25, 2009
to December 25, 2012. Interest rates on the three classes range from 4.85% for the earliest maturing class to 5.12% for the
latest maturing class. The proceeds of the second series of ERBs were paid by PERF to the Utility to pre-fund the Utility’s
tax liability that will be due as the Utility collects the DRC charges from customers.
The total amount of ERB principal outstanding was $1.6 billion at December 31, 2008 and $1.9 billion at December 31,
2007. The scheduled principal repayments for ERBs are reﬂected in the table below:
(in millions)

Utility
Average ﬁxed interest rate
Energy recovery bonds

While PERF is a wholly owned consolidated subsidiary
of the Utility, it is legally separate from the Utility. The
assets (including the recovery property) of PERF are not
available to creditors of the Utility or PG&E Corporation,
and the recovery property is not legally an asset of the
Utility or PG&E Corporation.
RATE REDUCTION BONDS
In December 1997, PG&E Funding LLC, a limited liability
corporation wholly owned by and consolidated with the
Utility, issued $2.9 billion of rate reduction bonds (“RRBs”).
The proceeds of the RRBs were used by PG&E Funding
LLC to purchase from the Utility the right, known as
“transition property,” to be paid a speciﬁed amount from
a non-bypassable charge levied on residential and small
commercial customers. The RRBs were paid in full when
they matured on December 26, 2007 and there are no
future principal or interest payments.

2009

2010

2011

2012

Total

4.36%
$ 370

4.49%
$ 386

4.59%
$ 404

4.66%
$ 423

4.53%
$1,583

NEGT and its subsidiaries in its consolidated income tax
returns beginning October 29, 2004. PG&E Corporation
will continue to report resolution of NEGT matters in
discontinued operations.
On the effective date, PG&E Corporation recorded
a net of tax gain on disposal of NEGT of $684 million.
On October 28, 2008, PG&E Corporation resolved 2001-2004
audits with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and recognized after-tax income of approximately $257 million in the
fourth quarter of 2008, of which $154 million was related
to NEGT and recorded as income from discontinued
operations. See Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion of the resolution
of the 2001-2004 audits.
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets included the following assets
and liabilities related to NEGT:
(in millions)

NOTE 6 : DISCONT INUE D
O PER ATI O NS
National Energy & Gas Transmission, Inc. (“NEGT”) was
incorporated on December 18, 1998 as a wholly owned
subsidiary of PG&E Corporation. NEGT ﬁled a voluntary
petition for relief under Chapter 11 on July 8, 2003. On
October 29, 2004, NEGT’s plan of reorganization became
effective (“effective date”), at which time NEGT emerged
from Chapter 11 and PG&E Corporation’s equity ownership
in NEGT was cancelled. PG&E Corporation ceased including

Current Assets
Income taxes receivable
Current Liabilities
Income taxes payable
Other
Noncurrent Liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes
Other

2008

2007

$137

$33

—
10

—
11

3
7
12

74
34
14
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NO T E 7 : C OM M ON ST OCK
PG&E CORPORATION
PG&E Corporation has authorized 800 million shares
of no-par common stock, of which 362,346,685 shares were
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 379,646,276
shares were issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007.
At December 31, 2007, Elm Power Corporation, a wholly
owned subsidiary of PG&E Corporation, held 24,665,500
shares of PG&E Corporation common stock. Effective
August 29, 2008, Elm Power Corporation was dissolved,
and the shares subsequently cancelled.
Of the 362,346,685 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2008, 1,287,569 shares were granted as restricted
stock as share-based compensation awarded under the PG&E
Corporation Long-Term Incentive Program and the 2006
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2006 LTIP”), and 6,876,919 shares
were issued upon the exercise of employee stock options,
for the account of 401(k) plan participants, and for the
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. (See Note 14
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
UTILITY
The Utility is authorized to issue 800 million shares of
its $5 par value common stock, of which 264,374,809
shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2008 and 282,916,485 shares were issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, PG&E
Holdings, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Utility,
held 19,481,213 shares of the Utility common stock. Effective
August 29, 2008, PG&E Holdings, LLC, was dissolved, and
the shares subsequently cancelled. As of December 31, 2008,
PG&E Corporation held all of the Utility’s outstanding
common stock.
The Utility may pay common stock dividends and
repurchase its common stock, provided that cumulative
preferred dividends on its preferred stock are paid.
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DIVIDENDS
During 2008, the Utility paid common stock dividends
totaling $589 million, including $568 million of common
stock dividends paid to PG&E Corporation and $21 million
of common stock dividends paid to PG&E Holdings, LLC.
During 2008, PG&E Corporation paid common stock
dividends of $1.53 per share, totaling $573 million, including $28 million that was paid to Elm Power Corporation.
On December 17, 2008, the Board of Directors of PG&E
Corporation declared a dividend of $0.39 per share, totaling
$141 million, which was paid on January 15, 2009 to shareholders of record on December 31, 2008.
During 2007, the Utility paid common stock dividends of
$547 million. Approximately $509 million of common stock
dividends were paid to PG&E Corporation and the remaining amount was paid to PG&E Holdings, LLC. During 2007,
PG&E Corporation paid common stock dividends of $1.41
per share totaling $529 million, including approximately
$35 million that was paid to Elm Power Corporation.
During 2006, the Utility paid common stock dividends of
$494 million. Approximately $460 million of common stock
dividends were paid to PG&E Corporation and the remaining amount was paid to PG&E Holdings, LLC. During 2006,
PG&E Corporation paid common stock dividends of $1.32
per share, totaling $489 million, including approximately
$33 million that was paid to Elm Power Corporation.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility record common stock
dividends declared to Reinvested earnings.

NOTE 8 : P REFERRE D ST OCK
PG&E Corporation has authorized 85 million shares
of preferred stock, which may be issued as redeemable or
nonredeemable preferred stock. No preferred stock of PG&E
Corporation has been issued.
UTILITY
The Utility has authorized 75 million shares of $25 par
value preferred stock and 10 million shares of $100 par value
preferred stock. The Utility speciﬁes that 5,784,825 shares
of the $25 par value preferred stock authorized are designated as nonredeemable preferred stock without mandatory
redemption provisions. The remainder of the 75 million
shares of $25 par value preferred stock and the 10 million
shares of $100 par value preferred stock may be issued as
redeemable or nonredeemable preferred stock.
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Utility had issued
and outstanding 5,784,825 shares of nonredeemable $25 par
value preferred stock without mandatory redemption provisions. Holders of the Utility’s 5.0%, 5.5%, and 6.0% series
of nonredeemable $25 par value preferred stock have rights
to annual dividends ranging from $1.25 to $1.50 per share.
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Utility had issued
and outstanding 4,534,958 shares of redeemable $25 par
value preferred stock without mandatory redemption provisions. The Utility’s redeemable $25 par value preferred stock
is subject to redemption at the Utility’s option, in whole
or in part, if the Utility pays the speciﬁed redemption
price plus accumulated and unpaid dividends through the
redemption date. At December 31, 2008, annual dividends
ranged from $1.09 to $1.25 per share and redemption
prices ranged from $25.75 to $27.25 per share.
The last of the Utility’s redeemable $25 par value preferred
stock with mandatory redemption provisions was redeemed
on May 31, 2005. Currently the Utility does not have any
shares of the $100 par value preferred stock with or without
mandatory redemption provisions outstanding.

Dividends on all Utility preferred stock are cumulative.
All shares of preferred stock have voting rights and an
equal preference in dividend and liquidation rights. During
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, the
Utility paid approximately $14 million of dividends on
preferred stock without mandatory redemption provisions.
On December 17, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Utility
declared a cash dividend on its outstanding series of preferred stock totaling approximately $3 million that was paid
on February 15, 2009 to shareholders of record on January 30,
2009. Upon liquidation or dissolution of the Utility, holders
of preferred stock would be entitled to the par value of
such shares plus all accumulated and unpaid dividends,
as speciﬁed for the class and series.

N O T E 9: EARN IN GS PER S H A R E
Earnings per common share (“EPS”) is calculated utilizing
the “two-class” method, by dividing the sum of distributed
earnings to common shareholders and undistributed earnings
allocated to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period.
In applying the “two-class” method, undistributed earnings
are allocated to both common shares and participating
securities. PG&E Corporation’s Convertible Subordinated
Notes are entitled to receive pass-through dividends and
meet the criteria of a participating security. All PG&E
Corporation’s participating securities participate on a 1:1
basis with shares of common stock.
PG&E Corporation applies the treasury stock method of
reﬂecting the dilutive effect of outstanding stock-based compensation in the calculation of diluted EPS in accordance
with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS No. 128”).
Under SFAS No. 128, PG&E Corporation is required to
assume that shares underlying stock options, other stockbased compensation, and warrants are issued and that
the proceeds received by PG&E Corporation from exercise
of these options and warrants are assumed to be used to
purchase common shares at the average market price during
the reported period. The incremental shares, the difference
between the number of shares assumed issued upon exercise
and the number of shares assumed purchased is included
in weighted average common shares outstanding for the
purpose of calculating diluted EPS.
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The following is a reconciliation of PG&E Corporation’s net income and weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding for calculating basic and diluted net income per share:
Year ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share amounts)

2008

2007

2006

$1,338
560

$1,006
508

$ 991
460

778
154

498
—

531
—

Undistributed earnings from continuing operations

$ 624

$ 498

$ 531

Common shareholders’ earnings
Basic
Distributed earnings to common shareholders
Undistributed earnings allocated to common shareholders — continuing operations
Undistributed earnings allocated to common shareholders — discontinued operations

$ 560
592
146

$ 508
472
—

$ 460
503
—

$1,298

$ 980

$ 963

$ 560
593
146

$ 508
473
—

$ 460
504
—

$1,299

$ 981

$ 964

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
9.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes

357
19

351
19

346
19

Weighted average common shares outstanding and participating securities, basic

376

370

365

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
Employee share-based compensation and accelerated share repurchases(1)

357
1

351
2

346
3

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted
9.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes

358
19

353
19

349
19

Weighted average common shares outstanding and participating securities, diluted

377

372

368

$1.57
1.66
0.41

$1.45
1.34
—

$1.33
1.45
—

$3.64

$2.79

$2.78

$1.56
1.66
0.41

$1.44
1.34
—

$1.32
1.44
—

$3.63

$2.78

$2.76

Net Income
Less: distributed earnings to common shareholders
Undistributed earnings
Less: undistributed earnings from discontinued operations

Total common shareholders’ earnings, basic
Diluted
Distributed earnings to common shareholders
Undistributed earnings allocated to common shareholders — continuing operations
Undistributed earnings allocated to common shareholders — discontinued operations
Total common shareholders’ earnings, diluted

Net earnings per common share, basic
Distributed earnings, basic(2)
Undistributed earnings — continuing operations, basic
Undistributed earnings — discontinued operations, basic
Total
Net earnings per common share, diluted
Distributed earnings, diluted
Undistributed earnings — continuing operations, diluted
Undistributed earnings — discontinued operations, diluted
Total

(1) Includes approximately one million shares of PG&E Corporation common stock treated as outstanding in connection with accelerated share repurchase
agreements (“ASRs”) for 2006. The remaining shares of approximately two million at December 31, 2006 relate to share-based compensation and are
deemed to be outstanding under SFAS No. 128 for the purpose of calculating EPS. PG&E Corporation has no remaining obligation under these ASRs
as of December 31, 2007.
(2) “Distributed earnings, basic” differs from actual per share amounts paid as dividends, as the EPS computation under GAAP requires the use of the
weighted average, rather than the actual number, of shares outstanding.

PG&E Corporation stock options to purchase 11,935 and 7,285 shares were excluded from the computation of diluted
EPS for 2008 and 2007, respectively, because the exercise prices of these options were greater than the average market price
of PG&E Corporation common stock during these years. All PG&E Corporation stock options were included in the
computation of diluted EPS for 2006 because the exercise price of these stock options was lower than the average market
price of PG&E Corporation common stock during the year.
PG&E Corporation reﬂects the preferred dividends of subsidiaries as other expense for computation of both basic and
diluted EPS.
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NOTE 1 0 : INCOM E TAXE S
The signiﬁcant components of income tax (beneﬁt) expense for continuing operations were:
PG&E Corporation

Utility

Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

Current:
Federal
State
Deferred:
Federal
State
Tax credits, net
Income tax expense

2008

2007

2006

2008

2007

2006

$(268)
33

$526
140

$ 743
201

$(188)
24

$563
149

$ 771
210

604
62
(6)

(81)
(40)
(6)

(286)
(98)
(6)

596
62
(6)

(92)
(43)
(6)

(276)
(97)
(6)

$539

$ 554

$571

$ 602

$ 425

$ 488

The following describes net deferred income tax liabilities:
PG&E Corporation

Utility

Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

2008

2007

Deferred income tax assets:
Customer advances for construction
Reserve for damages
Environmental reserve
Compensation
Other

$ 199
130
225
339
231

$ 143
173
172
162
289

$ 199
129
225
306
201

$ 143
173
172
129
261

Total deferred income tax assets

$1,124

$ 939

$1,060

$ 878

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Regulatory balancing accounts
Property-related basis differences
Income tax regulatory asset
Unamortized loss on reacquired debt
Other

$1,425
2,819
345
102
81

$1,219
2,290
298
110
75

$1,425
2,813
345
102
81

$1,219
2,293
298
110
66

Total deferred income tax liabilities

$4,772

$3,992

$4,766

$3,986

Total net deferred income tax liabilities

$3,648

$3,053

$3,706

$3,108

$ 251
3,397

$

—
3,053

$ 257
3,449

$

$3,648

$3,053

$3,706

$3,108

Classiﬁcation of net deferred income tax liabilities:
Included in current liabilities
Included in noncurrent liabilities
Total net deferred income tax liabilities

4
3,104

The differences between income taxes and amounts calculated by applying the federal statutory rate to income before
income tax expense for continuing operations were:
PG&E Corporation

Utility

Year ended December 31,

Federal statutory income tax rate
Increase (decrease) in income tax rate resulting from:
State income tax (net of federal beneﬁt)
Effect of regulatory treatment of ﬁxed asset differences
Tax credits, net
IRS audit settlements
Other, net
Effective tax rate

2008

2007

2006

2008

2007

2006

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

3.1
(3.2)
(0.5)
(7.1)
(0.9)

4.2
(3.0)
(0.7)
—
(0.6)

4.3
(1.2)
(0.6)
—
(1.6)

3.3
(3.1)
(0.5)
(4.1)
(1.7)

4.3
(2.9)
(0.7)
—
0.1

4.6
(1.1)
(0.6)
—
0.1

26.4%

34.9%

35.9%

28.9%

35.8%

38.0%

113

On January 1, 2007, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”).
Under FIN 48, a tax beneﬁt can be recognized only if it is
more likely than not that a tax position taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return will be sustained upon examination
by taxing authorities based on the merits of the position. The
tax beneﬁt recognized in the ﬁnancial statements is measured
based on the largest amount of beneﬁt that is greater than
50% likely of being realized upon settlement. The difference
between a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return and the beneﬁt recognized and measured pursuant
to FIN 48 represents an unrecognized tax beneﬁt. An unrecognized tax beneﬁt is a liability that represents a potential
future obligation to the taxing authority.

$2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008, and $55 million and $22 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility do not expect the
company’s total amount of unrecognized tax beneﬁts to
change signiﬁcantly within the next 12 months.
On July 9, 2008, PG&E Corporation was notiﬁed
that the U.S. Congress’ Joint Committee on Taxation
(“Joint Committee”) had approved a settlement reached
with the IRS appellate division in the ﬁrst quarter of 2007
for tax years 1997 through 2000. As a result of the settlement,
PG&E Corporation received a $16 million refund from
the IRS in October 2008. This settlement did not result in
material changes to the amount of unrecognized tax beneﬁts
that PG&E Corporation recorded under FIN 48.

On June 20, 2008, PG&E Corporation reached an agreement with the IRS regarding a change in accounting method
related to the capitalization of indirect service costs for
PG&E
(in millions)
Corporation
Utility tax years 2001 through 2004. This agreement resulted in
Balance at January 1, 2007
$ 212
$ 90 a $29 million beneﬁt from a reduction in interest expense
Additions for tax position of prior years
15
4 accrued on unrecognized tax beneﬁts partially offset by a
Reductions for tax position of prior years
(18)
— $15 million liability associated with unrecognized state tax
Balance at December 31, 2007
209
94 beneﬁts, for a net tax beneﬁt of approximately $14 million.
Additions for tax position of prior years
43
20 In addition, on June 27, 2008, PG&E Corporation agreed
Decreases as a result of settlements
to the revenue agent reports (“RARs”) from the IRS that
with the IRS
(177)
(77)
reﬂected this agreement and resolved 2001 through 2004
$ 37 audit issues. The RARs for the 2001 through 2004 audit
Balance at December 31, 2008
$ 75
years were submitted to the Joint Committee for approval.
The component of unrecognized tax beneﬁts that, if recogOn October 28, 2008, the IRS executed a closing
nized, would affect the effective tax rate at December 31, 2008
agreement for the 2001 through 2004 audit years after
for PG&E Corporation and the Utility is $46 million and
the Joint Committee indicated it took no exception to the
$24 million, respectively.
settlement. As a result of the settlement, PG&E Corporation
PG&E Corporation and the Utility recognized a reducrecognized after-tax income of approximately $257 million,
tion in interest and penalties expense on unrecognized tax
including interest, in the fourth quarter of 2008, of which
beneﬁts by $44 million and $21 million, respectively, as
approximately $154 million was related to NEGT and recorded
of December 31, 2008. PG&E Corporation and the Utility
as income from discontinued operations, and approximately
recognized interest and penalties expense on unrecognized
$60 million was attributable to the Utility. PG&E Corporation
tax beneﬁts of $7 million and $2 million, respectively, as of
expects to receive a tax refund from the IRS of approximately
December 31, 2007. Interest and penalties expense is classiﬁed
$310 million, plus interest, as a result of the settlement,
as Income tax provision in the Consolidated Statements
of which approximately $170 million will be allocated to
of Income. Interest and penalties expense included in the
the Utility. The after-tax income of $257 million includes
liability for uncertain tax position was $11 million and
approximately $204 million, primarily related to a reduction
in PG&E Corporation’s unrecognized tax beneﬁts and
additional claims allowed, and approximately $53 million
related to the utilization of federal capital loss carry forwards.
The following table reconciles the changes in unrecognized
tax beneﬁts during 2008 and 2007:
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On December 24, 2008, PG&E Corporation ﬁled claims
with the California Franchise Tax Board to reduce tax on
income related to generator settlements from 2004 through
2007. As a result of the claims, the Utility recorded a tax
beneﬁt of $16 million in the fourth quarter 2008.
On January 30, 2009, PG&E Corporation reached a
tentative agreement with the IRS to resolve refund claims
related to the 1998 and 1999 tax years that, if approved
by the Joint Committee, would result in a cash refund of
approximately $200 million, plus interest. The refund would
result in net income of approximately $50 million. Because
the agreement is subject to Joint Committee approval, PG&E
Corporation has not recognized any beneﬁt associated with
the potential refund.
As of December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation had
$68 million of federal capital loss carry forwards based
on tax returns as ﬁled, of which approximately $30 million
will expire if not used by tax year 2009.
The IRS is currently auditing tax years 2005 through
2007. For tax year 2008, PG&E Corporation has been
participating in the IRS’s Compliance Assurance Process
(“CAP”), a real-time audit process intended to expedite the
resolution of issues raised during audits. To date, no material
adjustments have been proposed for either the 2005 through
2007 audit or for the 2008 CAP, except for adjustments to
reﬂect rollover impact of items settled from prior audits.
The California Franchise Tax Board is currently auditing
PG&E Corporation’s 2004 and 2005 combined California
income tax returns. To date, no material adjustments have
been proposed. In addition to the federal capital loss carry
forwards, PG&E Corporation has $2.1 billion of California
capital loss carry forwards based on tax returns as ﬁled,
the majority of which expired in tax year 2008.

N O T E 11: DERIVAT IV ES
AN D H EDGIN G AC T IV IT IES
The Utility enters into contracts to procure electricity,
natural gas, nuclear fuel, and ﬁrm transmission rights,
some of which meet the deﬁnition of a derivative under
SFAS No. 133. These contracts include physical and ﬁnancial instruments, such as forwards, futures, swaps, options,
and other instruments and agreements, and are primarily
intended to reduce the volatility in the cost of electricity,
natural gas, nuclear fuel, and ﬁrm transmission rights. The
Utility uses derivative instruments only for non-trading purposes (i.e., risk mitigation) and not for speculative purposes.
The Utility also has derivative instruments for the physical
delivery of commodities transacted in the normal course
of business. These derivative instruments are eligible for the
normal purchase and sales exception under SFAS No. 133,
where physical delivery is probable, in quantities that are
expected to be used by the Utility over a reasonable period
in the normal course of business, and where the price is not
tied to an unrelated underlying. Instruments that are eligible
for the normal purchase and sales exception are not reﬂected
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
All such derivative instruments, including instruments
designated as cash ﬂow hedges, are recorded at fair value
and presented as price risk management assets and liabilities
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see table below). As a
result of applying the provisions of SFAS No. 71, unrealized
changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are
deferred and recorded to regulatory assets or liabilities.
Under the same regulatory accounting treatment, changes
in the fair value of cash ﬂow hedges are also recorded to
regulatory assets or liabilities, rather than being deferred
in accumulated other comprehensive income.

115

In PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, price risk management assets and liabilities
associated with the Utility’s electricity and gas procurement activities are presented on a net basis by counterparty where
the right of offset exists. As PG&E Corporation and the Utility adopted the provisions of FIN 39-1 on January 1, 2008,
the net balances include outstanding cash collateral associated with derivative positions. (See Note 2 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the adoption of FIN 39-1.) The table below shows the total price risk
management derivative balances and the portions that are designated as cash ﬂow hedges as of December 31, 2008:
Price Risk Management Derivatives Balance at December 31, 2008

(in millions)

Current Assets — Prepaid expenses and other
Other Noncurrent Assets — Other
Current Liabilities — Other
Noncurrent Liabilities — Other

Derivatives with
No Hedge
Designation

Designated as
Cash Flow
Hedges

$ 55
81
132
150

$ —
—
139
211

Cash
Collateral

$ 55
67
(75)
(69)

Total Price Risk
Management
Derivatives

$110
148
196
292

The table below shows the total price risk management derivative balances and the portions that are designated as cash
ﬂow hedges as of December 31, 2007:
Price Risk Management Derivatives Balance at December 31, 2007

(in millions)

Current Assets — Prepaid expenses and other
Other Noncurrent Assets — Other
Current Liabilities — Other
Noncurrent Liabilities — Other

Derivatives with
No Hedge
Designation

$54
83
71
17

Designated as
Cash Flow
Hedges

$ (2) (1)
42
12
3

Cash
Collateral(2)

Total Price Risk
Management
Derivatives

$ 3
46
(16)
—

$ 55
171
67
20

(1) $2 million of the cash ﬂow hedges in a liability position at December 31, 2007 related to counterparties for which the total net derivatives position is
a current asset.
(2) The net cash collateral receivable balance was classiﬁed as Current Assets — Prepaid expenses and other in the 2007 Annual Report. Amounts have been
reclassiﬁed in accordance with FIN 39-1.

As of December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the
Utility had cash ﬂow hedges with expiration dates through
December 2012 for energy contract derivative instruments.
Upon settlement of derivative instruments, including
those derivative instruments for which the normal purchase
and sales exception has been elected and derivative instruments designated as cash ﬂow hedges, any gains or losses
are recorded in the cost of electricity and the cost of natural
gas. All costs of electricity and natural gas are passed through
to customers. Cash inﬂows and outﬂows associated with
the settlement of price risk management transactions are
recognized in operating cash ﬂows on PG&E Corporation’s
and the Utility’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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The dividend participation rights of PG&E Corporation’s
Convertible Subordinated Notes, considered to be derivative
instruments, are recorded at fair value in PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with SFAS
No. 133. The dividend participation rights are not considered price risk management instruments, and thus are not
included in the tables above. (See Note 4 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes.)

NOTE 1 2 : FAIR VALUE
MEA SUREMENT S
On January 1, 2008, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, which deﬁnes fair
value measurements and implements a hierarchical disclosure
requirement. SFAS No. 157 deferred the disclosure of the
hierarchy for certain non-ﬁnancial instruments to ﬁscal years
beginning after November 15, 2008.
SFAS No. 157 deﬁnes fair value as “the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date,” or the “exit price.” Accordingly, an entity
must determine the fair value of an asset or liability based
on the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability, not those of the reporting entity
itself. The identiﬁcation of market participant assumptions
provides a basis for determining what inputs are to be used
for pricing each asset or liability. Additionally, SFAS No. 157
establishes a fair value hierarchy that gives precedence to fair
value measurements calculated using observable inputs over
those using unobservable inputs. Accordingly, the following
levels were established for each input:
• Level 1: “Inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted)

in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date.” Active markets are those in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufﬁcient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on
an ongoing basis. Instruments classiﬁed as Level 1 consist
of ﬁnancial instruments such as exchange-traded derivatives
(other than options), listed equities, and U.S. government
treasury securities.
• Level 2: “Inputs other than quoted prices included in

• Level 3: “Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.”

These are inputs for which there is no market data available, or observable inputs that are adjusted using Level 3
assumptions. Instruments classiﬁed as Level 3 consist
primarily of ﬁnancial and physical instruments such
as options, non-exchange-traded derivatives valued using
broker quotes, and new and/or complex instruments
that have immature or limited markets.
SFAS No. 157 is applied prospectively with limited
exceptions. One such exception relates to SFAS No. 157’s
nulliﬁcation of a portion of EITF No. 02-3, “Issues Involved
in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading
Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and
Risk Management Activities” (“EITF 02-3”). Prior to the
issuance of SFAS No. 157, EITF 02-3 prohibited an entity
from recognizing a day-one gain or loss on derivative contracts based on the use of unobservable inputs. A day-one
gain or loss is the difference between the transaction price
and the fair value of the contract on the day the derivative
contract is executed (i.e., at inception). Prior to the adoption
of SFAS No. 157, the Utility did not record any day-one
gains associated with Congestion Revenue Rights (“CRRs”)
as the fair value was based primarily on unobservable market
data. (CRRs allow market participants, including load serving entities, to hedge the ﬁnancial risk of congestion charges
imposed by the CAISO in the day-ahead market to be established when the CAISO’s Market Redesign and Technology
Upgrade (“MRTU”) becomes effective.) The costs associated
with procuring CRRs are currently being recovered in rates
or are probable of recovery in future rates. The adoption of
SFAS No. 157 permitted the Utility to record day-one gains
associated with CRRs resulting in a $48 million increase
in price risk management assets and the related regulatory
liabilities as of January 1, 2008.

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.” Instruments classiﬁed as Level 2 consist of ﬁnancial instruments such as non-exchange-traded
derivatives (other than options) valued using exchange
inputs and exchange-traded derivatives (other than options)
for which the market is not active.
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The following table sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level of PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s recurring fair
value ﬁnancial instruments as of December 31, 2008. The instruments are classiﬁed based on the lowest level of input that is
signiﬁcant to the fair value measurement. PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s assessment of the signiﬁcance of a particular
input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and
their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.
PG&E Corporation
Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets:
Money market investments (held by PG&E Corporation)
Nuclear decommissioning trusts(1)
Rabbi trusts
Long-term disability trust

$ 164
1,505
66
99

$ —
289
—
—

$ 12
5
—
78

$ 176
1,799
66
177

$1,834

$289

$ 95

$2,218

—
(49)
—

$ —
123
—

$ 42
156
2

$

$ (49)

$123

$200

$ 274

Assets Total
Liabilities:
Dividend participation rights
Price risk management instruments(2)
Other
Liabilities Total

$

42
230
2

(1) Excludes taxes on appreciation of investment value.
(2) Balances include the impact of netting adjustments in accordance with the requirements of FIN 39-1 of $159 million to Level 1, $32 million to Level 2,
and $76 million to Level 3.
Utility
Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts(1)
Long-term disability trust

$1,505
99

$289
—

$ 5
78

$1,799
177

$1,604

$289

$ 83

$1,976

$ (49)
—

$123
—

$156
2

$ 230
2

$ (49)

$123

$158

$ 232

Assets Total
Liabilities:
Price risk management instruments(2)
Other
Liabilities Total

(1) Excludes taxes on appreciation of investment value.
(2) Balances include the impact of netting adjustments in accordance with the requirements of FIN 39-1 of $159 million to Level 1, $32 million to Level 2,
and $76 million to Level 3.

PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s fair value
measurements incorporate various factors required under
SFAS No. 157 such as the credit standing of the counterparties involved, nonperformance risk including the risk of
nonperformance by PG&E Corporation and the Utility on
their liabilities, the applicable exit market, and speciﬁc risks
inherent in the instrument. Nonperformance and credit
risk adjustments on the Utility’s price risk management
instruments are based on current market inputs when
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available, such as credit default swap spreads. When such
information is not available, internal models may be used.
As of December 31, 2008, the nonperformance and credit
risk adjustment represents approximately 5% of the net price
risk management value. As permitted under SFAS No. 157,
PG&E Corporation and the Utility utilize a mid-market
pricing convention (the mid-point between bid and ask
prices) as a practical expedient in valuing the majority
of its derivative assets and liabilities at fair value.

MONEY MARKET INVESTMENTS
PG&E Corporation invests in AAA-rated money market
funds that seek to maintain a stable net asset value. These
funds invest in high quality, short-term, diversiﬁed money
market instruments, such as treasury bills, federal agency
securities, certiﬁcates of deposit, and commercial paper with
a maximum weighted average maturity of 60 days or less.
PG&E Corporation’s investments in these money market
funds are generally valued based on observable inputs such
as expected yield and credit quality and are thus classiﬁed
as Level 1 instruments. Approximately $164 million held in
money market funds are recorded as Cash and cash equivalents in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
As of December 31, 2008, PG&E Corporation classiﬁed
approximately $12 million invested in one money market
fund as a Level 3 instrument because the fund manager
imposed restrictions on fund participants’ redemption
requests. PG&E Corporation’s investment in this money
market fund, previously recorded as Cash and cash equivalents, is recorded as Prepaid expenses and other in PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
TRUST ASSETS
The nuclear decommissioning trusts, the rabbi trusts related
to the non-qualiﬁed deferred compensation plans, and the
long-term disability trust hold primarily equities, debt securities, mutual funds, and life insurance policies. These instruments are generally valued based on unadjusted prices in
active markets for identical transactions or unadjusted prices
in active markets for similar transactions. The rabbi trusts
are classiﬁed as Current Assets-Prepaid expenses and other
and Other Noncurrent Assets-Other in PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The long-term disability trust is
classiﬁed as Current Liabilities-Other in PG&E Corporation’s
and the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, representing a
net obligation as the projected obligation exceeds plan assets.

The Consolidated Balance Sheets of PG&E Corporation
and the Utility contain assets held in trust for the PG&E
Retirement Plan Master Trust, the Postretirement Life
Insurance Trust, and the Postretirement Medical Trusts
presented on a net basis. The assets held in these trusts
are fair valued annually and are included in the scope of
SFAS No. 157, but the pension liabilities are not considered
fair value instruments under SFAS No. 157. As the assets
are presented net of a non-fair value measure in PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, the fair value hierarchy disclosure in the table
above does not require the inclusion of pension assets.
The pension assets include equities, debt securities, swaps,
commingled funds, futures, cash equivalents, and insurance
policies. The pension assets are presented net of pension
obligations as Noncurrent Liabilities — Other in PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS
Price risk management instruments comprise physical and
ﬁnancial derivative contracts including futures, forwards,
options, and swaps that are both exchange-traded and overthe-counter (“OTC”) traded contracts. PG&E Corporation
and the Utility consistently apply valuation methodology
among their instruments. SFAS No. 71 allows the Utility to
defer the unrealized gains and losses associated with these
derivatives, as they are expected to be refunded or recovered
in future rates.
All energy options (exchange-traded and OTC) are valued
using the Black’s Option Pricing Model and classiﬁed as
Level 3 measurements primarily due to volatility inputs.
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CRRs allow market participants, including load serving
entities, to hedge ﬁnancial risk of CAISO-imposed congestion
charges in the day-ahead market to be established when MRTU
becomes effective. Firm Transmission Rights (“FTRs”) allow
market participants, including load serving entities, to hedge
both the physical and ﬁnancial risk associated with CAISOimposed congestion charges until the MRTU becomes effective. The Utility’s demand response contracts (“DRs”) with
third-party aggregators of retail electricity customers contain
a call option entitling the Utility to require that the aggregator reduce electric usage by the aggregator’s customers at
times of peak energy demand or in response to a CAISO
alert or other emergency. As the market for CRRs, FTRs,
and DRs has minimal activity, observable inputs may
not be available in pricing these instruments. Therefore,
the pricing models used to value these instruments often
incorporate signiﬁcant estimates and assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the instrument.
Accordingly, they are classiﬁed as Level 3 measurements.
When available, observable market data is used to calibrate
pricing models.
Exchange-traded derivative instruments (other than
options) are generally valued based on unadjusted prices
in active markets using pricing models to determine the
net present value of estimated future cash ﬂows. Accordingly,
a majority of these instruments are classiﬁed as Level 1
measurements. However, certain of these exchange-traded
contracts are classiﬁed as Level 2 measurements because the
contract term extends to a point at which the market is no
longer considered active but where prices are still observable.
This determination is based on an analysis of the relevant
characteristics of the market such as trading hours, trading
volumes, frequency of available quotes, and open interest.
In addition, a number of OTC contracts have been valued
using unadjusted exchange prices in active markets. Such
instruments are classiﬁed as Level 2 measurements as they
are not exchange-traded instruments. The remaining OTC
derivative instruments are valued using pricing models based
on the net present value of estimated future cash ﬂows
based on broker quotations. Such instruments are generally
classiﬁed within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as broker
quotes are only indicative of market activity and do not
necessarily reﬂect binding offers to transact.
See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion of the price risk management instruments.
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DIVIDEND PARTICIPATION RIGHTS
The dividend participation rights of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes are embedded derivative instruments in
accordance with SFAS No. 133 and, therefore, are bifurcated
from Convertible Subordinated Notes and recorded at fair
value in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The dividend participation rights are valued based on the
net present value of estimated future cash ﬂows using internal
estimates of future common stock dividends. The fair value
of the dividend participation rights is recorded as Current
Liabilities-Other and Noncurrent Liabilities-Other in PG&E
Corporation’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. (See Note 4
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion of these instruments.)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
PG&E Corporation and the Utility use the following
methods and assumptions in estimating fair value for
ﬁnancial instruments:
• The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash

and deposits, net accounts receivable, price risk management assets and liabilities, short-term borrowings, accounts
payable, customer deposits, and the Utility’s variable rate
pollution control bond loan agreements approximate their
carrying values as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.
• The fair values of the Utility’s ﬁxed rate senior notes, ﬁxed

rate pollution control bond loan agreements, and the ERBs
issued by PG&E Energy Recovery Funding LLC, were based
on quoted market prices obtained from the Bloomberg
ﬁnancial information system at December 31, 2008.
• The estimated fair value of PG&E Corporation’s 9.50%

Convertible Subordinated Notes was determined by considering the prices of securities displayed as of the close
of business on December 31, 2008 by a proprietary bond
trading system that tracks and marks a broad universe of
convertible securities including the securities being assessed.

The carrying amount and fair value of PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s ﬁnancial instruments are as follows
(the table below excludes ﬁnancial instruments with fair values that approximate their carrying values, as these instruments
are presented at their carrying value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets):
At December 31,
2008
(in millions)

Debt (Note 4):
PG&E Corporation
Utility
Energy recovery bonds (Note 5)

2007

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

$ 280
8,740
1,583

$ 739
9,134
1,564

$ 280
6,823
1,936

$ 849
6,701
1,928

LEVEL 3 ROLLFORWARD
The following table is a reconciliation of changes in fair value of PG&E Corporation’s instruments that have been classiﬁed
as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2008:
PG&E Corporation

(in millions)

Money
Market
Investments

Asset (liability) Balance as of January 1, 2008
Realized and unrealized gains (losses):
Included in earnings
Included in regulatory assets and liabilities
or balancing accounts
Purchases, issuances, and settlements
Transfers into Level 3

$ —

Asset (liability) Balance as of December 31, 2008

Price Risk
Management
Instruments

Nuclear
Decommissioning
Long-term
Trusts(3) Disability

$ 115(1)

$8

$ 87

Dividend
Participation
Rights

Other

Total

$(68) (2)

$(4)

$ 138

—

—

—

(34)

(3)

—

(37)

—
(50)
62

(271)
—
—

(3)
—
—

—
25
—

—
29
—

2
—
—

(272)
4
62

$ 12

$(156)

$5

$ 78

$(42)

$(2)

$(105)

(1) Includes the impact of the $48 million retrospective adjustment related to CRRs on January 1, 2008. Additionally, the balance includes the impact
of netting adjustments of $6 million made in accordance with the requirements of FIN 39-1.
(2) The discount factor used to value these rights was adjusted on January 1, 2008 in order to comply with the provisions of SFAS No. 157, resulting in
a $6 million expense to increase the value of the liability.
(3) Excludes taxes on appreciation of investment value.

Earnings for the period were impacted by a $37 million unrealized loss relating to assets or liabilities still held at
December 31, 2008.
The following table is a reconciliation of changes in fair value of the Utility’s instruments that have been classiﬁed as
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2008:
Utility

(in millions)

Price Risk
Management
Instruments

Asset (liability) Balance as of January 1, 2008
Realized and unrealized gains (losses):
Included in earnings
Included in regulatory assets and liabilities or balancing accounts
Purchases, issuances, and settlements
Transfers into (out of) Level 3

$ 115

Asset (liability) Balance as of December 31, 2008

(1)

Nuclear
Decommissioning
Long-term
Trusts(2) Disability

Other

Total

$8

$ 87

$(4)

$ 206

—
(271)
—
—

—
(3)
—
—

(34)
—
25
—

—
2
—
—

(34)
(272)
25
—

$(156)

$5

$ 78

$(2)

$ (75)

(1) Includes the impact of the $48 million retrospective adjustment related to CRRs on January 1, 2008. Additionally, the balance includes the impact
of netting adjustments of $6 million made in accordance with the requirements of FIN 39-1.
(2) Excludes taxes on appreciation of investment value.

Earnings for the period were impacted by a $34 million unrealized loss relating to assets or liabilities still held at
December 31, 2008.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility did not have any nonrecurring ﬁnancial measurements that are within the scope
of SFAS No. 157 as of December 31, 2008.
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NO T E 1 3 : NU CLE AR
D E CO MMI SSIONING
The Utility’s nuclear power facilities consist of two units
at Diablo Canyon (“Diablo Canyon Unit 1” and “Diablo
Canyon Unit 2”) and the retired facility at Humboldt Bay
(“Humboldt Bay Unit 3”). Nuclear decommissioning requires
the safe removal of nuclear facilities from service and the
reduction of residual radioactivity to a level that permits termination of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”)
license and release of the property for unrestricted use. The
Utility makes contributions to trust funds (described below)
to provide for the eventual decommissioning of each nuclear
unit. The CPUC conducts a Nuclear Decommissioning Cost
Triennial Proceeding (“NDCTP”) every three years to review
the Utility’s updated nuclear decommissioning cost study
and to determine the level of Utility trust contributions and
related revenue requirements. In the Utility’s 2005 NDCTP,
the CPUC assumed that the eventual decommissioning of
Diablo Canyon Unit 1 would be scheduled to begin in 2024
and be completed in 2044; that decommissioning of Diablo
Canyon Unit 2 would be scheduled to begin in 2025 and be
completed in 2041; and that decommissioning of Humboldt
Bay Unit 3 would be scheduled to begin in 2009 and be
completed in 2015. A premature shutdown of the Diablo
Canyon units would increase the likelihood of an earlier
start to decommissioning. The 2008 NDCTP application
was originally scheduled to be ﬁled on November 10, 2008;
however, on April 29, 2008, the CPUC extended the ﬁling
date to April 3, 2009.
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As presented in the Utility’s 2005 NDCTP, the estimated
nuclear decommissioning cost for Diablo Canyon Units 1
and 2 and Humboldt Bay Unit 3 is approximately $2.27 billion in 2008 dollars (or approximately $5.42 billion in future
dollars). These estimates are based on the 2005 decommissioning cost studies, prepared in accordance with CPUC
requirements. The Utility’s revenue requirements for nuclear
decommissioning costs (i.e., the revenue requirements used
by the Utility to make contributions to the decommissioning trust funds) are recovered from customers through a
non-bypassable charge that the Utility expects will continue
until those costs are fully recovered. The decommissioning
cost estimates are based on the plant location and cost
characteristics for the Utility’s nuclear power plants. Actual
decommissioning costs may vary from these estimates as a
result of changes in assumptions such as decommissioning
dates, regulatory requirements, technology, and costs of labor,
materials, and equipment.
The estimated nuclear decommissioning cost described
above is used for regulatory purposes. However, under SFAS
No. 143 requirements, the decommissioning cost estimate
is calculated using a different method in accordance with
SFAS No. 143. Under GAAP, the Utility adjusts its nuclear
decommissioning obligation to reﬂect the fair value of
decommissioning its nuclear power facilities and records
this as an asset retirement obligation on its Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The total nuclear decommissioning obligation accrued in accordance with GAAP was approximately
$1.4 billion at December 31, 2008 and $1.3 billion at
December 31, 2007. The primary difference between the
Utility’s estimated nuclear decommissioning obligation as
recorded in accordance with GAAP and the estimate prepared in accordance with the CPUC requirements is that
the estimated obligation calculated in accordance with
GAAP incorporates various potential settlement dates for
the obligation and includes an estimated amount for thirdparty labor costs in the fair value calculation. Differences
between amounts collected in rates for decommissioning the
Utility’s nuclear power facilities and the decommissioning
obligation recorded in accordance with GAAP are reﬂected
as a regulatory liability. (See Note 3 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Decommissioning costs recovered in rates are placed in
nuclear decommissioning trusts. The Utility has three decommissioning trusts for its Diablo Canyon and Humboldt Bay
Unit 3 nuclear facilities. The Utility has elected that two of
these trusts be treated under the Internal Revenue Code as
qualiﬁed trusts. If certain conditions are met, the Utility is
allowed a deduction for the payments made to the qualiﬁed
trusts. The qualiﬁed trusts are subject to a lower tax rate on
income and capital gains, thereby increasing the trusts’ aftertax returns. Among other requirements, in order to maintain
the qualiﬁed trust status the IRS must approve the amount
to be contributed to the qualiﬁed trusts for any taxable year.
The remaining non-qualiﬁed trust is exclusively for decommissioning Humboldt Bay Unit 3. The Utility cannot deduct
amounts contributed to the non-qualiﬁed trust until such
decommissioning costs are actually incurred.
The funds in the decommissioning trusts, along with
accumulated earnings, will be used exclusively for decommissioning and dismantling the Utility’s nuclear facilities.
The trusts maintain substantially all of their investments
in debt and equity securities. The CPUC has authorized
the qualiﬁed and non-qualiﬁed trusts to invest a maximum
of 60% of their funds in publicly-traded equity securities, of
which up to 20% may be invested in publicly-traded nonU.S. equity securities. The allocation of the trust funds is
monitored monthly. To the extent that market movements
cause the asset allocation to move outside these ranges, the
investments are rebalanced toward the target allocation.
Trust earnings are included in the nuclear decommissioning trust assets and the corresponding regulatory liability
for asset retirement costs. There is no impact on the Utility’s
earnings. Annual returns decrease in later years as higher portions of the trusts are dedicated to ﬁxed income investments
leading up to and during the entire course of decommissioning activities.

During 2008, the trusts earned $76 million in interest
and dividends. All earnings on the assets held in the trusts,
net of authorized disbursements from the trusts and investment management and administrative fees, are reinvested.
Amounts may not be released from the decommissioning
trusts until authorized by the CPUC. All of the Utility’s
investment securities in the trust are classiﬁed as “Available
for Sale” in accordance with SFAS No. 115. At December 31,
2008, the Utility had accumulated nuclear decommissioning
trust funds with an estimated fair value of approximately
$1.7 billion, net of deferred taxes on unrealized gains.
In general, investment securities are exposed to various
risks, such as interest rate, credit, and market volatility risks.
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment
securities, it is reasonably possible that changes in the
market values of investment securities could occur in
the near term, and such changes could materially affect
the trusts’ fair value. (See Note 12 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)
The Utility records unrealized gains and losses on
investments held in the trusts in other comprehensive
income. Realized gains and losses are recognized as additions
or reductions to trust asset balances. The Utility, however,
accounts for its nuclear decommissioning obligations
in accordance with SFAS No. 71; therefore, both realized
and unrealized gains and losses are ultimately recorded
as regulatory assets or liabilities.
At December 31, 2008, total unrealized losses on
the investments held in the trusts were $39 million. SFAS
Nos. 115-1 and 124-1 state that an investment is impaired
if the fair value of the investment is less than its cost and if
the impairment is concluded to be other-than-temporary, an
impairment loss is recognized. Since the day-to-day investing
activities of the trusts are managed by external investment
managers, the Utility is unable to conclude that the $39 million impairment is not other-than-temporary. As a result,
an impairment loss was recognized and the Utility recorded
a $39 million reduction to the nuclear decommissioning
trusts assets and the corresponding regulatory liability asset
retirement costs.
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The following table provides a summary of the fair value of the investments held in the Utility’s nuclear decommissioning trusts:

(in millions)

Year ended December 31, 2008
U.S. government and agency issues
Municipal bonds and other
Equity securities

Maturity Date

2009-2038
2009-2049

Total
Year ended December 31, 2007
U.S. government and agency issues
Municipal bonds and other
Equity securities
Total

2008-2037
2008-2049

Amortized
Cost

Total
Unrealized
Gains

Total
Unrealized
Losses

$ 617
187
588

$103
3
340

$ —
(12)
(27)

$ 720
178
901

$1,392

$446

$(39)

$1,799

$ 767
209
464

$ 59
5
682

$ —
—
(7)

$ 826
214
1,139

$ 1,440

$ 746

$ (7)

$ 2,179

Estimated(1)
Fair Value

(1) Excludes taxes on appreciation of investment value.

The cost of debt and equity securities sold is determined
by speciﬁc identiﬁcation. The following table provides a
summary of the activity for the debt and equity securities:

Because the DOE failed to develop a permanent storage
site, the Utility obtained a permit from the NRC to build
an on-site dry cask storage facility to store spent fuel through
at least 2024. After various parties appealed the NRC’s issuYear ended December 31,
ance of the permit, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth
(in millions)
2008
2007
2006
Circuit (“Ninth Circuit”) issued a decision in 2006 requiring
Proceeds received from sales of securities $1,635 $830 $1,087
the NRC to issue a supplemental environmental assessment
Gross realized gains on sales of
securities held as available-for-sale
30
61
55 report on the potential environmental consequences in
Gross realized losses on sales of
the event of terrorist attack at Diablo Canyon, as well as
securities held as available-for-sale
(142)
(42)
(29) to review other contentions raised by the appealing parties
related to potential terrorism threats. In August 2007,
SPENT NUCLEAR FUEL
the NRC staff issued a ﬁnal supplemental environmental
STORAGE PROCEEDINGS
assessment report concluding there would be no signiﬁcant
As part of the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, Congress
environmental impacts from potential terrorist acts directed
authorized the U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) and
at the Diablo Canyon storage facility.
electric utilities with commercial nuclear power plants
In October 2008, the NRC rejected the ﬁnal contention
to enter into contracts under which the DOE would be
that had been made during the appeal. The appellant
required to dispose of the utilities’ spent nuclear fuel and
has ﬁled a petition for review of the NRC’s order in the
high-level radioactive waste no later than January 31, 1998,
Ninth Circuit. Although the appellant did not seek to
in exchange for fees paid by the utilities. In 1983, the DOE
entered into a contract with the Utility to dispose of nuclear obtain an order prohibiting the Utility from loading spent
fuel, the petition stated that they may seek a stay of fuel
waste from the Utility’s two nuclear generating units at
loading at the facility. On December 31, 2008, the appellate
Diablo Canyon and its retired nuclear facility at Humboldt
court granted the Utility’s request to intervene in the
Bay. The DOE failed to develop a permanent storage site
proceeding. All briefs by all parties are scheduled to be
by January 31, 1998. The Utility believes that the existing
ﬁled by April 8, 2009.
spent fuel pools at Diablo Canyon (which include newly
constructed temporary storage racks) have sufﬁcient capacity
to enable the Utility to operate Diablo Canyon until approximately 2010 for Unit 1 and 2011 for Unit 2.
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The construction of the dry cask storage facility is
complete and the initial movement of spent nuclear fuel
to dry cask storage is expected to begin in June 2009.
If the Utility is unable to begin loading spent nuclear fuel
by October 2010 for Unit 1 or May 2011 for Unit 2 and
if the Utility is otherwise unable to increase its on-site
storage capacity, the Utility would have to curtail or halt
operations until such time as additional safe storage for
spent fuel is made available.
On August 7, 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit issued an appellate order in the litigation
pending against the DOE in which the Utility and other
nuclear power plant owners seek to recover costs they
incurred to build on-site spent nuclear fuel storage facilities
due to the DOE’s delay in constructing a national repository
for nuclear waste. In October 2006, the U.S. Court of Federal
Claims found that the DOE had breached its contract with
the Utility but awarded the Utility approximately $43 million of the $92 million incurred by the Utility through 2004.
In ruling on the Utility’s appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit reversed the lower court on issues
relating to the calculation of damages and ordered the lower
court to recalculate the award. Although various motions by
the DOE for reconsideration are still pending, the judge in
the lower court conducted a status conference on January 15,
2009 and has scheduled another conference for July 9, 2009.
The Utility expects the ﬁnal award will be approximately
$91 million for costs incurred through 2004 and that the
Utility will recover all of its costs incurred after 2004 to
build on-site storage facilities. Amounts recovered from the
DOE will be credited to customers through rates.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are unable to predict
the outcome of any rehearing petition.

N O T E 14: EM PLOY EE
C O M PEN S AT IO N PL AN S
PENSION AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
PG&E Corporation and the Utility provide a noncontributory deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan for certain
employees and retirees, referred to collectively as pension
beneﬁts. PG&E Corporation and the Utility also provide
contributory postretirement medical plans for certain
employees and retirees and their eligible dependents,
and non-contributory postretirement life insurance plans
for certain employees and retirees (referred to collectively
as “other beneﬁts”). PG&E Corporation and the Utility
have elected that certain of the trusts underlying these
plans be treated under the Code as qualiﬁed trusts. If certain conditions are met, PG&E Corporation and the Utility
can deduct payments made to the qualiﬁed trusts, subject
to certain Code limitations. The following schedules aggregate all of PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s plans and
are presented based on the sponsor of each plan. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility use a December 31 measurement
date for all plans.
Under SFAS No. 71, regulatory adjustments are recorded
in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated
Balance Sheets of the Utility to reﬂect the difference between
pension expense or income for accounting purposes and
pension expense or income for ratemaking, which is based
on a funding approach. A regulatory adjustment is also
recorded for the amounts that would otherwise be charged
to accumulated other comprehensive income under SFAS
No. 158 for the pension beneﬁts related to the Utility’s
qualiﬁed beneﬁt pension plan. Since 1993, the CPUC has
authorized the Utility to recover the costs associated with
its other beneﬁts based on the lesser of the expense under
SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Beneﬁts Other Than Pensions” (“SFAS No. 106”), or the
annual tax deductible contributions to the appropriate trusts.
The Utility records a regulatory liability for an overfunded
position of other beneﬁts. However, this recovery mechanism
does not allow the Utility to record a regulatory asset for
an underfunded position related to other beneﬁts. Therefore,
the SFAS No. 158 charge is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) for other beneﬁts.
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BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The following tables reconcile changes in aggregate projected beneﬁt obligations for pension beneﬁts and changes in the
beneﬁt obligation of other beneﬁts during 2008 and 2007:
Pension Benefits
PG&E Corporation
(in millions)

2008

2007

Utility
2008

2007

Projected beneﬁt obligation at January 1
Service cost for beneﬁts earned
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain) loss
Plan amendments
Beneﬁts and expenses paid

$9,081
236
581
258
2
(391)

$9,064
233
544
(397)
1
(364)

$9,036
234
578
255
3
(389)

$9,023
228
541
(396)
2
(362)

Projected beneﬁt obligation at December 31

$9,767

$9,081

$9,717

$9,036

Accumulated beneﬁt obligation

$8,601

$8,243

$8,559

$8,206

Other Benefits
PG&E Corporation
(in millions)

2008

2007

Utility
2008

2007

Beneﬁt obligation at January 1
Service cost for beneﬁts earned
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain) loss
Plan amendments
Gross beneﬁts paid
Federal subsidy on beneﬁts paid
Participants paid beneﬁts

$1,311
29
81
22
—
(101)
4
36

$1,310
29
79
(66)
17
(97)
4
35

$1,311
29
81
22
—
(101)
4
36

$1,310
29
79
(66)
17
(97)
4
35

Beneﬁt obligation at December 31

$1,382

$1,311

$1,382

$1,311
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CHANGE IN PL AN ASSETS
To determine the fair value of the plan assets, PG&E Corporation and the Utility use publicly quoted market values and
independent pricing services depending on the nature of the assets, as reported by the trustee.
The following tables reconcile aggregate changes in plan assets during 2008 and 2007:
Pension Benefits
PG&E Corporation
(in millions)

2008

Utility

2007

2008

2007

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Beneﬁts and expenses paid

$ 9,540
(1,232)
182
(424)

$9,028
766
139
(393)

$ 9,540
(1,232)
179
(421)

$9,028
766
137
(391)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

$ 8,066

$9,540

$ 8,066

$9,540

Other Benefits
PG&E Corporation
(in millions)

2008

Utility

2007

2008

2007

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Plan participant contribution
Beneﬁts and expenses paid

$1,331
(316)
48
36
(109)

$1,256
107
38
36
(106)

$1,331
(316)
48
36
(109)

$1,256
107
38
36
(106)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

$ 990

$1,331

$ 990

$1,331

FUNDED STATUS
The following schedule shows the plans’ aggregate funded status on a plan sponsor basis. The funded status is the difference
between the fair value of plan assets and projected beneﬁt obligations.
Pension Benefits
PG&E Corporation

Utility

December 31,

December 31,

(in millions)

2008

2007

2008

2007

Fair value of plan assets at December 31
Projected beneﬁt obligation at December 31

$ 8,066 $ 9,540
(9,767) (9,081)

$ 8,066 $ 9,540
(9,717) (9,036)

Prepaid/(accrued) beneﬁt cost

$(1,701) $ 459

$(1,651) $ 504

Noncurrent asset
Current liability
Noncurrent liability

$

$

Prepaid/(accrued) beneﬁt cost

$(1,701) $ 459

— $ 532
(5)
(2)
(1,696)
(71)

— $ 532
(3)
(3)
(25)
(1,648)

$(1,651) $ 504

Other Benefits
PG&E Corporation

Utility

December 31,

December 31,

2008

2008

(in millions)

2007

2007

Fair value of plan assets at December 31
Beneﬁt obligation at December 31

$ 990 $ 1,331
(1,382) (1,311)

$ 990 $ 1,331
(1,382) (1,311)

Prepaid/(accrued) beneﬁt cost

$ (392) $

20

$ (392) $

20

Noncurrent asset
Noncurrent liability

$

— $
(392)

54
(34)

$

— $
(392)

54
(34)

Prepaid/(accrued) beneﬁt cost

$ (392) $

20

$ (392) $

20
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OTHER INFORMATION
The aggregate projected beneﬁt obligation, accumulated beneﬁt obligation, and fair value of plan assets for plans in which
the fair value of plan assets is less than the accumulated beneﬁt obligation and the projected beneﬁt obligation as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
Pension Beneﬁts
(in millions)

PG&E Corporation:
Projected beneﬁt obligation
Accumulated beneﬁt obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Utility:
Projected beneﬁt obligation
Accumulated beneﬁt obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2008

Other Beneﬁts

2007

2008

2007

$(9,767)
(8,601)
8,066

$(73)
(64)
—

$(1,382)
—
990

$(187)
—
153

$(9,717)
(8,559)
8,066

$(27)
(27)
—

$(1,382)
—
990

$(187)
—
153

COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST
Net periodic beneﬁt cost as reﬂected in PG&E Corporation’s Consolidated Statements of Income for 2008, 2007, and 2006
is as follows:
Pension Benefits
December 31,
(in millions)

Service cost for beneﬁts earned
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost(1)
Amortization of unrecognized gain(1)
Net periodic beneﬁt cost

2008

2007

2006

$ 236
581
(696)
47
1

$ 233
544
(711)
49
2

$ 236
511
(640)
56
22

$ 169

$ 117

$ 185

(1) In 2007 and 2008, under SFAS No. 158, PG&E Corporation and the Utility recorded amounts related to pension and other beneﬁts in other
comprehensive income, net of related deferred taxes, except for a portion recorded as a regulatory liability in accordance with SFAS No. 71.

Other Benefits
December 31,
(in millions)

2008

2007

2006

Service cost for beneﬁts earned
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition obligation(1)
Amortization of prior service cost(1)
Amortization of unrecognized gain(1)

$ 29
81
(93)
26
16
(15)

$ 29
79
(96)
26
16
(10)

$ 28
74
(90)
26
14
(3)

$ 44

$ 44

$ 49

Net periodic beneﬁt cost

(1) In 2007 and 2008, under SFAS No. 158, PG&E Corporation and the Utility recorded amounts related to pension and other beneﬁts in other
comprehensive income, net of related deferred taxes, except for a portion recorded as a regulatory liability in accordance with SFAS No. 71.

There was no material difference between PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s consolidated net periodic beneﬁt costs.
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COMPONENTS OF ACCUMUL ATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Since December 31, 2006, the effective date of SFAS No. 158, PG&E Corporation and the Utility have recorded unrecognized
prior service costs, unrecognized gains and losses, and unrecognized net transition obligations as components of accumulated
other comprehensive income, net of tax. In subsequent years, PG&E Corporation and the Utility recognize these amounts
as components of net periodic beneﬁt cost in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” and
SFAS No. 106.
Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:
PG&E Corporation
(in millions)

2008

Pension Beneﬁts:
Beginning unrecognized prior service cost
Current year unrecognized prior service cost
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost

$ (222)
(2)
49

Unrecognized prior service cost

Utility

2007

2008

$(268)
(3)
49

$ (226)
(3)
48

2007

$(275)
(2)
51

(175)

(222)

(181)

(226)

Beginning unrecognized net gain (loss)
Current year unrecognized net gain (loss)
Amortization of unrecognized net gain

105
(2,219)
1

(318)
421
2

117
(2,217)
—

(306)
423
—

Unrecognized net gain (loss)

(2,113)

105

(2,100)

117

Beginning unrecognized net transition obligation
Amortization of unrecognized net transition obligation

—
—

(1)
1

—
—

(1)
1

Unrecognized net transition obligation

—

—

—

—

2,259

109

2,259

109

(1)

Less: transfer to regulatory account
Total

Other Beneﬁts:
Beginning unrecognized prior service cost
Current year unrecognized prior service cost
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized prior service cost

$

(29)

$ (8)

$

(22)

$

—

$ (116)
—
17

$(114)
(18)
16

$ (116)
—
17

$(114)
(18)
16

(99)

(116)

(99)

(116)

Beginning unrecognized net gain
Current year unrecognized net gain (loss)
Amortization of unrecognized net loss

311
(438)
(15)

250
71
(10)

311
(438)
(15)

250
71
(10)

Unrecognized net gain (loss)

(142)

311

(142)

311

Beginning unrecognized net transition obligation
Amortization of unrecognized net transition obligation

(128)
26

(154)
26

(128)
26

(154)
26

Unrecognized net transition obligation

(102)

(128)

(102)

(128)

Less: transfer to regulatory account(2)
Total

—
$ (343)

(44)
$ 23

—
$ (343)

(44)
$ 23

(1) The Utility recorded approximately $2,259 million in 2008 and $109 million in 2007 as a reduction to the existing pension regulatory liability in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 71. The adjustment resulted in a regulatory asset balance at December 31, 2008.
(2) The Utility recorded approximately $44 million in 2007 as an addition to the existing pension regulatory liability in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 71.
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The estimated amounts that will be amortized into net periodic beneﬁt cost in 2009 are as follows:
(in millions)

PG&E Corporation

Utility

$ 47
98

$ 48
97

$145

$145

$ 16
3
26

$ 16
3
26

$ 45

$ 45

Pension beneﬁts:
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net loss
Total
Other beneﬁts:
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized net transition obligation
Total

VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
The following actuarial assumptions were used in determining the projected beneﬁt obligations and the net periodic cost.
Weighted average year-end assumptions were used in determining the plans’ projected beneﬁt obligations, while prior year-end
assumptions are used to compute net beneﬁt cost.
Pension Beneﬁts

Other Beneﬁts

December 31,

Discount rate
Average rate of future compensation increases
Expected return on plan assets

2008

2007

2006

6.31%
5.00%
7.30%

6.31%
5.00%
7.40%

5.90%
5.00%
8.00%

December 31,
2008

5.85–6.33%
—
7.00–7.30%

2007

5.52–6.42%
—
7.00–7.50%

2006

5.50–6.00%
—
7.30–8.20%

The assumed health care cost trend rate for 2008
is approximately 8%, decreasing gradually to an ultimate
trend rate in 2014 and beyond of approximately 5%. A onepercentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend
rate would have the following effects:
(in millions)

Effect on postretirement
beneﬁt obligation
Effect on service and interest cost

One-PercentagePoint Increase

$68
7

return of 4.6%. The rate used to discount pension and other
postretirement beneﬁt plan liabilities was based on a yield
curve developed from market data of over 300 Aa-grade
non-callable bonds at December 31, 2008. This yield curve
has discount rates that vary based on the duration of the
obligations. The estimated future cash ﬂows for the pension
One-PercentagePoint Decrease and other beneﬁt obligations were matched to the corresponding rates on the yield curve to derive a weighted
$(57) average discount rate.
(6)

Expected rates of return on plan assets were developed
by determining projected stock and bond returns and then
applying these returns to the target asset allocations of the
employee beneﬁt trusts, resulting in a weighted average rate
of return on plan assets. Fixed income returns were projected
based on real maturity and credit spreads added to a longterm inﬂation rate. Equity returns were estimated based on
estimates of dividend yield and real earnings growth added
to a long-term rate of inﬂation. For the Utility pension plan,
the assumed return of 7.3% compares to a ten-year actual
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The difference between actual and expected return on
plan assets is included in unrecognized gain (loss) and
is considered in the determination of future net periodic
beneﬁt income (cost). The actual return on plan assets was
above the expected return in 2007 and 2006. The actual
return on plan assets for 2008 was lower than the expected
return due to the signiﬁcant decline in equity market values
that occurred in 2008.

ASSET ALLOCATIONS
The asset allocation of PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s pension and other beneﬁt plans at December 31, 2008 and
2007, and target 2009 allocation, were as follows:
Pension Beneﬁts
2009

Equity securities
U.S. equity
Non-U.S. equity
Global equity
Absolute return
Fixed income securities
Cash
Total

Equity securities include a small amount (less than 0.1%
of total plan assets) of PG&E Corporation common stock.
During 2008, the duration of ﬁxed income assets was
extended to better align with the interest rate sensitivity
of the beneﬁt plan liability. The maturity of ﬁxed income
securities at December 31, 2008 ranged from zero to 59 years
and the average duration of the bond portfolio was approximately 12.2 years. The maturity of ﬁxed income securities
at December 31, 2007 ranged from zero to 60 years and the
average duration of the bond portfolio was approximately
10.5 years.
PG&E Corporation’s investment strategy for all plans is
to maintain actual asset weightings within 1.0% to 5.0% of
target asset allocations varying by asset class. A rebalancing
review is triggered whenever the actual weighting falls outside
of the speciﬁed range.
A benchmark portfolio for each asset class is set
based on market capitalization and valuations of equities
and the durations and credit quality of ﬁxed income
securities. Investment managers for each asset class are
retained to either passively or actively manage the combined
portfolio against the benchmark. Active management covers
approximately 70% of the U.S. equity, 80% of the non-U.S.
equity, and virtually 100% of the ﬁxed income and global
security portfolios.

2008

2007

Other Beneﬁts
2009

2008

2007

32%
18%
5%
5%
40%
0%

31%
17%
3%
4%
42%
3%

30%
18%
5%
5%
41%
1%

37%
18%
3%
3%
34%
5%

35%
16%
2%
3%
34%
10%

36%
19%
4%
3%
37%
1%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

During 2007, PG&E Corporation began extending
the benchmarks of its ﬁxed income managers and began
using interest rate swaps for certain plans in order to better
match the interest rate sensitivity of the plans’ assets with
that of the plans’ liabilities. Changes in the value of these
investments will affect future contributions to the trust and
net periodic beneﬁt cost on a lagged basis.
CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Employer Contributions
PG&E Corporation and the Utility contributed approximately $182 million to the pension beneﬁts, including
$176 million to the qualiﬁed deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan,
and approximately $48 million to the other beneﬁt plans
in 2008. These contributions are consistent with PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s funding policy, which is to
contribute amounts that are tax-deductible and consistent
with applicable regulatory decisions and federal minimum
funding requirements. None of these pension or other
beneﬁts was subject to a minimum funding requirement
requiring a cash contribution in 2008. The Utility’s pension
beneﬁts met all the funding requirements under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. PG&E
Corporation and the Utility expect to make total contributions of approximately $176 million annually during 2009
and 2010 to the pension plan and expect to make contributions of approximately $58 million annually for the years
2009 and 2010 to other postretirement beneﬁt plans.
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Benefits Payments
The estimated beneﬁts expected to be paid in each of the
next ﬁve ﬁscal years and in aggregate for the ﬁve ﬁscal years
thereafter are as follows:
(in millions)

Pension
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014–2018
Other beneﬁts
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014–2018

PG&E
Corporation

Utility

$ 440
470
502
538
575
3,433

$ 437
467
500
536
573
3,415

$

$

98
101
104
105
108
572

98
101
104
105
108
572

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION BENEFIT PL ANS
PG&E Corporation and its subsidiaries also sponsor deﬁned
contribution beneﬁt plans. These plans are qualiﬁed under
applicable sections of the Code. These plans provide for
tax-deferred salary deductions and after-tax employee contributions as well as employer contributions. Employees
designate the funds in which their contributions and any
employer contributions are invested. Before April 1, 2007,
PG&E Corporation employees received matching of up to
5% of the employee’s base compensation and basic contributions of up to 5% of the employee’s base compensation.
Matching contributions vary up to 6% of the employee’s
base compensation based on years of service for Utility
employees. Beginning April 1, 2007, the basic employer
contribution was discontinued for PG&E Corporation
employees and matching contributions were changed
to match the Utility employee plan. Matching employer
contributions are made with company stock; however,
employees may reallocate matching employer contributions
and accumulated earnings thereon to another investment
fund or funds available to the plan at any time after they
have been credited to the employee’s account. Employer
contribution expense reﬂected in PG&E Corporation’s
Consolidated Statements of Income amounted to:
(in millions)

Year ended December 31,
2008
2007
2006
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PG&E
Corporation

Utility

$53
47
45

$52
46
43

PG&E Corporation Supplemental
Retirement Savings Plan
The PG&E Corporation Supplemental Retirement Savings
Plan (“SRSP”) is a non-qualiﬁed plan that allows eligible
ofﬁcers and key employees of PG&E Corporation and its
subsidiaries to defer 5% to 50% of their base salary and all
or part of their incentive awards. In addition, to the extent
that matching employer contributions cannot be made to a
participant under the qualiﬁed deﬁned contribution beneﬁt
plan because the contributions would exceed the limitations
set by the Code, PG&E Corporation credits the excess
amount to an SRSP account for the eligible employee. Each
SRSP participant has a separate account that is adjusted on
a monthly basis to reﬂect the performance of the investment
options selected by the participant. The change in the value
of participants’ accounts is recorded as additional compensation expense or income in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Total compensation expense and (income) recognized
by PG&E Corporation and the Utility in connection with
the plan amounted to:
(in millions)

2008
2007
2006

PG&E
Corporation

$(7)
2
4

Utility

$(4)
1
2

LONG -TERM INCENTIVE PL AN
The 2006 LTIP permits the award of various forms of incentive awards, including stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance
shares, deferred compensation awards, and other stock-based
awards, to eligible employees of PG&E Corporation and its
subsidiaries. Non-employee directors of PG&E Corporation
are also eligible to receive restricted stock and either stock
options or restricted stock units under the formula grant
provisions of the 2006 LTIP. A maximum of 12 million shares
of PG&E Corporation common stock (subject to adjustment
for changes in capital structure, stock dividends, or other
similar events) have been reserved for issuance under the 2006
LTIP, of which 10,342,381 shares were available for award at
December 31, 2008.

Awards made under the PG&E Corporation Long-Term
Incentive Program before December 31, 2005 and still outstanding continue to be governed by the terms and conditions
of the PG&E Corporation Long-Term Incentive Program.
PG&E Corporation and the Utility use an estimated
annual forfeiture rate of 2.5% for stock options and restricted
stock and 3% for performance shares, based on historic
forfeiture rates, for purposes of determining compensation
expense for share-based incentive awards. The following
table provides a summary of total compensation expense for
PG&E Corporation and the Utility for share-based incentive
awards for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008:
Year ended December 31, 2008
PG&E
Corporation

Utility

$ 2
22
33

$ 2
15
20

Total Compensation Expense (pre-tax)

$57

$37

Total Compensation Expense (after-tax)

$34

$22

(in millions)

Stock Options
Restricted Stock
Performance Shares

The fair value of each stock option on the date of
grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation method.
The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted
using the Black-Scholes valuation method was $4.46, $7.81,
and $6.98 per share in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
The signiﬁcant assumptions used for shares granted in 2008,
2007, and 2006 were:
Expected stock price
volatility
Expected annual dividend
payment
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life

2008

2007

2006

18.9%

16.5%

22.1%

$1.56
2.77%
5.4 years

$1.44
4.73%
5.4 years

$1.32
4.46%
5.6 years

Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of
PG&E Corporation’s common stock. The expected dividend
payment is the dividend yield at the date of grant. The riskfree interest rate for periods within the contractual term
of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in
effect at the date of grant. The expected life of stock options
is derived from historical data that estimates stock option
exercises and employee departure behavior.

Year ended December 31, 2007
(in millions)

Stock Options
Restricted Stock
Performance Shares

PG&E
Corporation

Utility

$ 7
24
(8)

$ 4
15
(7)

Total Compensation Expense (pre-tax)

$23

$12

Total Compensation Expense (after-tax)

$14

$7

Stock Options
Other than the grant of options to purchase 4,032 shares
of PG&E Corporation common stock to non-employee
directors of PG&E Corporation in accordance with the
formula and nondiscretionary provisions of the 2006 LTIP,
no other stock options were granted during 2008. The exercise price of stock options granted under the 2006 LTIP and
all other outstanding stock options is equal to the market
price of PG&E Corporation’s common stock on the date of
grant. Stock options generally have a ten-year term and vest
over four years of continuous service, subject to accelerated
vesting in certain circumstances.

The following table summarizes total intrinsic value (fair
market value of PG&E Corporation’s stock less stock option
strike price) of options exercised for PG&E Corporation
and the Utility in 2008, 2007, and 2006:
(in millions)

2008:
Intrinsic value of options exercised
2007:
Intrinsic value of options exercised
2006:
Intrinsic value of options exercised

PG&E
Corporation

Utility

$13

$9

$59

$34

$97

$51

The tax beneﬁt from stock options exercised totaled $4 million and $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007, respectively, of which approximately
$3 million and $10 million was recorded by the Utility.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for PG&E Corporation and the Utility for 2008:

Options

Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at January 1
Granted(1)
Exercised
Forfeited or expired

3,882,672
4,032
(900,732)
(17,711)

$ 24.00
$ 37.91
$ 25.72
$ 31.49

Outstanding at December 31

2,968,261

$23.45

3.75

$45,300,037

254,854

$33.74

6.00

$ 1,270,206

2,712,725

$22.48

3.54

$44,029,831

Expected to vest at December 31
Exercisable at December 31

(1) No stock options were awarded to employees in 2008; however, certain non-employee directors of PG&E Corporation were awarded stock options.

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the Utility for 2008:

Options

Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at January 1(1)
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired

2,912,552
—
(588,333)
(14,396)

$ 23.40
—
$ 24.86
$ 31.14

Outstanding at December 31(1)

2,309,823

$22.99

3.79

$36,318,945

164,303

$33.09

5.80

$

2,145,520

$22.21

3.64

$35,395,873

Expected to vest at December 31
Exercisable at December 31

923,072

(1) Includes net employee transfers between PG&E Corporation and the Utility during 2008.

As of December 31, 2008, there was less than $1 million
of total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of less than one year for
PG&E Corporation and the Utility.
Restricted Stock
During 2008, PG&E Corporation awarded 591,294 shares
of PG&E Corporation restricted common stock to eligible
participants of PG&E Corporation and its subsidiaries,
of which 396,854 shares were awarded to the Utility’s
eligible participants.
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Although the recipients of restricted stock can vote
their shares, they may not sell or transfer their shares
until the shares vest. For restricted stock awarded in 2005,
there were no performance criteria and the restrictions
lapsed ratably over four years. The terms of the restricted
stock awarded in 2006, 2007, and 2008 provide that 60%
of the shares will vest over a period of three years at the
rate of 20% per year. If PG&E Corporation’s annual total
shareholder return (“TSR”) is in the top quartile of its
comparator group, as measured for the three immediately
preceding calendar years, the restrictions on the remaining 40% of the shares will lapse in the third year. If PG&E
Corporation’s TSR is not in the top quartile for such period,
then the restrictions on the remaining 40% of the shares
will lapse in the ﬁfth year. Compensation expense related
to the portion of the restricted stock award that is subject to
conditions based on TSR is recognized over the shorter of the
requisite service period and three years. Dividends declared
on restricted stock are paid to recipients only when the
restricted stock vests.

The tax beneﬁt from restricted stock that vested during
2008 and 2007 totaled $2 million and $7 million, respectively, of which approximately $1 million and $5 million
was recorded by the Utility.
The following table summarizes restricted stock activity
for PG&E Corporation and the Utility for 2008:
Number of
Shares of
Restricted
Stock

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

1,261,125
591,294
(440,652)
(124,198)

$ 40.51
$ 37.91
$ 37.20
$ 43.27

Nonvested at December 31

1,287,569

$40.18

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity
for the Utility for 2008:
Number of
Shares of
Restricted
Stock

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1(1)
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

859,745
396,854
(303,923)
(95,746)

$ 40.65
$ 37.91
$ 37.46
$ 43.12

Nonvested at December 31

856,930

$40.24

(1) Includes net employee transfers between PG&E Corporation and the
Utility during 2008.

As of December 31, 2008, there was approximately
$20 million of total unrecognized compensation cost
relating to restricted stock, of which $15 million related
to the Utility. The cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.2 years by PG&E Corporation
and the Utility.

Performance Shares
During 2008, PG&E Corporation awarded 581,175 performance shares to eligible participants of PG&E Corporation
and its subsidiaries, of which 396,230 shares were awarded
to the Utility’s eligible participants. Performance shares are
hypothetical shares of PG&E Corporation common stock
that vest at the end of a three-year performance period and
are settled in cash. Upon vesting, the amount of cash that
recipients are entitled to receive, if any, is determined by
multiplying the number of vested performance shares by the
average closing price of PG&E Corporation common stock
for the last 30 calendar days of the last year in the three-year
performance period. This result is then adjusted by a payout
percentage ranging from 0% to 200% as measured by PG&E
Corporation’s TSR relative to its comparator group for
the applicable three-year performance period. During 2008,
PG&E Corporation paid $6.9 million to performance share
recipients, of which $5 million related to Utility employees.
As of December 31, 2008, $46 million was accrued
as the performance share liability for PG&E Corporation,
of which $29.7 million related to Utility employees.
The number of performance shares that were outstanding
at December 31, 2008 was 1,422,302, of which 938,059
was related to Utility employees. Outstanding performance
shares are classiﬁed as a liability on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets of PG&E Corporation and the Utility because the
performance shares can only be settled in cash. The liability
related to the performance shares is marked to market at the
end of each reporting period to reﬂect the market price of
PG&E Corporation common stock and the payout percentage
at the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, compensation expense recognized for performance shares will ﬂuctuate
with PG&E Corporation’s common stock price and its TSR
relative to its comparator group.
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NO T E 1 5 : R ESOLUT ION OF
R E M A I NI NG CHAPT E R 11
D I S P UTED C L AIM S
Various electricity suppliers ﬁled claims in the Utility’s
proceeding under Chapter 11 seeking payment for energy
supplied to the Utility’s customers through the wholesale
electricity markets operated by the CAISO and the California
Power Exchange (“PX”) between May 2000 and June 2001.
These claims, which the Utility disputes, are being addressed
in various FERC and judicial proceedings in which the State
of California, the Utility, and other electricity purchasers
are seeking refunds from electricity suppliers, including
municipal and governmental entities, for overcharges
incurred in the CAISO and the PX wholesale electricity
markets between May 2000 and June 2001.
While the FERC and judicial proceedings have been
pending, the Utility entered into a number of settlements
with various electricity suppliers to resolve some of these
disputed claims and to resolve the Utility’s refund claims
against these electricity suppliers. These settlement agreements provide that the amounts payable by the parties
are, in some instances, subject to adjustment based on the
outcome of the various refund offset and interest issues
being considered by the FERC. The proceeds from these
settlements, after deductions for contingencies based on
the outcome of the various refund offset and interest issues
being considered by the FERC, will continue to be refunded
to customers in rates. Additional settlement discussions
with other electricity suppliers are ongoing. Any net refunds,
claim offsets, or other credits that the Utility receives from
energy suppliers through resolution of the remaining disputed
claims, either through settlement or the conclusion of the
various FERC and judicial proceedings, will also be credited
to customers.

As of December 31, 2008, the Utility’s net disputed
claims liability was approximately $1,750 million, consisting of approximately $1,580 million of remaining disputed
claims (classiﬁed on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
as Accounts payable — Disputed claims and customer
refunds) and interest accrued at the FERC-ordered rate
of $664 million (classiﬁed on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as Interest payable) offset by accounts receivable
from the CAISO and PX of approximately $494 million
(classiﬁed on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Accounts
receivable — Customers).
In connection with the Utility’s proceedings under
Chapter 11, the Utility established an escrow account for
the payment of the disputed claims, which is classiﬁed on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Restricted cash. As of
December 31, 2008, the Utility held $1,212 million in escrow,
including interest earned, for payment of the remaining net
disputed claims.
Interest accrues on the liability for disputed claims at
the FERC-ordered rate, which is higher than the rate earned
by the Utility on the escrow balance. Although the Utility
has been collecting the difference between the accrued interest and the earned interest from customers, this amount is
not held in escrow. If the amount of interest accrued at the
FERC-ordered rate is greater than the amount of interest
ultimately determined to be owed with respect to disputed
claims, the Utility would refund to customers any excess
net interest collected from customers. The amount of any
interest that the Utility may be required to pay will depend
on the ﬁnal amounts to be paid by the Utility with respect
to the disputed claims.

The Utility and the PX have been negotiating the terms
of a proposed agreement regarding the potential transfer of
$700 million to the PX from the Utility’s escrow account
established for disputed claims to enable the PX to fund
The following table presents the changes in the remainfuture settlements and pay refund claims, or amounts owed
ing disputed claims liability and interest accrued from
to CAISO or PX markets, as may be authorized by the
December 31, 2007:
FERC or a court of competent jurisdiction. The proposed
(in millions)
agreement would be subject to approval by the FERC and
Balance at December 31, 2007
$ 1,719 by the bankruptcy courts that have jurisdiction of the
Interest accrued
80 Chapter 11 proceedings of the PX and the Utility. Under
Less: Settlements
(49) the proposed agreement, the Utility’s payment would reduce
Balance at December 31, 2008
$1,750 its liability for remaining net disputed claims. To protect
the Utility against the imposition of double liability, the
proposed agreement would provide that, to the extent that
both the PX and an individual electricity supplier have ﬁled
claims relating to the same transaction, such claim would be
paid by the Utility only once, either to the PX or directly to
the electricity supplier, as may be ordered by the FERC or a
court of competent jurisdiction. It is uncertain when a ﬁnal
agreement will be executed and, if executed, when required
approvals would be obtained.
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PG&E Corporation and the Utility are unable to predict
when the FERC or judicial proceedings will be resolved, and
the amount of any potential refunds that the Utility may
receive or the amount of disputed claims, including interest,
the Utility will be required to pay.

NOTE 1 6 : REL AT E D
PA RTY A G RE EM E NT S
A ND TRA NSACT IONS
In accordance with various agreements, the Utility and other
subsidiaries provide and receive various services to and from
their parent, PG&E Corporation, and among themselves.
The Utility and PG&E Corporation exchange administrative
and professional services in support of operations. Services
provided directly to PG&E Corporation by the Utility are
priced at the higher of fully loaded cost (i.e., direct cost of
good or service and allocation of overhead costs) or fair market value, depending on the nature of the services. Services
provided directly to the Utility by PG&E Corporation are
priced at the lower of fully loaded cost or fair market value,
depending on the nature and value of the services. PG&E
Corporation also allocates various corporate administrative
and general costs to the Utility and other subsidiaries using
agreed-upon allocation factors, including the number of
employees, operating expenses excluding fuel purchases, total
assets, and other cost allocation methodologies. Management
believes that the methods used to allocate expenses are reasonable and meet the reporting and accounting requirements
of its regulatory agencies.
The Utility’s signiﬁcant related party transactions were
as follows:

At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Utility
had a receivable of approximately $29 million from PG&E
Corporation included in Accounts receivable — Related
parties and Other Noncurrent Assets — Related parties
receivable on the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and
a payable of approximately $25 million and $28 million,
respectively, to PG&E Corporation included in Accounts
payable — Related parties on the Utility’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

N O T E 17: C O M M IT M EN T S
AN D C O N T IN GEN C IES
PG&E Corporation and the Utility have substantial ﬁnancial
commitments in connection with agreements entered into to
support the Utility’s operating activities. PG&E Corporation
and the Utility also have signiﬁcant contingencies arising from
their operations, including contingencies related to guarantees,
regulatory proceedings, nuclear operations, employee matters,
environmental compliance and remediation, tax matters,
and legal matters.
COMMITMENTS
UTILITY
Third-Party Power Purchase Agreements
As part of the ordinary course of business, the Utility
enters into various agreements to purchase electric energy
and capacity and makes payments under existing power
purchase agreements. The price of purchased power may
be ﬁxed or variable. Variable pricing is generally based on
either the current market price of gas or electricity at the
date of purchase.
Qualifying Facility Power Purchase Agreements — Under

Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

Utility revenues from:
Administrative services provided
to PG&E Corporation
Interest from PG&E Corporation
on employee beneﬁt assets
Utility expenses from:
Administrative services received
from PG&E Corporation
Utility employee beneﬁt payments
provided to PG&E Corporation

2008

2007

2006

$ 4

$ 4

$ 5

—

1

1

$122

$107

$108

2

4

3

the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (“PURPA”),
electric utilities were required to purchase energy and capacity
from independent power producers that are qualifying
co-generation facilities and qualifying small power production
facilities (“QFs”). To implement the purchase requirements
of PURPA, the CPUC required California investor-owned
electric utilities to enter into long-term power purchase agreements with QFs and approved the applicable terms, conditions, prices, and eligibility requirements. These agreements
require the Utility to pay for energy and capacity. Energy
payments are based on the QF’s actual electrical output and
CPUC-approved energy prices, while capacity payments are
based on the QF’s total available capacity and contractual
capacity commitment. Capacity payments may be adjusted
if the QF exceeds or fails to meet performance requirements
speciﬁed in the applicable power purchase agreement.
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The Energy Policy Act of 2005 signiﬁcantly amended the
purchase requirements of PURPA. As amended, Section 210(m)
of PURPA authorizes the FERC to waive the obligation of
an electric utility under Section 210 of PURPA to purchase
the electricity offered to it by a QF (under a new contract or
obligation) if the FERC ﬁnds the QF has nondiscriminatory
access to one of three deﬁned categories of competitive
wholesale electricity markets. The statute permits such waivers
to a particular QF or on a “service territory-wide basis.” The
Utility plans to wait until after the new day-ahead market
structure provided for in the CAISO’s MRTU initiative to
restructure the California electricity market becomes effective
to assess whether it will ﬁle a request with the FERC to
terminate its obligations under PURPA and to enter into
new QF purchase obligations.
As of December 31, 2008, the Utility had agreements with
246 QFs for approximately 3,900 MW that are in operation.
Agreements for approximately 3,600 MW expire at various
dates between 2009 and 2028. QF power purchase agreements
for approximately 300 MW have no speciﬁc expiration dates
and will terminate only when the owner of the QF exercises
its termination option. The Utility also has power purchase
agreements with 74 inoperative QFs. The total of approximately 3,900 MW consists of approximately 2,500 MW
from cogeneration projects, 600 MW from wind projects
and 800 MW from projects with other fuel sources,
including biomass, waste-to-energy, geothermal, solar, and
hydroelectric. QF power purchase agreements accounted
for approximately 18%, 20%, and 20% of the Utility’s 2008,
2007, and 2006 electricity sources, respectively. No single
QF accounted for more than 5% of the Utility’s 2008, 2007,
or 2006 electricity sources.
Irrigation Districts and Water Agencies — The Utility has

contracts with various irrigation districts and water agencies
to purchase hydroelectric power. Under these contracts, the
Utility must make speciﬁed semi-annual minimum payments
based on the irrigation districts’ and water agencies’ debt
service requirements, whether or not any hydroelectric
power is supplied, and variable payments for operation and
maintenance costs incurred by the suppliers. These contracts
expire on various dates from 2010 to 2031. The Utility’s
irrigation district and water agency contracts accounted for
approximately 2%, 3%, and 6% of the Utility’s electricity
sources in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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Renewable Energy Contracts — California law requires

that each California retail seller of electricity, except for
municipal utilities, increase its purchases of renewable
energy (such as biomass, small hydroelectric, wind, solar,
and geothermal energy) by at least 1% of its retail sales
per year, so that the amount of electricity delivered from
renewable resources equals at least 20% of its total retail
sales by the end of 2010. The Utility has entered into new
renewable power purchase contracts that will help the Utility
meet this renewable portfolio standard (“RPS”) by 2010.
Long-Term Power Purchase Agreements — In accordance

with the Utility’s CPUC-approved long-term procurement
plans, the Utility has entered into several power purchase
agreements with third parties. The Utility’s obligations
under a portion of these agreements are contingent on
the third party’s development of a new generation facility
to provide the power to be purchased by the Utility under
the agreements.
Annual Receipts and Payments — The payments made under
QFs, irrigation district and water agency, renewable energy,
and other power purchase agreements during 2008, 2007, and
2006 were as follows:
(in millions)

Qualifying facility energy payments
Qualifying facility capacity payments
Irrigation district and water agency
payments
Renewable energy and capacity
payments
Other power purchase agreement
payments

2008

2007

2006

$ 969
343

$ 812
363

$661
366

69

72

64

714

604

429

2,036

1,166

670

The amounts above do not include payments related
to DWR purchases for the beneﬁt of the Utility’s customers,
as the Utility only acts as an agent for the DWR.

At December 31, 2008, the undiscounted future expected power purchase agreement payments were as follows:
Irrigation District &
Water Agency

Qualifying Facility

Renewable

Other

(in millions)

Energy

Capacity

Operations &
Maintenance

Debt
Service

Energy

Capacity

Energy

Capacity

Total
Payments

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 949
960
947
808
755
4,882

$ 412
378
364
334
324
1,866

$ 38
45
46
32
21
46

$ 26
23
21
21
15
38

$ 427
460
602
688
583
6,986

$12
7
7
7
—
—

$ 5
6
7
7
7
3

$ 270
281
164
86
71
1,038

$ 2,139
2,160
2,158
1,983
1,776
14,859

Total

$9,301

$3,678

$228

$144

$9,746

$33

$35

$1,910

$25,075

The following table shows the future ﬁxed capacity
payments due under the QF contracts that are accounted
for as capital leases. These amounts are also included in the
table above. The ﬁxed capacity payments are discounted to
the present value shown in the table below using the Utility’s
incremental borrowing rate at the inception of the leases.

Capacity payments, which allow QFs to recover
investment costs, are based on the QF’s total available
capacity and contractual capacity commitment. Capacity
payments may be adjusted if the QF exceeds or fails to
meet performance requirements speciﬁed in the applicable
power purchase agreement.

The amount of this discount is shown in the table below
as the amount representing interest:

Natural Gas Supply and Transportation Commitments
The Utility purchases natural gas directly from producers
and marketers in both Canada and the United States to
serve its core customers. The contract lengths and natural
gas sources of the Utility’s portfolio of natural gas procurement contracts have ﬂuctuated generally based on market
conditions. At December 31, 2008, the Utility’s undiscounted
obligations for natural gas purchases and gas transportation
services were as follows:

(in millions)

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter
Total ﬁxed capacity payments
Amount representing interest
Present value of ﬁxed capacity payments

$ 50
50
50
50
50
204
454
110
$344

Minimum lease payments associated with the lease
obligation are included in Cost of electricity on PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s Consolidated Statements
of Income. In accordance with SFAS No. 71, the timing of
the Utility’s recognition of the lease expense conforms to the
ratemaking treatment for the Utility’s recovery of the cost of
electricity. The QF contracts that are accounted for as capital
leases expire between April 2014 and September 2021.
At December 31, 2008, the Utility had approximately
$30 million included in Current Liabilities — Other
and $314 million included in Noncurrent Liabilities — Other
representing the present value of the ﬁxed capacity payments
due under these contracts recorded on the Utility’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The corresponding assets of $344 million, including amortization of $64 million, are included in
Property, Plant, and Equipment on the Utility’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008.

(in millions)

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 898
183
115
49
42
157

Total

$1,444

Payments for natural gas purchases and gas transportation
services amounted to approximately $2.7 billion in 2008,
$2.2 billion in 2007, and $2.2 billion in 2006.
Nuclear Fuel Agreements
The Utility has entered into several purchase agreements
for nuclear fuel. These agreements have terms ranging from
1 to 16 years and are intended to ensure long-term fuel supply. The contracts for uranium, conversion, and enrichment
services provide for 100% coverage of reactor requirements
through 2010, while contracts for fuel fabrication services
provide for 100% coverage of reactor requirements through
2011. The Utility relies on a number of international producers of nuclear fuel in order to diversify its sources and
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provide security of supply. Pricing terms also are diversiﬁed,
ranging from market-based prices to base prices that are escalated using published indices. New agreements are primarily
based on forward market pricing and will begin to impact
nuclear fuel costs starting in 2010.
At December 31, 2008, the undiscounted obligations
under nuclear fuel agreements were as follows:
(in millions)

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 95
108
92
79
81
495

Total

$950

CONTINGENCIES
PG&E CORPORATION
PG&E Corporation retains a guarantee related to certain
indemnity obligations of its former subsidiary, NEGT, that
were issued to the purchaser of an NEGT subsidiary company.
PG&E Corporation’s sole remaining exposure relates to any
potential environmental obligations that were known to
NEGT at the time of the sale but not disclosed to the purchaser, and is limited to $150 million. PG&E Corporation
has not received any claims nor does it consider it probable
that any claims will be made under the guarantee. PG&E
Corporation believes its potential exposure under this guarantee would not have a material impact on its ﬁnancial
condition or results of operations.
UTILITY

Payments for nuclear fuel amounted to approximately
$157 million in 2008, $102 million in 2007, and $106 million in 2006.
Other Commitments and Operating Leases
The Utility has other commitments relating to operating
leases, vehicle leasing, and telecommunication and information system contracts. At December 31, 2008, the future
minimum payments related to other commitments were
as follows:
(in millions)

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 45
18
17
17
16
34

Total

$147

Payments for other commitments and operating leases
amounted to approximately $41 million in 2008, $38 million
in 2007, and $100 million in 2006.
Underground Electric Facilities
At December 31, 2008, the Utility was committed to spending
approximately $228 million for the conversion of existing
overhead electric facilities to underground electric facilities.
These funds are conditionally committed depending on the
timing of the work, including the schedules of the respective
cities, counties, and telephone utilities involved. The Utility
expects to spend approximately $40 million to $60 million
each year in connection with these projects. Consistent with
past practice, the Utility expects that these capital expenditures will be included in rate base as each individual project
is completed and recoverable in rates charged to customers.
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Application to Recover Hydroelectric
Facility Divestiture Costs
On April 14, 2008, the Utility ﬁled an application with the
CPUC requesting authorization to recover approximately
$47 million, including $12.2 million of interest, of the
costs it incurred in connection with the Utility’s efforts to
determine the market value of its hydroelectric generation
facilities in 2000 and 2001. These efforts were undertaken at
the direction of the CPUC in preparation for the proposed
divestiture of the facilities to further the development of
a competitive generation market in California. The Utility
continues to own its hydroelectric generation assets. On
February 18, 2009, a proposed decision was issued by the
administrative law judge, which if adopted by the CPUC,
would allow the Utility to recover these costs. It is expected
that the CPUC will issue a ﬁnal decision in 2009.
California Department of Water Resources Contracts
Electricity purchased under the DWR-allocated power
purchase contracts with various generators provided
approximately 15.1% of the electricity delivered to the
Utility’s customers for the year ended December 31, 2008.
The DWR remains legally and ﬁnancially responsible for
its power purchase contracts. The Utility acts as a billing
and collection agent of the DWR’s revenue requirements
from the Utility’s customers.

The DWR has stated publicly in the past that it intends
to transfer full legal title of, and responsibility for, the DWR
power purchase contracts to the California investor-owned
electric utilities as soon as possible. However, the DWR power
purchase contracts cannot be transferred to the Utility without the consent of the CPUC. In addition, the Chapter 11
Settlement Agreement provides that the CPUC will not require
the Utility to accept an assignment of, or to assume legal or
ﬁnancial responsibility for, the DWR power purchase contracts unless each of the following conditions has been met:
• After assumption, the Utility’s issuer rating by Moody’s

will be no less than A2 and the Utility’s long-term issuer
credit rating by S&P will be no less than A. The Utility’s
current issuer rating by Moody’s is A3 and the Utility’s
long-term issuer credit rating by S&P is BBB+;
• The CPUC ﬁrst makes a ﬁnding that the DWR power pur-

chase contracts to be assumed are just and reasonable; and
• The CPUC has acted to ensure that the Utility will receive

full and timely recovery in its retail electricity rates of all
costs associated with the DWR power purchase contracts
to be assumed without further review.
In February 2008, the CPUC opened an investigation of
how the DWR can end its role in purchasing power for the
customers of the California investor-owned utilities through
novation of the DWR contracts or otherwise. In November
2008, the CPUC issued a decision directing the investorowned utilities to proceed with efforts to novate or renegotiate the DWR contracts, and set a tentative goal of January 1,
2010 for completing novation or renegotiations. However, the
CPUC recognized that various uncertainties may inﬂuence
the achievement of this goal, and indicated that it will
continue to monitor the progress of the investor-owned
utilities and make mid-course adjustments as necessary.
Until the DWR’s obligation under its power purchase contracts is terminated, the CPUC is prohibited by state law
from reinstating “direct access.” Direct access is the ability
of retail end-user customers to purchase electricity from
energy providers other than the California investor-owned
electric utilities.
Incentive Ratemaking for Energy Efficiency Programs
The CPUC has established an incentive ratemaking mechanism applicable to the California investor-owned utilities’
implementation of their energy efﬁciency programs funded
for the 2006-2008 and 2009-2011 program cycles. The maximum amount of revenue that the Utility could earn and
the maximum amount that the Utility could be required
to reimburse customers over the 2006-2008 program cycle
is $180 million.

On December 18, 2008, the CPUC awarded the Utility
$41.5 million in interim shareholder incentive revenues for
the 2006-2007 interim claim, ruling that 65% of the 2006-2007
incentive claims should be “held back” until completion of
ﬁnal measurement studies and a ﬁnal veriﬁcation report for
the entire three-year program cycle.
As long as the ﬁnal measured energy savings are at least
65% of each of the CPUC’s individual savings goals over the
2006-2008 program period, the utilities will not be required
to pay back any incentives received on an interim basis.
The CPUC also ruled that the utilities will not be entitled
to any additional incentives for the 2006-2008 program
period beyond the incentives already received if the utility’s
performance falls within a “deadband”; i.e., if a utility achieves
(1) less than 80% of the CPUC’s goal for any individual
savings metric, or (2) less than 85% of the CPUC’s overall
energy savings goal but greater than 65% of the CPUC’s
goal for each individual savings metric. On February 2, 2009,
The Utility Reform Network and the CPUC’s Division of
Ratepayer Advocates ﬁled an application for rehearing of the
CPUC’s December 18, 2008 award.
On January 29, 2009 the CPUC instituted a new proceeding to modify the existing incentive ratemaking mechanism,
to adopt a new framework to review the utilities’ 2008 energy
efﬁciency performance, and to conduct a ﬁnal review of the
utilities’ performance over the 2006-2008 program period.
The CPUC also plans to develop a long-term incentive mechanism for program periods beginning in 2009 and beyond.
Whether the Utility will receive all or a portion of the
remaining $77 million in incentives for the 2006 and 2007
program years, whether the Utility will receive any additional
incentives or incur a reimbursement obligation in 2009
based on the second interim claim, and whether the ﬁnal
true-up in 2010 will result in a positive or negative adjustment
depends on the new framework and rules to be adopted by
the CPUC.
Nuclear Insurance
The Utility has several types of nuclear insurance for the
two nuclear operating units at its Diablo Canyon nuclear
generating facilities and for its retired nuclear generation
facility at Humboldt Bay Unit 3. The Utility has insurance
coverage for property damages and business interruption
losses as a member of Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited
(“NEIL”). NEIL is a mutual insurer owned by utilities
with nuclear facilities. NEIL provides property damage and
business interruption coverage of up to $3.24 billion per
incident for Diablo Canyon. In addition, NEIL provides
$131 million of property damage insurance for Humboldt
Bay Unit 3. Under this insurance, if any nuclear generating
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facility insured by NEIL suffers a catastrophic loss causing
a prolonged outage, the Utility may be required to pay an
additional premium of up to $39.3 million per one-year
policy term.
NEIL also provides coverage for damages caused by acts
of terrorism at nuclear power plants. Under the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2007
(“TRIPRA”), acts of terrorism may be “certiﬁed” by the
Secretary of the Treasury. For a certiﬁed act of terrorism,
NEIL can obtain compensation from the federal government
and will provide up to the full policy limits to the Utility
for an insured loss. If one or more non-certiﬁed acts of
terrorism cause property damage covered under any of the
nuclear insurance policies issued by NEIL to any NEIL member, the maximum recovery under all those nuclear insurance
policies may not exceed $3.24 billion within a 12-month
period plus the additional amounts recovered by NEIL for
these losses from reinsurance. (TRIPRA extends the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act of 2002 through December 31, 2014.)
Under the Price-Anderson Act, public liability claims
from a nuclear incident are limited to $12.5 billion.
As required by the Price-Anderson Act, the Utility purchased the maximum available public liability insurance
of $300 million for Diablo Canyon. The balance of the
$12.5 billion of liability protection is covered by a losssharing program among utilities owning nuclear reactors.
Under the Price-Anderson Act, owner participation in this
loss-sharing program is required for all owners of nuclear
reactors that are licensed to operate, designed for the
production of electrical energy, and have a rated capacity
of 100 MW or higher. If a nuclear incident results in costs
in excess of $300 million, then the Utility may be responsible
for up to $117.5 million per reactor, with payments in each
year limited to a maximum of $17.5 million per incident
until the Utility has fully paid its share of the liability.
Since Diablo Canyon has two nuclear reactors, each with
a rated capacity of over 100 MW, the Utility may be assessed
up to $235 million per incident, with payments in each year
limited to a maximum of $35 million per incident. Both
the maximum assessment per reactor and the maximum
yearly assessment are adjusted for inﬂation at least every
ﬁve years. The next scheduled adjustment is due on or
before October 29, 2013.
In addition, the Utility has $53.3 million of liability
insurance for Humboldt Bay Unit 3 and has a $500 million
indemniﬁcation from the NRC for public liability arising
from nuclear incidents covering liabilities in excess of the
$53.3 million of liability insurance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
The Utility may be required to pay for environmental
remediation at sites where it has been, or may be, a
potentially responsible party under environmental laws.
Under federal and California laws, the Utility may be
responsible for remediation of hazardous substances at
former manufactured gas plant sites, power plant sites,
and sites used by the Utility for the storage, recycling, or
disposal of potentially hazardous materials, even if the
Utility did not deposit those substances on the site.
The cost of environmental remediation is difﬁcult to
estimate. The Utility records an environmental remediation
liability when site assessments indicate remediation is probable and it can estimate a range of possible clean-up costs.
The Utility reviews its remediation liability on a quarterly
basis. The liability is an estimate of costs for site investigations, remediation, operations and maintenance, monitoring,
and site closure using current technology, and considering
enacted laws and regulations, experience gained at similar
sites, and an assessment of the probable level of involvement
and ﬁnancial condition of other potentially responsible
parties. Unless there is a better estimate within this range of
possible costs, the Utility records the costs at the lower end
of this range. The Utility estimates the upper end of this
cost range using possible outcomes that are least favorable
to the Utility. It is reasonably possible that a change in these
estimates may occur in the near term due to uncertainty
concerning the Utility’s responsibility, the complexity of
environmental laws and regulations, and the selection
of compliance alternatives.
The Utility had an undiscounted and gross environmental
remediation liability of approximately $568 million at December 31, 2008, and approximately $528 million at December 31,
2007. The $568 million accrued at December 31, 2008 consists of:
• Approximately $51 million for remediation at the Utility’s

natural gas compressor site located near Hinkley, California;
• Approximately $167 million for remediation at the Utility’s

natural gas compressor site located in Topock, Arizona
near the California border;
• Approximately $83 million related to remediation at

divested generation facilities;
• Approximately $216 million related to remediation costs

for the Utility’s generation and other facilities, third-party
disposal sites, and manufactured gas plant sites owned
by the Utility or third parties (including those sites that
are the subject of remediation orders by environmental
agencies or claims by the current owners of the former
manufactured gas plant sites); and

• Approximately $51 million related to remediation costs

for fossil decommissioning sites.
Of the approximately $568 million environmental
remediation liability, approximately $123 million has been
included in prior rate setting proceedings. The Utility expects
that an additional amount of approximately $356 million
will be recoverable in future rates. The Utility also recovers
its costs from insurance carriers and from other third parties
whenever possible. Any amounts collected in excess of
the Utility’s ultimate obligations may be subject to refund
to customers. Environmental remediation associated with
the Hinkley natural gas compressor site is not recoverable
from customers.
The Utility’s undiscounted future costs could increase to
as much as $944 million if the other potentially responsible
parties are not ﬁnancially able to contribute to these costs,
or if the extent of contamination or necessary remediation
is greater than anticipated, and could increase further if
the Utility chooses to remediate beyond regulatory requirements. The amount of approximately $944 million does not
include any estimate for any potential costs of remediation
at former manufactured gas plant sites owned by others,
unless the Utility has assumed liability for the site, the
current owner has asserted a claim against the Utility, or
the Utility has otherwise determined it is probable that
a claim will be asserted.
The Utility’s Diablo Canyon power plant uses a process
known as “once through cooling” that takes in water from
the ocean to cool the generating facility and discharges
the heated water back into the ocean. There is continuing
uncertainty about the status of state and federal regulations
issued under Section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act, which
require that cooling water intake structures at electric power
plants reﬂect the best technology available to minimize
adverse environmental impacts. In July 2004, the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) issued regulations
to implement Section 316(b) intended to reduce impacts
to aquatic organisms by establishing a set of performance
standards for cooling water intake structures. These regulations provided each facility with a number of compliance
options and permitted site-speciﬁc variances based on a costbeneﬁt analysis. The EPA regulations also allowed the use of
environmental mitigation or restoration to meet compliance
requirements in certain cases. In response to the EPA regulations, the California State Water Resources Control Board
(“Water Board”) issued a proposed policy to address once
through cooling. The Water Board’s current proposal would
require the installation of cooling towers at nuclear facilities
by January 1, 2021, unless the installation of cooling towers
would conﬂict with a nuclear safety requirement.

Various parties separately challenged the EPA’s regulations
and in January 2007, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit (“Second Circuit”) issued a decision holding
that environmental restoration cannot be used as a compliance option and that site-speciﬁc compliance variances
based on a cost-beneﬁt test could not be used. The Second
Circuit remanded signiﬁcant provisions of the regulations to
the EPA for reconsideration and in July 2007, the EPA suspended its regulations. The U.S. Supreme Court is expected
to issue a decision by mid-2009 regarding the cost-beneﬁt
test. Depending on the form of the ﬁnal regulations that
may ultimately be adopted by the EPA or the Water Board,
the Utility may incur signiﬁcant capital expense to comply
with the ﬁnal regulations, which the Utility would seek to
recover through rates. If either the ﬁnal regulations adopted
by the EPA or the Water Board require the installation of
cooling towers at Diablo Canyon, and if installation of such
cooling towers is not technically or economically feasible,
the Utility may be forced to cease operations at Diablo
Canyon and may incur a material charge.
LEGAL MATTERS
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are subject to various
laws and regulations and, in the normal course of business,
PG&E Corporation and the Utility are named as parties
in a number of claims and lawsuits.
In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for
Contingencies,” PG&E Corporation and the Utility make
a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can
be reasonably estimated. These accruals, and the estimates
of any additional reasonably possible losses, are reviewed
quarterly and adjusted to reﬂect the impacts of negotiations,
discovery settlements and payments, rulings, advice of
legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining
to a particular matter. In assessing such contingencies,
PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s policy is to exclude
anticipated legal costs.
The accrued liability for legal matters is included in PG&E
Corporation’s and the Utility’s Current Liabilities — Other
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and totaled approximately $72 million at December 31, 2008 and approximately
$78 million at December 31, 2007. After consideration of
these accruals, PG&E Corporation and the Utility do not
expect losses associated with legal matters would have a
material adverse impact on their ﬁnancial condition and
results of operations.
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QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarter ended
(in millions, except per share amounts)

2008
PG&E Corporation
Operating revenues
Operating income
Income from continuing operations
Net income
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, basic
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, diluted
Net income per common share, basic
Net income per common share, diluted
Common stock price per share:
High
Low
Utility
Operating revenues
Operating income
Net income
Income available for common stock
2007
PG&E Corporation
Operating revenues
Operating income
Income from continuing operations
Net income
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, basic
Earnings per common share from continuing operations, diluted
Net income per common share, basic
Net income per common share, diluted
Common stock price per share:
High
Low
Utility
Operating revenues
Operating income
Net income
Income available for common stock
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December 31

September 30

June 30

March 31

$3,643
545
363
517
0.98
0.97
1.39
1.37

$3,674
639
304
304
0.83
0.83
0.83
0.83

$3,578
584
293
293
0.80
0.80
0.80
0.80

$3,733
493
224
224
0.62
0.62
0.62
0.62

39.20
29.70

42.64
36.81

40.90
38.09

44.95
36.46

$3,643
548
329
325

$3,674
640
321
318

$3,578
585
313
309

$3,733
493
236
233

$3,415
448
203
203
0.56
0.56
0.56
0.56

$3,279
582
278
278
0.77
0.77
0.77
0.77

$3,187
555
269
269
0.75
0.74
0.75
0.74

$3,356
529
256
256
0.71
0.71
0.71
0.71

48.56
43.09

47.87
42.14

50.89
43.90

47.71
43.87

$3,416
453
206
203

$3,279
585
283
279

$3,187
556
274
270

$3,356
531
261
258

MANAGEMENT ’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of PG&E Corporation and Paciﬁc Gas and
Electric Company (the “Utility”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting. PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. Internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reﬂect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of PG&E Corporation
and the Utility, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
ﬁnancial statements in accordance with GAAP and that
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of PG&E
Corporation and the Utility, and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on the ﬁnancial statements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2008,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based
on its assessment and those criteria, management has concluded that PG&E Corporation and the Utility maintained
effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of
December 31, 2008.
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public
accounting ﬁrm, has audited the Consolidated Balance Sheets
of PG&E Corporation and the Utility as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related Consolidated Statements
of Income, Shareholders’ Equity, and Cash Flows ended
December 31, 2008 for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2008. As stated in their report, which
is included in this annual report, Deloitte & Touche LLP
also has audited PG&E Corporation’s and the Utility’s
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of PG&E Corporation and
Pacific Gas and Electric Company
San Francisco, California
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of PG&E Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
and of Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company and subsidiaries
(the “Utility”) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity, and cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008. We also have audited the
Company’s and the Utility’s internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s and the Utility’s management
is responsible for these ﬁnancial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial
statements and an opinion on the Company’s and the
Utility’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting based
on our audits.
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We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits
of the ﬁnancial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the ﬁnancial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and signiﬁcant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement presentation. Our
audits of internal control over ﬁnancial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal ﬁnancial ofﬁcers,
or persons performing similar functions, and effected by
the company’s board of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of
ﬁnancial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reﬂect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnancial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the ﬁnancial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk
that the controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the ﬁnancial position of the Company and of the Utility
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the respective results
of their operations and their cash ﬂows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company and
the Utility maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
As discussed in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, in January 2008 the Company and
the Utility adopted new accounting standards addressing
fair value measurement and an amendment to an interpretation of accounting standards for offsetting amounts related
to certain contracts. In 2007, the Company and the Utility
adopted a new interpretation of accounting standards for
uncertainty in income taxes. In 2006, the Company and
the Utility adopted new accounting standards for deﬁned
beneﬁt pensions and other postretirement plans and sharebased payments.
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
February 19, 2009
San Francisco, CA
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following documents are available in the Corporate
Governance section of PG&E Corporation’s website,
www.pgecorp.com/aboutus, or Paciﬁc Gas and Electric
Company’s website, www.pge.com/about:
• PG&E Corporation’s and Paciﬁc Gas and Electric

Company’s codes of conduct and ethics that apply to
each company’s directors and employees, including
executive ofﬁcers,
• PG&E Corporation’s and Paciﬁc Gas and Electric

Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, and
• Charters of key Board committees, including charters

for the companies’ Audit Committees, the PG&E
Corporation Compensation Committee, the companies’
Executive Committees, the PG&E Corporation Finance
Committee, the PG&E Corporation Nominating and
Governance Committee, and the PG&E Corporation
Public Policy Committee.
Shareholders also may obtain print copies of these
documents by sending a written request to:
Vice President, Corporate Governance
and Corporate Secretary
Linda Y.H. Cheng
PG&E Corporation
One Market, Spear Tower, Suite 2400
San Francisco, CA 94105-1126
On June 12, 2008, Peter A. Darbee, Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, and President of PG&E
Corporation submitted an Annual CEO Certiﬁcation to
the New York Stock Exchange, certifying that he was not
aware of any violation by PG&E Corporation of the
stock exchange’s corporate governance listing standards.
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BOARDS OF DIRECTORS OF PG&E CORPORATION
AND PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
DAVI D R.

C. L E E C OX (1)

P E TE R A .

AND REW S

Vice Chairman,
Retired, AirTouch
Communications, Inc.
and President
and Chief Executive
Officer, Retired,
AirTouch Cellular

DA R B E E

Senior Vice President,
Government Affairs,
General Counsel,
and Secretary, Retired,
PepsiCo, Inc.

Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive
Officer, and President,
PG&E Corporation
and President and
Chief Executive
Officer, Pacific Gas and
Electric Company

M ARY E L L E N C .

R O G E R H.

HERRIN G E R

K IM M E L

Attorney-at-Law

Vice Chairman,
Rothschild Inc.

RI C HARD A.

M A RY S . M E TZ

F O R R E S T E.

M E S ERVE

President, Retired,
S. H. Cowell
Foundation

M IL L E R

President,
Carnegie Institution
of Washington

Group President–
Corporate Strategy
and Development,
AT&T Inc.

B ARB A R A L .

B A R RY

RAM B O

L AWS O N

Vice Chair,
Nietech
Corporation

WIL L IA M S

President,
Williams Pacific
Ventures, Inc.

(1) C. Lee Cox is the non-executive Chairman of the Board of Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company.
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PERMANENT COMMITTEES OF THE BOARDS OF DIRECTORS OF
PG&E CORPORATION AND PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY ( 1)
EX ECU TI V E COMMI TTE ES (1 )

F IN A N CE CO M M ITTE E

Subject to certain limits, may exercise the powers and perform
the duties of the Boards of Directors.

Reviews financial and capital investment policies and objectives
and specific actions required to achieve those objectives;
long-term financial and investment plans and strategies; annual
financial plans; dividend policy; short-term and long-term
financing plans; proposed capital projects; proposed divestitures;
strategic plans and initiatives; and major commercial and
investment banking, financial consulting, and other financial
relationships. Discusses major financial risk exposures and
steps taken to monitor and control them. Annually reviews a
five-year financial plan that incorporates PG&E Corporation’s
business strategy goals, as well as an annual budget that reflects
elements of the approved five-year plan.

Peter A. Darbee, Chair
David R. Andrews
C. Lee Cox
Maryellen C. Herringer
Barbara L. Rambo
Barry Lawson Williams
AUDIT COMMI TTEES (1 )

Monitor the integrity of PG&E Corporation’s and Pacific Gas
and Electric Company’s financial statements. Review financial
and accounting practices; internal controls; external and internal
auditing programs; business ethics; and compliance with laws,
regulations, and policies that may have a material impact on
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Select and appoint the
independent registered public accounting firm to audit PG&E
Corporation’s and Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s accounts
and internal control over financial reporting, satisfy themselves
as to the independence and qualifications of the independent
registered public accounting firm, and pre-approve all audit and
non-audit services performed by the independent registered
public accounting firm. Review and oversee related party
transactions. Discuss guidelines and policies for assessing and
managing major risks. Review processes used by Board committees
to monitor and control major financial risk exposures.
Barry Lawson Williams, Chair
David R. Andrews
Maryellen C. Herringer
Mary S. Metz

Barbara L. Rambo, Chair
C. Lee Cox
Barry Lawson Williams
N O M IN ATIN G A N D G O V E R N A N CE CO M M ITTE E

Reviews the appropriate skills and characteristics required of
Board members, and the qualifications of Board candidates.
Recommends nominees for election as director. Recommends
the chairmanship and membership of Board committees and
the nominees for lead director. Reviews corporate governance
matters, including shareholder proposals and the Corporate
Governance Guidelines of PG&E Corporation and Pacific Gas
and Electric Company.
Maryellen C. Herringer, Chair
David R. Andrews
Richard A. Meserve
Barbara L. Rambo
P U B L IC P O L IC Y CO M M ITTE E

Reviews employment, compensation, and benefits policies and
practices. Recommends compensation for directors and the
chief executive officers of PG&E Corporation and Pacific Gas
and Electric Company. Reviews and approves compensation for
other senior officers. Oversees the development, selection, and
compensation of policy-making officers, and reviews long-range
planning for officer development and succession.

Reviews public policy and corporate responsibility issues that
could significantly affect the interests of customers, shareholders,
or employees; policies and practices with respect to protecting
and improving the quality of the environment, charitable
activities, political contributions, diversity, inclusion, and workforce development, and development of diverse suppliers; and
significant societal, governmental, and environmental trends and
issues that may affect operations.

C. Lee Cox, Chair
Barbara L. Rambo
Barry Lawson Williams

David R. Andrews, Chair
Richard A. Meserve
Mary S. Metz

CO MPEN SATI ON COM M I T T EE

(1) Except for the Executive and Audit Committees, all committees listed
above are committees of the PG&E Corporation Board of Directors.
The Executive and Audit Committees of the PG&E Corporation
and Paciﬁc Gas and Electric Company Boards have the same members.
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PG&E CORPORATION
OFFICERS

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC
COMPANY OFFICERS

PE T E R A . DA R B E E

C . LEE C OX

JAMES R. BECKER

Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer, and President

Non-Executive Chairman of the Board

Site Vice President,
Diablo Canyon Power Plant

KENT M. HARVEY

President and Chief Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and
Chief Risk and Audit Officer

D ESM OND A. BELL

CH R IST O P H E R P. J O HN S

Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer
N AN C Y E . M C FA DDE N

Senior Vice President, Public Affairs

P ET ER A . DARBEE

Senior Vice President, Shared Services and
Chief Procurement Officer
T HOMA S E. BO TTO R FF

Senior Vice President, Regulatory Relations
HELEN A. BURT

S TEPHEN J. CAIR NS

Vice President and Controller
LINDA Y. H. CHENG

Vice President, Corporate Governance and
Corporate Secretary
BRIAN K. CHER RY

Vice President, Regulatory Relations

Senior Vice President and
Chief Customer Officer

DEANN HAPNER

JOHN T. CO NWAY

WILLIAM H. HAR PER III

Vice President and Chief Diversity Officer

Senior Vice President, Corporate Relations

Senior Vice President,
Generation and Chief Nuclear Officer

R AN D L . R O SE N B E RG

C HRI ST OPHER P. JO HNS

Vice President and Managing Director, Law

Senior Vice President,
Corporate Strategy and Development

Senior Vice President and Treasurer
JOHN S. KEENAN

Vice President, Maintenance and Construction

J OH N R. S IM O N

Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Senior Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

R O BERT T. HO WARD

S TE P H E N J . C A IR N S

PAT RI C I A M. L AWICKI

Vice President and Controller

Senior Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

H YU N PA R K

Senior Vice President and General Counsel
G R EG S . P R U E T T

LI N DA Y. H. C H E N G

Vice President, FERC and ISO Relations

S ANFO RD L. HAR TMAN

WILLIAM D. HAYES

Vice President,
Gas Transmission and Distribution
MARK S . JO HNS O N

Vice President,
Electric Operations and Engineering

Vice President, Corporate Governance and
Corporate Secretary

NA N C Y E. MCFADDEN

S TE V E N L . KL IN E

G REG S. PR UETT

Vice President, Corporate
Environmental and Federal Affairs

Senior Vice President, Corporate Relations

Vice President, Transmission, Substations,
Maintenance and Construction

EDWA RD A. S AL AS

R O Y M. KUGA

D I N YA R B. M IST RY

Senior Vice President,
Engineering and Operations

Vice President, Energy Supply

JOHN R. S IMO N

Vice President, Power Generation

Vice President, Internal Auditing/
Compliance and Ethics
G AB R IE L B. T O G N E RI

Vice President, Investor Relations

Senior Vice President, Public Affairs

Senior Vice President, Human Resources
FONG WAN

Senior Vice President, Energy Procurement

GREGO RY K. KIRALY

R ANDAL S . LIVINGS TO N

PL ACIDO J. MAR TINEZ

Vice President, Engineering
KAY M. O RANGE

Senior Vice President, Energy Delivery

Vice President, Environmental,
Technical, and Land Services

WI LLI A M D. ARNDT

ALBERT F. TO R R ES

Vice President, Transmission and
Distribution Business Operations

Vice President, Customer Operations

BA RBA RA L. BAR CO N

Vice President, Marketing and
Customer Innovation

G EI SH A J. WILLIAMS

Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
OP HELI A B. BAS GAL

BRADLEY E. WHITCO MB

JANE K. YURA

Vice President, Regulation and Rates

Vice President, Civic Partnership
and Community Initiatives
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

For financial and other information about
PG&E Corporation and Pacific Gas and
Electric Company, please visit our websites,
www.pgecorp.com and www.pge.com,
respectively.

Pacific Gas and Electric Company

General Information
415.973.7000
www.pge.com
Stock Exchange Listings

If you have questions about your PG&E
Corporation common stock account or Pacific
Gas and Electric Company preferred stock
account, please write or call our transfer agent,
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services:
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

P. O. Box 358015
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8015
Toll-free telephone services: 1.800.719.9056
Website: www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

PG&E Corporation’s common stock is traded
on the New York and Swiss stock exchanges.
The official New York Stock Exchange symbol
is “PCG,” but PG&E Corporation common
stock is listed in daily newspapers under
“PG&E” or “PG&E Cp.”(1)
Pacific Gas and Electric Company has eight
issues of preferred stock, all of which are listed
on the NYSE Alternext stock exchange.
Issue

Newspaper Symbol(1)

First Preferred, Cumulative, Par Value $25 Per Share

If you have general questions about PG&E
Corporation or Pacific Gas and Electric
Company, please contact the Corporate
Secretary’s Office:
Vice President, Corporate Governance
and Corporate Secretary

Linda Y. H. Cheng
PG&E Corporation
One Market, Spear Tower, Suite 2400
San Francisco, CA 94105-1126
415.267.7070
Fax 415.267.7268

Non-Redeemable:
6.00%
5.50%
5.00%
Redeemable:
5.00%
5.00% Series A
4.80%
4.50%
4.36%

PacGE pfA
PacGE pfB
PacGE pfC
PacGE pfD
PacGE pfE
PacGE pfG
PacGE pfH
PacGE pfI

2009 Dividend Payment Dates

that may be held for any number of
investors. If you hold your stock in a street
name account, you receive all tax forms,
publications, and proxy materials through your
broker. If you are receiving unwanted duplicate
mailings, you should contact your broker to
eliminate the duplications.
PG&E Corporation Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

If you hold PG&E Corporation or Pacific
Gas and Electric Company stock in your own
name, rather than through a broker, you
may automatically reinvest dividend payments
from common and/or preferred stock in shares
of PG&E Corporation common stock through
the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase
Plan (DRSPP). You may obtain a DRSPP
prospectus and enroll by contacting BNY
Mellon Shareowner Services. If your shares are
held by a broker (in “street name”), you are not
eligible to participate in the DRSPP.
Direct Deposit of Dividends

If you hold stock in your own name, rather
than through a broker, you may have your
common and/or preferred dividends
transmitted to your bank electronically. You
may obtain a direct deposit authorization
form by contacting BNY Mellon Shareowner
Services.

PG&E Corporation Common Stock

Securities analysts, portfolio managers, or
other representatives of the investment
community should write or call the Investor
Relations Office:

January 15
April 15
July 15
October 15

Vice President, Investor Relations

Pacific Gas and Electric Company Preferred Stock

Gabriel B. Togneri
PG&E Corporation
One Market, Spear Tower, Suite 2400
San Francisco, CA 94105-1126
415.267.7080
Fax 415.267.7262

February 15
May 15
August 15
November 15

PG&E Corporation

When you purchase your stock and it is held
for you by your broker, the shares are listed
with BNY Mellon Shareowner Services in the
broker’s name, or “street name.” BNY Mellon
Shareowner Services does not know the
identity of the individual shareholders who
hold their shares in this manner. They simply
know that a broker holds a number of shares

General Information
415.267.7000
www.pgecorp.com
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Stock Held in Brokerage Accounts
(“Street Name”)

Replacement of Dividend Checks

If you hold stock in your own name and do
not receive your dividend check within
10 days after the payment date, or if a check
is lost or destroyed, you should notify
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services so that
payment can be stopped on the check and
a replacement can be mailed.
Lost or Stolen Stock Certificates

If you hold stock in your own name and your
stock certificate has been lost, stolen, or in
some way destroyed, you should notify
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services immediately.
(1) Local newspaper symbols may vary.

PG& E C O RPO RATIO N
PA C IFIC GA S A ND ELEC TRIC C O M PA NY
A NNUA L M EETINGS O F SHA REHO LDERS

Date: May 13, 2009
Time: 10:00 a.m.
Location: San Ramon Valley Conference Center
3301 Crow Canyon Road
San Ramon, California
FO RM 10-K

If you would like a copy, free of charge, of PG&E
Corporation’s and Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s
joint Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2008 (Form 10-K), which has been
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
please contact the Corporate Secretary’s Office or visit
our websites, www.pgecorp.com and www.pge.com.
The certificates of the principal executive officers and
the principal financial officers of PG&E Corporation and
Pacific Gas and Electric Company required by Section
Design: Pentagram Principal Photography: John Blaustein Peter Darbee Portrait and Board of Directors Photography: Jim Karageorge

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been filed as exhibits
to the Form 10-K.
This report was printed at facilities that have a
zero-landfill, 100% recycling policy for all hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. The full-color contents were
printed at a facility that also generates all of its own
electrical and thermal power, and is the only Air Quality
Management District–certified “totally enclosed”
commercial print facility in the nation, which means that
its production operations release virtually zero volatile
organic compound emissions into the atmosphere.
© 2009 PG&E Corporation, All Rights Reserved

